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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Background

Enstar Group Limited (formerly Castlewood Holdingmited), or Enstar, was formed in August 2001 unde
the laws of Bermuda to acquire and manage insurangeeinsurance companies in run-off, and to plevi
management, consulting and other services to thgamce and reinsurance industry. On January 3T, Enhstar
completed the merger, or the Merger, of CWMS SuasjdCorp., a Georgia corporation and wholly-owned
subsidiary of Enstar, or CWMS, with and into Thestan Group Inc., a Georgia corporation, or EGl aAgsult of
the Merger, EGI, renamed Enstar USA, Inc., is nomhally-owned subsidiary of Enstar. Prior to therlykr, EGI
owned an approximately 32% economic and 50% vatitegest in Enstar.

In addition, immediately prior to the closing oktMerger, Enstar completed a recapitalization pamsto
which it: (1) exchanged all of its outstanding &saof Enstar; (2) designated its initial Board d@felotors
immediately following the Merger; (3) repurchasedtain of its shares held by Trident Il, L.P. ateddffiliates;

(4) made payments totaling $5,076,000 to certaitsafxecutive officers and employees as an inceriti remain
with Enstar following the Merger; and (5) purchasdough its wholly-owned subsidiary, Castlewoadnhited, the
shares of B.H. Acquisition Ltd., a Bermuda compdreld by an affiliate of Trident Il, L.P.

Company Overview

Since its formation, Enstar, through its subsiéisrhas completed several acquisitions of insurande
reinsurance companies and is now administeringethasinesses in run-off. Enstar derives its netiegs from the
ownership and management of these companies piynbgrsettling insurance and reinsurance claimsuwehe
recorded loss reserves and from returns on théofiorbf investments retained to pay future claitmsaddition,
Enstar has formed other businesses that providegeament and consultancy services, claims inspestornces
and reinsurance collection services to Enstariais and third-party clients for both fixed andss-based fees.

In the primary (or direct) insurance business,itiserrer assumes risk of loss from persons or orgéions that
are directly subject to the given risks. Such risksy relate to property, casualty, life, accidéeglth, financial or
other perils that may arise from an insurable everthe reinsurance business, the reinsurer agoaademnify an
insurance or reinsurance company, referred toeasdting company, against all or a portion of tiseifance risks
arising under the policies the ceding company hédisen or reinsured. When an insurer or reinsuteps writing
new insurance business, either entirely or witlpeesto a particular line of business, the insusdnsurer, or the
line of discontinued business is in run-off.

In recent years, the insurance industry has expegi significant consolidation. As a result of thimsolidatiol
and other factors, the remaining participants @itidustry often have portfolios of business thateither
inconsistent with their core competency or prowdeeessive exposure to a particular risk or segoietiite market
(i.e., property/casualty, asbestos, environmedisdctor and officer liability, etc.). These nonre@and/or
discontinued portfolios are often associated witeptially large exposures and lengthy time perioefore
resolution of the last remaining insured claimsilésg in significant uncertainty to the insurerreinsurer covering
those risks. These factors can distract managemigwe, up the cost of capital and surplus for tigurer or
reinsurer, and negatively impact the insurer’'saimsurer’s credit rating, which makes the dispo$ahe unwanted
company or portfolio an attractive option. Alterimaty, the insurer may wish to maintain the busies its balance
sheet, yet not divert significant management atiartb the run-off of the portfolio. The insurerminsurer, in
either case, is likely to engage a third partyhsag Enstar, that specializes in run-off managenoeptrchase the
company or portfolio, or to manage the companyastfplio in run-off.

In the sale of a run-off company, a purchaser, siscEnstar, typically pays a discount to the baalker of the
company based on the risks assumed and the relative to the seller of no longer having to manhgecompany
in run- off. Such a transaction can be beneficgaht seller because it receives arfngpt payment for the compat
eliminates the need for its management to devoteatiantion to the disposed company and removes the
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risk that the established reserves related touheff business may prove to be inadequate. THersslalso able to
redeploy its management and financial resourcés tmre businesses.

Alternatively, if the insurer or reinsurer hireghird party, such as Enstar, to manage its rurbo$iness, the
insurer or reinsurer will, unlike in a sale of thesiness, receive little or no cash up front. ladfeghe management
arrangement may provide that the insurer or regrswill share in the profits, if any, derived frahe run-off with
certain incentive payments allocated to the rumwdhager. By hiring a ruaff manager, the insurer or reinsurer
outsource the management of the run-off businesggerienced and capable individuals, while allgnis own
management team to focus on the insurer’s or regn'sucore businesses. Enstar’s desired approactat@aging
run-off business is to align its interests with thierests of the owners through both fixed managgrfees and
certain incentive payments. Under certain managéareangements to which Enstar is a party, howevegceives
only a fixed management fee and does not receiyénaentive payments.

Following the purchase of a run-off company oréhgagement to manage a run-off company or portédlio
business, it is incumbent on the new owner or mantgconduct the run-off in a disciplined and pssional
manner in order to efficiently discharge the lidilds associated with the business while preseraimdjmaximizing
its assets. Enstar’s approach to managing its eesjabmpanies in run-off as well as raffi-companies or portfolic
of businesses on behalf of third-party clientsudels negotiating with third-party insureds andgeieds to
commute their insurance or reinsurance agreemeainfagreed upon up-front payment by Enstar, othind-party
client, and to more efficiently manage paymentinsiirance and reinsurance claims. Enstar attemptsmonute
policies with direct insureds or reinsureds in oreeliminate uncertainty over the amount of fetakaims.
Commutations and policy buyacks provide an opportunity for the company taé exposures to certain policies ¢
insureds generally at a discount to the ultimatkility and provide the ability to eliminate exposuo further losse
Such a strategy also contributes to the reductidhe length of time and future cost of the run-off

Following the acquisition of a company in run-aff,new consulting engagement, Enstar will spené tim
analyzing the acquired exposures and reinsurameévebles on a policyholder-by-policyholder ba3isis analysis
enables Enstar to identify a target list, basethemature and value of exposures, of those pasicgns and
reinsurers it wishes to approach to discuss comtroatar policy buy-back. Furthermore, following thequisition
of a company in run-off, or new consulting engagemenstar will often be approached by policyhotder
reinsurers requesting commutation or policy buykb&t these instances Enstar will also carry ofutileanalysis of
the underlying exposures in order to determineviability of a proposed commutation or policy bbgek. From th
initial analysis of the underlying exposures it ntake several months, or even years, before a caatiow or polic
buy-back is completed. In a number of cases, it&remd the policyholder or reinsurer are unabletzh a
commercially acceptable settlement, the commutadiguolicy buy-back may not be achievable, in wigelse
Enstar will continue to settle valid claims fronetpolicyholder, or collect reinsurance receivalfilem the reinsure
as they become due.

Insureds and reinsureds are often willing to conenwith Enstar, subject to receiving an acceptadiesnent,
as this provides certainty of recovery of what otlise may be claims that are disputed in the fytanel often
provides a meaningful up-front cash receipt thitt) the associated investment income, can provisteuace of
funds to meet future claim payments or even comtiautaf their underlying exposure. As such, subject
negotiating an acceptable settlement, all of Efssilasurance and reinsurance liabilities and reiaisce receivables
are able to be either commuted or settled by wayob€y buy-back over time. Many sellers of companihat
Enstar acquires have secure claims paying rating®agoing underwriting relationships with insureahsl
reinsureds which often hinders their ability to ecouote the underlying insurance or reinsurance pdidenstar’s
lack of claims paying rating and its lack of potahtonflicts with insureds and reinsureds of comipa it acquires
provides a greater ability to commute the newlyusreml policies than that of the sellers.

Enstar also attempts, where appropriate, to negddaorable commutations with reinsurers by sequtihe
receipt of a lump-sum settlement from the reinsim@omplete satisfaction of the reinsurer’s lidgiln respect of
any future claims. Enstar, or the third-party dijes then fully responsible for any claims in faéure. Enstar
typically invests proceeds from reinsurance comtiurta with the expectation that such investmentspmduce
income, which, together with the principal, will bafficient to satisfy future obligations with res to the acquired
company or portfolio.
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Strategy

Enstar’s corporate objective is to generate retameapital that appropriately reward it for riskassumes.
Enstar intends to achieve this objective by exequtie following strategies:

« Establish Leadership Position in the F-Off Market by Leveraging Management's Experienté a
Relationships Enstar intends to continue to utilize the extem&xperience and significant relationships of
its senior management team to establish itselfleader in the run-off segment of the insurance and
reinsurance market. The strength and reputatidnetar's management team is expected to generate
opportunities for Enstar to acquire or manage canigsaand portfolios in run-off, to price effectiyeahe
acquisition or management of such businesses naost,importantly, to manage the run-off of such
businesses efficiently and profitab

« Professionally Manage ClaimsEnstar is professional and disciplined in managiagns against run-off
companies and portfolios it owns or manages. Erstaanagement understands the need to disposetaih
risks expeditiously and cost-effectively by consitaanalyzing changes in the market and efficiestitling
claims with the assistance of its experienced dadjusters and in-house and external legal coundein
Enstar acquires or begins managing a company tfioporit initially determines which claims are el
through the use of experienced in-house adjustetlaims experts. Enstar pays valid claims omaly
basis, and looks to well-documented policy exclasiand coverage issues where applicable and ésgat
when necessary to avoid invalid claims under exgspiolicies and reinsurance agreeme

« Commutation of Assumed Liabilities and Ceded Reamae Assets.Using detailed analysis and actuarial
projections, Enstar negotiates with the policyhdd® the insurance and reinsurance companiesrdofias
it owns or manages with a view to commuting insoeaaind reinsurance liabilities for an agreed ugon u
front payment at a discount to the ultimate liapilSuch commutations can take the form of poliay-backs
and structured settlements over fixed periodsneétiEnstar also negotiates with reinsurers to cot@aimeir
reinsurance agreements providing coverage to Esstalpsidiaries on terms that Enstar believes to be
favorable based on then-current market knowledgsetdE invests the proceeds from reinsurance
commutations with the expectation that such investsiwill produce income, which, together with the
principal, will be sufficient to satisfy future abhtions with respect to the acquired company otfgl.

« Continue Commitment to Highly Disciplined Acqusiti Management and Reinsurance Practic&nstar
utilizes a disciplined approach to minimize riskdancrease the probability of positive operatingufes from
acquisitions and companies and portfolios it masaBgestar carefully reviews acquisition candidated
management engagements for consistency with acesinmg its long-term objective of producing positiv
operating results. Enstar focuses its investigatiothe risk exposure, claims practices, resergeirements,
outstanding claims and its ability to price an asigion or engagement on terms that will providsifive
operating results. In particular, Enstar carefodlyiews all outstanding claims and case reservesfalows
a highly disciplined approach to managing allocdtsd adjustment expenses, such as the cost afstefe
counsel, expert witnesses, and related fees arehegp

« Manage Capital Prudently.Enstar manages its capital prudently relativesaigk exposure and liquidity
requirements to maximize profitability and longrtegrowth in shareholder value. Enstar’s capital
management strategy is to deploy capital efficietttlacquisitions, reinsurance opportunities anestablish
(and reestablish, when necessary) adequate loss reserpestéct against future adverse developme

Acquisition of Insurers or Portfolios in Run-Off

Enstar specializes in the negotiated acquisiti@hraanagement of insurance and reinsurance compamies
portfolios in run-off. Enstar approaches, or israghed by, primary insurers or reinsurance praogidath
portfolios of business to be sold or managed iraffinEnstar evaluates each opportunity presenyechbefully
reviewing the portfolio’s risk exposures, claim gliees, reserve requirements and outstanding clantsseeking
an appropriate discount and/or seller indemniftoatp reflect the uncertainty contained in the fodid’s reserves.
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Based on this initial analysis, Enstar can deteenfia company or portfolio of business would adtle to its
current portfolio of run-off business. If Enstatel@nines to pursue the purchase of a company Hoffyit then
proceeds to price the acquisition in a mannerliebes will result in positive operating resultssbd on certain
assumptions including, without limitation, its atyilto favorably resolve claims, negotiate withedit insureds and
reinsurers, and otherwise manage the nature afgke posed by the business.

With respect to its U.K. and Bermudian insuranoce @insurance subsidiaries, Enstar is able to pursu
strategies to achieve complete finality and coneltie run-off of a company by promoting a solveriesne of
arrangement whereby a local cosanctioned scheme, approved by a statutory majofriepting creditors, provide
for a one-time full and final settlement of an irece or reinsurance company’s obligations toadtgpholders.

Acquisitions to Date

In November 2001, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bnsbmpleted the acquisition of two reinsurance
companies in run-off, River Thames Insurance Compamited, or River Thames, based in London, Endlaand
Overseas Reinsurance Corporation Limited, or Oesr&einsurance, based in Bermuda. The total purgivace of
River Thames and Overseas Reinsurance was apprekyn$d 5.2 million.

In August 2002, Enstar purchased Hudson Reinsur@onogpany Limited, or Hudson, a Bermuda-based
company, for approximately $4.1 million. Hudsomeeired risks relating to property, casualty andkexs’
compensation on a worldwide basis, and Enstarisadministering the run-off of its claims.

In March 2003, Enstar and Shinsei Bank, LimitedSbmsei, completed the acquisition of The Toa-Re
Insurance Company (UK) Limited, a London-based &lidny of The Toa Reinsurance Company, Limited, for
approximately $46.4 million. Upon completion of thansaction, Toa-Re's name was changed to Hileot
Limited. Hillcot Re Limited underwrote reinsurangesiness throughout the world between 1980 and,198dn it
stopped writing new business and went into run-fie acquisition was effected through Hillcot Holgk Ltd., or
Hillcot, a Bermuda company, in which Enstar ha® 4% economic interest and a 50% voting interesicadd is
included in Enstar’s consolidated financial stateteewith the remaining 49.9% economic interedecéd as
minority interest. J. Christopher Flowers, a mendfesur board of directors and one of our largéstreholders, is a
director and the largest shareholder of Shinsestdfis results of operations include the results ofddilRe Limitec
from the date of acquisition in March 2003.

During 2004, Enstar, through one of its subsidgre@mpleted the acquisition of Mercantile Indemnit
Company Ltd., or Mercantile, Harper Insurance Ladi{formerly Turegum Insurance Company), or Harged,
Longmynd Insurance Company Ltd. (formerly Seculrizurance Company (UK) Ltd.), or Longmynd, all dfiah
were in run-off, for a total purchase price of apgmately $4.5 million. Enstar recorded an extramady gain of
approximately $21.8 million in 2004 relating to tlecess of the fair value of the net assets aadjover the cost of
these acquisitions.

In May 2005, Enstar, through one of its subsid&grpirchased Fieldmill Insurance Company Limitexr(ferly
known as Harleysville Insurance Company (UK) Lirdjtéor approximately $1.4 million.

In March 2006, Enstar and Shinsei, through Hillcoimpleted the acquisition of Aioi Insurance Compah
Europe Limited, or Aioi Europe, a London-based glibsy of Aioi Insurance Company, Limited. Aioi Eape has
underwritten general insurance and reinsurancenbssiin Europe for its own account from 1982 @#ab2 when it
generally ceased underwriting and placed its géimesarance and reinsurance business into runto#é. aggregate
purchase price paid for Aioi Europe was £62 milljlapproximately $108.9 million), with £50 million icash paid
upon the closing of the transaction ari@ #nillion in the form of a promissory note, payabhkelve months from tt
date of the closing. Upon completion of the tratisac Aioi Europe changed its name to Brampton tasae
Company Limited. Enstar recorded an extraordinain gf approximately $4.3 million, net of minorityterest, in
2006 relating to the excess of the fair value efribt assets acquired over the cost of this atiguisin April 2006,
Hillcot Holdings Limited borrowed approximately $4dillion from a London-based bank to partially assvith the
financing of the Aioi Europe acquisition. Followiagrepurchase by Aioi Europe of its shares valded a
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£40 million in May 2006, Hillcot Holdings repaiddlpromissory note and reduced the bank borrowing to
$19.2 million, which is repayable in April 2010

In October 2006, Enstar, through its subsidiangWiia Holdings Ltd., or Virginia, purchased Cavdbldings
Limited (U.K.), or Cavell, for approximately £31n8illion (approximately $59.5 million). Cavell owmsU .K.
reinsurance company and a Norwegian reinsurer, dfothich wrote portfolios of international reinsumce busine:
and went into run-off in 1993 and 1992, respecjivéhe purchase price was funded by $24.5 milliorrdwed
under a facility loan agreement with a London-basaak and available cash on hand.

In November 2006, Enstar, through Virginia, pur@thbnione Italiana (U.K.) Reinsurance Company Léuhjt
or Unione, a U.K. company, for approximately $1miflion. Unione underwrote business from the 1%4iough t
1995. Prior to acquisition, Unione closed the migjasf its portfolio by way of a solvent schemeasfangement in
the U.K. Unione’s remaining business is a portfalionternational insurance and reinsurance whah lbeen in run-
off since 1971. The purchase price was borroweih facsubsidiary of Enstar’s equity owned affiliBet.
Acquisition Ltd.

Enstar recorded an extraordinary gain of $26.7ionilin the fourth quarter of 2006 relating to theess of the
fair value of the net assets acquired over thesafsCavell and Unione.

On January 31, 2007, Enstar completed the Merg€MdMS with and into EGI and, as a result, EGI, reed
Enstar USA, Inc., is now a wholly-owned subsidiaf\Enstar. Prior to the Merger, EGI owned approxeha32%
economic and 50% voting interests in Enstar. Assalt of the completion of the Merger, B.H. Acqtigsi Limited,
or B.H. Acquisition, is now a wholly-owned subsigiaf Enstar.

On February 23, 2007, Enstar through Oceania Ho#dirid, its wholly-owned subsidiary, completed the
acquisition of Inter-Ocean Holdings Ltd. (“Inter-€m”). The total purchase price was approximatBlg iillion,
which was funded by $26.8 million borrowed undéagility loan agreement with a London-based bart an
available cash on hand. Inter-Ocean owns two reémspone based in Bermuda and one based in Ireaoil of
these companies wrote international reinsurancehaddn place retrocessional policies providingtfar full
reinsurance of all of the risks they assumed.

On June 16, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of &nshtered into a definitive agreement with Dukies®
Holdings, L.P., a portfolio company of GSC Partnéos the purchase of a minority interest in a Uh8lding
company that owns two property and casualty insurased in the United States, both of which areriroff.
Completion of the transaction is conditioned onpagother things, governmental and regulatory amdsoand
satisfaction of various other closing conditions.aconsequence, Enstar cannot predict if or whisriransaction
will be completed.

Management of Run-Off Portfolios

Enstar is a party to several management engageimersisant to which it has agreed to manage thefiun-
portfolio of a third party. Such arrangements atesatageous for third-party insurers because thew a third-
party insurer to focus their management effortshair core competency while allowing them to maimthe
portfolio of business on their balance sheet. litawh, Enstar’s expertise in managing portfolingun-off allows
the third-party insurer the opportunity to potelyiaealize positive operating results if Enstahi@wves its objectives
in management of the run-off portfolio. Enstar sakzes in the collection of reinsurance receivalit@ough its
indirect subsidiary Kinsale Brokers Limited. Thréugnstar's subsidiaries, Castlewood (US) Inc. arah@ore
Adjusters Limited, Enstar also specializes in pdowj claims inspection services whereby Enstangaged by
third-party insurance and reinsurance providergwiew certain of their existing insurance and seilance
exposures, relationships, policies and/or clainstohy.

Enstar’s primary objective in structuring its maeagent arrangements is to align the third-partyriessi
interests with those of Enstar. Consequently, mamemt agreements typically are structured so thatdE receives
fixed fees in connection with the management ofrtlreoff portfolio and also typically receives @rt incentive
payments based on a portfolio’s positive operatasylts.
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Management Agreements

Enstar has entered into approximately 11 manageaggaements with third-party clients to manageagert
run-off portfolios with gross loss reserves (as of Deber 31, 2006) of approximately $3 billion. Thedegnerate
by these engagements include both fixed and incefidsed remuneration based on Enstar’'s succes$ieving
certain objectives. These agreements do not indhugleecurring engagements managed by Enstartaglai
inspection and reinsurance collection subsidiafi@ganmore Adjusters Limited and Kinsale Brokers itérmd,
respectively.

Claims Management and Administration

An integral factor to Enstar's success is its &pilb analyze, administer, manage and settle claindsrelated
expenses, such as loss adjustment expenses. Erdgéms teams are located in different officesimiits
organization and provide global claims support.t&nkas implemented claims handling guidelines@aitns
reporting and control procedures in all of its laiunits. To ensure that claims are handled anutteghin
accordance with these guidelines, all claims matiee reviewed regularly, with all material claimatters being
circulated to and reviewed by management priongoaction being taken.

When Enstar receives notice of a claim, regardd¢size and regardless of whether it is a paichtlaquest or
areserve advice, it is reviewed and recorded withiclaims system reserving Enstar’s rights wiagmeropriate.
Claims reserve movements and payments are revidaigd with any material movements being reported t
management for review. This enables “flash repgttof significant events and potential insuranceesnsurance
losses to be communicated to senior managemendwide on a timely basis irrespective from which graphical
location or business unit location the exposurgesti

Enstar also is able to efficiently manage claims alptain savings through its extensive relatiornshjih
defense counsel (both in-house and external),-thartly claims administrators and other professianisors and
experts. Enstar has developed relationships andqmis to reduce the number of outside counselomgalidating
claims of similar types and complexity with appriape law firms specializing in the particular typieclaim. This
approach has enabled Enstar to more efficientlyagamutside counsel and other third parties, tlyeretiucing
expenses, and to establish closer relationshigsceiding companies.

When appropriate, Enstar negotiates with direatrieds to buy back policies either on favorable seamto
mitigate against potential future indemnity expesuand legal costs in an uncertain and constantllyiag legal
environment. Where appropriate, Enstar also pursoesnutations on favorable terms with ceding corgsaof
reinsurance business in order to realize savings mitigate against potential future indemnity espres and legal
costs. Such buy-backs and commutations eliminhfeaat, present and future liability to direct instdss and
reinsureds in return for a lump sum payment.

With regard to reinsurance receivables, Enstar gesaash flow by working with reinsurers, brokerd a
professional advisors to achieve fair and promghpnt of reinsured claims, taking appropriate legdion to
secure receivables where necessary. Enstar atsoptt where appropriate to negotiate favorable cotations witl
its reinsurers by securing a lump sum settlememh freinsurers in complete satisfaction of the naiess past,
present and future liability in respect of suchirag Properly priced commutations reduce the expensadjusting
direct claims and pursuing collection of reinsueneceivables (both of which may often involve egtee legal
expense), realize savings, remove the potentiatdutolatility of claims and reduce required regoig capital.

Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expse

Applicable insurance laws and generally acceptedwatting practices require Enstar to maintain reseto
cover its estimated losses under insurance polibetst has assumed and for loss adjustment egpens AE,
relating to the investigation, administration aettlement of policy claims. Enstar’s LAE reservessist of both
reserves for allocated loss adjustment expensds, AE, and for unallocated loss adjustment expensebs/LAE.
ALAE are linked to the settlement of an individaédim or loss, whereas ULAE reserve is based oiCtirapany’s
estimates of future costs to administer the claims.
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Enstar and its subsidiaries establish losses arifileserves for individual claims by evaluating meed claims
on the basis of:

« its knowledge of the circumstances surroundingcthin;

« the severity of the injury or damag

« the jurisdiction of the occurrenc

« the potential for ultimate exposul

« the type of loss; an

« its experience with the line of business and pdlicyvisions relating to the particular type of ota

Because a significant amount of time can lapse d&tvthe assumption of risk, the occurrence of adesent,
the reporting of the event to an insurance or tgarsce company and the ultimate payment of thenctai the loss
event, the liability for unpaid losses and LAE &sbd largely upon estimates. Enstar’'s managemesttusa
considerable judgment in the process of develotfinge estimates. The liability for unpaid losses laAE for
property and casualty business includes amoungsrdited from loss reports on individual cases andumts for
losses incurred but not reported, or IBNR. Suckmess, including IBNR reserves, are estimated byagament
based upon loss reports received from ceding cormpasupplemented by Enstar’s own estimates oétoky
which no ceding company loss reports have yet beegived.

In establishing reserves, management also consadararial estimates of ultimate losses. Enstatsaaies
employ generally accepted actuarial methodologigsprocedures to estimate ultimate losses ancelkgssnses. In
addition, a loss reserve study is prepared by dependent actuary annually in order to provide tamthl insight
into the reasonableness of Enstar’s reserves $setoand loss expenses.

Enstar’s loss reserves are largely related to digsexposures including latent exposures primangliating to
asbestos and environmental, or A&E, as discussleavbin establishing the reserves for unpaid claimanageme
considers facts currently known and the curreriesifithe law and coverage litigation. Liabilitige recognized for
known claims (including the cost of related litigaf) when sufficient information has been develofeohdicate thi
involvement of a specific insurance policy, and agement can reasonably estimate its liability.dditon,
reserves are established to cover loss developraktéd to both known and unasserted claims.

The estimation of unpaid claim liabilities is sutijgo a high degree of uncertainty for a numbereakons.
Unpaid claim liabilities for property and casuadtyposures in general are impacted by changes iedlaé
environment, jury awards, medical cost trends amteeal inflation. Moreover, for latent exposurepanticular,
developed case law and adequate claims historptexist. There is significant coverage litigatiamolved with
these exposures which creates further uncertairttyei estimation of the liabilities. As such, fbese types of
exposures, it is especially unclear whether pasincexperience will be representative of futureénalaxperience.
Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimatgdg reserving techniques that extrapolate losas ultimate
basis using loss development factors, and the taioges surrounding the estimation of unpaid claahilities are
not likely to be resolved in the near future. Theme be no assurance that the reserves estabhbgteadstar will be
adequate or will not be adversely affected by teetbpment of other latent exposures. The actuaréhods used
to estimate ultimate loss and ALAE for Enstar'fdtexposures are discussed below.

For the non-latent loss exposures, a range oftivadi loss development extrapolation techniquepjslied.
Incremental paid and incurred loss development atietlogies are the most commonly used methods. fioadl
cumulative paid and incurred loss development nusttare used where inception-to-date, cumulative pad
reported incurred loss development history is abéd. These methods assume that cohorts, or grotijgsses fror
similar exposures will increase over time in a pridble manner. Historical paid and incurred lossedopment
experience is examined for earlier underwritingrgda make inferences about how later underwrijiears’ losses
will develop. Where company-specific loss informatis not available or not reliable, industry ldevelopment
information published by reliable industry soursesh as the Reinsurance Association of Americarnsidered.
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The reserving process is intended to reflect thmairhof inflation and other factors affecting lgss/ments by
taking into account changes in historical paymexttgons and perceived trends. However, there gecise metho
for the subsequent evaluation of the adequacyeo€dimsideration given to inflation, or to any othpecific factor,
or to the way one factor may affect another.

The loss development tables below show changesstaEs gross and net loss reserves in subseqaarg y
from the prior loss estimates based on experies@é the end of each succeeding year. The estisiatereased or
decreased as more information becomes known ahetitedquency and severity of losses for individeedrs. A
redundancy means the original estimate was higdjizer the current estimate; a deficiency means ieatarrent
estimate is higher than the original estimate. fliisé table shows, in the first section of the tgkitnstar’'s gross
reserve for unpaid losses (including IBNR losses) BAE. The second table shows, in the first sectibthe table,
Enstar’s reserve for unpaid losses (including IBN$§ses) and LAE net of reinsurance. The secondbseat each
table shows Enstar’s re-estimates of the reserlagén years. The third section of each table shibsumulative
amounts of losses paid as of the end of each sdiogpgear. The “cumulative redundancy” line in esable
represents, as of the date indicated, the differéetween the latest re-estimated liability andréserves as
originally estimated.

Gross Loss and Loss
Adjustment Expense

Reserve: 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Reserves assumi $419,71° $284,40¢ $381,53: $1,047,31: $806,55¢ $1,214,41!
1 year late 348,27¢ 302,98t 365,91: 900,27- 909,98
2 years late 360,55¢ 299,28 284,58: 1,002,77.
3 years late 359,77 278,02( 272,53
4 years late 332,90 264,04(
5 years late 316,25
Gross Paid Losse 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
1 year late $97,03¢ $ 43,72 $ 19,26( $ 110,190 $ 117,66t
2 years late 123,84 64,90( 43,08: 226,22!
3 years late 142,28 84,89: 61,71¢
4 years late 160,19: 101,41«
5 years late 174,47t
Reserve Redundancy/
(Deficiency) $103,46( $ 20,36¢ $108,99: $ 44,54( $(103,42Y

Net Loss and Los:
Adjustment Expense

Reserve: 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
Reserves assumi $224,50° $184,51¢ $230,15! $736,66( $593,16( $ 872,26(
1 year late 190,76¢ 176,44. 220,71 653,03 590,15:
2 years late 176,11¢ 178,08t 164,31¢ 652,19!
3 years late 180,63! 138,25: 149,98(
4 years late 135,21¢ 129,92:
5 years late 124,22:
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Net Paid Losse 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006
1 year late $ 38,63:  $10,557 $ 11,35¢ $ 78,48¢ $ 79,39¢
2 years late 32,29: 24,97¢ 6,312 161,17¢
3 years late 44,15: 17,30¢ 9,161
4 years late 34,48: 24,28
5 years late 39,23:
Reserve Redundancy/
(Deficiency) $100,28¢ $54,59¢ $ 80,17t $ 84,46 $ 3,007

The $103.4 million gross deficiency arising in 206gross reserves carried at December 31, 2005 is
comprised of $115.6 million deficiency on one ofsExr’s insurance companies offset by $12.2 miltesundancy
in Enstar’s remaining insurance and reinsurancéestThis company benefits from substantial refaace
protection such that the $115.6 million gross deficy is reduced to a $3.4 million net deficiency.

The following table provides a reconciliation oéthlability for losses and LAE, net of reinsuraresled:

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Net reserves for losses and i
adjustment expenses, beginning of

period $593,16( $736,66( $230,15! $184,51¢ $22450° $ —
Incurred related to prior yea (31,929 (96,007 (13,70¢) (24,049 (48,759 (90
Paids related to prior yea (75,299 (69,007 (29,019 (4,099 (32,277) (2,260)
Effect of exchange rate moveme 24,85¢ 3,65z 4,12¢ 10,57¢ 6,77¢ 2,75(

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiari 361,46« 17,86: 535,10t 63,20( 34,26 224,10°

Net reserves for losses and i
adjustment expenses, end of pel  $872,25¢ $593,16( $736,66( $230,15' $184,51¢ $224,50°

In the table above, incurred losses and loss adgrstexpenses related to prior years representgelan
estimates of prior period net loss and loss adjestraxpense liabilities comprising net incurredslo®vements
during a period and changes in estimates of neRBabilities. Net incurred loss movements duringegiod
comprise increases or reductions in specific caserves advised during the period to Enstar lpoiisyholders an
attorneys, or by Enstar to its reinsurers, lessndaettlements made during the period by Enstas faolicyholders,
plus claim receipts made to Enstar by its reinsufrior period estimates of net IBNR liabilitieaynchange as
Enstar's management considers the combined impacnomutations, policy buy-backs, settlement ofésson
carried reserves and the trend of incurred losgldpment compared to prior forecasts. The treridafrred loss
development in any period comprises the movemeneircase reserves less net claims settled durépdriod. Se
“— Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FinahCiandition and Results of Operations Exitical Accounting
Policies — Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses” beggon page 54 for an explanation of how the tesgrving
methodologies are applied to the movement, or dgveént, of net incurred losses during a periocstomate IBNR
liabilities.

Commutations provide an opportunity for Enstartib exposures to entire policies with insureds egidsured
at a discount to the previously estimated ultiniataility. Enstar’s internal and external actuaréisninate all prior
historical loss development that relates to comohetgosures and apply their actuarial
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methodologies to the remaining aggregate exposur@sevised historical loss development informatmreassess
estimates of ultimate liabilities.

Policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for Engtasettle individual policies and losses usuallg discount
to carried advised loss reserves. As part of Eisstautine claims settlement operations, claimg séttle at either
below or above the carried advised loss reserve.ifipact of policy buy-backs and the routine setéat of claims
updates historical loss development informatiowlhich actuarial methodologies are applied oftenltes in
revised estimates of ultimate liabilities. Enstat$uarial methodologies include industry benchrimarkvhich,
under certain methodologies (discussed further uhdeManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finahc
Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Ageting Policies” beginning on page 54), comparesttend of
Enstar’s loss development to that of the industrythe extent that the trend of Enstar’s loss dgwelent compared
to the industry changes in any period, it is likelyhave an impact on the estimate of ultimateilliés.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdifies for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$31.9 million, excluding the impacts of adverseefgn exchange rate movements of $24.9 million actiding
both net reduction in loss and loss adjustment esg@é&abilities of $2.7 million relating to compasiacquired
during the year and premium and commission adjustsrteiggered by incurred losses of $1.3 millioheThet
reduction in loss and loss adjustment expensditiabifor 2006 of $31.9 million was attributable & reduction in
estimates of net ultimate losses of $21.4 millmmneduction in estimates of loss adjustment expkasisiities of
$15.1 million relating to 2006 run-off activity,raduction in aggregate provisions for bad debtG83$nillion,
resulting from the collection of certain reinsurameceivables against which bad debt provisionshieseh provided
in earlier periods, partially offset by the amaatinn, over the estimated payout period, of falugadjustments
relating to companies acquired amounting to $10IBom The reduction in estimates of net ultim&sses of
$21.4 million comprised of net adverse incurred Idsvelopment of $37.9 million offset by reductiomgstimates
of IBNR reserves of $59.3 million. An increase stimates of ultimate losses of $3.4 million relgtio one of
Enstar’s insurance entities was offset by redustiorestimates of net ultimate losses of $24.8ionilin Enstar’s
remaining insurance and reinsurance entities.

The adverse incurred loss development of $37.9anjliwhereby advised case and LAE reserves of
$37.4 million were settled for net paid losses @.8 million, comprised adverse incurred loss dewelent of
$59.2 million relating to one of Enstar’s insuramocenpanies partially offset by favorable incurregd development
of $21.3 million relating to Enstar’s remaining imance and reinsurance companies.

The adverse incurred loss development of $59.2amillelating to one of Enstar’s insurance companias
comprised of net paid loss settlements of $81.8aniless reductions in case and LAE reserves @f Baillion anc
resulted from the settlement of case and LAE reseabove carried levels and from new loss advpasially
offset by approximately 10 commutations of assuamedi ceded exposures below carried reserves lé\vdisarial
analysis of the remaining unsettled loss liabgitiesulted in an increase in the estimate of IBOHR reserves of
$35.0 million after consideration of the $59.2 ioifl adverse incurred loss development during ttee,yend the
application of the actuarial methodologies to ldat pertaining to the remaining non-commuted exess Factors
contributing to the increase include the establishihof a reserve to cover potential exposure td peant claims, a
significant increase in asbestos reserves relatéuetentity’s single largest cedant (followingedadled review of
the underlying exposures), and a change in thenes$asbestos and environmental loss reporting lges
discussed further below. Of the 10 commutationspletad for this entity, two were among its top ¢edant and/or
reinsurance exposures. The remaining 8 were ofsdlansize, consistent with Enstar’s approach afeting
significant numbers of cedant and reinsurer retatigps as well as targeting significant individoatlant and
reinsurer relationships. The entity in questiom ddenefits from substantial stop loss reinsuramoteption whereby
the adverse loss development of $59.2 million vaagdly offset by a recoverable from a single Afedateinsurer.
The increase in estimated net ultimate losses df ®8lion was retained by Enstar.

The favorable incurred loss development of $21 [anj relating to Enstar’s remaining insurance and
reinsurance companies, whereby net advised casevessof $15.3 million were settled for net paigsloecoveries
of $6.0 million, arose from approximately 35 comatigns of assumed and ceded exposures at lessakarand
LAE reserves, where receipts from ceded commutsitixeeeded settlements of assumed exposures,eand th
settlement of non-commuted losses in the year belowied reserves. Enstar adopts a disciplinedoagirto the
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review and settlement of non-commuted claims thinatlgims adjusting and the inspection of underlying
policyholder records such that settlements mayndfteachieved below the level of the originally iaed loss.

The net reduction in the estimate of IBNR loss sd adjustment expense liabilities relating totans
remaining insurance and reinsurance companiegfauding the net $55.8 million reduction in IBN&serves
relating to the entity referred to above) amounite#i3.5 million. This net reduction is comprisedaofincrease of
$19.8 million resulting from (i) a change in asstimps as to the appropriate loss reporting timeftegsbestos
related exposures from 2 to 3 years and for enxertal exposures from 2 to 2.5 years which resuftech
increase in net IBNR reserves of $6.4 million, &éida reduction in ceded IBNR recoverables of #1i3illion
resulting from the commutation of ceded reinsurgrogections. The increase in IBNR of $19.8 millisroffset by
a reduction of $23.3 million resulting from the &pation Enstar’s reserving methodologies to (§ teduced
historical incurred loss development informatiolatieg to remaining exposures after the 35 comnuriaf and
(i) reduced case and LAE reserves in the aggre@dtthe 35 commutations completed during 2006tier
remaining Enstar reinsurance and insurance compaeie were among their top ten cedant and/orueinse
exposures. The remaining 25 were of a smaller s@esistent with Enstar’s approach of targetingigicant
numbers of cedant and reinsurer relationships #sas¢argeting significant individual cedant aeihsurer
relationships.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdifies for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$96.0 million, excluding the impacts of adversesfgn exchange rate movements of $3.7 million acti@ing both
net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expeabdities of $7.4 million relating to companiesggired during the
year and premium and commission adjustments treghBy incurred losses of $1.3 million. The net i in los:
and loss adjustment expense liabilities for 200$98.0 million was attributable to a reduction gtimates of net
ultimate losses of $73.2 million, a reduction itireates of loss adjustment expense liabilities18.$ million,
relating to 2005 run-off activity, a reduction iggregate provisions for bad debt of $20.2 milli@sulting from the
collection of certain reinsurance receivables agairhich bad debt provisions had been provideditiex periods,
partially offset by the amortization, over the estted payout period, of fair value adjustmentstiredato companies
acquired amounting to $7.9 million. The reductiorestimates of net ultimate losses of $73.2 miltiomprised of
favorable incurred loss development during the yé&5.9 million and reductions in estimates of IBKeserves of
$67.3 million. The favorable incurred loss develemt) whereby advised case and LAE reserves of $7dlidn
were settled for net paid losses of $69.0 millmmse from approximately 68 commutations of assuameldceded
exposures at less than case and LAE reserves asgtitement of non-commuted losses in the yeambearried
reserves. Enstar adopts a disciplined approaabudghrclaims adjusting and the inspection of undiegly
policyholder records, to the review and settleneémton-commuted claims such that settlements mgndfe
achieved below the level of the originally advisesks. The $67.3 million reduction in the estimatéBNR loss and
loss adjustment expense liabilities resulted frbeapplication of Enstar’s reserving methodologie§) the
reduced historical incurred loss development infiion relating to remaining exposures after the@®mutations,
and (ii) reduced case and LAE reserves in the gagdee The application of Enstar’s reserving methagles to the
reduced historical incurred loss development infiion relating to Enstar’s remaining exposuresr alienination
of the historical loss development relating to 88ecommuted exposures had the following effectsh(thie
methodologies that weighed most heavily in theysialfor this period listed first):

< Under the Ultimate-to-Incurred Method, the applmatof the ratio of estimated industry ultimatedes to
industry incurred-to-date losses to Enstar’s reduceurred-to-date losses resulted in reduced astisnof
loss reserves

« Application of the Paid Survival Ratio Method t@treduced historical loss development informatesuttec
in lower expected average annual payment amoumgpaced to the previous year, which, when multiplied
by the expected industry benchmark for future nunolb@ayment years, led to reductions in Enstar’s
estimated loss reserve

< Under the Paid Market Share Method, Enstar’s redliégtorical calendar year payments resulted in a
reduction of Enstar’s indicated market share ofistdy paid losses and thus Enstar’'s market share of
estimated industry loss reserv
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< Under the Reserve-to-Paid Method, the applicatidheratio of industry reserves to industry
paic-to-datelosses to Enst’s reducepaic-to-datelosses resulted in reduced estimates of loss res:

Under the IBNR:Case Ratio Method, the applicatibratios of industry IBNR reserves to industry case
reserves to Enstar’'s case reserves resulted iceddestimates of IBNR loss reserves as a restliecdiggregate
reduction, combining the impact of commutations aetilement of non-commuted losses, in Enstar's aasl LAE
reserves of $74.9 million during the year. As soabe and LAE reserves were settled for less thard$fillion, the
IBNR reserves determined under the IBNR:Case ra@thod associated with such case reserves wermated.
See “— Management’s Discussion and Analysis of iéfed Condition and Results of Operations — Crltica
Accounting Policies — Loss and Loss Adjustment Egaeliabilities” beginning on page 54 for a further
explanation of how the loss reserving methodologresapplied to the movement, or development, bineairred
losses during a period to estimate IBNR liabiliti®$ the 68 commutations completed during 2005were among
the top ten cedant and/or reinsurance exposure afidividual Enstar reinsurance subsidiaries vea. The
remaining 58 were of smaller size, consistent \Eitistar's approach of targeting significant numizérsedant and
reinsurer relationships as well as targeting sigaift individual cedant and reinsurer relationships

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expem2004 amounted to $13.7 million, excluding the attg of
adverse foreign exchange rate movements of $4libmand including premium and commission adjusttaen
triggered by incurred losses of $0.1 million. Tdtalorable net incurred loss development during4260
$14.7 million, whereby advised case and LAE resenfe33.7 million were settled for net paid loseés
$19.0 million, included adverse incurred develophwrasbestos and environmental exposures the catidn of
which resulted in a net increase in IBNR loss neseof $15.7 million. The increase in IBNR of $1fiflion offset
by the favorable incurred development of $14.7ionllresulted in an increase in net ultimate logge&l.0 million.
The favorable incurred loss development arose fpproximately 36 commutations of assumed and ceded
exposures at less than case and LAE reserves asgtitement of losses in the year below carrisdries. Of the
36 commutations completed during 2004, three wereng the top ten cedant and/or reinsurance expostitbe
individual Enstar reinsurance subsidiaries involvEite remaining 33 were of smaller size, consisiétit Enstar’s
approach of targeting significant numbers of cedemt reinsurer relationships as well as targetigigificant
individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. €heas no change to the provisions for bad de2@4. In 2004,
Enstar reduced its estimate of loss adjustmentresgokabilities by $14.7 million relating to 2004n-off activity.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdifies for the year ended December 31, 2003 was
$24.0 million, excluding the impacts of adversesfgn exchange rate movements of $10.6 million actlding net
reduction in loss and loss adjustment expensditiabiof $5.4 million relating to companies acadrduring the
year. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustreeménse liabilities for 2003 was primarily attrigble to &
reduction in estimates of ultimate net losses &.&illion, partly comprised of favorable incurrieds
development during the year of $5.8 million, wherabvised case and LAE reserves of $9.9 millionensattled fo
net paid losses of $4.1 million. The favorable med loss development arose from approximatelydiBrautations
of assumed and ceded exposures at less than chtéRrreserves and the settlement of losses iy¢hae below
carried reserves which contributed to reductioracituarial estimates of IBNR losses of $7.8 milli@f the 13
commutations completed during 2003, two were antbadgop ten cedant and/or reinsurance exposurie of
individual Enstar reinsurance subsidiaries involvEge remaining 11 were of smaller size, consistétit Enstar’s
approach of targeting significant numbers of cedeutt reinsurer relationships as well as targetigigificant
individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. Bgr2003, Enstar reduced its estimate of loss adprst expense
liabilities by $10.4 million relating to 2003 rurff@ctivity.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdilies for the year ended December 31, 2002 was
$48.8 million, excluding the impacts of adversesfgn exchange rate movements of $6.8 million actiding
premium and commission adjustments triggered byrhec losses of $8.2 million. The net reductiotoiss and loss
adjustment expense liabilities for 2002 was pritgaitributable to a reduction in estimates ofraklite net losses of
$50.7 million, primarily as a result of the comntidga of Enstars single largest reinsurance liability and reinaoe
receivable with one counter party as well as falerancurred loss development during the year, eferadvised
case and LAE reserves of $21.7 million were sefibeahet paid losses of $32.3 million. The commiotabf
Enstar’s largest liability and receivable togetivith favorable incurred loss development, that arfoeam
approximately ten commutations of assumed and cegigdsures and the settlement of losses below
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carried reserves which contributed to reductiorscituarial estimates of IBNR losses of $61.2 milli@f the ten
commutations completed during 2002, excluding #ngdst, one was among the top ten cedant andfhsuraince
exposures. The remaining nine were of smaller sizesistent with Enstar’s approach of targetingigicant
numbers of cedant and reinsurer relationships dsawé¢argeting significant individual cedant arihsurer
relationships. During 2002, Enstar increased itisnede of loss adjustment expense liabilities byd$illion
relating to 2002 run-off activity.

The loss development tables below relate to B.Hyuigition, which, as of the date of the Merger,dme a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Enstar. The first tableows, in the first section of the table, B.H. Aisifion’s gross
reserve for unpaid losses (including IBNR losses) BAE. The second table shows, in the first sectibthe table,
B.H. Acquisition’s reserve for unpaid losses (imthg IBNR losses) and LAE net of reinsurance. Téwosd
section of each table shows B.H. Acquisition’s séreates of the reserve in later years. The treadisn of each
table shows the cumulative amounts of losses aaf the end of each succeeding year. The “cunvelati
redundancy (deficiency)” line in each table repntseas of the date indicated, the difference betvibe latest re-
estimated liability and the reserves as originai{imated.

Gross Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reser' 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Reserves assumi $114,81. $100,63! $72,427 $71,217 $62,34¢ $58,47( $59,81¢

1 year late 111,04 77,747 86,97t 69,37: 64,26! 62,46«

2 years late 90,40¢ 80,32« 87,35 73,51, 70,67¢

3 years late 92,987 80,69¢ 91,49t 79,92¢

4 years late 93,36: 84,84: 97,90¢

5 years late 97,507  91,25¢

6 years late 103,91¢

Gross Paid Losse 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

1 year late $ 10,41 ¢ 5,32( $15,75¢ $ 7,02: $ 5,79¢ $5,067

2 years late 17,98: 9,107 25,00: 15,04¢  10,86(

3 years late 21,77( 18,35( 33,02¢ 20,11«

4 years late 31,01 26,37¢ 38,09:

5 years late 39,03 31,44:

6 years late 44,10

Reserve Redundancy/

(Deficiency) $ 10,894 $ 9,37¢ $(25,487) $ (8,712 $(8,32¢) $(3,999

Net Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Resen 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Reserves assumi $82,99¢ $72,54( $48,57¢ $42,71. $38,83. $55,71: $58,60¢

1 year late 76,34¢ 51,64¢ 52,837 41,26¢ 36,43¢ 58,34!

2 years late 57,70¢ 43,93t 53,61f 41,10¢ 41,48

3 years late 49,99 44,71 53,45. 46,15!

4 years late 50,77: 44,55( 58,50(

5 years late 50,60¢  49,59¢

6 years late 55,65
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Net Paid Losse 2000 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006
1 year late $ 3,806 ¢ 3,07C $10,12¢ $ 2,437 $(19,279) $2,15:
2 years late 9,12¢ 1,22 14,78. (14,60¢ (17,12)
3 years late 7,28: 5,881 (2,260) (12,45
4 years late 11,93¢ (11,167 (108)
5 years late (5,109 (9,010
6 years late (2,957
Reserve Redundancy/
(Deficiency) $ 27,33: $ 22,94. $(9,921) $ (3,447 $ (2,655 $(2,630)

The following table provides a reconciliation oétlability for losses and LAE, net of reinsuraresled for
B.H. Acquisition.

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Net reserves for losses and loss exper

beginning of periot $55,71: $38,83: $42,71: $48,57¢ $72,54( $82,98¢
Incurred related to prior yea 1,88¢ (50 (1,719 2,06¢ (23,58¢) (2,71
Paids related to prior yea 26E 19,27 (2,437 (10,129 (3,07)) (3,809)
Effect of exchange rate moveme 745 (2,344 27C 2,191 2,697 (3,929
Net reserves for losses and loss exper

end of perioc $58,60¢ $55,71: $38,83: $42,71: $4857¢ $72,54(

During 2005, B.H. Acquisition negotiated and contgba commutation transaction with a major reinsure
whereby B.H. Acquisition’s right to recover futumsses ceded to the reinsurer was exchanged fayragnt of
$23 million. The paid loss recoveries in the y@arluding the $23 million commutation receipt, ezded the gross
paid losses resulting in a net paid recovery inytwe.

Asbestos and Environmental (A&E) Exposure
General A&E Exposures

A number of Enstar’s subsidiaries wrote generliliiy policies and reinsurance prior to their arsifion by
Enstar under which policyholders continue to presshestos-related injury claims and claims allggmjury,
damage or clean-up costs arising from environmegrauition. These policies, and the associatedrdaare
referred to as A&E exposures. The vast majoritthese claims are presented under policies writtenynyears agt

There is a great deal of uncertainty surrounding=Adaims. This uncertainty impacts the ability m$urers an
reinsurers to estimate the ultimate amount of uhpkiims and related LAE. The majority of theserakadiffer
from any other type of claim because there is igadte loss development and there is significanedaimty
regarding what, if any, coverage exists, to whithny, policy years claims are attributable andolhif any,
insurers/reinsurers may be liable. These unceitsiare exacerbated by lack of clear judicial pileo¢ and
legislative interpretations of coverage that mayrigensistent with the intent of the parties to itiurance contrac
and expand theories of liability. The insurance sxdsurance industry as a whole is engaged imsite litigation
over these coverage and liability issues and iss,tbonfronted with continuing uncertainty in iffoets to quantify
A&E exposures.

Enstar’s A&E exposure is administered out of iticek in the United Kingdom and Rhode Island anatredly
administered from the United Kingdom. In light b&tintensive claim settlement process for thesmsla
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which involves comprehensive fact gathering andesuitmatter expertise, management believes thgpitudent to
have a centrally administered claim facility to HeEnA&E claims on behalf of all of Enstar's subsidés. Enstar’s
A&E claims staff, headed by a U.S.-qualified ateymexperienced in A&E liabilities, proactively adrters, on a
cost effective basis, the A&E claims submitted tstar’s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries.

Enstars independent, external actuaries use industryhmeaiking methodologies to estimate appropriate |
reserves for Enstar's A&E exposures. These methoglbased on comparisons of Enstar’s loss experiem@&E
exposures relative to industry loss experience && &xposures. Estimates of IBNR are derived sepbrébdr each
relevant Enstar subsidiary and, for some subs@bageparately for distinct portfolios of exposuree discussion
that follows describes, in greater detail, the @iynactuarial methodologies used by Enstar’s indéest actuaries
to estimate IBNR for A&E exposures.

In addition to the specific considerations for eawtthod described below, many general factors @msidered
in the application of the methods and the integifen of results for each portfolio of exposurele3e factors
include the mix of product types (e.g. primary irmce versus reinsurance of primary versus reinseraf
reinsurance), the average attachment point of egesr (e.g. first-dollar primary versus umbrellarguémary
versus high-excess), payment and reporting lagsactko the international domicile of Enstar suiasids, payment
and reporting pattern acceleration due to largectegnle” settlements (e.g. policy buy-backs androamations)
pursued by Enstar, lists of individual risks reniagnand general trends within the legal and toviremments.

1. Paid Survival Ratio Method.In this method, Enstar's expected annual avepagenent amount is
multiplied by an expected future number of paymg#rs to get an indicated reserve. Enstar’s histbcialendar
year payments are examined to determine an expfdted annual average payment amount. This aniel
multiplied by an expected number of future paymesars to estimate a reserve. Trends in calendampgganent
activity are considered when selecting an expeftiteale annual average payment amount. Acceptedstndu
benchmarks are used in determining an expected ewaflfuture payment years. Each year, annual paiswata
is updated, trends in payments are re-evaluatedamges to benchmark future payment years arewed. This
method has advantages of ease of application amglisity of assumptions. A potential disadvantafi¢he method
is that results could be misleading for portfolidhigh excess exposures where significant paymaetitity has not
yet begun

2. Paid Market Share MethodIn this method, Enstar’s estimated market staepplied to the industry
estimated unpaid losses. The ratio of Enstar'hcsl calendar year payments to industry histbdeéendar year
payments is examined to estimate Enstar’s markatskthis ratio is then applied to the estimatmdfistry unpaid
losses. Each year, calendar year payment datalateg (for both Enstar and industry), estimatasdidistry unpaid
losses are reviewed and the selection of Enstatisiated market share is revisited. This methodiasdvantage
that trends in calendar-year market share candmporated into the selection of company sharewfaining
market payments. A potential disadvantage of théshad is that it is particularly sensitive to asgtions regarding
the time-lag between industry payments and Enstampnts.

3. Reserve-to-Paid MethodIn this method, the ratio of estimated induségarves to industry
paid-to-date losses is multiplied by Enstar’s paidfate losses to estimate Enstar’s reserves. fBpeansiderations
in the application of this method include the comtghess of Enstar’s paid-to-date loss informatioam potential
acceleration or deceleration in Enstar’'s paymeeiatfve to the industry) due to Enstar’s claimadiang practices,
and the impact of large individual settlements.lEgear, paid-to-date loss information is updated ifoth Enstar
and the industry) and updates to industry estimageerves are reviewed. This method has the adyaofarelying
purely on paid loss data and so is not influengedubjectivity of case reserve loss estimates. il
disadvantage is that the application to Enstarf@ays which do not have complete inception-to-dadéd loss
history could produce misleading results.

4. IBNR:Case Ratio MethodlIn this method, the ratio of estimated indusBNR reserves to industry case
reserves is multiplied by Enstar’s case reservestimate Enstar IBNR reserves. Specific consiaerain the
application of this method include the presencpddities reserved at policy limits, changes in alldndustry case
reserve adequacy and recent loss reporting hifdoignstar. Each year, Enstar case reserves asagydndustry
reserves are updated and the applicability ofridastry IBNR:case ratio is reviewed. This methos the
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advantage that it incorporates the most recenhastis of amounts needed to settle open cases @acinaurrent
case reserves. A potential disadvantage is thaltsesould be misleading where Enstar case resetgquacy differ
significantly from overall industry case reservequacy.

5. Ultimate-to-Incurred Method.In this method, the ratio of estimated industtimate losses to industry
incurred-to-date losses is applied to Enstar irtlstp-date losses to estimate Enstar’s IBNR resefSgecific
considerations in the application of this methazude the completeness of Enstar’s incurred-to-idste
information, the potential acceleration or decdlerain Enstar’s incurred losses (relative to théustry) due to
Enstar’s claims handling practices and the impétarge individual settlements. Each year incunedfate loss
information is updated (for both Enstar and theustdy) and updates to industry estimated ultimasséds are
reviewed. This method has the advantage thatarpurates both paid and case reserve informati@ndjecting
ultimate losses. A potential disadvantage is teatilts could be misleading where cumulative paid kata is
incomplete or where Enstar case reserve adequHeysdignificantly from overall industry case reseadequacy.

Within the annual loss reserve studies produceliristars external actuaries, exposures for each subsidia
separated into homogeneous reserving categoriésdqrurpose of estimating IBNR. Each reservinggaity
contains either direct insurance or assumed reamsgrreserves and groups relatively similar typesks and
exposures (for example asbestos, environmentalattgsproperty) and lines of business written @gample
marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exmosharacteristics and the nature of available fdataach
individual reserving category, a number of methodas are applied. Recorded reserves for eachagtage
selected from the indications produced by the varimethodologies after consideration of exposuagatteristics,
data limitations and strengths and weaknesseschfmathod applied. This approach to estimating IBMR been
consistently adopted in the annual loss resendiestfor each period presented.

As of December 31, 2006, Enstar had thirteen séparsurance and/or reinsurance subsidiaries whessgves
are categorized into approximately 215 reservegoaies in total, including 21 distinct asbestosremg categories
and 24 distinct environmental reserving categories.

The five methodologies described above are apfdiedach of the 21 asbestos reserving categorigeach of
the 24 environmental reserving categories. As mroon in actuarial practice, no one methodologwidusively or
consistently relied upon when selecting a recordsdrve. Consistent reliance on a single methogldlmgelect a
recorded reserve would be inappropriate in lighthefdynamic nature of both the asbestos and anvieatal
liabilities in general, and the actual Enstar expegortfolios in particular.

In selecting a recorded reserve, management caagtuerange of results produced by the methodbthen
strengths and weaknesses of the methods in relatide data available and the specific charatiesisf the
portfolio under consideration. Trends in both Endgta and industry data are also considered inetberve
selection process. Recent trends or changes irelneant tort and legal environments are also damed when
assessing methodology results and selecting ampipate recorded reserve amount for each portfolio.

The liability for unpaid losses and LAE, inclusioEA&E reserves, reflects Enstar’s best estimatdifture
amounts needed to pay losses and related LAE eactf of the balance sheet dates reflected inrhedial
statements herein in accordance with GAAP. As afddeber 31, 2006, Enstar had net loss reserves of
$306.9 million for asbestos-related claims and $48illion for environmental pollution-related clagmThe

18




Table of Contents

following table provides an analysis of Enstar’esg and net loss and ALAE reserves from A&E expesat year-
end 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the movement in grakaet reserves for those years:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Provision for A&E claims and ALAE ¢

January ! $578,07¢ $383,95°7 $743,29: $479,04¢ $196,21° $ 92,74¢
A&E losses and ALAE incurred during

the yeal 90,48: 5,55¢ (93,709 (31,566€) (4,21¢) (29,349
A&E losses and ALAE paid during th

year (80,337 (60,63%) (78,63%) (69,014 (9,436 (4,087
Provision for A&E claims and ALAE

acquired during the yei 77,84 21,08 7,12¢ 5,48¢ 560,72¢ 419,73t
Provision for A&E claims and ALAE ¢

December 3: $666,07! $349,96: $578,07¢ $383,95° $743,29: $479,04¢

Excluding the impact of loss reserves acquiredmdutiie year, our reserves for A&E liabilities dexsed durin
2004 and 2005 by $13.7 million and $172.3 milliespectively on a gross basis ($33.4 million andd$d énillion
on a net basis). The reductions arose from paiths|asuccessful commutations, policy buybacks, gelye
favorable claim settlements and actuarial analysiemaining liabilities during each year. During0B, excluding
the impact of loss reserves acquired during the, yea reserves for A&E liabilities increased byo$ll million gros:
and decreased by $55.1 million net. The increaggadss reserves arose from adverse incurred dewelopand
actuarial analysis of remaining liabilities fromeoparticular Enstar insurance subsidiary amourtting
$104.7 million less claim settlements of $73.2 imill As the entity in question benefits from substd reinsurance
protection, the gross incurred loss of $104.7 millieduces to $10.1 million on a net basis.

Asbestos continues to be the most significant affidudt mass tort for the insurance industry imrtes of claims
volume and expense. Enstar believes that the inseriadustry has been adversely affected by judicia
interpretations that have had the effect of maximgiznsurance recoveries for asbestos claims, fvoth a coverage
and liability perspective. Generally, only policiesderwritten prior to 1986 have potential asbestgmsure, since
most policies underwritten after this date contaimabsolute asbestos exclusion.

In recent years, especially from 2001 through 2@08,ndustry has experienced increasing numbeasiodsto
claims, including claims from individuals who dotrappear to be impaired by asbestos exposure. 30Q®,
however, new claim filings have been fairly staltiés possible that the increases observed ire#ly part of the
decade were triggered by various state tort refqdissussed immediately below). At this point, Enstan not
predict whether claim filings will return to pre-2@ levels, remain stable, or begin to decrease.

Since 2001, several U.S. states have proposednandny cases enacted, tort reform statutes thaaddin
asbestos litigation by, for example, making it mdiféicult for a diverse group of plaintiffs to jeily file a single
case, reducing “forum-shopping” by requiring thatagential plaintiff must have been exposed to siisein the
state in which he/she files a lawsuit, or permiftaonsolidation of discovery. These statutes tylyiapply to suits
filed after a stated date. When a statute is preghas enacted, ashbestos defendants often expedemeeked
increase in new lawsuits, as plaintiffs’ attornegek to file suit before the effective date of ldgislation. Some of
this increased claim volume likely represents areksration of valid claims that would have beenuigttt in the
future, while some claims will likely prove to halitle or no merit. As many of these claims aiié pending,
Enstar cannot predict what portion of the increassmber of claims represent valid claims. Also,dbeeleration c
claims increases the uncertainty surrounding ptigjes of future claims in the affected jurisdiction
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During the same timeframe as tort reform, the fe8eral and various U.S. state governments sought
comprehensive asbestos reform to manage the grawing docket and costs surrounding asbestostiiigan
addition to the increasing number of corporate bapicies resulting from overwhelming asbestos lits.
Whereas the federal government has thus far unssittly pursued the establishment of a nationa¢stsis trust
fund at an estimated cost of $140 billion, stateduding Texas and Florida, have implemented aicaddriteria
approach that only permits litigation to proceecewla plaintiff can establish and demonstrate aqtingsical
impairment.

Much like tort reform, asbestos litigation reformshalso spurred a significant increase in the numblawsuits
filed in advance of the law’s enactment. Enstancapredict whether the drop off in the numberilegff claims is
due to the accelerated number of filings or anadtend decline in alleged asbestos injuries.

Environmental Pollution Exposures

Environmental pollution claims represent anothgniicant exposure for Enstar. However, environraént
pollution claims have been developing as expected the past few years as a result of stable dands. Claims
against Fortune 500 companies are generally degligind while insureds with single-site exposuresstill active,
in many cases claims are being settled for legsittiially anticipated due to improved site renwdin technology
and effective policy buy-backs.

Despite the stability of recent trends, there remaignificant uncertainty involved in estimatimaplilities
related to these exposures. First, the number sfensites subject to cleanup is unknown. Approxatyat,200 sites
are included on the National Priorities List (NRif)the United States Environmental Protection Ageistate
authorities have separately identified many add#isites and, at times, aggressively implemeatddanups.
Second, the liabilities of the insureds themsebresdifficult to estimate. At any given site, tHeation of
remediation cost among the potentially respongllties varies greatly depending upon a variefiactors. Third,
as with asbestos liability and coverage issuesgigidorecedent regarding liability and coveragaiis regarding
pollution claims does not provide clear guidandeerE is also uncertainty as to the U.S. federap&siuind” law
itself and, at this time, Enstar cannot predict whany, reforms to this law might be enactedy U.S. federal
government, or the effect of any such changes efntsurance industry.

Other Latent Exposures

While Enstar does not view health hazard expossuek as silica and tobacco as becoming a matemalecn,
recent developments in lead litigation have cal&estar to watch these matters closely. Recentlyicipal and
state governments have had success, using a puidiance theory, pursuing the former makers of pggohent for
the abatement of lead paint in certain home dwggli\s lead paint was used almost exclusively tiioearly
1970’s, large numbers of old housing stock confeaidl paint that can prove hazardous to peoplemartcularly,
children. Although governmental success has beeitelil thus far, Enstar continues to monitor develepts
carefully due to the size of the potential awamlsght by plaintiffs.

Investments
Investment Strategy and Guidelines

Enstar derives a significant portion of its incofram its invested assets. As a result, its opegatsults
depend in part on the performance of its investrperifolio. Because of the unpredictable naturtosées that may
arise under Enstar’s insurance and reinsurancédsafiss’ insurance or reinsurance policies and essult of
Enstar’s opportunistic commutation strategy, Ensfajuidity needs can be substantial and may atsany time.
Enstar generally follows a conservative investnstrategy designed to emphasize the preservatiis ioivested
assets and provide sufficient liquidity for the mmat payment of claims and settlement of commutagb@yments.
Enstar’s cash and cash equivalent portfolio is ipaiamprised of high-grade fixed deposits and comuiaépaper
with maturities of less than three months, liquedarve funds and money market funds. Ensiarvestment portfoli
consists primarily of high investment grade-rateylid, fixed-maturity securities of short-to-mediuerm duration
and an enhanced cash mutual fund — 94.3% of Esdtatgél investment portfolio as of December 31,6200
consisted of investment grade securities. In anttitEnstar has other investments, all of whichnare-
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investment grade securities — these investmentsuated for 5.7% of Enstar’s total investment pditfas of
December 31, 2006. Assuming the commitments tather investments were fully funded as of Decen®igr200t
out of cash balances on hand at that time, theeptage of investments held in other than investrgeade securiti¢
would increase to 13.5%.

Enstar strives to structure its investments in amaathat recognizes its liquidity needs for futliilities. In
that regard, Enstar attempts to correlate the ntya@mmd duration of its investment portfolio to @eneral liability
profile. If Enstars liquidity needs or general liability profile urpectedly change, it may not continue to structts
investment portfolio in its current manner and vebatljust as necessary to meet new business needs.

Enstar’s investment performance is subject to &taof risks, including risks related to generabeomic
conditions, market volatility, interest rate fluations, liquidity risk and credit and default riskterest rates are
highly sensitive to many factors, including goveental monetary policies, domestic and internati@tanomic
and political conditions and other factors beyomdt&r’'s control. A significant increase in interestes could result
in significant losses, realized or unrealized hia value of Enstar’s investment portfolio. A sigraht portion of
Enstar’s non-investment grade securities consiattefnative investments that subject Enstar ticfi®ns on
redemption, which may limit its ability to withdrafunds for some period of time after the initiatéstment. The
values of, and returns on, such investments maytsdsnore volatile.

Investment Committee and Investment Manager

The investment committee of Enstar’s board of dinecsupervises the Company’s investment activihe
investment committee regularly monitors Enstar'srall investment results which it ultimately repott the board
of directors.

Enstar has engaged Goldman Sachs to provide ingastmanagement services. Enstar has agreed to pay
investment management fees based on the month-aridthvalues of a portion of the investments ingbgfolio.
The fees, which vary depending on the amount aftagsader management, are included in net investmesme.

Enstar’s Portfolio
Accounting Treatment

Enstar’s investments primarily consist of fixedange securities. Enstar’s fixed income investmergs a
comprised of both held to maturity investments ading security investments as defined in FAS 1Agcounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Secesiti Held to maturity investments are carried atrtamortized
cost and trading security investments are carrie¢dedr fair value on the balance sheet date. Uizeghholdings
gains and losses on trading security investmertighwepresent the difference between the amortinstiand the
fair market value of securities, are recorded &sstment income in the net earnings.

Composition as of December 31, 2006

As of December 31, 2006, Enstar’'s aggregate indesgsets totaled approximately $1.26 billion. Aggte
invested assets include cash and cash equivatestdcted cash and cash equivalents, fixed-mgteeiturities, an
enhanced cash mutual fund which invests in fixedine and money market securities denominated inddlfars
with average target duration of nine months, egsijtshort-term investments and other investments.
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The following table shows the types of securitie&nstar’s portfolio, including cash equivalentsd @heir fair
market values and amortized costs as of Decemh&(BB:

December 31, 2006

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 51356: $ 0 $ 0 $ 513,56:
U.S. government & agenci 190,18: 15 (2,70%) 187,49:
Non-U.S.government securitie 38,524 0 (220) 38,30«
Corporate securitie 197,62 12€ (2,147 195,60!
Fixed income 426,33: 141 (5,06¢) 421,40«
Enhanced cash fur 209,39¢ 0 0 209,39¢
Investments in limited partnershi 42,42 0 0 42,42
Commercial paper and fixed depos 69,73¢ 0 0 69,73¢
Total investment 747,88¢ 141 (5,06¢) 742,96:;
Total cash and investmer $1,261,45 $ 141 $ (5,06¢) $1,256,52!

(1) Includes restricted cash and cash equivalents 2746

U.S. Government and Agencies

U.S. government and agency securities are comppisethrily of bonds issued by the U.S. Treasurg, th
Federal Home Loan Bank, the Federal Home Loan MgedCorporation and the Federal National Mortgage
Association.

Non-U.S. Government Securities

Non-U.S. government securities represent the fikedme obligations of non-U.S. governmental erditie

Corporate Securities

Corporate securities are comprised of bonds isbyembrporations that are diversified across a wathge of
issuers and industries. The largest single issueorporate securities in Enstar’s portfolio waddboan Sachs
Group Inc., which represented 13.6% of the aggeegatount of corporate securities and had a crafilitg of AAA
by Standard & Poor’s, as of December 31, 2006.

Enhanced Cash Fund

Enhanced cash mutual funds invest in fixed inconteraoney market securities denominated in U.Sadoll
with average target duration of nine months.

Other Investments

In December 2005, Enstar invested approximatelySs@dllion in New NIB Partners LP, or NIB Partness,
Province of Alberta limited partnership, in excharigr an approximately 1.4% limited partnershigiest. NIB
Partners was formed for the purpose of purchasoggther with certain affiliated entities, 100%tloé outstanding
share capital of NIBC Holding N.V. (formerly, NIBapital N.V.) and its affiliates, or NIBC. NIBC israerchant
bank focusing on the midharket segment in northwest Europe with a globstrithution network. New NIB Partne
and certain related entities are indirectly coftidby New NIB Limited, an Irish corporation. J. &opher
Flowers, a member of our board of directors andair@ur largest shareholders, is a director of N\d® Limited
and is on the supervisory board of NIBC. Certafiliaties of J.C. Flowers | L.P., which is managgdJuC.

Flowers & Co., LLC of which Mr. Flowers and Mr. Jof. Oros, our Executive Chairman, are Managing
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Directors, also participated in the acquisitiofdBC. Certain officers and directors of Enstar madesonal
investments in NIB Partners.

Enstar has a capital commitment of up to $10 mmllimthe GSC European Mezzanine Fund I, LP, or GSC
GSC invests in mezzanine securities of middle angkl market companies throughout Western Europat As
December 31, 2006, the capital contributed to thedRwas $1.7 million with the remaining commitmbéetng
$8.3 million. The $10 million represents 8.5% of thtal commitments made to GSC.

Enstar has also committed to invest up to $75 anilin J.C. Flowers Il, L.P., a private investmanid formed
by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, of which Mr. Flowers ahtt. Oros are Managing Directors. Upon completibthe
merger with EGI, Enstar’s total capital commitmemg.C. Flowers Il, L.P. increased to $100 millema result of
EGI's commitment to invest $25 million in J.C. Flews I, L.P. During 2006, Enstar funded a totab5.2 million
of its commitment to J.C. Flowers Il, L.P. As of Mk 7, 2007, Enstar, inclusive of EGI’'s portionstianded
$20.4 million of its $100 million commitment. Ensfatends to use cash on hand to fund its remaiogmymitment.
During 2006, Enstar received $0.9 million in mamagat service fee from the J.C. Flowers I, L.Pipeans for
advisory services.

Commercial Paper and Fixed Deposits

Commercial paper and fixed deposits have matunitieging between three months and one year issued b
financial institutions. The largest single issueEnstar’s portfolio was Anglo Irish Bank Ltd, whicepresented
20.9% of the aggregate amount of short-term investmiand had a credit rating of P1 by Moody’s,tas a
December 31, 2006.

Ratings as of December 31, 2006

The investment ratings (provided by major ratingrages) for Enstar’s investments held as of Decerbge
2006 and the percentage of investments they regexsen that date were as follows:

December 31, 2006
Percentage o

Amortized Fair Market Total Fair
Cost Value Market Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
U.S. government & agenci $190,18: $ 187,49: 25.2%
AAA or equivalent 469,211 467,11! 62.9%
AA 16,26¢ 16,162 2.2%
A or equivalen 23,11¢ 23,10: 3.1%
BBB and BB 4,73¢ 4,71¢ 0.€%
Not rated 44,37 44,37 6.C%
Total $747,88¢ $ 742,96. 10C%

The cumulative amount shown as not rated is inaetspf Enstars investments in the limited partnerships al
corporate security. The total value of the unratgborate security was $2.0 million, which was smtdJanuary 30,
2007 with no realized gain or loss.
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Maturity Distribution as of December 31, 20(
The maturity distribution for total investments dhels of December 31, 2006 was as follows:

December 31, 200!
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market

Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Due within one yea $422,99: $ 0 $ (312) $ 422,67¢
Due after one year through fi 266,60: 14 (3,640 262,97¢
Due after five year through ten yei 40,26¢ 6 (259) 40,01:
Due after ten yeal 18,03( 121 (857) 17,29¢
Total $747,88¢ $ 141 $ (5,06f) $ 742,96.

Investment Returns for the Years ended December22D6 and 2005
Enstar’s investment returns for the years endec&®éer 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 200 December 31, 200
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Net investment incom $ 48,09¢ $ 28,23¢
Net realized (losses) gai (98) 1,26¢
Net investment income and net realized (lossesis( $ 48,00 $ 29,50/
Effective annualized yield(J 4.4(% 3.2%

(1) Effective annualized yield is calculated by diviglinet investment income by the average balancggregate
invested assets on an amortized cost b

Regulation
General

The business of insurance and reinsurance is regluila most countries, although the degree anddype
regulation varies significantly from one jurisdamito another. Enstar is subject to extensive egigui under
applicable statutes in the United Kingdom, BermBkgium and other jurisdictions.

Bermuda

As a holding company, Enstar is not subject to Refaninsurance regulations. However, the Insurarate A
1978 of Bermuda and related regulations, as amemdgtbgether, the Insurance Act, regulate tharausce
business of Enstar’s operating subsidiaries in Belarand provide that no person may carry on anyamee
business in or from within Bermuda unless regista® an insurer by the Bermuda Monetary AuthootyBMA,
under the Insurance Act. Insurance as well asueamge is regulated under the Insurance Act.

The Insurance Act also imposes on Bermuda insuramimganies certain solvency and liquidity standartts
auditing and reporting requirements and grant8tié powers to supervise, investigate, require infation and
the production of documents and intervene in tifrafof insurance companies. Certain significamests of the
Bermuda insurance regulatory framework are set foetow.

Classification of Insurers.The Insurance Act distinguishes between insuraryiog on long-term business
and insurers carrying on general business. Theréoar classifications of insurers carrying on gahbusiness, wi
Class 4 insurers subject to the strictest regulatimstars regulated Bermuda subsidiaries, which are ingatpd tc
carry on general insurance and reinsurance busiaessegistered as Class 2 or 3 insurers in Bearnand are
regulated as such under the Insurance Act. Thesdated Bermuda subsidiaries are not licensedny ca long-
term business. Long-term business broadly incllilegrsurance and disability insurance with
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terms in excess of five years. General businessdydncludes all types of insurance that are angterm
business.

Principal Representative An insurer is required to maintain a principal offin Bermuda and to appoint and
maintain a principal representative in Bermuda.tRerpurpose of the Insurance Act, each of Enstagslated
Bermuda subsidiaries’ principal offices is at PBox HM 2267, Windsor Place, 3rd Floor, 18 Queemr&trin
Hamilton, Bermuda, and each of their principal esgntatives is Castlewood Limited. Without a reasmeptable
to the BMA, an insurer may not terminate the appoant of its principal representative, and the ¢gigal
representative may not cease to act in that caparitess 30 days’ notice in writing is given te tBMA. It is the
duty of the principal representative, forthwith @aching the view that there is a likelihood thwe insurer will
become insolvent or that a reportable “event” ka#he principal representative’s knowledge, ocedior is
believed to have occurred, to notify the BMA andhim 14 days of such notification, to make a répomriting to
the BMA setting forth all the particulars of theseahat are available to the principal represergator example,
any failure by the insurer to comply substantialiyh a condition imposed upon the insurer by the/BMlating to
solvency margin or a liquidity or other ratio woudd a reportable “event.”

Independent Approved AuditoiEvery registered insurer must appoint an indeperaeditor who will audit
and report annually on the statutory financialestants and the statutory financial return of ttsaiiar, both of
which, in the case of Enstar’s regulated Bermudieisliaries, are required to be filed annually wiita BMA. The
independent auditor must be approved by the BMAraag be the same person or firm that audits Ersstar’
consolidated financial statements and reports fesgntation to its shareholders. Enstar’s requlBerdhuda
subsidiaries’ independent auditor is Deloitte & Thea, who also audits Enstar’s consolidated findrstéaements.

Loss Reserve SpecialisAs a registered Class 2 or 3 insurer, each of Esstegulated Bermuda insurance .
reinsurance subsidiaries is required, every yeaubmit an opinion of its approved loss resenezigtist with its
statutory financial return in respect of its losagd loss expenses provisions. The loss resereéatipe who will
normally be a qualified casualty actuary, must jpgraved by the BMA. Christopher Diamantoukos of &
Young LLP has been approved to act as the lossveespecialist for each of Enstar’s regulated Betaimsurance
and reinsurance subsidiaries.

Statutory Financial Statement€ach of Enstar’s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries prepare annual statutory
financial statements. The Insurance Act prescribkss for the preparation and substance of thedetety financial
statements, which include, in statutory form, ahaé sheet, an income statement, a statementitdlcapd surplus
and notes thereto. Each of Enstar’s regulated Beansubsidiaries is required to give detailed infation and
analyses regarding premiums, claims, reinsurandersmestments. The statutory financial statemergsat
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and arerdistrom the financial statements prepared for gm&sion to a
insurer’s shareholders under the Companies Act #sneral business insurer, each of Enstar's reglBermuda
subsidiaries is required to submit the annual siagifinancial statements as part of the annualigiey financial
return. The statutory financial statements andstatutory financial return do not form part of theblic records
maintained by the BMA.

Annual Statutory Financial ReturnEach of Enstar’s regulated Bermuda Class 2 and@8amce and
reinsurance subsidiaries are required to file WithBMA a statutory financial return no later theax or four
months, respectively, after its fiscal year endeaslspecifically extended upon application to tM2BThe
statutory financial return for a Class 2 or 3 imstincludes, among other matters, a report of pgpecaved
independent auditor on the statutory financialestegnts of the insurer, solvency certificates, tagusory financial
statements, and the opinion of the loss reserveiaj®. The solvency certificates must be signedhe principal
representative and at least two directors of tharier certifying that the minimum solvency margastbeen met ai
whether the insurer has complied with the condgtiatiached to its certificate of registration. Tidependent
approved auditor is required to state whethertsiopinion, it was reasonable for the directorsieke these
certifications. If an insurer’s accounts have baedited for any purpose other than compliance thighinsurance
Act, a statement to that effect must be filed wfith statutory financial return.

Minimum Liquidity Ratio. The Insurance Act provides a minimum liquidity oafior general business insurers,
like Enstar’s regulated Bermuda insurance and ueamee subsidiaries. An insurer engaged in gebeiahess is
required to maintain the value of its relevant tssaenot less than 75% of the amount of its raleva
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liabilities. Relevant assets include, but are moitéd to, cash and time deposits, quoted investspemquoted bon
and debentures, first liens on real estate, investimcome due and accrued, accounts and premeoes/able and
reinsurance balances receivable. There are sormgar@s of assets which, unless specifically peeahiby the
BMA, do not automatically qualify as relevant asssuch as unquoted equity securities, investmeraisd
advances to affiliates and real estate and cadlelieans. Relevant liabilities are total generadibass insurance
reserves and total other liabilities less defemedme tax and sundry liabilities (i.e., liabilgigvhich are not
otherwise specifically defined).

Minimum Solvency Margin and Restrictions on Dividieand Distributions. Under the Insurance Act, the
value of the general business assets of a Clas8 theurer, such as Enstar’s regulated Bermudaidialies, must
exceed the amount of its general business liadslity an amount greater than the prescribed minisaiwency
margin. Each of Enstar’s regulated Bermuda sub$édias required, with respect to its general bessn to maintain
a minimum solvency margin equal to the greatest of:

For Class 2 insurers:

+ $250,000;

* 20% of net premiums written (being gross premiumiten less any premiums ceded by the insurergif n
premiums do not exceed $6,000,000 or $1,200,000 &6 of net premiums written which exceed
$6,000,000; an

* 10% of net losses and loss expense rese

For Class 3 insurers:

+ $1,000,000

* 20% of net premiums written (being gross premiumiten less any premiums ceded by the insurergif n
premiums do not exceed $6,000,000 or $1,200,00018%6 of net premiums written which exceed
$6,000,000; an

» 15% of net losses and loss expense rese

Each of Enstar’s regulated Bermuda insurance andueance subsidiaries is prohibited from decladng
paying any dividends during any fiscal year ifitm breach of its minimum solvency margin or minimliquidity
ratio or if the declaration or payment of such dends would cause it to fail to meet such margiratio. In
addition, if it has failed to meet its minimum sehcy margin or minimum liquidity ratio on the lakgty of any fisca
year, each of Ensi's regulated Bermuda subsidiaries will be prohithiteithout the approval of the BMA, from
declaring or paying any dividends during the nénaricial year.

Each of Enstar’s regulated Bermuda insurance a@ndueance subsidiaries is prohibited, without tppraval
of the BMA, from reducing by 15% or more its tosshtutory capital as set out in its previous yefinancial
statements.

Additionally, under the Companies Act, Enstar aadreof its regulated Bermuda subsidiaries may deda
pay a dividend, or make a distribution from conitéd surplus, only if it has no reasonable grododbelieving
that it is, or will after the payment be, unablgty its liabilities as they become due, or thetrializable value of
its assets will thereby be less than the aggreafats liabilities and its issued share capital ahdre premium
accounts.

Supervision, Investigation and Interventiomhe BMA may appoint an inspector with extensive pmwto
investigate the affairs of Enstar’s regulated Bedeninsurance and reinsurance subsidiaries if thé Bilieves that
such an investigation is in the best interest$sopolicyholders or persons who may become politdgrs. In order
to verify or supplement information otherwise piard to the BMA, the BMA may direct Enstar’s regatit
Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiarietiupe documents or information relating to mattensnected
with its business. In addition, the BMA has the powo require the production of documents from pesson who
appears to be in possession of those documentbeFuthe BMA has the power, in respect of a persgistered
under the Insurance Act, to appoint a professipeedon to prepare a report on any aspect of anenaiout whicl
the BMA has required or could require informatitirit appears to the BMA to be desirable in themests of
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the clients of a person registered under the Imegrad\ct, the BMA may also exercise the foregoing/@e in
relation to any company which is, or has at angvaht time been, (1) a parent company, subsidiampany or
related company of that registered person, (2)aidiary company of a parent company of that regést person,
(3) a parent company of a subsidiary company dfrégistered person or (4) a controlling sharehotdehat
registered person, which is a person who eithareaty with any associate or associates, holds 50%oce of the
shares of that registered person or is entitlezk&mcise, or control the exercise of, more than 50%e voting
power at a general meeting of shareholders ofrtastered person. If it appears to the BMA thaté¢his a risk of a
regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance sabsioecoming insolvent, or that a regulated Bermingarance
and reinsurance subsidiary is in breach of therarsme Act or any conditions imposed upon its registn, the
BMA may, among other things, direct such subsid{@jynot to take on any new insurance business)qjo vary
any insurance contract if the effect would be twréase its liabilities, (3) not to make certaindstments, (4) to
liquidate certain investments, (5) to maintainantransfer to the custody of a specified bankiademssets, (6) not
to declare or pay any dividends or other distritmsior to restrict the making of such paymentsamd) to limit
such subsidiary’s premium income.

Disclosure of Information.In addition to powers under the Insurance Act t@sgtigate the affairs of an insul
the BMA may require insurers and other personsitoigh information to the BMA. Further, the BMA hlasen
given powers to assist other regulatory authoritieduding foreign insurance regulatory authostieith their
investigations involving insurance and reinsurac@m@panies in Bermuda. Such powers are subjecstoatons.
For example, the BMA must be satisfied that théstersce being requested is in connection with tkehdirge of
regulatory responsibilities of the foreign regutstauthority. Further, the BMA must consider whetbeoperation
is in the public interest. The grounds for disclesare limited and the Insurance Act provides sanstfor breach ¢
the statutory duty of confidentiality. Under thermanies Act, the Minister of Finance has been gp@ners to
assist a foreign regulatory authority that has estgd assistance in connection with inquiries bearged out by it
in the performance of its regulatory functions. Niaister's powers include requiring a person to furnish airher
with information, to produce documents to him or, lhe attend and answer questions and to givetassis in
connection with inquiries. The Minister must besfad that the assistance requested by the foreigulatory
authority is for the purpose of its regulatory ftioos and that the request is in relation to infation in Bermuda
which a person has in his possession or undemhigal. The Minister must consider, among othendlsi whether
is in the public interest to give the informatiaught.

Notification by shareholder controller of new ocieased control. Any person who, directly or indirectly,
becomes a holder of at least 10 percent, 20 per88mtercent or 50 percent of the Ordinary Shanest motify the
BMA in writing within 45 days of becoming such altéer or 30 days from the date they have knowleddewing
such a holding, whichever is later. The BMA may vijtten notice, object to such a person if it sgmseto the BM/
that the person is not fit and proper to be subblder. The BMA may require the holder to reduasrtholding of
Ordinary Shares and direct, among other thingsMbiing rights attaching to the Ordinary Shareallshot be
exercisable. A person that does not comply witthsuaotice or direction from the BMA will be guilof an
offense.

Objection to existing shareholder controlleFor so long as Enstar has as a subsidiary an insgistered
under the Insurance Act, the BMA may at any timewhitten notice, object to a person holding 10ceat or more
of the Ordinary Shares if it appears to the BMAt th@ person is not or is no longer fit and prapdbe such a
holder. In such a case, the BMA may require theedt@der to reduce its holding of Ordinary Shanmes direct,
among other things, that such shareholder’s vatgigs attaching to Ordinary Shares shall not ler@sable. A
person who does not comply with such a notice iction from the Authority will be guilty of an afhse.

Certain Other Bermuda Law Considerationélthough Enstar is incorporated in Bermuda, itl&ssified as a
non-resident of Bermuda for exchange control puepdy the BMA. Pursuant to its non-resident stdfastar may
engage in transactions in currencies other thamBea dollars and there are no restrictions onbigato transfer
funds (other than funds denominated in Bermudaadsjliin and out of Bermuda or to pay dividends 18.Uesident
who are holders of its ordinary shares.

Under Bermuda law, exempted companies are comp#oriaed for the purpose of conducting businesside
Bermuda from a principal place of business in BatanlAs “exempted” companies, neither Enstar nor any
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of its regulated Bermuda subsidiaries may, withhatexpress authorization of the Bermuda legistatwrunder a
license or consent granted by the Minister of Fagamparticipate in certain business transactiomduding: (1) the
acquisition or holding of land in Bermuda (excdpttheld by way of lease or tenancy agreement wkiobquired
for its business and held for a term not exceeilhgears, or which is used to provide accommodation
recreational facilities for its officers and empé&g and held with the consent of the Bermuda Minist Finance,
for a term not exceeding 21 years), (2) the takihignortgages on land in Bermuda to secure an anmiowxcess of
$50,000, or (3) the carrying on of business of king for which it is not licensed in Bermuda, exceplimited
circumstances such as doing business with anotieengted undertaking in furtherance of its busireessed on
outside Bermuda. Each of Enstar’s regulated Bernsutiaidiaries is a licensed insurer in Bermuda, asduch,
may carry on activities from Bermuda that are eglab and in support of its insurance business.

Ordinary shares may be offered or sold in Bermudg im compliance with the provisions of the Invesnt
Business Act 2003 of Bermuda, which regulates éte of securities in Bermuda. In addition, the BM®ist
approve all issues and transfers of securitiesBéranuda exempted company. Where any equity sesifineanin
shares which entitle the holder to vote for or appone or more directors or securities which bsitherms are
convertible into shares which entitle the holdevate for or appoint one or more directors) of arBeda company
are listed on an appointed stock exchange (whicludes Nasdaq) the BMA has given general permidsiothe
issue and subsequent transfer of any securitift®eafompany from and/or to a non-resident for g las any such
equity securities of the company remain so listed.

The Bermuda government actively encourages fori@iggstment in “exempted” entities like Enstar atsd i
regulated Bermuda subsidiaries that are basedrmiia, but which do not operate in competition vdttal
businesses. Enstar and its regulated Bermuda s$atisgdare not currently subject to taxes compuotegrofits or
income or computed on any capital asset, gain pregation, or any tax in the nature of estate dutyhnheritance
tax or to any foreign exchange controls in Bermuda.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than sgoo§ Bermudians, holders of a permanent resident’s
certificate or holders of a working resident’s darate) may not engage in any gainful occupatimBéermuda
without an appropriate governmental work permit.ridfoermits may be granted or extended by the Beamud
government upon showing that, after proper puliiestisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spouae
Bermudian, holder of a permanent resident’s cedtié or holder of a working resident’s certificateavailable who
meets the minimum standard requirements for thertided position. In 2004, the Bermuda governmanbanced
a new immigration policy limiting the duration ofowk permits to six years, with specified exemptiéms‘key”
employees. The categories of “kegfhployees include senior executives (chief exeeufficers, presidents throu
vice presidents), managers with global responsgibiienior financial posts (treasurers, chief firiahofficers
through controllers, specialized qualified accoatgaquantitative modeling analysts), certain Iggafessionals
(general counsels, specialist attorneys, qualifigdl librarians and knowledge managers), sensuramce
professionals (senior underwriters, senior claidjasters), experienced/specialized brokers, a@saspecialist
investment traders/analysts and senior informagohnology engineers/managers. All of Enstaecutive officer
who work in its Bermuda office have obtained wosdktmits.

United States

Enstar has four (and following the completion af therger with EGI, seven) indirect wholly-owned fnon
insurance subsidiaries organized under the lawiseoStates of Delaware (four), Georgia (two) aratiga (one).
Each of these entities provides services to theramee industry including the management of instegortfolios ir
run-off and forensic claims inspection. Enstar'dtelth States subsidiaries are not subject to reigulét the United
States as insurance companies, and are generabyinect to other insurance regulations.

If Enstar acquires insurance or reinsurance rurspérations in the United States, those subsidianperating
in the United States would be subject to extensdgeilation.

United Kingdom

General. On December 1, 2001, the U.K. Financial Serviceth@uity, or the FSA, assumed its full powers
and responsibilities as the single statutory regul@sponsible for regulating the financial seegiendustry in
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respect of the carrying on of “regulated activitiacluding deposit taking, insurance, investmer@nagement and
most other financial services business by way sfri®ss in the U.K.), with the purpose of maintagn@onfidence il
the U.K. financial system, providing public undarsding of the system, securing the proper degr@eadéction for
consumers and helping to reduce financial crimis. d criminal offense for any person to carry aegulated
activity in the U.K. unless that person is authediby the FSA and has been granted permissiornriy @a that
regulated activity or falls under an exemption.

Insurance business (which includes reinsurancenbss) is authorized and supervised by the FSArdnse
business in the United Kingdom is divided betwe®o tmain categories: long-term insurance (whichrisiarily
investment-related) and general insurance. It iosesible for an insurance company to be authdiizéoth long-
term and general insurance business. These twgarae are both divided into “classes” (for examplermanent
health and pension fund management are two clag$eisg-term insurance; damage to property and meghbicle
liability are two classes of general insurance)délrthe Financial, Services and Markets Act 200@he FSMA,
effecting or carrying out contracts of insurancéhim a class of general or long-term insurancewhy of business
in the United Kingdom, constitutes a regulatedvatgtirequiring individual authorization. An authped insurance
company must have permission for each class ofanse business it intends to write.

Certain of Enstar’s regulated U.K. subsidiariesaathorized insurers, would be able to operateutijitout the
E.U., subject to certain regulatory requirementthefFSA and in some cases, certain local regylaémuirements.
An insurance company with FSA authorization to iitsurance business in the United Kingdom can seekent
from the FSA to allow it to provide cross-bordengees in other member states of the E.U. As asrditive, FSA
consent may be obtained to establish a brancheoffithin another member state. Although in run-Bfistar’s
regulated U.K. subsidiaries remain regulated byR84, but may not underwrite new business.

As FSA authorized insurers, the insurance and ueamee businesses of Enssarégulated U.K. subsidiaries .
subject to close supervision by the FSA. The FSaitmplemented specific requirements for senior rgameent
arrangements, systems and controls of insuranceeémglirance companies under its jurisdiction, Whitace a
strong emphasis on risk identification and managenmerelation to the prudential regulation of irsnice and
reinsurance business in the United Kingdom.

Supervision. The FSA carries out the prudential supervisiomstirance companies through a variety of
methods, including the collection of informatioorn statistical returns, review of accountants’ répovisits to
insurance companies and regular formal interviews.

The FSA has adopted a risk-based approach to ieegsion of insurance companies. Under this apgirale
FSA performs a formal risk assessment of insurancepanies or groups carrying on business in the U.K
periodically. The periods between U.K. assessmeansin length according to the risk profile of timsurer. The
FSA performs the risk assessment by analyzing imédion which it receives during the normal courkiso
supervision, such as regular prudential returngherfinancial position of the insurance companywhbich it
acquires through a series of meetings with senammagement of the insurance company. After eachadskssmer
the FSA will inform the insurer of its views on thesurer’s risk profile. This will include detaitd any remedial
action that the FSA requires and the likely conseges if this action is not taken.

Solvency RequirementsThe Integrated Prudential Sourcebook requiresitisatrance companies maintain a
required solvency margin at all times in respeamyf general insurance undertaken by the insuremopany. The
calculation of the required margin in any particdase depends on the type and amount of insutargieess a
company writes. The method of calculation of thguieed solvency margin is set out in the Integr&eadential
Sourcebook, and for these purposes, all inssigssets and liabilities are subject to specifisateon rules which ai
set out in the Integrated Prudential Sourcebookuféato maintain the required solvency marginng @f the
grounds on which wide powers of intervention corddrupon the FSA may be exercised. For fiscal yeading on
or after January 1, 2004, the calculation of tlpired solvency margin has been amended as a ofghk
implementation of the EU Solvency | Directivesréspect of liability business accepted, 150% ofattaal
premiums written and claims incurred must be inetlith the calculation, which has had the effeéhofeasing the
required solvency margin of Enstar’s regulated Wslbsidiaries. Enstar continuously monitors theesaty capital
position of the U.K. subsidiaries and maintainsitzdjn excess of the required solvency margin.
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Each insurance company writing various classeasiness is required by the Integrated Prudentiat&&iook
to maintain equalization provisions calculatedéoadance with the provisions of the Integrateddential
Sourcebook.

Insurers are required to calculate an Enhanced@d&equirement, or ECR, in addition to their reqdi
solvency margin. This represents a more risk-sgagitlculation than the previous required solvemaygin
requirements and is used by the FSA as its ben¢himaissessing its Individual Capital Adequacy 8tads.
Insurers must maintain financial resources whiehaatequate, both as to amount and quality, to erikat there is
no significant risk that its liabilities cannot beet as they come due. In order to carry out thessssent as to the
necessary financial resources that are requiredréns are required to identify the major sourdeasshk to its ability
to meet its liabilities as they come due, and toycaut stress and scenario tests to identify gr@piate range of
realistic adverse scenarios in which the risk etliges and to estimate the financial resourcesl@@én each of the
circumstances and events identified. In additiba,ESA gives Individual Capital Guidance, or IC&gularly to
insurers and reinsurers following receipt of indival capital assessments, prepared by firms theaselrhe FSA'’s
guidance may be that a company should hold mokeserthan its then current level of regulatory tpor that the
company’s regulatory capital should remain unatteEnstar calculated the ECR for its regulated $ufasidiaries
for the period ended December 31, 2005 and sulihiese calculations in April 2006 to the FSA agt patheir
statutory filings. In all instances, Enstar’s UdGbsidiaries had capital in excess of their ECRiireqnents. The
ECR calculations for its regulated U.K. subsidiafier the year ended December 31, 2006 will be sitéxinby no
later than March 31, 2007.

In addition, an insurer (other than a pure reingutat is part of a group is required to perfonna aubmit to
the FSA a solvency margin calculation return irpees of its ultimate parent undertaking, in accamawith the
FSA's rules. This return is not part of an insusariwn solvency return and hence will not be puplélailable.
Although there is no requirement for the parentastaking solvency calculation to show a positiveuie the FSA
may take action where it considers that the soly@fithe insurance company is or may be jeopardizedto the
group solvency position. Further, an insurer isunegl to report in its annual returns to the FSAvadterial related
party transactions (e.g., intra group reinsurandmse value is more than 5% of the insurer’s genmesarance
business amount).

Restrictions on Dividend Payments).K. company law prohibits Enstar’s regulated Uskibsidiaries from
declaring a dividend to their shareholders unleeg have “profits available for distribution.” Thetermination of
whether a company has profits available for distitn is based on its accumulated realized prég#s its
accumulated realized losses. While the United Kamgdnsurance regulatory laws impose no statutastrictions
on a general insurer’s ability to declare a dividlethe FSA strictly controls the maintenance ofheiasurance
company'’s required solvency margin within its jdiction. The FSA'’s rules require Enstar’s reguldatel.
subsidiaries to obtain FSA approval for any propaseactual payment of a dividend.

Reporting RequirementsU.K. insurance companies must prepare their firdrstatements under the
Companies Act of 1985 (as amended), which reqtiiresiling with Companies House of audited finamhcia
statements and related reports. In addition, LhEutiance companies are required to file with th& FE§ulatory
returns, which include a revenue account, a pawifit loss account and a balance sheet in presdobed. Under
the Interim Prudential Sourcebook for Insurers,jt@ddregulatory returns must be filed with the F8ihin two
months and 15 days (or three months where theatglnf the return is made electronically) of thenpany’s year
end. Enstar’s regulated U.K. insurance subsidiaesalso required to submit abridged quarterlgrimiation to the
FSA.

Supervision of ManagemeniThe FSA closely supervises the management of insaraompanies through the
approved persons regime, by which any appointmiepéisons to perform certain specified “controffedctions”
within a regulated entity, must be approved byRB&.

Change of Control. FSMA regulates the acquisition of “control” of abyK. insurance company authorized
under FSMA. Any company or individual that (togethth its or his associates) directly or indirgcticquires 10%
or more of the shares in a U.K. authorized insugarmmpany or its parent company, or is entitleeldercise or
control the exercise of 10% or more of the votiogvpr in such authorized insurance company or itsrga
company, would be considered to have acquired foirfor the purposes of the relevant legislatias,would a
person who had significant influence over the manant of such authorized insurance company omitsri
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company by virtue of his shareholding or voting pow either. A purchaser of 10% or more of Enstardinary
shares would therefore be considered to have atjlgontrol” of Enstar’s regulated U.K. subsidiarie

Under FSMA, any person proposing to acquire “cdhtreer a U.K. authorized insurance company musgégi
prior notification to the FSA of his intention t@ do. The FSA would then have three months to denshat
person’s application to acquire “control.” In cafesiing whether to approve such application, the &t be
satisfied that both the acquirer is a fit and prqmrson to have such “control” and that the irdey®f consumers
would not be threatened by such acquisition of taati Failure to make the relevant prior applicaticould result
in action being taken against Enstar by the FSA.

Intervention and EnforcementThe FSA has extensive powers to intervene in tfarafof an authorized
person, culminating in the ultimate sanction of thmoval of authorization to carry on a regulatetivity. FSMA
imposes on the FSA statutory obligations to morgtimpliance with the requirements imposed by FSki#] to
enforce the provisions of FSMA-related rules magiéhle FSA. The FSA has power, among other thirgenforce
and take disciplinary measures in respect of besof both the Interim Prudential Sourcebook fauhers and
breaches of the conduct of business rules genexpfilicable to authorized persons.

The FSA also has the power to prosecute crimirfahsgs arising under FSMA, and to prosecute insider
dealing under Part V of the Criminal Justice AcfLl&83, and breaches of money laundering regulatitims FSA’s
stated policy is to pursue criminal prosecutiomlireppropriate cases.

Passporting. European Union directives allow Enstar’s reguldtield. subsidiaries to conduct business in
European Union states other than the United Kingdooompliance with the scope of permission gratiede
companies by the FSA without the necessity of &mithl licensing or authorization in other Europé#rion
jurisdictions. This ability to operate in otherigdictions of the European Union on the basis ohbstate
authorization and supervision is sometimes refetweas “passporting.” Insurers may operate outgide home
member state either on a “services” basis or ofestablishment” basis. Operating on a “servicesibaeans that
the company conducts permitted businesses in theskete without having a physical presence tivende
operating on an “establishment” basis means thepaognhas a branch or physical presence in theshest In both
cases, a company remains subject to regulatiotsliyome regulator, and not by local regulatory auities,
although the company nonetheless may have to cowitiycertain local rules. In addition to Europdamion
member states, Norway, Iceland and Liechtensteen{bers of the broader European Economic Area) are
jurisdictions in which this passporting framewoppées.

Belgium and Austria

Enstar indirectly owns, through B.H. Acquisitiorgdet Holdings Limited, or Paget, an Austrian haddin
company, which owns Compagnie Européenne d'Assesamziustrielles S.A., or CEAI, a registered insure
domiciled in Belgium. CEAI currently is in run-ofind does not write new business. The insuranceatipes of
CEAI are subject to Belgian insurance laws. CEAkiguired to comply with the terms of its registratand any
other conditions the banking, finance and insurammeamission may impose from time to time. Underapplicable
insurance laws and regulations, the banking, fieamd insurance commission must be informed abwlibpprove
the management structure, the directors, and dumanagement. The banking, finance and insurancenission
also regulates solvency and certain operationsatidties of Belgian insurers.

Paget is generally subject to the laws of AusBiecause the principal activity of Paget is ownirtgAT, Paget
is not required to be licensed by Austrian autiesit
Switzerland and Luxembourg

Enstar indirectly owns Harper Holding SARL, or Harplolding, a Luxembourg holding company, which s
Harper Insurance Limited, or Harper Insurance jissteer domiciled in Switzerland. Because the @adis of
Harper Insurance are limited to reinsuranceatfnit is not required to be licensed by Swisshauities but is subje
to regulation by the Federal Office of Private Ireswce, or FOPI.

Harper Holding is a private limited liability commyg incorporated under the laws of the Grand-Dugzhy
Luxembourg, generally subject to the laws of Luxenmg. Because the principal activity of Harper Hiodgis
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owning subsidiaries not domiciled in Luxembourgypta Holding is not required to be licensed by Lmkeurg
authorities.

Competition

Enstar competes in international markets with ddimesd international reinsurance companies to iaeGund
manage reinsurance companies in run-off. The aitigmisnd management of reinsurance companiesnitofilis
highly competitive. Some of these competitors hgnemter financial resources than Enstar, have bperating for
longer than Enstar and have established long-tedrcantinuing business relationships throughoutréesurance
industry, which can be a significant competitiveaatage. As such, Enstar may not be able to conspeessfully
in the future for suitable acquisition candidatesum-off portfolio management engagements.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, Enstar had approximat@¥yeimployees, 4 of whom were executive officers. Al
non-Bermudian employees who operate out of EnsBatsmuda office are subject to approval of any ieguwork
permits. None of Enstar’s employees are coverecbbigctive bargaining agreements, and its managebeieves
that its relationship with its employees is exaglle

Available Information

Enstar maintains a website with the address wwwaemr®up.com The information contained on Enstar’s
website is not included as a part of, or incorpeidly reference into, this filing. Enstar makesilaizée free of
charge (other than an investor’'s own Internet accharges) on or through its website its annuainteqn
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmeports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to thgsertg, as
soon as reasonably practicable after the materikictronically filed with or otherwise furnish&edthe Securities
and Exchange Commission. Enstar’s annual reporBoom 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmepmorts
on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports aoeaafailable on the Securities and Exchange Coroniss
website at http://www.sec.goun addition, copies of Enstar’s corporate govangaguidelines, codes of business
conduct and ethics and the governing chartersaudit and compensation committees of its BoaRirectors
are available free of charge on its website.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider these risks alondpwie other information included in this documémtjuding
the matters addressed under “ltem 7. Managemengsudsion and Analysis of Financial Condition ares&ts of
Operations — Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-LiogkStatements”, as well as risks included elsewheour
documents filed with the SEC, before investingpna our securities. We may amend, supplemenddtathe rist
factors described below from time to time in futtgports filed with the SE(

Risks Relating to Our Business

If we are unable to implement our business strategjiour business and financial condition may be adsely
affected.

Enstar’s future results of operations will depemdignificant part on the extent to which we caplement our
business strategies successfully, including ouitalbd realize the anticipated growth opporturstiexpanded
market visibility and increased access to cap@al: business strategies after the merger includéragng to
operate our portfolio of run-off insurance and seirance companies and related management engageaentell
as pursuing additional acquisitions and manageemgagements in the run-off segment of the insurande
reinsurance market. We may not be able to implemenstrategies fully or realize the anticipatesuits of our
strategies as a result of significant businessy@tic and competitive uncertainties, many of whach beyond our
control.
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The effects of emerging claims and coverage isswmsresult in increased provisions for loss researe
reduced profitability in our insurance and reinsweasubsidiaries. Such adverse business issuealswgeduce the
level of incentive-based fees generated by ourwdting operations. Adverse global economic condgiosuch as
rising interest rates and volatile foreign exchareges, may cause widespread failure of our insgramd
reinsurance subsidiaries’ reinsurers’ ability tisfg their obligations, as well as failure of coampes to meet their
obligations under debt instruments held by our slidnses. If the run-off industry becomes moreaattive to
investors, competition for run-off acquisitions andnagement and consultancy engagements may ie@ads
therefore, reduce our ability to continue to makafifable acquisitions or expand our consultancgragions. If we
are unable to successfully implement our busineategiies, we may not be able to achieve futurevgran our
earnings and our financial condition may suffer,aagla result, holders of our ordinary shares reagive lower
returns.

Our inability to successfully manage our portfoliof insurance and reinsurance companies in run-offan
adversely impact our ability to grow our businesscamay result in losses.

We were founded to acquire and manage companiepatfdlios of insurance and reinsurance in run-Ofiir
run-off business differs from the business of tiadal insurance and reinsurance underwriting &t thur insurance
and reinsurance companies in run-off no longer omde new policies and are subject to the risk thair stated
provisions for losses and loss adjustment expeiitaat be sufficient to cover future losses and twost of run-off.
Because our companies in raff-no longer collect underwriting premiums, ouustes of capital to cover losses
limited to our stated reserves, reinsurance coecaagl retained earnings. As of December 31, 2006gm@ss
reserves for losses and loss adjustment experadedd1.21 billion, and our reinsurance receivatdéded
$408.1 million.

In order for us to achieve positive operating resswie must first price acquisitions on favoralglerts relative
to the risks posed by the acquired portfolio arehtiuccessfully manage the acquired portfolios.i@ability to
price acquisitions on favorable terms, efficientignage claims, collect from reinsurers and comtnoloff expense:
could result in us having to cover losses sustaimeter assumed policies with retained earningschviviould
materially and adversely impact our ability to growr business and may result in losses.

Our inability to successfully manage the compangesd portfolios for which we have been engaged abied-
party manager may adversely impact our financiaktdts and our ability to win future management
engagements.

In addition to acquiring insurance and reinsurazw@panies in run-off, we have entered into several
management agreements with third parties to mathegieportfolios or companies in run-off. The terofghese
management engagements typically include incemp@yenents to us based on our ability to successfudipage the
run-off of these companies or portfolios. We maylmable to accomplish our objectives for theggagements as
a result of unforeseen circumstances such as tigghl@f time for claims to develop, the extent toiet losses may
exceed reserves, changes in the law that may seqoirerage of additional claims and losses, oditytd commute
reinsurance policies on favorable terms and odityabd manage run-off expenses. If we are not sastul in
meeting our objectives for these management engaggsimve may not receive incentive payments under o
management agreements, which could adversely ingpaidinancial results, and we may not win future
engagements to provide these management servibed) would slow the growth of our business. Coriisglfees
generated from management agreements amounte® @ $8lion, $22.0 million and $23.7 million for ¢hyears
ended December 31, 2006, December 31, 2005 andribece31, 2004, respectively.

If our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries’ logeserves are inadequate to cover their actual éssour
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries’ net incoraad capital and surplus would be reduced.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries areéreglio maintain reserves to cover their estimatéchate
liability for losses and loss adjustment expensedbth reported and unreported claims incurreés€heserves are
only estimates of what our subsidiaries think tlement and administration of claims will cosséd on facts and
circumstances known to the subsidiaries. Our coratiut activity and claims settlement and developnrerecent
years has resulted in net reductions in provisfontoss and loss adjustment expenses of $31.%om;
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$96.0 million and $13.7 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2006, December 31, 2005 and Dece®dber
2004, respectively. Although this recent experieindicates that our loss reserves have been maredtiequate to
meet our liabilities, because of the uncertairitied surround estimating loss reserves and lossexgnt expenses,
our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries carmogétiain that ultimate losses will not exceedehestimates of
losses and loss adjustment expenses. If the salis&lireserves are insufficient to cover theiuattosses and loss
adjustment expenses, the subsidiaries would haaagment their reserves and incur a charge to ¢aeings.
These charges could be material and would reduceaiincome and capital and surplus.

The difficulty in estimating the subsidiaries’ reges is increased because the subsidiaries’ Isgeswes include
reserves for potential asbestos and environmeatalifies. At December 31, 2006 our insurance aidsurance
companies recorded gross asbestos and environniesgakserves of $666.1 million, or 54.8% of thtaltgross
loss reserves. Net asbestos and environmentaldessves at December 31, 2006 amounted to $350i6mor
40.2% of total net loss reserves. Asbestos and@mwiental liabilities are especially hard to estigrfar many
reasons, including the long waiting periods betwexgrosure and manifestation of any bodily injurypowperty
damage, the difficulty in identifying the sourcetbé& asbestos or environmental contamination, fepgrting delay
and the difficulty in properly allocating liabilitior the asbestos or environmental damage. Devdlogse law and
adequate claim history do not always exist for stlahms, especially because significant uncerta@xigts about th
outcome of coverage litigation and whether pastrckxperience will be representative of future mlaxperience.
In view of the changes in the legal and tort enwinent that affect the development of such claifms uncertainties
inherent in valuing asbestos and environmentaidaire not likely to be resolved in the near fututéimate value
for such claims cannot be estimated using tradilioeserving techniques and there are significanéttainties in
estimating the amount of our subsidiaries’ potémisses for these claims. Our subsidiaries havenaale any
changes in reserve estimates that might ariseesudt of any proposed U.S. federal legislatioated to asbestos.
Our reserves for A&E liabilities decreased durif2 and 2005 by $13.7 million and $172.3 milliospectively
on a gross basis ($33.4 million and $100.6 milbona net basis). The reductions arose from suadessf
commutations, policy buybacks, generally favoraiiéem settlements and actuarial analysis of remagifiabilities
during each year. During 2006, our reserves for Ai&Rilities and increased by $10.1 million grossl alecreased
by $55.1 million net. The increase to gross researese from adverse incurred development and rEeltaaalysis
of remaining liabilities from one particular Enstasurance subsidiary amounting to $104.7 milliesslclaim
settlements of $73.2 million. The entity in questlEenefits from substantial reinsurance protecotibich largely
eliminates the gross adverse development on aasét.bAs such, A&E reserves for Enstar as a wheteehsed by
$55.1 million on a net basis primarily due to swssfel commutations, policy buybacks, generally fabte claim
settlements and actuarial analysis of remainindialeilities.To further understand this risk, sé&eserves for
Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expense” beginoimpage 8.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries’ reinsgns may not satisfy their obligations to our insuree and
reinsurance subsidiaries.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries arectuoj credit risk with respect to their reinsureesause the
transfer of risk to a reinsurer does not relievesubsidiaries of their liability to the insured. addition, reinsurers
may be unwilling to pay our subsidiaries even thotlgey are able to do so. As at December 31, 20@&)alances
receivable from reinsurers amounted to $408.1 oniJlof which $244.2 million was associated withrayke
reinsurer with a Standard & Poor’s credit ratingdef The failure of one or more of our subsidiariesnsurers to
honor their obligations in a timely fashion mayeaff our cash flows, reduce our net income or cagge incur a
significant loss. Disputes with our reinsurers naigo result in unforeseen expenses relating tmtiton or
arbitration proceedings.

The value of our insurance and reinsurance subsid&s’ investment portfolios and the investment imoe that
our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries receivem these portfolios may decline as a result of ket
fluctuations and economic conditions.

The fair market value of the fixed-income secusititassified as available-for-sale in our subsidgr
investment portfolios, amounting to $279.1 mill@nDecember 31, 2006, and the investment inconme fhese
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assets fluctuate depending on general economicnankiet conditions. For example, the fair marketieadf our
subsidiaries’ fixed-income securities generallyr@ases or decreases in an inverse relationshipfiwittuations in
interest rates. The fair market value of our subsies’ fixed-income securities can also decreasa esult of any
downturn in the business cycle that causes thetaedlity of those securities to deteriorate. He¢ investment
income that our subsidiaries realize from investimé@nfixed income securities will generally incsesor decrease
with interest rates. The changes in the marketevafiour subsidiaries’ securities that are clasgifis
available-for-sale are reflected in our financtatements. Permanent impairments in the value o$dlsidiaries’
fixed income securities are also reflected in dnericial statements. As a result, a decline invige of the
securities in our subsidiaries’ portfolio may reduwr net income or cause us to incur a loss.

Fluctuations in the reinsurance industry may causeir operating results to fluctuate.

The reinsurance industry historically has beenexsthip significant fluctuations and uncertaintieactors that
affect the industry in general may also cause perating results to fluctuate. The industry’s paddility may be
affected significantly by:

« fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pregsuand other changes in the investment environmamth
affect returns on invested capital and may affeetultimate payout of loss amounts and the costs of
administering books of reinsurance busin

« volatile and unpredictable developments, which mawersely affect the recoverability of reinsurafroen
our reinsurers

« changes in reserves resulting from different tygfedaims that may arise and the development atjad
interpretations relating to the scope of insU’ liability; and

« the overall level of economic activity and the catifive environment in the industr

The effects of emerging claim and coverage issueoar business are uncertain.

As industry practices and legal, judicial, sociadl ather environmental conditions change, unexpleabel
unintended issues related to claims and coverageemarge. These issues may adversely affect trguadg of ou
provision for losses and loss adjustment expengeither extending coverage beyond the intent sdiiance
policies and reinsurance contracts envisionedeatithe they were written, or by increasing the namtdr size of
claims. In some instances, these changes may ootrteeapparent until some time after we have acdyuire
companies or portfolios of insurance or reinsurasargracts that are affected by the changes. Asutr the full
extent of liability under these insurance or remasiee contracts may not be known for many yeaes aftontract
has been issued. To further understand this resk;'Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss AdjustiBepénse”
beginning on page 8.

Insurance laws and regulations restrict our ability operate, and any failure to comply with thesevs and
regulations may have a material adverse effect am business.

We are subject to extensive regulation under imsigdaws of a number of jurisdictions. These lavnit ithe
amount of dividends that can be paid to us by esmriance and reinsurance subsidiaries, prescribensy
standards that they must meet and maintain, impEstactions on the amount and type of investmérasthey can
hold to meet solvency requirements and require tteemaintain reserves. Failure to comply with thieses may
subject our subsidiaries to fines and penaltiesrastlict them from conducting business. The apfibn of these
laws may affect our liquidity and ability to payitiends on our ordinary shares and may restricability to
expand our business operations through acquisit®nSecember 31, 2006, the required statutorytehpnd
surplus of our Bermuda, U.K. and European insuramekreinsurance companies amounted to $75.0 millio
compared to the actual statutory capital and sarpfi$360.1 million. As at December 31, 2006, $448iflion of our
total investments of $747.5 million were not adifitesfor statutory solvency purposes.
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If we fail to comply with applicable insurance lavand regulations, we may be subject to disciplinaction,
damages, penalties or restrictions that may haveaterial adverse effect on our business.

We cannot assure you that our subsidiaries hagaromaintain all required licenses and approvathatrtheir
businesses fully comply with the laws and regutaito which they are subject, or the relevant iasce regulatory
authority’s interpretation of those laws and regulationsddition, some regulatory authorities have reldibeoad
discretion to grant, renew or revoke licenses gmi@vals. If our subsidiaries do not have the rsitpilicenses and
approvals or do not comply with applicable regutat@quirements, the insurance regulatory autlesrithay
preclude or suspend our subsidiaries from carrgingome or all of their activities, or impose mangtpenalties on
them. These types of actions may have a matenarad effect on our business and may precludeous finaking
future acquisitions or obtaining future engagemémt®anage companies and portfolios in run-off.

We have made, and expect to continue to make, sgigtacquisitions of insurance and reinsurance coampes
in run-off, and these activities may not be finaradly beneficial to us or our shareholders.

We have pursued and, as part of our strategy, Weaovitinue to pursue growth through acquisitions
and/or strategic investments in insurance and ueamee companies in run-off. We have made seveclisitions
and investments and we expect to continue to magie acquisitions and investments. We cannot baicettiat any
of these acquisitions or investments will be finalg advantageous for us or our shareholders.

The negotiation of potential acquisitions or stgaténvestments, as well as the integration of equaed
business or portfolio, could result in a substduwtigersion of management resources. Acquisitionddinvolve
numerous additional risks such as potential loBses unanticipated litigation or levels of claings) inability to
generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisitiosts and financial exposures in the event thaséflers of the
entities we acquire are unable or unwilling to nteetr indemnification, reinsurance and other adtiigns to us.

Our ability to manage our growth through acquisii@r strategic investments will depend, in partpar
success in addressing these risks. Any failureshp effectively implement our acquisition or ségit investment
strategies could have a material adverse effecuoiusiness, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Future acquisitions may expose us to operationalks such as cash flow shortages, challenges toucr
appropriate levels of personnel, financial exposar® foreign currencies, additional integration ctssand
management time and effort.

We may in the future make additional strategic &itjons, either of other companies or selectedfplos of
insurance or reinsurance in run-off. Any futurewsijions may expose us to operational challengésrisks,
including:

« funding cash flow shortages that may occur if ap¢ited revenues are not realized or are delayeéethghby
general economic or market conditions or unforesetennal difficulties;

« funding cash flow shortages that may occur if esgsrare greater than anticipat

« the value of assets being lower than expectednoingihing because of credit defaults or changésterest
rates, or liabilities assumed being greater thaoeeted

* integrating financial and operational reportingteyss, including assurance of compliance with Sactio4
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

* establishing satisfactory budgetary and other fif@rcontrols;

« funding increased capital needs and overhead egpf

 obtaining management personnel required for exmhogerations; an

« the assets and liabilities we may acquire may bgestito foreign currency exchange rate fluctuat

Our failure to manage successfully these operdticmalenges and risks could have a material adveifect ol
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.
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Exit and finality opportunities provided by solvesthemes of arrangement may not continue to be ke,
which may result in the diversion of our resources settle policyholder claims for a substantiallgriger run-
off period and increase the associated costs of-nfhof our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries.

With respect to our U.K. and Bermudian insuranag @mnsurance subsidiaries, we are able to putsategies
to achieve complete finality and conclude the rifreba company by promoting solvent schemes drsgement.
Solvent schemes of arrangement have been a papakars of achieving financial certainty and finalftyr
insurance and reinsurance companies incorporatethoaged in the U.K. and Bermuda, by making a one-ull
and final settlement of an insurance and reins@waompany'’s liabilities to policyholders. A solvestheme of
arrangement is an arrangement between a companjsamdditors or any class of them. For a solweheme of
arrangement to become binding on the creditorseetimg of each class of creditors must be calléith, the
permission of the local court, to consider andhdéfught fit, approve the solvent scheme arrangenidre requisite
statutory majority of creditors of not less thaah value and 50% in number of those creditoraallyt attending
the meeting, either in person or by proxy, musevntfavor of a solvent scheme of arrangement. Gimesolvent
scheme of arrangement has been approved by tlhosyamajority of voting creditors of the companyequires th
sanction of the local court.

In July 2005, the case of British Aviation Insurar@ompany, or BAIC, was the first solvent scheme of
arrangement to fail to be sanctioned by the Engdigh Court, following opposition by certain creatis. The
primary reason for the failure of the BAIC arrangarhwas the failure to adequately provide for défe classes of
creditors to vote separately on the arrangementastthought at the time that the BAIC judgment rsigyal the
decline of solvent schemes of arrangement. Howesirgce BAIC thirteen solvent schemes of arrangerhané
been sanctioned, such that the prevailing viewas the BAIC judgment was very fact-specific to tase in
guestion, and solvent schemes generally shouldntanto be promoted and sanctioned as a viable srfean
achieving finality for our insurance and reinsurasabsidiaries. Following the BAIC judgment, inswa and
reinsurance companies must now take more careaftirdy a solvent scheme of arrangement to fit ihmistances
of the company including the determination of thprapriate classes of creditors. Should a solveimtse of
arrangement promoted by an insurance or reinsurautzgdiary of Enstar fail to receive the requisipproval by
creditors or sanction by the court, we will haveun off these liabilities until expiry, which magsult in the
diversion of our resources to settle policyholdamgs for a substantially longer run-off period andrease the
associated costs of run-off, resulting potentiaila material adverse effect on our financial ctodiand results of
operations.

We are dependent on our executive officers, direstand other key personnel and the loss of anyhudge
individuals could adversely affect our business.

Our success substantially depends on our abilitttact and retain qualified employees and uperathility of
our senior management and other key employeesgleiment our business strategy. We believe thaether only
limited number of available qualified personnethe business in which we compete. We rely substifyntipon the
services of Dominic F. Silvester, our Chief ExeeatDfficer, Paul J. O’'Shea and Nicholas A. Pac&ar,Executive
Vice Presidents, Richard J. Harris, our Chief FaiainOfficer, John J. Oros, our Executive Chairmeamg our
subsidiariesexecutive officers and directors to identify ansh@mmmate the acquisition of insurance and reinsa
companies and portfolios in run-off on favorablerte and to implement our run-off strategy. Each of
Messrs. Silvester, O’'Shea, Packer and Oros hamplogment agreement with us. In addition to senasgur
Executive Chairman, Mr. Oros is a managing direofal.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, an investment firm sjadizing in
privately negotiated equity and equity-related stagents in the financial services industry. Mr. ©splits his time
commitment between Enstar and J.C. Flowers & C& Llith the expectation that Mr. Oros will spend
approximately 50% of his working time with Ensthowever, there is no minimum work commitment sethfin
our employment agreement with Mr. Oros. J. Chriseg-lowers, one of our directors, and one of atgdst
shareholders, is a Managing Director of J.C. Flew&Co. LLC. We believe that our relationships wiih. Oros
and Mr. Flowers and their affiliates provide ushwatccess to additional acquisition and investmppbdunities, as
well as sources of co-investment for acquisitiopapunities that we do not have the resources tsuwmmate on
our own. The loss of the services of any of our agement or other key personnel, or the loss oféneices of or
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our relationships with any of our directors, inchglin particular Mr. Oros and Mr. Flowers, or thaffiliates could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

Further, if we were to lose any of our key emplasygeBermuda, we would likely hire non-Bermudians t
replace them. Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudiarse(dhan spouses of Bermudians, holders of pernhanen
resident’s certificates or holders of a workingdest's certificate) may not engage in any gaimfttupation in
Bermuda without an appropriate governmental worknite Work permits may be granted or extended gy th
Bermuda government upon showing that, after prppbétic advertisement in most cases, no Bermudiasgouse
of a Bermudian, holder of a permanent resident'sfaate or holders of a working residestertificate) is availab
who meets the minimum standard requirements foattvertised position. The Bermuda government’scgdimits
the duration of work permits to six years, withtaar exemptions for key employees and job categavieere there
is a worldwide shortage of qualified employees.

Conflicts of interest might prevent us from pursugrdesirable investment and business opportunities.

Our directors and executive officers may have osfmgrinterests or other involvement with entitieattcould
compete against us, either in the pursuit of adipristargets or in general business operationso€asion, we
have also participated in transactions in which @nmore of our directors or executive officers laadnterest. In
particular, we have invested, and expect to cortiounvest, in or with entities that are affiliatef or otherwise
related to Mr. Oros and/or Mr. Flowers. The intésexd our directors and executive officers in streimsactions or
such entities may result in a conflict of interiestthose directors and officers. The independesnivers of our
board of directors review any material transactionslving a conflict of interest, and the boarddifectors will
take other actions as may be deemed appropriatechy in particular circumstances, such as formispexial
committee of independent directors or engaginglitparty financial advisers to evaluate such tramsas. We may
not be able pursue to all advantageous transadtiansve would otherwise pursue in the absencecohélict
should our board of directors be unable to detegrthiat any such transaction is on terms as fave@blve could
otherwise obtain in the absence of a conflict.

We may require additional capital in the future thanay not be available or may only be available on
unfavorable terms.

Our future capital requirements depend on manyfagcincluding our ability to manage the run-offowir
assumed policies and to establish reserves aslsu#ficient to cover losses. We may need to radhtional funds
through financings in the future. Any equity or t&bancing, if available at all, may be on terrhattare not
favorable to us. In the case of equity financirdifsition to our shareholders could result, andany case, such
securities may have rights, preferences and pgegehat are senior to those of our already oudstgrsecurities. If
we cannot obtain adequate capital, our businesslitseof operations and financial condition coudddulversely
affected.

We are a holding company, and we are dependentt@nability of our subsidiaries to distribute funds us.

We are a holding company and conduct substantdlilyf our operations through subsidiaries. Ouryonl
significant assets are the capital stock of ousglidries. As a holding company, we are dependemtistributions
of funds from our subsidiaries to pay dividendsid@acquisitions or fulfill financial obligations the normal course
of our business. Our subsidiaries may not genersficient cash from operations to enable us toerdikidend
payments, acquire additional companies or insuranceinsurance portfolios or fulfill other finaatiobligations.
The ability of our insurance and reinsurance suasas to make distributions to us is limited bykgable
insurance laws and regulations, and the abilitgllof our subsidiaries to make distributions tanay be restricted
by, among other things, other applicable laws agailations.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may causeto experience losses.

We maintain a portion of our investments, insurdratglities and insurance assets denominated ireagies
other than U.S. dollars. Consequently, we and obsigliaries may experience foreign exchange losses.
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We publish our consolidated financial statementd.i8. dollars. Therefore, fluctuations in excharages used
to convert other currencies, particularly otherdp@an currencies including the Euro and Britishnahinto
U.S. dollars will impact our reported consolidafedncial condition, results of operations and cteWs from year
to year.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares
Our stock price may experience volatility, theretgusing a potential loss of value to our investors.

The market price for our ordinary shares may flatdtsubstantially due to, among other things, elleviing
factors:

e announcements with respect to an acquisition arstment
« changes in the value of our ass

 our quarterly operating resul

« changes in general conditions in the econc

« the financial markets; ar

« adverse press or news announcemt

A few significant shareholders may influence or cwal the direction of our business. If the ownerghbf our
ordinary shares continues to be highly concentratédmay limit your ability and the ability of othe
shareholders to influence significant corporate dsions.

The interests of Trident and Messrs. Flowers, Stk Packer and O’Shea may not be fully alignet ywour
interests, and this may lead to a strategy thabtisn your best interest. Trident beneficially @iapproximately
17.6% of the outstanding Enstar ordinary shares Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packer an8l@a beneficially ow
approximately 10.4%, 18.9%, 6.0% and 6.0%, respelgti of the outstanding Enstar ordinary shareth@lgh they
do not act as a group, Trident and each of MeBtwsiers, Silvester, Packer and O’Shea exercisefgignt
influence over matters requiring shareholder apgpitodthough they do not act as a group, the cotmagsd holding
of Trident and Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packed O’Shea may delay or deter possible changesnimat of
Enstar, which may reduce the market price of Ermtéinary shares. For further information on aspeétour bye-
laws that may discourage changes of control ofd&nste “— Some aspects of our corporate structane
discourage third-party takeovers and other trafmasor prevent the removal of our board of diresend
management” below.

Some aspects of our corporate structure may disem# thirdparty takeovers and other transactions or prev
the removal of our board of directors and managenhen

Some provisions of our bye-laws have the effeehaking more difficult or discouraging unsolicitexkeover
bids from third parties or preventing the removabar current board of directors and managemenpahticular, ou
bye-laws make it difficult for any U.S. shareholdeDirect Foreign Shareholder Group (a sharehaddegroup of
commonly controlled shareholders of Enstar thanatdJ.S. persons) to own or control ordinary shdhat
constitute 9.5% or more of the voting power ofadlbur ordinary shares. The votes conferred by shelnes will be
reduced by whatever amount is necessary so tleataafy such reduction the votes conferred by shates will
constitute 9.5% of the total voting power of allimary shares entitled to vote generally. The prinpaurpose of thi
restriction is to reduce the likelihood that welwié deemed a “controlled foreign corporation” witthe meaning
of the Code, for U.S. federal tax purposes. Howebés limit may also have the effect of deterrjgchases of
large blocks of our ordinary shares or proposabsctiuire us, even if some or a majority of our shalders might
deem these purchases or acquisition proposalsitotheir best interests. In addition, our bye-lagwsvide for a
classified board, whose members may be removedibghareholders only for cause by a majority vatel contair
restrictions on the ability of shareholders to noaté persons to serve as directors, submit resokito a
shareholder vote and request special general ngsetin
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These bydaw provisions make it more difficult to acquirentml! of us by means of a tender offer, open me
purchase, proxy contest or otherwise. These pmvwsare designed to encourage persons seekinquaoecontrol
of us to negotiate with our directors, which weidad would generally best serve the interests oksbareholders.
However, these provisions may have the effect @¢aliraging a prospective acquirer from making deewffer or
otherwise attempting to obtain control of us. ldigidn, these bye-law provisions may prevent thmaeal of our
current board of directors and management. Tosxttenethese provisions discourage takeover attertipgy may
deprive shareholders of opportunities to realiked&er premiums for their shares or may depresmtriet price
of the shares.

Because we are incorporated in Bermuda, it may lificult for shareholders to serve process or enfer
judgments against us or our directors and officers.

We are a Bermuda company. In addition, certairuofafficers and directors reside in countries aéghe
United States. All or a substantial portion of assets and the assets of these officers and dset® or may be
located outside the United States. Investors mag Hificulty effecting service of process withimet United States
on our directors and officers who reside outsidelinited States or recovering against us or thesetdrs and
officers on judgments of U.S. courts based on tiadiilities provisions of the U.S. federal secistlaws even
though we have appointed an agent in the UnitetSta receive service of process.

Further, no claim may be brought in Bermuda agaiesir our directors and officers in the first arste for
violation of U.S. federal securities laws becaumsé laws have no extraterritorial jurisdiction @nBermuda law
and do not have force of law in Bermuda. A Bermoolart may, however, impose civil liability, includj the
possibility of monetary damages, on us or our dinscand officers if the facts alleged in a comui@ionstitute or
give rise to a cause of action under Bermuda law.

We have been advised by Conyers Dill & PearmanpBeumuda counsel, that there is doubt as to whéfieer
courts of Bermuda would enforce judgments of Udsirts obtained in actions against us or our dirsciad
officers, as well as our independent auditors, ipegdd upon the civil liability provisions of the &l federal
securities laws or original actions brought in Bada against us or these persons predicated sqlely U.S. feder:
securities laws. Further, we have been adviseddnyé€rs Dill & Pearman that there is no treaty ifieefbetween
the United States and Bermuda providing for th@msment of judgments of U.S. courts, and therggeoends
upon which Bermuda courts may not enforce judgmeht$.S. courts.

Some remedies available under the laws of U.Sdididions, including some remedies available uicker
U.S. federal securities laws, may not be alloweBeénmuda courts as contrary to that jurisdictiquiblic policy.
Because judgments of U.S. courts are not autoniigtiaforceable in Bermuda, it may be difficult fpou to
recover against us based upon such judgments.

Shareholders who own our ordinary shares may havermdifficulty in protecting their interests than
shareholders of a U.S. corporation.

The Bermuda Companies Act, or the Companies Acigiwaipplies to us, differs in certain material =g
from laws generally applicable to U.S. corporatians their shareholders. As a result of theserdiffees,
shareholders who own our shares may have moreutffiprotecting their interests than shareholaére own
shares of a U.S. corporation. For example, classrecand derivative actions are generally notlabée to
shareholders under Bermuda law. Under Bermuda fedhoar second amended and restated bye-laws, only
shareholders holding 5% or more of our outstandiinary shares or numbering 100 or more are edtith
propose a resolution at an Enstar general meeting.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our o@lip shares.

We do not intend to pay a cash dividend on oumangi shares. Rather, we intend to use any retaastdngs
to fund the development and growth of our businEssn time to time, our board of directors will iew our
alternatives with respect to our earnings and seekaximize value for our shareholders. In the ieituve may
decide to commence a dividend program for the Iieakbur shareholders. Any future determinationpay
dividends will be at the discretion of our boarddafctors and will be limited by our position ak@ding company
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that lacks direct operations, significant regulgtiastrictions, the results of operations of oursdiaries, our
financial condition, cash requirements and prospant other factors that our board of directorsrderelevant. As
a result, capital appreciation, if any, on our nady shares may be your sole source of gain fofateseeable
future. In addition, there are regulatory and ottwnstraints that could prevent us from payingdéwvids in any
event.

Our board of directors may decline to register amsfer of our ordinary shares under certain circurtaces.

Our board of directors may decline to registelaasfer of ordinary shares under certain circumssnc
including if it has reason to believe that any menminimis adverse tax, regulatory or legal consegas to us, any
of our subsidiaries or any of our shareholders powour as a result of such transfer. Further, oerlaws provide us
with the option to repurchase, or to assign tara tharty the right to purchase, the minimum numifeshares
necessary to eliminate any such non-de minimisradv@x, regulatory or legal consequence. In amdibur board
of directors may decline to approve or registaaasfer of shares unless all applicable conseutBpezations,
permissions or approvals of any governmental badygency in Bermuda, the United States or any athplicable
jurisdiction required to be obtained prior to sw@nsfer shall have been obtained. The proposedftreor of any
shares will be deemed to own those shares forelivdvoting and reporting purposes until a transfesuch shares
has been registered on our shareholders register.

Conyers Dill & Pearman has advised us that whigepttecise form of the restrictions on transfer ar@d in
our bye-laws is untested, as a matter of genenatipte, restrictions on transfers are enforcealnlder Bermuda law
and are not uncommon,.

These restrictions on transfer may also have tieetedf delaying, deferring or preventing a chamgeontrol.

Risks Relating to Taxation

We might incur unexpected U.S. or U.K. tax liabié if companies in our group that are incorporateditside
of those jurisdictions are determined to be carrgion a trade or business there.

We and a number of our subsidiaries are compaaressid under the laws of Bermuda or other jurisditdi
that do not impose income taxes; it is our conteiuh that these companies will not incur subsgdiicome tax
liabilities from their operations. Because the a@piens of these companies generally involve, ateelo, the
insurance or reinsurance of risks that arise ihdrigax jurisdictions, such as the United Statether
United Kingdom, it is possible that the taxing aurities in those jurisdictions may assert thatabtivities of one or
more of these companies creates a sufficient niexilnat jurisdiction to subject the company to inmtax there.
There are uncertainties in how the relevant rupgdyato insurance businesses, and in our eligybftt favorable
treatment under applicable tax treaties. Accorginigis possible that we could incur substantia¢xpected tax
liabilities.

U.S. persons who own our ordinary shares might bex@subject to adverse U.S. tax consequences asutref
“related party insurance income,” or RPII, if anyof our non-U.S. insurance company subsidiaries.

If the RPII rules of the Code were to apply toai).S. person who owns our ordinary shares directly
indirectly through foreign entities on the last ddythe taxable year would be required to includecome for
U.S. federal income tax purposes the shareholgen'sata share of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ R@ltfie entire
taxable year, determined as if that RPII were itisted proportionately to the U.S. shareholdetbait date
regardless whether any actual distribution is madeaddition, any RPII that is includible in thecome of a
U.S. tax-exempt organization would generally batted as unrelated business taxable income. Althauggand our
subsidiaries intend to generally operate in a masoas to qualify for certain exceptions to thdIRHes, there can
be no assurance that these exceptions will beadtailAccordingly, there can be no assurance ttfat Rersons wh
own our ordinary shares will not be required tcomuze gross income inclusions attributable to RPII
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In addition, the RPII rules provide that if a shasiler who is a U.S. Person disposes of sharegarean
insurance company that has RPII and in which Uegssdhs collectively own 25% or more of the shasay,gain
from the disposition will generally be treated asdend income to the extent of the shareholderas of the
corporation’s undistributed earnings and profitst tivere accumulated during the period that theettwdder owned
the shares (whether or not those earnings andpeog attributable to RPII). Such a shareholdarldvalso be
required to comply with certain reporting requirense regardless of the amount of shares ownedégtiareholde
These rules should not apply to dispositions ofardinary shares because we will not be directlyagged in the
insurance business. The RPII rules, however, hatbeen interpreted by the courts or the IRS, agdlations
interpreting the RPII rules exist only in propogedn. Accordingly, there is no assurance that aews as to the
inapplicability of these rules to a dispositionoofr ordinary shares will be accepted by the IRS oourt.

U.S. persons who own our ordinary shares would bibject to adverse tax consequences if we or onenore
of our non-U.S. subsidiaries were considered a “pag foreign investment company,” or PFIC, for
U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We believe that we and our non-U.S. subsidiari¢isnet be PFICs for U.S. federal income purposedtie
current year. Moreover, we do not expect to conductactivities in a manner that will cause usmy af our
non-U.S. subsidiaries to become a PFIC in the éutdowever, there can be no assurance that thevilRSot
challenge this position or that a court will nostin such challenge. Accordingly, it is possilblattwe or one or
more of our non-U.S. subsidiaries might be deemBI& by the IRS or a court for the current yeaamy future
year. If we or one or more of onon-U.S. subsidiariesere a PFIC, it could have material adverse taxseguence
for an investor that is subject to U.S. federabime taxation, including subjecting the investoa teubstantial
acceleration and/or increase in tax liability. Tdhare currently no regulations regarding the appba of the PFIC
provisions of the Code to an insurance companshe@pplication of those provisions to insuranceganies
remains unclear in certain respects.

We may become subject to taxes in Bermuda after 6ha28, 2016.

The Bermuda Minister of Finance, under the Exempbedertakings Tax Protection Act 1966, as amendgd,
Bermuda, has given us and each of our Bermudadiakies an assurance that if any legislation is&thin
Bermuda that would impose tax computed on profit@ome, or computed on any capital asset, gain or
appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estaty duinheritance tax, then the imposition of aogtstax will not be
applicable to us or our Bermuda subsidiaries orcdrgur or their respective operations, sharesedelves or other
obligations until March 28, 2016. Given the limitédration of the Minister of Finance’s assurance,cannot be
certain that we will not be subject to any Bermtadaafter March 28, 2016. In the event that we bezsubject to
any Bermuda tax after such date, it could have miahadverse effect on our financial conditiom aasults of
operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Enstar leases office space in the locations s#t fmlow. Enstar believes that this office spacuf§icient for
the conduct of its business.

Square Lease

Entity Location Feet Expiration
Castlewood Limitec Hamilton, Bermud: 8,25(C  August 7, 200¢
Castlewood (EU) Limite: Guildford, Englanc 11,49¢  March 31, 200°
River Thames Insurance Compe London, Englant 6,32¢  March 24, 201!
Castlewood Limitec Dublin, Ireland 67C  March 31, 200°
Castlewood (US) Inc Tampa, FL 8,85¢  October 31, 200
Castlewood (US) Inc New York, NY 37¢  October 30, 201
Castlewood (US) Inc Warwick, RI 3,00C March 31, 201:

Enstar, though various of its subsidiaries, owesftilowing properties: 1) two apartments in Guildf,
England; 2) a building in Norwich, U.K. and 3) geaatment in New York, NY. The lease on the offipase for
Castlewood (EU) Limited expires on March 31, 208d the Company has secured new office space irdfaudl,
U.K. with a lease commencement date of July 1, 2003 intended that the current office lease Wwédlrenewed on
month to month basis until June 2007.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Enstar is, from time to time, involved in varioegél proceedings in the ordinary course of busjriaskiding
litigation regarding claims. Enstar does not badi#hvat the resolution of any currently pending lggaceedings,
either individually or taken as a whole, will haaenaterial adverse effect on its business, reefiltperations or
financial condition. Nevertheless, Enstar cannstiesyou that lawsuits, arbitrations or other &itign will not have
a material adverse effect on its business, findcoiadition or results of operations. Enstar apttes that, similar 1
the rest of the insurance and reinsurance industwll continue to be subject to litigation antbiération
proceedings in the ordinary course of businesydireg litigation generally related to the scopecofrerage with
respect to A&E claims. There can be no assurarateatiy such future litigation will not have a mékadverse
effect on Enstar’s business, financial conditiomesults of operations.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDER
Not applicable

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER:
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE!

On January 31, 2007, Enstar completed the mergénedvierger, of CWMS Subsidiary Corp., a Georgia
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of EnstarCWMS, with and into The Enstar Group Inc., a (G&o
corporation, or EGI. As a result of the Merger, E@hamed Enstar USA, Inc., is now a whalyned subsidiary ¢
Enstar. Enstar’s ordinary shares trade on the NpGdlabal Select Market under the ticker symbol ES8#for to
the completion of the Merger, EGI’'s common stoekded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market undeiickert
symbol ESGR.

Enstar is a holding company and has no direct ¢ipasa The ability of Enstar to pay dividends astdbutions
depends almost exclusively on the ability of itbsidiaries to pay dividends to Enstar. Under applie law, our
subsidiaries may not declare or pay a dividenHédfe¢ are reasonable grounds for believing that éineyor would
after the payment be, unable to pay their lialetitas they become due, or the realizable valuseafassets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of their ltasiland their issued share capital and share preraccounts.
Additional restrictions apply to our insurance aashsurance subsidiaries. Enstar does not
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intend to pay a dividend on its ordinary sharesh&a Enstar intends to reinvest any earnings b#aokhe
company. For a further description of the reswitsi on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dands, see “Risk
Factors — Risks Relating to Ownership of Enstaritny Shares — We do not intend to pay cash divddeim our
ordinary shares” and “Business — Regulation” bemjigron pages 40 and 24, respectively.

In April 2006, Enstar’s board of directors declagedividend of $3,356 per share to holders of IEss€A
Shares, $490.75 per share to holders of its CleSkdBes and $811.22 per share to holders of iss@aShares,
which dividends were paid on April 26, 2006. Also4pril 2006, Enstar’s board of directors approteel
redemption of all of Enstar’s outstanding Classhar8s for $22.4 million. All of Enstar’'s Class A&#bs, Class B
Shares and Class C Shares were converted intcapydshares immediately prior to completion of therlyer.

Enstar paid no dividends during the fiscal yearsghbDecember 31, 2005.
At March 12, 2007, there were approximately 2,56klérs of record of Enstar’'s common stock.
On January 30, 2007, EGI paid a one-time $3.0Gpare cash dividend to the holders of its commockst

Because Enstar’s ordinary shares did not commeadag until after the Merger, the following tabédflects
the range of high and low selling prices of EGldsranon stock by quarter for the years ended DeceBihe2006
and 2005, as reflected in the Nasdaq Trade andeCRionmary Reports:

EGI Common Stock

High Low

2006

First Quarte! $ 89.7¢ $64.2¢
Second Quarte $ 92.1¢ $76.3¢
Third Quartel $104.9¢ $84.2¢
Fourth Quarte $ 99.0:  $88.0:
2005

First Quartel $ 64.97 $56.1-
Second Quarte $ 67.88  $49.0:
Third Quartel $ 69.9¢ $63.4(
Fourth Quarte $ 72.8¢  $60.1¢
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Because Enstar’s ordinary shares did not commeadang until after the Merger, the graph beloweet$ the
cumulative shareholder return on EGI's common stamkpared to the cumulative shareholder returhef t
NASDAQ Composite Index (the Nasdaq index for U@npanies used in prior years was discontinued @6}
and EGI’s peer group index, or the Peer Group Inttexhe periods indicated. The graph reflectsitivestment of
$100.00 on December 31, 2001 (assuming the reimeggtof dividends) in EGI common stock, the NASDAQ
Composite Index, and the Peer Group Index. The Bemup Index consists of Annuity and Life Re Holghn
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. (Class A), ESG Re Ltd.,ieseRe Group Ltd., IPC Holdings Ltd., Max Re Cabiitd.,
Odyssey Re Holdings Corp., PXRE Group Ltd., RemaissRe Holdings Ltd. and Transatlantic Holdings,,In
which are publicly traded companies selected by, B&they were identified by Bloomberg L.P. in 2@33
comparable to EGI based on certain similaritiethéir principal lines of business with EGIFeinsurance operatiol

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Based upon an initial investment of 5100 on December 31, 2001
with dividends reinvested

5450
5400 -
sas0 | /
5300 -
5250 -
5200 -
§160 J——
$100 oo m e morIrIITERNATATSTEE T D -
850 4 -
&0 - . . . .
Dec-01 Dhgaz-02 Dec-03 Diec-04 Diec-05 Dhgaz-06
The Enstar Group, In¢c. =— =— = NASDAQ Composite Index = = = = « Peer Group Index (10 Stocks)
SOURCE: GEORGESON ING.
Dec-01 Dec-02 Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06
The Enstar Group, Inc. $10C $12¢ $197 $265 $27¢ $40z
NASDAQ Composite Index $10C $ 72 $107 $117 $121 $137
Peer Group Index (10 Stocks $10C $ 95 $112 $117 $117 $142
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical financial infortiean of Enstar for each of the past five fiscal igelaas been
derived from Enstar’s audited historical finan@tdtements. This information is only a summary stmauld be read
in conjunction with management’s discussion andyaiof results of operations and financial coiaditof Enstar
and the audited consolidated financial statemamsates thereto of Enstar included elsewhereignathnual repot

Since its inception, Enstar has made several atiqas which impact the comparability of the infaation
reflected in the Enstar Summary Historical FinahDiata. See “Business — Acquisitions to Date” bagig on
page 6 for information about Enstar’s acquisitions.

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Summary Consolidated Statements of Earning

Data:
Consulting fee! $ 33,906 $ 22,006 $ 23,70¢ $ 24,74¢ $ 20,627
Net investment income and net realized (los

gains 48,00: 29,50¢ 10,50z 7,072 8,921
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment exp

liabilities 31,92° 96,001 13,70¢ 24,04« 48,75¢
Total other expense (49,839 (57,299 (35,160) (21,787) (27,777)
Minority interest (13,209 (9,700 (3,099 (5,11 0
Share of income of partly owned compar 51¢ 192 6,881 1,62: 10,07¢
Net earnings from continuing operatic 51,30¢ 80,71( 16,53¢ 30,59: 60,61¢
Extraordinary gaii—

Negative goodwill (net of minority interes 31,03¢ 0 21,75¢ 0 0
Net earning: $ 82,34¢ $ 80,71( $ 38,29 $ 3059: $ 60,61¢

Per Share Data(2):
Earnings per share before extraordinary gain —

basic $2,756.7. $4,397.8¢ $ 914.4¢ $1,699.5( $3,367.7:
Extraordinary gain per sha— basic 1,667.6. — 1,203.4. — —
Earnings per shar— basic $4,424.3! $4,397.8¢ $2,117.9. $1,699.5( $3,367.7.

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Earnings per share before extraordinary gains —

diluted $2,720.7¢ $4,304.3( $ 906.1:! $1,699.5¢ $3,367.7:
Extraordinary gain per sha— diluted 1,645.8! —  1,192.4 —
Earnings per ordinary sha— diluted $4,366.6: $4,304.3( $2,098.5: $1,699.5( $3,367.7.
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 18,61 18,35: 18,08: 18,00( 18,00(
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 18,85¢ 18,75: 18,24¢ 18,00( 18,00(
Cash dividends paid per sh: $1,552.6° $ — $ 645.8: $4,483.4. % —

46




Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Summary Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 513,66! $ 345,32¢ $ 350,45¢ $127,22¢ $ 85,91¢
Total investment 747,52¢ 539,56¢ 591,63! 268,41 258,42¢
Reinsurance recoverat 408,14. 250,22¢ 341,62 175,09: 122,93
Total asset 1,774,25. 1,199,96. 1,347,85. 632,34 514,59
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expr  1,214,41! 806,55¢ 1,047,31 381,53 284,40¢
Total shareholder equi 318,61( 260,90t 177,33t 147,61¢ 167,47:
Book Value per Share:

Basic 17,118.5.  14,189.7 9,721.4. 8,200.8¢ 9,304.01

Diluted 16,895.2.  13,921.6 9,461.0!  8,200.8¢ 9,304.01

(1) Earnings per share is a measure based on netgaudiinded by weighted average ordinary shares
outstanding. Basic earnings per share is definggtasarnings available to ordinary shareholderisied by
the weighted average number of ordinary sharesamding for the period, giving no effect to dilugiv
securities. Diluted earnings per share is defireeded earnings available to ordinary shareholdierdet by
the weighted average number of shares and shainsatqis outstanding calculated using the treastogk
method for all potentially dilutive securities. Whthe effect of dilutive securities would be antistive, these
securities are excluded from the calculation aftéidl earnings per shal

(2) Basic book value per share is defined as totakstwdders’ equity available to ordinary shareholdabvaded
by the number of ordinary shares outstanding #seatnd of the period, giving no effect to dilutsecurities.
Diluted book value per share is defined as totaftafolders’ equity available to ordinary sharehaabvided
by the number of ordinary shares and ordinary sequévalents outstanding at the end of the pedatulate:
using the treasury stock method for all potentidilytive securities. When the effect of dilutivecsirities
would be an-dilutive, these securities are excluded from tHeutation of diluted book value per sha

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALAYIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Staements

This annual report and the documents incorporaye@ference contain statements that constitutenvdod-
looking statements” within the meaning of Sectidft 2f the Exchange Act with respect to our finahc@adition,
results of operations, business strategies, operafficiencies, competitive positions, growth ogpaities, plans
and objectives of our management, as well as thketsafor our ordinary shares and the insurancer@imngurance
sectors in general. Statements that include wards as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” “gect,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “would,” “should,” “could, “seek,” and similar statements of a future omfard-looking
nature identify forward-looking statements for ppsps of the federal securities laws or otherwidefofward-
looking statements are necessarily estimates aratafions, and not statements of historical faftecting the best
judgment of our management and involve a numbeisk$ and uncertainties that could cause actualteet® differ
materially from those suggested by the forward-loglstatements. These forward-looking statemerualgh
therefore, be considered in light of various impottfactors, including those set forth in and ipooated by
reference in this annual report.

”ou ”ou ”ou

Factors that could cause actual results to diffatemially from those suggested by the forward-lagki
statements include:

« risks associated with implementing our businesgesgies and initiative:
« the adequacy of our loss reserves and the neatjustauch reserves as claims develop over |
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« risks relating to the availability and collectilyliof our reinsurance

« tax, regulatory or legal restrictions or limitat®applicable to us or the insurance and reinsurbosimess
generally;

* increased competitive pressures, including theaafegion and increased globalization of reinsusanc
providers;

« emerging claim and coverage isstL
« lengthy and unpredictable litigation affecting asseent of losseand/orcoverage issue
* loss of key personne

« changes in our plans, strategies, objectives, ¢apens or intentions, which may happen at any titne
managemer's discretion

 operational risks, including system or human fait)

* risks that we may require additional capital in filneire which may not be available or may be awddlanly
on unfavorable term:

« the risk that ongoing or future industry regulatdgvelopments will disrupt our business, or mandatnge
in industry practices in ways that increase outs;atecrease our revenues or require us to alpectsof the
way we do busines

« changes in Bermuda law or regulation or the palitstability of Bermuda

» changes in regulations or tax laws applicable torusur subsidiaries, or the risk that we or onewf
non-U.S. subsidiaries become subject to significansignificantly increased, income taxes in the
United States or elsewhel

* losses due to foreign currency exchange rate fhiictos;
« changes in accounting policies or practices;

« changes in economic conditions, including interasts, inflation, currency exchange rates, equiykets
and credit conditions which could affect our inwesht portfolio.

The factors listed above should not be construeskasustive. Certain of these factors are descrihadore
detail in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” above. We undéwtano obligation to release publicly the resultany future
revisions we may make to forward-looking statementeflect events or circumstances after the theteeof or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

The following discussion and analysis of Enstainaficial condition and results of operations shdaddead in
conjunction with Enstar’s consolidated financiatstments and the related notes included elsewhénésiannual
report. Some of the information contained in thi&dssion and analysis or included elsewhere sahnual report,
including information with respect to Enstar’s pdeaand strategy for its business, includes forwaoking
statements that involve risks, uncertainties asdragtions. Enstar’s actual results and the timingvents could
differ materially from those anticipated by theseafard-looking statements as a result of many factacluding
those discussed under “Risk Factors,” “Forward-lingiStatements” and elsewhere in this annual report

Business Overview

Enstar Group Limited (formerly Castlewood Holdirngmited), or Enstar, was formed in August 2001 unde
the laws of Bermuda to acquire and manage insurand&einsurance companies in run-off, and to pi@vi
management, consulting and other services to thgamce and reinsurance industry. On January 3T, Enhstar
completed the merger, or the Merger, of CWMS SuasjdCorp., a Georgia corporation and wholly-owned
subsidiary of Enstar, or CWMS, with and into Thestam Group Inc., a Georgia corporation, or EGl aAgsult of
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the Merger, EGI, renamed Enstar USA, Inc., is nomhally-owned subsidiary of Enstar. Prior to therlykr, EGI
owned an approximately 32% economic and 50% vatitegest in Enstar.

In addition, immediately prior to the closing oktMerger, Enstar completed a recapitalization pamsto
which it: 1) exchanged all of its previously ownaastanding shares for new ordinary shares of Ensta
2) designated its initial Board of Directors imneeiy following the Merger; 3) repurchased cer@iits shares
held by Trident Il, L.P. and its affiliates; 4) magayments totaling $5,076,000 to certain of iescexive officers
and employees, which payments are intended to g¢iedhie recipients with a cash incentive to remath ®nstar
following the Merger; and 5) purchased, throughwitolly-owned subsidiary, Castlewood Limited, tteuses of
B.H. Acquisition Ltd., a Bermuda company, held loyadfiliate of Trident Il, L.P.

Since its formation, Enstar, through its subsidisrhas completed several acquisitions of insurande
reinsurance companies and is now administeringetbasinesses in run-off. Enstar derives its natiegs from the
ownership and management of these companies plyngrsettling insurance and reinsurance claimsweéhe
recorded loss reserves and from returns on théofiorbf investments retained to pay future claitmsaddition,
Enstar has formed other businesses that providageanent and consultancy services, claims inspeséprices
and reinsurance collection services to Enstariaiis and third-party clients for both fixed andeess-based fees.

In the primary (or direct) insurance business,itiserer assumes risk of loss from persons or orgdions that
are directly subject to the given risks. Such risksy relate to property, casualty, life, accidéeialth, financial or
other perils that may arise from an insurable everthe reinsurance business, the reinsurer agogademnify an
insurance or reinsurance company, referred toeasdtiing company, against all or a portion of tiseiiance risks
arising under the policies the ceding company hidtsen or reinsured. When an insurer or reinsut@éps writing
new insurance business, either entirely or witpeesto a particular line of business, the insusnsurer, or the
line of discontinued business is in run-off.

In recent years, the insurance industry has expegik significant consolidation. As a result of thimsolidatiol
and other factors, the remaining participants @ittdustry often have portfolios of business thateither
inconsistent with their core competency or progaeessive exposure to a particular risk or segmofetite market
(e.g., property/casualty, asbestos, environmedit@ctor and officer liability, etc.). These nonreo
and/or discontinued portfolios are often associatitd potentially large exposures and lengthy tipeeiods before
resolution of the last remaining insured claimsilésg in significant uncertainty to the insurerreinsurer covering
those risks. These factors can distract managemigwne, up the cost of capital and surplus for tisurer or
reinsurer, and negatively impact the insurer'saimsurer’s credit rating, which makes the dispo$ahe unwanted
company or portfolio an attractive option. Alterinaty, the insurer may wish to maintain the busies its balance
sheet, yet not divert significant management atiartb the run-off of the portfolio. The insurerminsurer, in
either case, is likely to engage a third partyhsag Enstar, that specializes in run-off manageteoeptrchase the
company, or to manage the company or portfoliaimoff.

In the sale of a run-off company, a purchaser, siscBnstar, typically pays a discount to the bamke of the
company based on the risks assumed and the relative to the seller of no longer having to mangecompany
in run-off. Such a transaction can be beneficidhtoseller because it receives an up-front payfieerihe company,
eliminates the need for its management to devoteattantion to the disposed company and removesskéehat the
established reserves related to the run-off businesy prove to be inadequate. The seller is alkotalyedeploy its
management and financial resources to its corabsses.

Alternatively, if the insurer or reinsurer hireshird party, such as Enstar, to manage its rurbo$iness, the
insurer or reinsurer will, unlike in a sale of thasiness, receive little or no cash up front. ladtehe management
arrangement may provide that the insurer or rearswill share in the profits, if any, derived frahe run-off with
certain incentive payments allocated to the rumwdhager. By hiring a ruaff manager, the insurer or reinsurer
outsource the management of the run-off businesggerienced and capable individuals, while allgnis own
management team to focus on the insurer’s or regn'sucore businesses. Enstar’s desired approattataging
run-off business is to align its interests with thierests of the owners through both fixed managgrfees and
certain incentive payments. Under certain managéareangements to which Enstar is a party, it sabeives a
fixed management fee and does not receive incepiyements.
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Following the purchase of a run-off company oréhgagement to manage a run-off company or portédlio
business, it is incumbent on the new owner or mantgconduct the run-off in a disciplined and pssional
manner in order to efficiently discharge liabilgiassociated with the business while preservingr@dmizing its
assets. Enstar’'s approach to managing its acqo@egbanies in run-off as well as run-off companiepartfolios of
businesses on behalf of third-party clients inctudegotiating with third-party insureds and reiesisrto commute
their insurance or reinsurance agreement (sometadk=i policy buy-backs) for an agreed upon upHffgayment
by Enstar, or the third-party client, and to maificently manage payment of insurance and reinscgaclaims.
Enstar attempts to commute policies with directifegls or reinsureds in order to eliminate uncetganer the
amount of future claims. Enstar also attempts, wlagpropriate, to negotiate favorable commutatiitis
reinsurers by securing the receipt of a lump-suttheseent from the reinsurer in complete satisfactdthe
reinsurer’s liability in respect of any future cfes. Enstar, or third-party client, is then fullgpensible for any
claims in the future. Enstar typically invests mreds from reinsurance commutations with the expientéhat such
investments will produce income, which, togethethwtine principal, will be sufficient to satisfy fue obligations
with respect to the acquired company or portfolio.

With respect to its U.K. and Bermuda insurance r@nusurance subsidiaries, Enstar is able to pusBategies
to achieve complete finality and conclude the rifreba company by promoting solvent schemes dcirsgement.
Solvent schemes of arrangement, or a Solvent Schwame been a popular means of achieving finaceidhinty
and finality, for insurance and reinsurance comgaimicorporated or managed in the U.K. and Bernmydaaking
a one-time full and final settlement of an insueaad reinsurance company’s liabilities to poliddess. Such a
Solvent Scheme is an arrangement between a congpahiys creditors or any class of them. For a Sul%heme
to become binding on the creditors, a meeting ohedass of creditors must be called, with the pesion of the
local court, to consider and, if thought fit, appedhe Solvent Scheme. The requisite statutory ritajof creditors
of not less than 75% in value and 50% in numbehage creditors actually attending the meetingpegiin person ¢
by proxy, must vote in favor of a Solvent Schemec®a Solvent Scheme has been approved by théosyatu
majority of voting creditors of the company it rés the sanction of the local court. While a Sotvécheme
provides an alternative exit strategy for run-affnpanies it is not Enstar’s strategy to make swecfuiaitions with
this strategy solely in mind. Enstar’s preferregrapch is to generate earnings from the disciplenedi professional
management of acquired run-off companies and thasider exit strategies, including a Solvent Schemieen the
majority of the run-off is complete. To understaisks associated with this strategy, see “Risk étact— Risks
Relating to our Business — Exit and finality oppmities provided by solvent schemes of arrangemeyt not
continue to be available which may result in theréased length of time and associated cost runfaffir insurance
and reinsurance subsidiaries beginning on page 37.”

Enstar manages its business through two operatigjigents: reinsurance and consulting.

Enstar’s reinsurance segment comprises the opesadiad financial results of its insurance and rg#sce
subsidiaries. The financial results of this segnpeimharily consist of investment income less neluaions in loss
and loss adjustment expense liabilities, direceesps (including certain premises costs and priofeslsees) and
management fees paid to Enstar’s consulting segment

Enstar’s consulting segment comprises the opeatiod financial results of those subsidiaries wiiaivide
management and consulting services, forensic claispgections services and reinsurance collectiorcs to thirc
party clients. This segment also provides managées@wices to the reinsurance segment in returméomagement
fees. The financial results of this segment prilpadnsist of fee income less overhead expensepisan of staff
costs, information technology costs, certain presisosts, travel costs and certain professional fee

As of December 31, 2006, Enstar had $1,774.3 miltibtotal assets and $318.6 million of sharehadequity
Enstar operates its business internationally tHidtgyinsurance and reinsurance subsidiaries arabitsulting
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, the United &aand Bermuda.
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Financial Statement Overview
Consulting Fee Income

Enstar generates consulting fees based on a cotiopird fixed and success-based fee arrangements.
Consulting income will vary from period to periodpending on the timing of completion of successtdse
arrangements. Success-based fees are recordedavpets related to overall project completion afipability
goals are achieved. Enstar’s consulting segmeiildition to providing services to third partielsoaprovides
management services to Enstar’s reinsurance sedrasetl on agreed terms set out in management agmeem
between the parties. The fees charged by the dorgskegment to the reinsurance segment are eliedragainst
the cost incurred by the reinsurance segment osodiolation.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(kpsse

Enstar’s net investment income is principally ded\from interest earned on cash and investmergstdsfy
investment management fees paid. Enstar’s investpogtfolio currently consists of the following:)(@ bond
portfolio and short-term investments that are dfiggsas held-to-maturitand carried at amortized cost; (2) cash
cash equivalents; (3) other investments that arewatted for on the equity basis; (4) fixed and sftem
investments that are classified as trading andamged at fair value; and (5) mutual funds, whosderlying assets
consist of investments having maturities of gretitan six and less than twelve months when purchakat are
held as available-for-sale securities and areexhat fair value.

Enstar’s current investment strategy seeks to preggincipal and maintain liquidity while trying maximize
investment return through a high-quality, diveesifiportfolio. The volatility of claims and the effehey have on
the amount of cash and investment balances, asaw#fle level of interest rates and other marlaofa, affect the
return Enstar generates on its investment portfégit is Enstar’s current investment policy tddhits bond
portfolio to maturity, and not to trade or havetsportfolio available-for-sale, realized gains @sdes are not
expected to be generated on a regular basis. Hoyweken Enstar makes a new acquisition it will pftestructure
the acquired investment portfolio, which may geteerme-time realized gains or losses.

The majority of cash and all of the investment beés are held within Enstar’s reinsurance segment.

Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expeabdities

Enstar’s insurance-related earnings are primadhgrised of reductions, or potentially increasésiet loss
and loss adjustment expense liabilities. Thesditials are comprised of:

 outstanding loss or case reserves, or OLR, whiglesent management’s best estimate of the likely
settlement amount for known claims, less the porti@t can be recovered from reinsur

* reserves for losses incurred but not reportedBbIR reserves, which are reserves established biyaEfos
claims that are not yet reported but can reasortablyxpected to have occurred based on industry
information, management’s experience and actuavialuation, less the portion that can be recovired
reinsurers; an

« reserves for future loss adjustment expense ltadslivhich represent management’s best estimateof
future costs of managing the -off of claims liabilities.

Net loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities@viewed by Enstar's management each quartebynd
independent actuaries annually. Reserves reflenagement’s best estimate of the remaining unpaitiopoof
these liabilities. Prior period estimates of nasland loss adjustment expense liabilities maygdhas Enstar’s
management considers the combined impact of contimga policy buy-backs, settlement of losses anied
reserves and the trend of incurred loss develope@npared to prior forecasts.

Commutations provide an opportunity for Enstarxib exposures to entire policies with insureds sgidsured
at a discount to the previously estimated ultiniateility. Enstar’s internal and external actuaréisninate all prior
historical loss development that relates to comohetgosures and apply their actuarial
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methodologies to the remaining aggregate exposur@sevised historical loss development informatmreassess
estimates of ultimate liabilities.

Policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for Engtasettle individual policies and losses usuallg discount
to carried advised loss reserves. As part of Eisstautine claims settlement operations, claimg séttle at either
below or above the carried advised loss reserve.ifipact of policy buy-backs and the routine setéat of claims
updates historical loss development informatiowlhich actuarial methodologies are applied oftenltes in
revised estimates of ultimate liabilities. Enstat$uarial methodologies include industry benchrimarkvhich,
under certain methodologies (discussed further ufideCritical Accounting Policies” below), compartse trend
of Enstar’s loss development to that of the indusko the extent that the trend of Enstar’s losgettgpment
compared to the industry changes in any periallikely to have an impact on the estimate of wtienliabilities.
Additionally, consolidated net reductions, or pdilly increases, in loss and loss adjustment ex@diabilities
include reductions, or potentially increases, mphovisions for future losses and loss adjustragpénses related
the current period’s run-off activity. Net reduct®in net loss and loss adjustment expense ligisilitre reported as
negative expenses by Enstar in its reinsurance esgigfihe unallocated loss adjustment expenseshyatioke
reinsurance segment comprise management feesopiid tonsulting segment and are eliminated onddiotaion.
The consulting segment costs in providing run-efiiices are classified as salaries and generahdmdhistrative
expenses. For more information on how the reseaxesalculated, see “— Critical Accounting Policied_oss anc
Loss Adjustment Expenses” below.

As Enstar’s reinsurance subsidiaries are in runisfipremium income is insignificant, consistingnmarily of
adjustment premiums triggered by loss payments.

Salaries and Benefits

Enstar is a service-based company and, as sucloyesalaries and benefits are its largest expésdar
has experienced significant increases in its sland benefits expenses as it has grown its apesaand it
expects that trend to continue if it is able tocassfully expand its operations.

In August 2004, Enstar implemented an employeetgdpaised compensation plan. The plan allowed fer th
award of Enstar’s Class D non-voting ordinary shaoecertain employees up to a maximum of 7.5%nsftét’'s
total issued share capital. On September 15, 2b@&ar’'s board of directors and shareholders addpe Enstar
Group Limited 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Eguincentive Plan”). No incentive awards have baemarded
under the Equity Incentive Plan, and 1,200,000ragi shares are reserved for future awards undegdity
Incentive Plan.

On September 15, 2006, Enstar’s board of dire@ndsshareholders adopted the Enstar Group Limited
2006-2010 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (ential Incentive Plan”), which will be administerby a
Compensation Committee appointed by Enstar’s bofdirectors (the “Plan Committee”). No awards hheen
granted under the Annual Incentive Plan.

The Annual Incentive Plan provides for the annwahgof bonus compensation (each, a “bonus awa”),
certain of officers and employees of Enstar andutssidiaries, including Enstar’s senior executiffecers. Bonus
awards for each calendar year from 2006 througi® 24ll be determined based on Enstar’s consolidatgdafter-
tax profits. The Plan Committee shall determineahm®unt of bonus awards in any calendar year, based
percentage of Enstar’s consolidated net after-taftp. The percentage will be 15% unless the Rlammittee
exercises its discretion to change the percentadater than 30 days after Enstar’s year-end. Tae €ommittee
will determine, in its sole discretion, the amoahbonus awards payable to each participant.

Bonus awards are payable in cash, ordinary sha@sambination of both. Ordinary shares issued in
connection with a bonus award will be issued pumstmthe terms and subject to the conditions efEquity
Incentive Plan and the number of shares issuedwitletermined based on the fair market valuedihary shares
for the thirty calendar days preceding the grardrdfnary shares as a bonus award.

With the exception of the expense relating to tinayal Incentive Plan, which is allocated to both th
reinsurance and consulting segments, the costsaehaloyees of Enstar are accounted for as pati@tonsulting
segment.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include rahtamt-related costs, professional fees (legaksiment,
audit and actuarial) and travel expenses. Enst&apparations in multiple jurisdictions and its eoyaes travel
frequently in connection with the search for acijjais opportunities and in the general managemétiiebusiness.
As a result of the Merger, Enstar anticipates iases in personnel and, therefore, increases iredeigeneral and
administrative expenses as well as additional peimal fees associated with becoming subjectorting
regulations under the Securities Exchange Act 8418s amended. While certain general and adnatiistr
expenses, such as rent and related costs and gicofekfees, are incurred directly by the reinsoeasegment, the
remaining general and administrative expensesareried by the consulting segment. To the extattshch costs
incurred by the consulting segment relate to theagament of the reinsurance segment, they areesmbby the
consulting segment through the management feegethao the reinsurance segment.

Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss)

Enstar’s reporting and functional currency is W@&llars. Through its subsidiaries, however, Enstdds a
variety of foreign (non-U.S.) currency assets aablilities, the principal exposures being Euros Bnitish pounds.
At each balance sheet date, recorded balancearthdenominated in a currency other than U.S. dollee adjusted
to reflect the current exchange rate. Revenue apense items are translated into U.S. dollars etaae rates of
exchange for the period. The resulting exchangesgai losses are included in Enstar’s net incometdt seeks to
manage its exposure to foreign currency exchandedmydly matching foreign currency assets agaorsidn
currency liabilities.

Income Tax/(Recovery)

Under current Bermuda law, Enstar and its Bermased subsidiaries are not required to pay taxBslimud:
on either income or capital gains. These compdrage received an undertaking from the Bermuda gowent tha
in the event of income or capital gains taxes béamapsed, they will be exempted from such taxed tire year
2016. Enstar’s non-Bermuda subsidiaries recordnmectaxes based on their graduated statutory mraesf tax
benefits arising from tax loss carryforwards.

Minority Interest

The acquisitions of Hillcot Re Limited (formerly &dre Insurance Company (UK) Limited) in March 2008
of Brampton Insurance Company Limited (formerly imsurance Company of Europe Limited) in March 00
were effected through Hillcot Holdings Limited, ldillcot, a Bermuda-based company in which Enstar&&0.1%
economic interest. The results of operations olcblilare included in Enstar’s consolidated statemefhoperations
with the remaining 49.9% economic interest in tgutts of Hillcot reflected as a minority interest.

Share of Income of Partly-Owned Companies

Enstar includes in its net income its proportiorsdtare in the equity of earnings by companies iithvh holds
a significant influence. Such investments are edrdn the equity basis whereby the investmenttisliy recorded
at cost and adjusted to reflect Enstar’s shareebéarnings.

Negative Goodwill

Negative goodwill represents the excess of thevdire of businesses acquired by Enstar over teeatsuch
businesses. In accordance with FAS 141 “Businessh@wtions,"this amount is recognized upon the acquisitio
the businesses as an extraordinary gain. The dhieg of the reinsurance assets and liabilitiesieed| are derived
from probability-weighted ranges of the associatagjected cash flows, based on actuarially preperfedmation
and Enstar’'s management run-off strategy. Any ammemd to the fair values resulting from changeaiichs
information or strategy will be recognized whenytloecur. For more information on how the goodvsll i
determined, see “— Critical Accounting Policies —ed@will” below.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Certain amounts in Enstar’s consolidated finanstialements require the use of best estimates anthasions
to determine reported values. These amounts cdiimdately be materially different than what has theeovided fo
in Enstar’s consolidated financial statements. &nsbnsiders the assessment of loss reservesiasdreance
recoverable to be the values requiring the mogtrigttly subjective and complex estimates. In agidjtihe
assessment of the possible impairment of goodmibblives certain estimates and assumptions. As sieh,
accounting policies for these amounts are of @lifimportance to Enstar’s consolidated financiatesnents.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The following table provides a breakdown of grasssland loss adjustment expense reserves by type of
exposure as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005
OLR IBNR Total OLR IBNR Total
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars) (in thousands of U.S. Dollars)
Asbestos $158,86: $389,14! $ 548,00: $149,02: $297,80° $446,83(
Environmenta 43,95] 74,11¢ 118,07. 43,47 87,77 131,24¢
All Other 312,91 161,85! 474,76¢ 110,77¢ 67,62¢ 178,40!
Total 515,73: 625,11 1,140,84. 303,27¢ 453,20¢ 756,48
ULAE 73,57¢ 50,07t
Total $1,214,41! $806,55¢

Note: The “All Other” exposure category consistaahix of casualty, property, marine, aviation atiter
miscellaneous exposures, which are generally laiigetin nature.

The following table provides a breakdown of losd &ss adjustment expense reserves (net of reimsgira
balances recoverable) by type of exposure as oémber 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005
(in thousands of
U.S. dollars)
Asbestos $306,90¢ $325,92(
Environmenta 43,05¢ 58,037
Other 522,29¢ 209,20:
Total $872,25¢  $593,16(

As of December 31, 2006, the IBNR reserves (netiosurance balances receivable) accounted for
$359.4 million, or 41.2%, of Enstar’s total losseeves. The reserve for IBNR (net of reinsurandarize
receivable) accounted for $326.3 million, or 55.@¥dEnstar’s total loss reserves at December 30520

Annual Loss and Loss Adjustment Reviews

Because a significant amount of time can lapse d&tvthe assumption of risk, the occurrence of adesnt,
the reporting of the event to an insurance or tgarsce company and the ultimate payment of thenctai the loss
event, the liability for unpaid losses and lossiatipent expenses is based largely upon estimatstarks
management must use considerable judgment in duegs of developing these estimates. The liatidityinpaid
losses and loss adjustment expenses for propetitgasualty business includes amounts determined lfves
reports on individual cases and amounts for IBN$inges. Such reserves are estimated by manageassa bpon
loss reports received from ceding companies, sapghted by Enstar’s own estimates of losses for wh@ceding
company loss reports have yet been received.
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In establishing reserves, management also conditpendent actuarial estimates of ultimate logSestar’s
actuaries employ generally accepted actuarial ndetlogies to estimate ultimate losses and loss tdprg
expenses. A loss reserve study is prepared byd@pémdent actuary annually in order to provide tamthl insight
into the reasonableness of Enstar’s reserves $sefand loss adjustment expenses.

As of December 31, 2006, 2002 was the most recntin which policies were underwritten by any ostars
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. As sulobf, Bhstar’s unpaid claims liabilities are consil#to have a
long-tail claims payout. Loss reserves primarillate to casualty exposures, including latent claiofisvhich
approximately 58.4% relate to asbestos and envieomsh exposures.

Within the annual loss reserve studies produceBristars external actuaries, exposures for each subsidia
separated into homogeneous reserving categorigésdqrurpose of estimating IBNR. Each reservinggaity
contains either direct insurance or assumed reamsgrreserves and groups relatively similar typesks and
exposures (for example asbestos, environmentalattgsproperty) and lines of business written ggample
marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exmosharacteristics and the nature of available fda&taach
individual reserving category, a number of methodas are applied. Recorded reserves for eachagtage
selected from the indications produced by the varimethodologies after consideration of exposuagatteristics,
data limitations and strengths and weaknessescbf mathod applied. This approach to estimating IBMR been
consistently adopted in the annual loss resendiestfor each period presented.

The ranges of gross loss and loss adjustment egpessrves implied by the various methodologied bge
each of Enstar’s insurance subsidiaries as of DbeeBil, 2006 are:

Low Selectec High
Asbestos $358,52: $ 548,000 $ 560,65¢
Environmenta 49,09¢ 118,07: 144,22(
All Other 431,79" 474,76¢ 499,24
ULAE 73,57¢ 73,57" 73,57¢
Total $912,98¢ $1,214,41' $1,277,69

Latent Claims. Enstar’s loss reserves are largely related toathsexposures including latent exposures
primarily relating to asbestos and environmentglosxre, or A&E. In establishing the reserves fquaid claims,
management considers facts currently known anduhent state of the law and coverage litigatioabilities are
recognized for known claims (including the costadated litigation) when sufficient information hasen develope
to indicate the involvement of a specific insurapoécy, and management can reasonably estimaliabitity. In
addition, reserves are established to cover logsldement related to both known and unassertethslai

The estimation of unpaid claim liabilities is sutijéo a high degree of uncertainty for a numbereakons.
First, unpaid claim liabilities for property andstalty exposures in general are impacted by changhs legal
environment, jury awards, medical cost trends amteeal inflation. Moreover, for latent exposurepanticular,
developed case law and adequate claim history texigt. There is significant coverage litigati@tated to these
exposures, which creates further uncertainty irefitenation of the liabilities. As such, for thegpes of exposures,
it is especially unclear whether past claim expmgewill be representative of future claim expecrlltimate
values for such claims cannot be estimated usisgrveng techniques that extrapolate losses totamaitk basis
using loss development factors, and the uncerégrstiirrounding the estimation of unpaid claim liabs are not
likely to be resolved in the near future. There bamo assurance that the reserves establishedgdbgrvill be
adequate or will not be adversely affected by teetbpment of other latent exposures.

Enstar’s asbestos claims are primarily productslitg claims submitted by a variety of insuredsavperated
in different parts of the asbestos distributionich®/hile most such claims arise from asbestosmgi@ind primary
asbestos manufacturers, it has also been recaiiairgs from tertiary defendants such as smallerufeanturers and
the industry has seen an emerging trend of nongatedtlaims arising from premises exposures. Urpileelucts
claims, primary policies generally do not contagiyegate policy limits for premises claims, which,
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accordingly, remain at the primary layer and, thraggly impact excess insurance policies. As ths nejority of
Enstar’s policies are excess policies, this tremsllad only a marginal effect on our asbestos expsshus far.

Asbestos reform efforts have been underway at thetfiederal and state level to address the cossempuk of
asbestos claims to the American economy. Whilestigesignificant opposition to proposals for a fediérust fund
that would replace the tort system for asbestamsland the prospect for passage of such federall leforms
appears remote at present, several states, inglidixas and Florida, have passed reforms basemedital
criteria” requiring certain levels of medically donented injury before a lawsuit can be filed, resglin a drop of
yearon-year case filings in those states adoptingrferm measure.

Asbestos claims fall into two general categoriggaired and unimpaired bodily injury claims. Prdper
damage claims represent only a small fraction bést®s claims. Impaired claims primarily includdividuals
suffering from mesothelioma or a cancer such ag tancer. Unimpaired claims include asbestosiglaosk whose
lung regions contain pleural plaques. Unimpairedhet are not life threatening and do not causegdmto one’s
ability to function or to one’s lifestyle.

Unlike traditional property and casualty insurdvatteither have large numbers of individual claarising fromr
personal lines such as auto, or small numbersghf Yélue claims as in medical malpractice insurdimes, Enstas
primary exposures arise from asbestos and envirotaheaims that do not follow a consistent pattéfor instance
Enstar may encounter a small insured with one larggronmental claim due to significant groundwater
contamination, while a Fortune 500 company may subomerous claims for relatively small values. ldaver,
there is no set pattern for the life of an enviremtal or asbestos claim. Some of these claims esfwe within
two years whereas others have remained unresabvetbarly two decades. Therefore, Enstar’'s operching
claims data do not follow any identifiable or disuble pattern.

Furthermore, because of the reinsurance natuteeaflaims Enstar manages, it focuses on the aetat the
(re)insured level rather than at the individualrokilevel. The counterparties with whom Enstardgly interacts
are generally insurers or large industrial concams not individual claimants. Claims do not follawy consistent
pattern. They arise from many insureds or locatemd in a broad range of circumstances. An insoray present
one large claim or hundreds or thousands of snaiths. Plaintiffs’ counsel frequently aggregateusands of
claims within one lawsuit. The deductibles to whathims are subject vary from policy to policy arehr to year.
Often claims data is only available to reinsuretgh as Enstar, on an aggregated basis. AccordiBgstar has not
found claim count information or average reserveams to be reliable indicators of exposure foréserve
estimation process or for management of its liabdi Enstar has found data accumulation and claiarsagement
more effective and meaningful at the (re)insureglleather than at the underlying claim level. Asls we have
designed our reserving methodologies to be indegr@naf claim count information. As the level of espres to a
(re)insured can vary substantially, Enstar focusethe aggregate exposures and pursues commutatidrnsolicy
buy-backs with the larger (re)insureds.

Enstar employs approximately thirty-one full tirguévalent employees, including three U.S. attorneys
actuaries, and experienced clailvemdlers to directly administer its asbestos amit@mmental liabilities. Enstar h
established a provision for future expenses ofGb43llion, which reflects the total anticipated to& administer
these claims to expiration.

Enstar’s future asbestos loss development mayfheirced by many factors including:

» Onset of future asbes-related iliness in individuals exposed to asbest@s the past 50 or more yee
« Future viability of the practice of resolving astuesliability for defendant companies through baitcy.
< Enactment of tort reforms establishing stricter moaccriteria for asbestos awart

« Attempts to resolve aU.S-relatedasbestos litigation through federal legislati

The influence of each of these factors is not gagihntifiable and Enstarhistorical asbestos loss developn
is of limited value in determining future asbedtmss development using traditional actuarial reisgrtechniques.
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Significant trends affecting insurer liabilitiescareserves in recent years had little effect orirenmental
claims, except for claims arising out of damagesatural resources. New Jersey has pioneered ¢hefumtural
resources damages to advance further pursuit diftrom potentially responsible parties, or PRPgedent
successful action against Exxon Mobil has incredisedikelinood that the use of natural resourcaages will
expand within New Jersey and perhaps other sfaltese actions target primary policies and will ljkeave less
effect on excess carriers because damages, whedenlyare typically spread across many PRPs andsanany
policy years. As such, claims do not generally hezxcess insurance layers.

Enstar’s future environmental loss development aiag be influenced by other factors including:

» Existence of currently undiscovered polluted siigible for clean-up under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liaaly(CERCLA) and related legislatio

« Costs imposed due to joint and several liabilityat all PRPs are capable of paying their st
» Success of legal challenges to certain policy tesuth as th*“absolut” pollution exclusion

 Potential future reforms and amendments to CERQlafticularly as the resources of Superfund — the
funding vehicle, established as part of CERCLApitovide financing for cleanup of polluted sites whao
PRP can be identifie— become exhauste

The influence of each of these factors is not gagifntifiable and, as with asbestos-related exessiEnstar’'s
historical environmental loss development is ofitéd value in determining future environmental ldeselopment
using traditional actuarial reserving techniques.

Finally, the issue of lead paint liability repreten potential emerging trend in latent claim agtithat could
potentially lead to future reserve adjustmentseAft series of successful defense efforts by dafaridad pigment
manufacturers in lead paint litigation, last ye&tede Island court ruled in favor of the governtriera nuisance
claim against the defendant manufacturers. Althabhghdamages portion of the case has yet to beetkdhe
plaintiff could receive a significant award. Funthéhere are similar pending claims in severakjidtions including
California and Ohio. As insureds have met poligyn®and conditions to establish coverage for leadtpublic
nuisance claims as opposed to traditional bodjlyrynand property damage claims there is the piaticfatr
significant impact to excess insurers should pignprevail in successive nuisance claims pendingther
jurisdictions.

Enstars independent, external actuaries use industryhiimearking methodologies to estimate appropriate |
reserves for Enstar's A&E exposures. These methoglbased on comparisons of Enstar’s loss experiem@&E
exposures relative to industry loss experience && &xposures. Estimates of IBNR are derived sepbrébdr each
relevant Enstar subsidiary and, for some subs&lageparately for distinct portfolios of exposuree discussion
that follows describes, in greater detail, the aiynactuarial methodologies used by Enstar’s indéest actuaries
to estimate IBNR for A&E exposures.

In addition to the specific considerations for eawthod described below, many general factors @msidered
in the application of the methods and the integifen of results for each portfolio of exposurele3e factors
include the mix of product types (e.g. primary irsce versus reinsurance of primary versus reinseraf
reinsurance), the average attachment point of egear(e.g. first-dollar primary versus umbrellarguémary
versus high-excess), payment and reporting lagsactko the international domicile of Enstar suiasids, payment
and reporting pattern acceleration due to largectegnle” settlements (e.g. policy buy-backs androamations)
pursued by Enstar, lists of individual risks renrainand general trends within the legal and toviremments.

1. Paid Survival Ratio Method.In this method, Enstar's expected annual avepagenent amount is
multiplied by an expected future number of paymesars to get an indicated reserve. Enstar’s hcgibcialendar
year payments are examined to determine an expidtee annual average payment amount. This ariel
multiplied by an expected number of future paymesars to estimate a reserve. Trends in calendampgganent
activity are considered when selecting an expeftitenle annual average payment amount. Acceptedstndu
benchmarks are used in determining an expected ewaffuture payment years. Each year, annual patswata
is updated, trends in payments are re-evaluatedamges to benchmark future payment years arewed. This
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method has advantages of ease of application amglisity of assumptions. A potential disadvantaféhe method
is that results could be misleading for portfolidigh excess exposures where significant payraetitity has not
yet begun

2. Paid Market Share MethodIn this method, Enstar’s estimated market staepplied to the industry
estimated unpaid losses. The ratio of Enstar'fitsil calendar year payments to industry histbigedendar year
payments is examined to estimate Enstar’'s markaeskhis ratio is then applied to the estimatmafistry unpaid
losses. Each year, calendar year payment datalégeg (for both Enstar and industry), estimatdadistry unpaid
losses are reviewed and the selection of Enstatiismated market share is revisited. This methodasdvantage
that trends in calendar-year market share candmeporated into the selection of company sharewfaining
market payments. A potential disadvantage of trethad is that it is particularly sensitive to asgtions regarding
the time-lag between industry payments and Enstampnts.

3. Reserve-to-Paid MethodIn this method, the ratio of estimated induségarves to industry
paid-to-date losses is multiplied by Enstar’'s padtate losses to estimate Enstar’s reserves. f@pesnsiderations
in the application of this method include the coatghess of Enstar’s paid-to-date loss informatioa potential
acceleration or deceleration in Enstar’'s paymaedatjve to the industry) due to Enstar’s claimadiag practices,
and the impact of large individual settlements.lEgear, paid-to-date loss information is updated ifioth Enstar
and the industry) and updates to industry estimagserves are reviewed. This method has the adyaofaelying
purely on paid loss data and so is not influengedubjectivity of case reserve loss estimates. @&l
disadvantage is that the application to Enstarfgiars which do not have complete inception-to-dadid loss
history could produce misleading results.

4. IBNR:Case Ratio MethodlIn this method, the ratio of estimated indusBNR reserves to industry case
reserves is multiplied by Enstar’'s case reservestimate Enstar IBNR reserves. Specific consideratin the
application of this method include the presencpaiicies reserved at policy limits, changes in alldndustry case
reserve adequacy and recent loss reporting hiftotgnstar. Each year, Enstar case reserves asagdndustry
reserves are updated and the applicability ofridastry IBNR:case ratio is reviewed. This methos the advantay
that it incorporates the most recent estimatesmafuants needed to settle open cases included iardwase
reserves. A potential disadvantage is that resoltéd be misleading where Enstar case reserve adgdliffers
significantly from overall industry case reservequacy.

5. Ultimate-to-Incurred Method.In this method, the ratio of estimated industtimate losses to industry
incurred-to-date losses is applied to Enstar irsmi#o-date losses to estimate Enstar’s IBNR reseSgecific
considerations in the application of this methazude the completeness of Enstar’s incurred-to-teste
information, the potential acceleration or decdlerain Enstar’s incurred losses (relative to theustry) due to
Enstar’s claims handling practices and the impétarge individual settlements. Each year incunedfate loss
information is updated (for both Enstar and theustdy) and updates to industry estimated ultimaseds are
reviewed. This method has the advantage thatarpurates both paid and case reserve informati@ndjecting
ultimate losses. A potential disadvantage is thatiits could be misleading where cumulative pasd kiata is
incomplete or where Enstar case reserve adequieysdiignificantly from overall industry case reseadequacy.

Under the Paid Survival Ratio Method, the Paid Ma&hare Method and the Reserve-to-Paid Methodirste
determine the estimated total reserve and thenati¢ialel reported outstanding case reserves to atiaa estimated
IBNR reserve. The IBNR:Case Ratio Method first deiees an estimated IBNR reserve which is then @édd¢he
advised outstanding case reserves to arrive astanaged total loss reserve. The Ultimate-to-Inedrvethod first
determines an estimate of the ultimate losses fmaimband then deducts paid-to-date losses toeaatian estimated
total loss reserve and then deducts outstandiregreagrves to arrive at the estimated IBNR reserve.

Within the annual loss reserve studies produceBristars external actuaries, exposures for each subsidia
separated into homogeneous reserving categorigésdqrurpose of estimating IBNR. Each reservinggaity
contains either direct insurance or assumed reamsgrreserves and groups relatively similar typesks and
exposures (for example asbestos, environmentalattgsproperty) and lines of business written ggample
marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exposharacteristics and the nature of available fdataach
individual reserving category, a number of methodas are applied. Recorded reserves for eachagtage
selected from the indications produced by the varimethodologies after consideration of exposure
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characteristics, data limitations, and strengtltsvaeaknesses of each method applied. This apptoadtimating
IBNR has been consistently adopted in the annsalileserve studies for each period presented.

As of December 31, 2006, Enstar has thirteen separsurance and/or reinsurance subsidiaries wiessgves
are categorized into approximately 215 reservegoaies in total, including 21 distinct asbestosremg categories
and 24 distinct environmental reserving categories.

The five methodologies discussed above are apfireglach of the 21 asbestos reserving categorig¢geach of
the 24 environmental reserving categories. As mroon in actuarial practice, no one methodologwidusively or
consistently relied upon when selecting a recordsdrve. Consistent reliance on a single methogldlmgelect a
recorded reserve would be inappropriate in lighthefdynamic nature of both the asbestos and envieatal
liabilities in general, and the actual Enstar expegortfolios in particular.

In selecting a recorded reserve, management caagtuerange of results produced by the methodbthen
strengths and weaknesses of the methods in relatide data available and the specific charatiesisf the
portfolio under consideration. Trends in both Endgta and industry data are also considered inetberve
selection process. Recent trends or changes irelnéant tort and legal environments are also damed when
assessing methodology results and selecting ampipate recorded reserve amount for each portfolio.

The following key assumptions were used to estimateestos and Environmental reserves at December 31
2006:

1. $65 billion Ultimate Industry Asbestos lossesthis level of industry-wide losses and its congaan to
industry-wide paid, incurred and outstanding casenves is the base benchmarking assumption applfaid
Market Share, Reserve-to-Paid, IBNR: Case Ratiotl@dJltimate-to-Incurred asbestos reserving
methodologies.

2. $35 billion Ultimate Industry Environmental losses this level of industry-wide losses and its
comparison to industry-wide paid, incurred and @unding case reserves is the base benchmarkinmpten
applied to Paid Market Share, Reserve-to-Paid, IBSi&se Ratio and the Ultimate-to-Incurred environtake
reserving methodologies.

3. Loss reporting lag— Enstar’s subsidiaries assumed a mix of insuramcereinsurance exposures
generally through the London Market. As the avddabdustry benchmark loss information, as suppligeur
independent consulting actuaries, is compiled lgriyjem U.S. direct insurance company experiengesté’s
loss reporting is expected to lag relative to aldé industry benchmark information. This time-lesgd by
each of Enstar’s insurance subsidiaries variesdmtvirom 2 to 5 years depending on the relativeahix
domicile, percentages of product mix of insuramegsurance and retrocessional reinsurance, primary
insurance, excess insurance, reinsurance of daedtreinsurance of reinsurance within any givgrosure
category. Exposure portfolios written from a norsldomicile are assumed to have a greater timéikay
portfolios written from a U.S. domicile. Portfoliegth a larger proportion of reinsurance expos@a@sassume
to have a greater time-lag than portfolios witlaér proportion of insurance exposures.

The assumptions above as to Ultimate Industry Askseend Environmental losses have not changed tihem
immediately preceding period. For certain Asbe&t@&nvironmental portfolios, assumptions as to thprapriate
loss reporting lag have changed from the immedigtetceding period. For Enstar as a whole, theameeselected
lag for Asbestos has increased from 2 years taBsyand the average selected lag for Environméeagincreased
from 2 years to 2.5 years. The changes arise laggeh result of the level of loss reporting dutting year in certain
of Enstar’s insurance companies relative to lopsnténg trends within the industry. The changethtlag
assumptions had the effect of increasing grossvesédy $81.1 million and increasing net reserye$@4 million.

The following tables provide a summary of the intpafcchanges in industry ultimate losses, fromdakected
$65 billion for asbestos and $35 billion for envingental, and changes in the time-lag, from thecsadeaverages of
3 years for asbestos and 2.5 years for environrhimtthe company behind industry development thistassumed
relates to the company’s insurance and reinsuremganies. Please note that the table below deratest
sensitivity to changes to key assumptions usindghotitlogies selected for determining loss and

59




Table of Contents

ALAE at December 31, 2006 and differs from the ¢atrh page 55 which demonstrates the range of o@gsom
produced by the various methodologies.

Asbestos Gros

Sensitivity to Industry Asbestos Ultimate Loss Assmption Loss Reserves
Asbesto— $65 billion (selected $ 548,00«
Asbestos<— $60 billion 481,43
Environmental Gross

Sensitivity to Industry Environmental Ultimate Loss Assumption Loss Reserve:

Environmenta— $35 billion (selected $ 118,07.
Environmenta— $40 billion 155,54«
Environmenta— $30 billion 80,60(

Asbestos Environmental

Sensitivity to Time-Lag Assumption* Loss Reserve Loss Reserve:
Selected average of 3 years asbestos, 2.5 yedreramental $ 548,000 $ 118,07:
Increase all portfolio lags by six mont 594,87 121,51«
Decrease all portfolio lags by six mon 508,01¢ 112,17-

* using $65 billion/$35 billion Asbestos/Environmdritedustry Ultimate Loss assumptio

Industry publications indicate that the range ¢ifnate industry asbestos losses is estimated betveeen
$55 billion and $65 billion. Based on managemeexgerience of substantial loss development on Enstzestos
exposure portfolios, Enstar has selected the uvpmpeof the range as the basis for its asbestosdessving.
Although the industry publications suggest a low efthe range of industry ultimate losses of $Bioh, Enstar
considers that unlikely and believes that it is en@asonable to assume that the lower end ofghggerof ultimate
losses could be $60 billion.

Guidance from industry publications is more vaiiedespect of estimates of ultimate industry enwin@ntal
losses. Consistent with an industry published edgnEnstar believes the reasonable range foratkimmdustry
environmental losses is between $30 billion andl§iion. Enstar has selected the midpoint of tlaisge as the
basis for its environmental loss reserving baseddwice supplied by its independent consulting aots. Another
industry publication, released prior to the onéecelipon by Enstar, indicates that ultimate industrvironmental
losses could be $56 billion. However, based onowur loss experience, including successful settléraetivity by
the company, the decline in new claims notifieddoent years and improvements in environmental
clean-up technology, Enstar does not believe tra$66 billion estimate would be a reasonable Hasiss
reserving for environmental losses.

Management’s current estimate of the time lag ithlates to its insurance and reinsurance subsggiari
compared to the industry is considered reasonabdm ghe analysis performed by its internal anegmdl actuaries
to date.

Over time, additional information regarding suclp@sure characteristics may be developed for angngiv
portfolio. This additional information could causeshift in the lag assumed.

Non-Latent Claims. Non-latent claims are less significant to Endtath in terms of reserves held and in terms
of risk of significant reserve deficiency. For niatent loss exposure, a range of traditional lassetbpment
extrapolation techniques is applied. Incremental pad incurred loss development methodologiesrarenost
commonly used methods. Traditional cumulative @aid incurred loss development methods are usedewher
inception-to-date, cumulative paid and reportediired loss development history is available.

These methods assume that cohorts, or groupsssdddrom similar exposures will increase over fima
predictable manner. Historical paid and incurrestldevelopment experience is examined for eaidigidant years
to make inferences about how later accident ydasses will develop. Where company-specific logsrmation is
not available or not reliable, industry loss depehent information published by industry sourceshsag the
Reinsurance Association of America is considerdus€ methods calculate an estimate of ultimatesossd then
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deduct paid-to-date losses to arrive at an estihtatal loss reserve. Outstanding losses are thdnaded from
estimated total loss reserves to calculate thenagtid IBNR reserve. Management does not expecgelsan
underlying reserving assumptions to have a matienjphct on net loss and loss adjustment expensevessas they
are primarily sensitive to changes due to loss ldgveent.

Quarterly Reserve Reviewdn addition to an in-depth annual review, Ensiap performs quarterly reserve
reviews. This is done by examining quarterly paid acurred loss development to determine whether i
consistent with reserves established during thegolieg annual reserve review. Loss developmemviewed
separately for each major exposure type (e.g. tshesnvironmental, etc.), for each relevant Erstiésidiary, and
for large “wholesale” commutation settlements vergoutine” paid and advised losses. This procesmdertaken
to determine whether loss development experiendegla quarter warrants any change to held reserves

Loss development is examined separately by expdgpecbecause different exposures develop diffgrenver
time. For example, the expected reporting and pagblosses for a given amount of asbestos researede
expected to take place over a different time frame in a different quarterly pattern from the sam®unt of
environmental reserves.

In addition, loss development is examined separédeleach relevant Enstar subsidiary. While thesmo
significant exposures for most Enstar subsidiaareslatent asbestos and environmental exposuesg, dine differin
profiles to the exposure across Enstar’s subseia@ompanies can differ in their exposure prafile to the mix of
insurance versus reinsurance, the mix of primargugeexcess insurance, the underwriting yearsrticjpation and
other criteria. These differing profiles lead téfelient expectations for quarterly and annual iesgelopment by
company.

Enstar’s quarterly paid and incurred loss develagrseoften driven by large, “wholesale” settlengent such
as commutations and policy buy-backswhich settle many individual claims in a singlensaction. This allows fi
monitoring of the potential profitability of largeettlements which, in turn, can provide informatatout the
adequacy of reserves on remaining exposures wiaeh hot yet been settled. For example, if it werenfl that
large settlements were consistently leading toelavegative, or favorable, incurred losses upotesedint, it might
be an indication that reserves on remaining ex@ssare redundant. Conversely, if it were found lguate
settlements were consistently leading to largetppesior adverse, incurred losses upon settlenitemight be an
indication — particularly if the size of the lossesre increasing —that certain loss reserves on remaining expo
are deficient. Moreover, removing the loss develeptmesulting from large settlements allows foeaew of loss
development related only to those contracts whichain exposed to losses. Were this not donepitssible that
savings on large wholesale settlements could mgskisant underlying development on remaining expes.

Once the data has been analyzed as described awmwedepth review is performed on classes of sy
with significant loss development. Discussionstegkel with appropriate personnel, including indivadlaompany
managers, claims handlers and attorneys, to hetterstand the causes. If it is determined thagldgment differs
significantly from expectations, reserves wouldadgisted.

Quarterly loss development is expected to be faintatic for the types of exposure insured andsigied by
Enstar. Several quarters of low incurred loss dguakent can be followed by spikes of relatively &angcurred
losses. This is characteristic of latent claims aifer insurance losses which are reported anédeiiany years
after the inception of the policy. Given the higdgdee of statistical uncertainty, and potentiahtitity, it would be
unusual to adjust reserves on the basis of oneyenr several, quarters of loss development actigysuch, unless
the incurred loss activity in any one quarter is@¢h significance that management is able to dfyahe impact on
the ultimate liability for loss and loss adjustmerpenses, reductions or increases in loss anddygstment
expense liabilities are carried out in the fourtlader based on the annual reserve review descaibedk.

As described above, Enstar’'s management regulewigws and updates reserve estimates using the most
current information available and employing variagsuarial methods. Adjustments resulting from gfesnn
Enstar’s estimates are recorded in the period wheh adjustments are determined. The ultimatditialbor loss
and loss adjustment expenses is likely to diffemfithe original estimate due to a number of faciorsnarily
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consisting of the overall claims activity occurridgring any period, including the completion of conotations of
assumed liabilities and ceded reinsurance recedgapblicy buy-backs and general incurred claintiviac

Reinsurance Balances Receivable

Enstar’s acquired reinsurance subsidiaries, poi@ctuisition by Enstar, used retrocessional ageatsrto
reduce their exposure to the risk of insurancerairurance they assumed. Loss reserves represgingross
losses, and reinsurance receivable representspattid recoveries of a portion of those unpaiddsss well as
amounts receivable from reinsurers with respectdims that have already been paid. While reinstean
arrangements are designed to limit losses andrtoipeecovery of a portion of direct unpaid lossesnsurance
does not relieve Enstar of its liabilities to msureds or reinsureds. Therefore, Enstar evalaatgsnonitors
concentration of credit risk among its reinsurersluding companies that are insolvent, in affier facing financia
difficulties. Provisions are made for amounts cdaeed potentially uncollectible.

Goodwill

Enstar follows FAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Inggble Assets” which requires that recorded gooldvel
assessed for impairment on at least an annual. haglstermining goodwill, Enstar must determine thir value of
the assets of an acquired company. The determmatitair value necessarily involves many assunmstic¢-air
values of reinsurance assets and liabilities aequarre derived from probability-weighted rangethefassociated
projected cash flows, based on actuarially preparfedmation and Enstar’'s management affstrategy. Fair vall
adjustments are based on the estimated timingssfdad loss adjustment expense payments and anexsguerest
rate, and are amortized over the estimated payarigq) as adjusted for accelerations on commuta@ttements,
using the constant yield method options. Interat®s used to determine the fair value of grossriesasrves are
based upon risk free rates applicable to the aeadlagation of the loss reserves. Interest rated tesdetermine the
fair value of reinsurance receivables are incre&sedflect the credit risk associated with theserers from who
the receivables are, or will become, due. If treuagptions made in initially valuing the assets ggasignificantly
in the future, Enstar may be required to recordaiimpent charges which could have a material impadts
financial condition and results of operations.

FAS No. 141 “Business Combinations” also requiheg hegative goodwill be recorded in earnings. Byiri
2004 and 2006, Castlewood took negative goodwiill #@arnings upon the completion of the acquisitiboertain
companies and presented it as an extraordinary gain

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatian B8 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Inme
Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes detailed guidance fofittancial statement recognition, measurement asclasure of
uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterfgriéeancial statements in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxesak positions must meet a more-likely-than-not rexdtan
threshold at the effective date to be recognizexhupe adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent peribtié 48 will
be effective for fiscal years beginning after Debeml5, 2006 and the provisions of FIN 48 will Ippled to all ta:
positions upon initial adoption of the Interpretati The cumulative effect of applying the provisaf this
Interpretation will be reported as an adjustmenh#&opening balance of retained earnings forfteeal year. We
are currently evaluating the potential impact df B8 on its financial statements when adopted.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 15% \Ridue Measurement (“FAS 157”). This Statement
provides guidance for using fair value to measgsets and liabilities. Under this standard, théndefn of fair
value focuses on the price that would be receigeskll the asset or paid to transfer the liab{lg exit price), not
the price that would be paid to acquire the assegaeived to assume the liability (an entry pri¢edS 157 clarifies
that fair value is a market-based measuremengmentityspecific measurement, and sets out a fair valuaiuley
with the highest priority being quoted prices itivae markets and the lowest priority to unobsereatdta. Further,
FAS 157 requires tabular disclosures of the faineaneasurements by level within the fair valuedrehy.

FAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginningeaflovember 15, 2007, and interim periods withiosth
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fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted as oftikginning of a fiscal year. We are currently eatihg the potential
impact of FAS 157 on its financial statements wadaopted.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159 “Fa& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahcia
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB StaehNo. 115" (“FAS 159”). FAS 159 permits entities
choose to measure many financial instruments aridicether items at fair value. The objectivedsmprove
financial reporting by providing entities with tb@portunity to mitigate volatility in reported eargs caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities diffegewithout having to apply complex hedge accounpnyisions.
This statement is expected to expand the userofdhie measurement, which is consistent with th8E's long-
term measurement objectives for accounting fonfama instruments. The fair value option establishél permit
all entities to choose to measure eligible itenfaiatvalue at a specified election dates. An grftall record
unrealized gains and losses on items for whicHahevalue option has been elected through netrirem the
statement of operations at each subsequent repaidite. This statement is effective as of the beggqof an
entity’s first fiscal year that begins after Novesnld5, 2007. We are currently evaluating the p@éimhpact of
FAS 159 on its financial statements when adopted.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth Enstar’s selectedsmidated statement of operations data for eatheoperiods

indicated.
Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Consulting fee: $ 33,90¢ $ 22,006 $23,70:
Net investment incom 48,09¢ 28,23¢ 11,10:
Net realized (losses) gai (98) 1,26¢ (600)
TOTAL INCOME 81,90¢ 51,51( 34,20¢
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdilies (31,927 (96,007 (13,7096
Salaries and benefi 40,12 40,82 26,29(
General and administrative expen 18,87¢ 10,96: 10,67
Interest expens 1,98¢ 0 0
Foreign exchange (gain) lo (10,837 4,602 (3,73))
TOTAL EXPENSES 18,22¢ (39,627  19,53(
Net earnings before minority intere 63,68( 91,13: 14,67¢
Share of net earnings of pa-owned companie 51¢ 192 6,881
Income tax expens 31¢ (9149 (1,929
Minority interest (13,209 (9,700 (3,099
Net earnings before extraordinary g 51,30¢ 80,71( 16,53¢
Extraordinary gai— Negative goodwill (net of minority interes 31,03¢ 0 21,75¢
NET EARNINGS $82,34¢ $80,71( $ 38,29¢

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Enstar reported consolidated net earnings of afipately $82.3 million for the year ended DecemhkrZ006
compared to approximately $80.7 million in 200%llmied as part of net earnings for 2006 is an extiiaary gain
of $31.0 million relating to negative goodwill, ngtminority interest. As a result, net earningfobe extraordinary
gain for 2006 were approximately $51.3 million cargd to $80.7 million in 2005. The decrease wasgriy a
result of a lower net reduction in loss and logsistchent expense liabilities and higher generaladinistrative
expenses offset by higher consulting fee incomagstment income and increased foreign exchange.gain
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Consulting Fees:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $54,54¢ $38,04¢ $16,50(
Reinsuranct (20,639 (16,040 $(4,599)
Total $33,90¢ $22,00¢6 $11,90:

Enstar earned consulting fees of approximately®%88llion and $22.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Inclii¢dese amounts were approximately $1.3 milliondnsulting
fees charged to wholly-owned subsidiaries of B.ldguéisition, a partly-owned equity affiliate, in bha2006 and
2005. The increase in consulting fees is due piiyniar the increase of approximately $8.9 millianmanagement
and incentive-based fees earned by Enstar’s UtSidiaries along with increased incentive-based f@nerated by
Enstar's Bermuda management company.

Internal management fees of $20.6 million and $16llon were paid in 2006 and 2005, respectivély,
Enstar’s reinsurance companies to its consultimgpamies. The increase in fees paid by the reinsaraagment
was due primarily to the fees paid by reinsurararaganies that were acquired in 2006.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(kpsse

Year Ended December 31,

Net Investment Income Net Realized Gains/(Losses)

2006 2005 Variance 2006 2005 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars (in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Consulting $122¢ $ 57¢ $ 64¢ $— $ — $ —
Reinsuranct 46,87 27,66( 19,21« (98 1,266 (1,366
Total $48,09¢ $28,23¢ $19,86: $(98) $1,26¢  $(1,36€)

Net investment income for the year ended DecembgP@06 increased by $19.9 million to $48.1 million
compared to $28.2 million for the year ended Decem®i, 2005. The increase was attributable tortbeease in
prevailing interest rates during the year alondnait increase in average cash and investment lealdiraen
$913.5 million to $1,093.2 million for the yearsdexd December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectivelyjmgléd cash
and investment portfolios of reinsurance compaadgiired in the year.

The average return on the cash and fixed matuiitiesstments for the year ended December 31, 2@GG6 w
4.40%, as compared to the average return of 3.28%é year ended December 31, 2005. The increageld was
primarily the result of increasing U.S. interedesa— the U.S. federal funds rate has increased @5% on
January 1, 2005 to 4.25% on December 31, 2005@B®5% on December 31, 2006. The average Staddard
Poor’s credit rating of Enstar’s fixed income intreents at December 31, 2006 was AAA.

Net realized (losses)/gains for the year ended bee 31, 2006 and 2005 were $(0.1) million and $dilBon,
respectively. Based on Ens&current investment strategy, Enstar does nototxpst realized gains and losses t
significant in the foreseeable future.

Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expeabdities:

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdifies for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$31.9 million and was attributable to a reductiorestimates of net ultimate losses of $21.4 millreduction in
estimates of loss adjustment expense liabilitie®l&f. 1 million, to reflect 2006 run-off activity oypared to a
reduction of $10.5 million in 2005 (the larger retian relating to companies acquired during 20@Ggduction in
aggregate provisions for bad debt of $6.3 milliompared to $20.2 million in 2005, resulting frone tollection of
certain reinsurance receivables against which ledd provisions had been provided in earlier peripdstially
offset by the amortization, over the estimated phyperiod, of fair value adjustments relating tonpanies acquire
amounting to $10.9 million compared to $7.9 milliar2005, the increased charge reflecting amoitinat
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relating to companies acquired during 2006. Thectdn in estimates of net ultimate losses of $2dilion
comprised of net adverse incurred loss developwieb37.9 million offset by reductions in estimatddBNR
reserves of $59.3 million, of which an increasestimates of ultimate losses of $3.4 million relgtto one of
Enstar’s insurance entities was offset by redustiarestimates of net ultimate losses of $24.8onilin Enstar’s
remaining insurance and reinsurance entities.

The adverse incurred loss development of $37.9anjliwhereby advised case and LAE reserves of
$37.4 million were settled for net paid losses 7.8 million, comprised adverse incurred loss dewelent of
$59.2 million relating to one of Enstar’s insuramoenpanies partially offset by favorable incurregd development
of $21.3 million relating to Enstar’s remaining imance and reinsurance companies.

The adverse incurred loss development of $59.2amillelating to one of Enstar’s insurance companias
comprised of net paid loss settlements of $81.8aniless reductions in case and LAE reserves @f Baillion anc
resulted from the settlement of case and LAE reseabove carried levels and from new loss advaasially
offset by approximately 10 commutations of assuanedi ceded exposures below carried reserves |&vaisarial
analysis of the remaining unsettled loss liabgitiesulted in an increase in the estimate of IBOHR reserves of
$35.0 million after consideration of the $59.2 ioifl adverse incurred loss development during ttee,yend the
application of the actuarial methodologies to ldatg pertaining to the remaining non-commuted exygss Other
factors contributing to the increase include thaldsshment of a reserve to cover potential exposoitead paint
claims, a significant increase in asbestos reseplated to the entity’s single largest cedanidfeing a detailed
review of the underlying exposures), and a chandbé assumed asbestos and environmental losdingptimelag
as discussed further below. Of the 10 commutatimnspleted for this entity, two were among its tep tedant
and/or reinsurance exposures. The remaining 8 efeaesmaller size, consistent with Enstar’s appnaafdargeting
significant numbers of cedant and reinsurer retatigps as well as targeting significant individoatlant and
reinsurer relationships. The entity in questiom denefits from substantial stop loss reinsuramogeption whereby
the adverse loss development of $59.2 million vaagdly offset by a recoverable from a single Afedateinsurer.
The increase in estimated net ultimate losses df ®8lion was retained by Enstar.

The favorable incurred loss development of $21 [ani relating to Enstar’s remaining insurance and
reinsurance companies, whereby net advised casevessof $15.3 million were settled for net paigsloecoveries
of $6.0 million, arose from approximately 35 comatigns of assumed and ceded exposures at lessdakarand
LAE reserves, where receipts from ceded commutsitixceeded settlements of assumed exposures,&and th
settlement of non-commuted losses in the year belowied reserves. Enstar adopts a disciplinedoagiy, through
claims adjusting and the inspection of underlyinigyholder records, to the review and settlemdmtam-
commuted claims such that settlements may ofteachieved below the level of the originally advisesks.

The net reduction in the estimate of IBNR loss msd adjustment expense liabilities relating totans
remaining insurance and reinsurance companiegfauding the net $55.8 million reduction in IBN&serves
relating to the entity referred to above) amounte#i3.5 million. This net reduction is comprisedaofincrease of
$19.8 million resulting from (i) a change in assuiops as to the appropriate loss reporting timeféaigAsbestos
related exposures from 2 to 3 years and for enkertal exposures from 2 to 2.5 years which resurfteah
increase in net IBNR reserves of $6.4 million, &éi)da reduction in ceded IBNR recoverables of #1i3illion
resulting from the commutation of ceded reinsurgrogections. The increase in IBNR of $19.8 millisroffset by
a reduction of $23.3 million resulting from the &pation Enstar’s reserving methodologies to (g§ teduced
historical incurred loss development informatiolatieg to remaining exposures after the 35 comnuriaf and
(i) reduced case and LAE reserves in the aggregate

Of the 35 commutations completed during 2006 ferrgmaining Enstar reinsurance and insurance caegan
ten were among their top ten cedant and/or reinsaraxposures. The remaining twenty-five were srhaller size,
consistent with Enstar’s approach of targetingificant numbers of cedant and reinsurer relatigoshis well as
targeting significant individual cedant and reirsuelationships.
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The following table shows the components of the emoent in net reduction in loss and loss adjustragpens
liabilities for the years ended December 31, 20 2005.

Year Ended
December 31,
2006 2005
(in thousands of
U.S. dollars)
Net Losses Pai $(75,297)  $(69,00)
Net Change in Case and LAE Reser 43,64 95,15¢
Net Change in IBNF 63,57¢ 69,85¢
Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expe $31,92° $ 96,00

Net change in case and LAE reserves comprises diwemment during the year in specific case resealsliiies
as a result of claims settlements or changes atit@sEnstar by its policyholders and attorneyss ldsanges in case
reserves recoverable advised by Enstar to itsuens as a result of the settlement or movemeassfimed claims.
Net change in IBNR represents the change in E's actuarial estimates of losses incurred but epbrted.

The table below provides a reconciliation of thgibaing and ending reserves for losses and losstudgnt
expenses for the years ended December 31, 2008003 Losses incurred and paid are reflected netio$urance
recoverables.

Year Ended December 3

2006 2005
(in thousands of
U.S. dollars)
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expediaauary . $593,16( $736,66(
Incurred related to prior yea (31,929 (96,007
Paids related to prior yea (75,299 (69,007
Effect of exchange rate movemt 24,85¢ 3,652
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiari 361,46: 17,86
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expebszember 3 $872,25¢  $593,16(

Salaries and Benefits:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $28,25¢ $26,86: $(1,39))
Reinsuranct 11,86¢ 13,957 2,091
Total $40,12: $40,82: $ 70C

Salaries and benefits, which include expensesmgl& Enstar's Annual Incentive Compensation Paogand
employee share plans, were $40.1 million and $40l&n for the years ended December 31, 2006 &52
respectively. On May 23, 2006, Enstar entered antoerger agreement and a recapitalization agreemhbith
agreements provided for the cancellation of théhgm-existing incentive compensation plan, or@ie Incentive
Plan, which plan was replaced with the Annual ItisenPlan. As a result of the execution of theseaments, the
accounting treatment for share based awards uhdédid Incentive Plan changed from book value itovidue. As
a result of this modification, Enstar recognizeditidnal stock-based compensation of $15.6 millioming the
quarter ended June 30, 2006. The total stock-bam@mgensation expense recognized in the year ended
December 31, 2006, including the $15.6 million nmmed previously, was $22.3 million as compared to
$3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2@@5a result of the cancellation of the Old Inceat®ian,
$21.2 million of prior years unpaid bonus accruabweversed during the quarter ended June 30, ZD@6expense
associated with the
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new annual incentive compensation plan was $14llfmfor the year ended December 31, 2006 as coatp® an
expense of $14.2 million relating to the prior pfanthe year ended December 31, 2005.
Enstar expects that staff costs will increase metééy in 2007 as it continues to grow and add sBdhus
accrual expenses will be variable and dependetti@overall profit of Enstar.
General and Administrative Expenses:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $12,75.  $ 9,24¢  $(3,505)
Reinsuranct 6,127 1,71€  $(4,41)
Total $18,87¢ $10,96:  $(7,916)

General and administrative expenses attributabilee@onsulting segment increased by $3.5 milliorindy the
year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to #negded December 31, 2005. This increase wasrtuargy
to increases in rent and rent related costs dae tacrease in office space along with an incréageofessional fee
and travel relating to due diligence work on patdracquisition opportunities. Enstar expects tiexteral and
administrative expenses attributable to the comguegment will continue to increase in 2007 augrbwth in its
U.S. operations, due diligence work on potentiglugitions, continued growth in staff resources additional
costs associated with its reporting obligationa asiblic company.

General and administrative expenses attributablee@einsurance segment increased by $4.4 milising the
year ended December 31, 2006, as compared to #neepded December 31, 2005. Of the increased fmydtse
year, $3.8 million relate to general and administeaexpenses incurred in relation to companiesized by Ensta
in 2006 and, of the $3.8 million, $2.5 million redgo non-recurring costs associated with new aitipms along
with expenses incurred in arranging loan facilitidth a London based bank. Enstar does not expsignéicant
level of costs in the reinsurance segment as therityaof costs incurred are covered by the manag@ragreemen
in place with the consulting segment, includingsenoelated to new acquisitions.

Interest Expense:

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Consulting $ — $— $ —
Reinsuranct 1,98¢ 0 $1,98¢
Total $1,98¢ $ 0 $1,98¢

Interest expense of $2.0 million was recordedlieryear ended December 31, 2006. This amount selathe
interest on the funds that were borrowed from B\EQuisition and a London-based bank to partiallyigtsvith the
financing of the acquisitions of Brampton Insura@emnpany Limited, or Brampton, and Cavell Holdingsited
(UK), or Cavell, as well as interest on the vengimmissory note that formed part of the acquisitiosat for
Brampton. The vendor promissory note was repaMay 2006.

Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss):

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $ (14 $ (10) $ (13¢)
Reinsuranct 10,97¢ (4,592) $15,57(
Total $10,83: $(4,607) $15,43¢
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Enstar recorded a foreign exchange gain of $10l&mfor the year ended December 31, 2006, as evathtc
a foreign exchange loss of $4.6 million for 2006eTain for the year ended December 31, 2006 prasearily as i
result of having surplus British Pounds that ars@ result of Enstar’s acquisitions of Bramptoavell, and
Unione Italiana (U.K.) Reinsurance Company, or Weicat a time when the British Pound has strengihagainst
the U.S. Dollar. The foreign exchange loss in 28@8se as a result of having surplus British PoamdsEuros at
various points in the year at a time when the Itlo¢hBritish Pound and Euro were weakening agalvest t
U.S. Dollar. The U.S. Dollar to British Pound rateJanuary 1, 2005, December 31, 2005 and Dece3ih@006
was $1.92, $1.72 and $1.959, respectively. Sinyildile U.S. Dollar to Euro rate at January 1, 2@¥cember 31,
2005 and December 31, 2006 was $1.36, $1.18 aB@ fkspectively.

As Enstar’s functional currency is the U.S. Doliaseeks to manage its exposure to foreign cuyrerchange
by broadly matching foreign currency assets agéamstgn currency liabilities. The 2006 and 200%reacy
mismatches were addressed and corrected by camystiiplus foreign currency to U.S. Dollars attihee the
mismatch was identified.

Share of Income of Partly-Owned Company:

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Consulting $— $— $ —
Reinsuranct 51¢ 192 $ 32€
Total $51¢ $192 $ 32¢

Enstar’s share of equity in earnings of partly-odieempanies for the years ended December 31, 2606 a
2005, was $0.5 million and $0.2 million, respedjv& hese amounts represent Enstar’s proportiostzdee of
equity in the earnings of B.H. Acquisition.

On January 31, 2007, B.H. Acquisition became a lyhmlvned subsidiary of Enstar and, as a result, Emgth
for 2007, consolidate the results of B.H. Acquésitrather than report its proportionate share bf. B\cquisition’s
income.

Income Tax Recovery (Expense)

Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Consulting $49C $(88% $1,37¢
Reinsuranct (172 3 $ (14)
Total $31€  $(9149 $1,23:

Income taxes of $0.3 million and $(0.9) million weecorded for the years ended December 31, 20D2@0H
respectively. The income taxes recovered (incumezik in respect of Enstar’s U.K and U.S subsidgari

Minority Interest:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ -  $ — $ —
Reinsuranct (13,20 (9,700  $(3,50¢)
Total $(13,209  $(9,700)  $(3,509)
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Enstar recorded a minority interest in earning$X8.2 million and $9.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, reflgdtie 49.9% minority economic interest held byiedtparty in
the earnings from Hillcot and Brampton.

Negative Goodwill:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005  Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ — $— $ —
Reinsuranct 31,03¢ 0 31,03¢
Total $31,03¢ $ 0 $31,03¢

Negative goodwill of $31.0 million, net of minoritgterest of $4.3 million, was recorded for the yeaded
December 31, 2006 in connection with Enstar’s aitiohs of Brampton, Cavell and Unione during tleary This
amount represents the excess of the cumulativedhie of net assets acquired of $222.9 millionrdkie cost of
$187.5 million. This excess has, in accordance ®FAS 141 “Business Combinations,” been recognazedn
extraordinary gain in 2006.

The negative goodwill of $4.3 million (net of mirkyrinterest) relating to Brampton arose as a tesfuthe
income earned by Brampton between the date ofatembe sheet on which the agreed purchase pricbasas,
December 31, 2004 and the date the acquisitiored|ddarch 30, 2006. The negative goodwill of $2@illion
relating to the purchases of Cavell and Unioneepranarily as a result of the strategic desiréhefvendors to
achieve an exit from such operations and, thergfordispose of the companies at a discount tovtlire.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004

Enstar reported consolidated net earnings of ajypately $80.7 million in 2005 compared to approxieha
$38.3 million in 2004. The increase was primarilseault of higher income arising from the net reagrcin loss an
loss adjustment expense liabilities and highershwent income, partially offset by higher salaaes benefits
expenses and foreign exchange losses. Net incan2®@d also included an extraordinary gain of $2iiion for
negative goodwill.

Consulting Fees:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $38,04¢ $32,99: $ 5,054
Reinsuranci (16,04() (9,289 (6,75))
Total $ 22,006 $23,70:  $(1,697)

Enstar earned consulting fees of approximatelyGgdllion and $23.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Incliddese amounts were approximately $1.3 milliondnsulting
fees charged to B.H. Acquisition, a partly-ownedpany, in both 2005 and 2004. The reduction in chimg) fees
during 2005 of $1.7 million was primarily due teealuction in incentive-based fee engagements parbtiset by
an increase in fees from new fixed fee recurringagiements.

Internal management fees of $16.0 million and $8ilBon were paid in 2005 and 2004, respectively, b
Enstar’s reinsurance companies to its consultimypamies. The increase in fees paid in 2005 bydimsurance
segment to the consulting segment was due primarilge acquisition of new reinsurance entitie€bgtar in 2005
and late 2004.
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Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(kjsse

Year Ended December 31

Net Investment Net Realized
Income Gains/(Losses
2005 2004 Variance 2005 2004 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ 57¢ $ 46C $ 11€ $ 0 $ 0 % 0
Reinsuranci 27,66( 10,64 17,01¢ 1,26¢ (600) 1,86¢
Total $28,23¢ $11,10: $17,13¢ $1,26¢ $(60C) $ 1,86¢

Net investment income for the year ended DecembgeP@05 increased $17.1 million to $28.2 millios, a
compared to $11.1 million for the year ended Deaan®1, 2004. The increase was primarily attribigablhaving
larger average cash and investment balance in @®13.5 million) versus 2004 ($497.1 million) alowgh an
increase in prevailing interest rates period omogler

The average return on the cash and fixed matuiitiesstments for the year ended December 31, 2@G&5 w
3.2%, as compared to the average return of 2.1%h&year ended December 31, 2004. The increagelthwas
primarily the result of increasing interest rate2005. The weighted average Standard & Poor'staratihg of
Enstar’s fixed income investments at December 8052vas AAA.

Net realized gains for the year ended Decembe2@15 increased $1.9 million to $1.3 million, as @amed to
a net realized loss of $0.6 million for the yeadet December 31, 2004. Based on Enstar’s curreesiment
strategy, Enstar does not expect net realized gaiddosses to be significant in the foreseeatiladu

Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expeabdities:

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expeabdities for the years ended December 31, 20@b20904
were $96.0 million and $13.7 million, respectivélie net reduction in loss and loss adjustmentresgéabilities
for 2005 was attributable to a reduction in estamaif ultimate losses of $73.2 million, a reduciimestimates of
loss adjustment expense liabilities of $10.5 millielating to 2005 run-off activity compared toeguction of
$14.7 million in 2004 (the lower reduction beingedo an increase in the ultimate length of timel trerefore, cost
by which management expects to conclude the rupfafértain liabilities), a reduction in aggregptevisions for
bad debt of $20.2 million resulting from the cotien of certain reinsurance receivables againstivbad debt
provisions had been provided in earlier periods garad to no change in 2004, partially offset byahmertization,
over the estimated payout period, of fair valueistiinents relating to companies acquired in latel208ounting to
$7.9 million compared to zero amortization charg2004. The reduction in estimates of net ultinlasses of
$73.2 million that arose from the completion of epgimately 68 commutations of assumed and cededsexps,
the settlement of losses in the year below caresdrves, lower than expected incurred adversadmsgopment
and the resulting reductions in actuarial estimafdBNR losses. In 2004, the estimate of net wudtienlosses
increased by $1.0 million primarily as a resultdizerse development of incurred asbestos and emvéntal losses
partially offset by the completion of approximat&§ commutations of assumed and ceded exposuresettiemen
of losses below carried reserves.

The following table shows the components of the emoent in net reduction in loss and loss adjustregpéns
liabilities for the years ended December 31, 208 2004.

Year Ended
December 31,
2005 2004
(in thousands of
U.S. dollars)
Net Losses Pai $(69,007) $(19,019
Net Change in Case and LAE Reser 95,15¢ 33,74
Net Change in IBNF 69,85¢ (1,020)
Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenabilities $96,000 $13,70¢
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Net change in case and LAE reserves comprises ¢ivemment during the year in specific case resealsliies
as a result of claims settlements or changes atitisEnstar by its policyholders and attorneyss ldsanges in case
reserves recoverable advised by Enstar to itsuetns as a result of the settlement or movemeassdimed claims.
Net change in IBNR represents the change in E's actuarial estimates of losses incurred but eported.

The table below provides a reconciliation of thgibaing and ending reserves for losses and losstdgnt
expenses for the years ended December 31, 2008084d Losses incurred and paid are reflected nedin§urance

receivables.

Year Ended December 3!
2005 2004
(in thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Exgedaauary . $736,66( $230,15!
Incurred Related to Prior Yes (96,007 (13,70¢)
Paids Related to Prior Yee (69,007 (19,019
Effect of Exchange Rate Moveme 3,65z 4,12¢
Acquired on Acquisition of Subsidiari 17,86 535,10t

Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment ExpeBszember 3 $593,16( $736,66(

Salaries and Benefits:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $26,86¢ $20,31: $ (6,557)
Reinsuranci 13,957 5,97¢ (7,979
Total $40,82:  $26,29(  $(14,53))

Salaries and benefits, which include accrued ba)wsere $40.8 million and $26.3 million for the y@anded
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Thisasa was due to the combination of increasedctiaté of
$4.8 million due to an increase in employee headtcfiom 124 to 166 from December 31, 2004 to Decamit,
2005, and $9.7 million of expense relating to Erstdiscretionary bonus and employee share plains.employee
share plan was implemented in August 2004 andsbecéated compensation expense was accountedirigrthe
intrinsic value method under APB Opinion No. 252005 and 2004, the total costs associated with plains were
$19.8 million and $10.1 million, respectively Tredary costs for the reinsurance segment relateetaliscretionary
bonus plan and equal 15% of after-tax income eabgetie reinsurance segment.

General and Administrative Expenses:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $ 9,24¢ $ 6,872 $(2,372)
Reinsuranci 1,71¢€ 3,80: 2,081
Total $10,96: $10,67: $ (285

General and administrative expenses attributabifleet@onsulting segment increased by approximately
$2.4 million during 2005, as compared to 2004. Tihisease was due primarily to an increase in pgifmal fees ¢
$1.0 million and rent and rent-related costs o8%fillion due to Enstar’s continued growth in theitdd Kingdom.
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General and administrative expenses attributabilee@einsurance segment decreased by approximately
$2.1 million in 2005, as compared to 2004. Thisrdase was due primarily to a decrease in providimngent and
rent related costs of $1.8 million relating to pedy based in London leased by its subsidiary, Riveames
Insurance Company Limited, or River Thames. Theigion was established based on the differencederivthe
rent River Thames pays under its lease and whasdtreceiving for the sublease to a third partthefproperty.
During 2005, the property, after expiration of thizd-party sub-lease, was sublet to a relatedydarta higher rent
which enabled River Thames to reduce its provision.

Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss):

Year Ended December 31

2005 2004 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $ (100 $ 89 $ (99
Reinsuranct (4,599 3,642 (8,239
Total $(4,602) $3,731  $(8,337)

Enstar recorded a foreign exchange loss of $4.omilor 2005, as compared to a foreign exchange g
$3.7 million for 2004. The loss in the current yaesse as a result of having surplus British PoamisEuros at
various points in the year. For 2004, the foreigchange gain arose primarily as a result of surBluiss Franc ca:
balances that were acquired as a result of an sitiqni The 2005 and 2004 currency mismatches wedeessed
and corrected by converting the surplus foreigmengy to U.S. Dollars at the time the mismatch dastified. As
Enstar’s functional currency is the U.S. Dollarseéeks to manage its exposure to foreign currexcyamge by
broadly matching foreign currency assets againsidga currency liabilities.

Income Tax (Expense)/Recovery:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $(883) $(1,939) $1,05¢€
Reinsuranct (32) 15 (46)
Total $(914) $(1,929) $1,01C

Income taxes of $0.9 million and $1.9 million weeeorded for the years ended December 31, 2002604
respectively. The income tax expense was incurrigdgpily on earnings of Enstar’'s U.K. and U.S. ddiagies.

Minority Interest:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ 0 $ 0 % 0
Reinsuranct 9,70( 3,09 6,60:
Total $9,70C $3,097 $6,60¢

Enstar recorded a minority interest in earning$®¥ million and $3.1 million in 2005 and 2004, pestively,
reflecting the 49.9% minority economic interestchisy a third party in the earnings from Hillcot.
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Share of Income of Partly-Owned Companies:

Year Ended December 31
2005 2004 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Consulting $ 0 $ 0 % 0
Reinsuranct 192 6,881 (6,689
Total $192 $6,881 $(6,689)

Enstar’s share of equity in earnings of partly-od/ieempanies for the years ended December 31, 2605 a
2004, was $0.2 million and $6.9 million, respedfivé&or 2005, this amount represents Enstar’s ptaptate share
of equity in the earnings of B.H. Acquisition, Casdra Equity LLC and Cassandra Equity (Cayman)lhétuded
in 2004, in addition to earnings relating to B.H:qliisition and Cassandra, is Enstar’s proportioshéee of
earnings of the JCF CFN LLC and related entitigerty-percent owned equity investment that wapat&d of in
2004.

Negative Goodwill:

Year Ended December 31,

200t 2004 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Consulting $0 $ 0 % 0
Reinsuranci _ 0 21,75¢ (21,759
Total $ 0 $21,75¢ $(21,759

Negative goodwill of $21.8 million was recorded the year ended December 31, 2004. This amourgsept
the excess of the fair value of net assets acquoir&26.2 million over the cost of $4.4 millioniialation to Enstar’s
acquisition of Mercantile Indemnity Company Ltdangder Insurance Limited and Longmynd Insurance Gowip
Ltd. The negative goodwill arose primarily as tesult of a negotiated discount between the coatgbisition and
the fair value of net assets acquired for an adiprisvhere indemnities for aggregate adverse dtes®lopment
were received. The aggregate adverse loss devettpnteemnities provide coverage capped at the wiastsible
loss and loss adjustment expense reserve levalseXbess has, in accordance with FAS 141 “Business
Combinations,” been recognized as an extraordigany in 2004.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As Enstar is a holding company and has no subatagerations of its own, its assets consist prignaf its
investments in subsidiaries. The potential souoéeke cash flows to the holding company consisligidends,
advances and loans from its subsidiary companies.

Enstar’s future cash flows depend upon the avditiglof dividends or other statutorily permissitpayments
from Enstars subsidiaries. The ability to pay dividends andenather distributions is limited by the applicalaess
and regulations of the jurisdictions in which Emsténsurance and reinsurance subsidiaries operatieding
Bermuda, The United Kingdom and Europe, which stthjgese subsidiaries to significant regulatoryrietsons.
These laws and regulations require, among othegshicertain of Enstar’s insurance and reinsuranbsidiaries to
maintain minimum solvency requirements and limé& #mount of dividends and other payments that these
subsidiaries can pay to Enstar, which in turn nirayt [IEnstar’s ability to pay dividends and makeestpayments.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the insuranceeingurance subsidiaries’ solvency and liquidisrevin
excess of the minimum levels required. Retainediegs of Enstar’s insurance and reinsurance swdrgdiare not
currently restricted as minimum capital solvencygires are covered by share capital and additional
paid-in-capital. However, as of December 31, 20 2005, retained earnings of $9.7 million and $8iffion,
respectively, of one of B.H. Acquisition’s subsidéss requires regulatory approval prior to disttibn. On
January 31, 2007, B.H. Acquisition became a whollyred subsidiary of Enstar.
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Enstar’s capital management strategy is to presarfficient capital to enable it to make future @isgions
while maintaining a conservative investment straté&mstar believes that restrictions on liquidiggulting from
restrictions on the payments of dividends by Erstrbsidiary companies will not have a materigbact on
Enstar’s ability to meet its cash obligations.

Enstar’s sources of funds primarily consist of tash and investment portfolios acquired on the detiom of
the acquisition of an insurance or reinsurance @myn run-off. These acquired cash and investrhalances are
classified as cash provided by investing activiti&sstar expects to use these funds acquired hegeith
collections from reinsurance debtors, consultingpine, investment income and proceeds from saleseaietnptior
of investments, to pay losses and loss expendasiesaand benefits and general and administratkpenses, with
the remainder used for acquisitions, additionaéstinents and, in the past, for dividend paymenstaoeholders.
Enstar expects that its reinsurance segment wikk ldanet use of cash from operations as totallagh settlements
and operating expenses will generally be in exoégs/estment income earned. Enstar expects thabitsulting
segment operating cash flows will generally be kegan. Enstar expects its operating cash flowstteg with its
existing capital base and cash and investmentsrachon the acquisition of its insurance and reiasae
subsidiaries, to be sufficient to meet cash requénats and to operate its business. Enstar currdodlg not intend 1
pay cash dividends on its ordinary shares.

Enstar maintains a short duration conservativesiment strategy whereby, as of December 31, 2006% of
its invested assets are held with a maturity of than one year and 95.4% have maturities of kessfive years.
Excluding the impact of commutations, Enstar expétat approximately 12.7% of the gross reserveggpected
to be settled within one year and approximatelyl%dof the reserves settled within five years. HosvetEnstar’'s
strategy of commuting its liabilities has the pdigito accelerate the natural payout of lossdeds than five years.
Therefore, the relatively short-duration investmgumitfolio is maintained in order to provide ligitidfor
commutation opportunities and preclude Enstar fr@ving to liquidate longer dated securities theralbywing
Enstar to maintain its fixed income securities drel-to-maturity basis. As such, Enstar does ntitipate having
to sell longer dated investments in order to metiré policyholder liabilities. However, if Enstaad to sell a
portion of its held-to-maturity portfolio to meeslyholder liabilities it would, at that point, @and the
classification of the held-to-maturity portfolio &am available-for-sale portfolio. This reclassifioa would require
the investment portfolio to be recorded at marladti® as opposed to amortized cost. As of Decenthe2@®6 such
a reclassification would result in a reductionhie talue of Enstar’s cash and investments of $4llim reflecting
the unrealized loss position of the held to magypitrtfolio as of December 31, 2006.

At December 31, 2006, total cash and investmente %&.26 billion, compared to $884.9 million at
December 31, 2005. The increase of $376.2 millias primarily due to cash and investments of $5@0cdired ol
the acquisition of subsidiaries offset by: 1) neiddosses relating to claims of $77.3 million;p2jrchase costs of
acquisitions, net of external financing, of $80.®8ion; and 3) dividends and share redemptions5{.6 million.

At December 31, 2005, total cash and investments %@84.9 million, compared to $942.1 million at
December 31, 2004. The decrease of $57.2 million pvamarily due to an increase of paid losses &fSanillion
relating to Harper Insurance Limited, or Harpere of Enstar’s reinsurance subsidiaries. Harperagasired on
October 29, 2004 and the 2005 loss payments refladt year of Enstar owning Harper. This was efflsy the
combination of investment income earned of $28.Ianiand cash acquired on acquisition of a subsjdof
$18.0 million less a payment of $22 million in firsettiement of distribution rights from certairgaared companie

Source of Funds

Enstar primarily generates its cash from the adtipnis it completes. These acquired cash and invest
balances are classified as cash provided by imgstitivities.

Enstar expects that for the reinsurance segmerd thié be a net use of cash from operations, duetal clainr
settlements and operating expenses being in erf@sgestment income earned, and that for the dtingilsegment
operating cash flows will be breakeven. As a resluét net operating cash flows for Enstar, to gxpre expected
be negative as it pays out cash in claims settlésraard expenses in excess of cash generated @stingnt income
and consulting fees.
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Operating

Net cash provided (used) by operating activitieslie year ended December 31, 2006 was $4.2 million
compared to $(6.3) million for the year ended Delsen81, 2005. This increase in cash flows is attable to
higher investment and consulting income, offsehigher general and administrative expenses antkesttexpense
incurred for the year ended December 31, 2006 mpaced to the same period in 2005.

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activittethe year ended December 31, 2005 was $(6 [8pmi
compared to $0.9 million for the year ended Decarfie 2004. An increase in net losses paid of $60lton
offset by the funds realized on the sale of tradiegurities was the main source for the year ogar gecrease. Net
loss payments made in the year ended DecembefB%,Were $69.0 million compared to $19.0 million fiee year
ended December 31, 2004.

Investing

Investing cash flows consist primarily of cash aoegland used for acquisitions along with net pealseon the
sale and purchase of investments. Net cash probigédsed in) investing activities was $179.3 railliduring the
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $(14llgmduring the year ended December 31, 2005. ifibeease
in the year was due to the sale and maturity ofstments held by Enstar.

Net cash provided by (used in) investing actividesing the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$(14.1) million as compared to $197.0 million dgrite year ended December 31, 2004. The decrea2606 was
attributable to the decrease in cash availabletimbested due to increase in cash requirememaytdosses along
with a reduction in cash acquired on acquisition2005 as compared to 2004.

Financing

Net cash used in financing activities was $13.8ionilduring the year ended December 31, 2006 coeuhtar
$0.8 million during the year ended December 31520Wie increase in cash used in financing actwife Enstar
was primarily attributable to the combination ofieenption of shares and dividends paid and vendorsloffset by
net loan finance receipts and capital contributiopshe minority interest shareholder of a subsidia

Net cash used in financing activities was $0.8iarillduring the year ended December 31, 2005 cordgare
$12.4 million for the year ended December 31, 200 cash used for both years was exclusively iiridutions
to shareholders.

Investments

At December 31, 2006, the maturity distributiortted company’s investment portfolio was as follows:

2006 2005
Amortized Amortized
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Due within 1 yea $422,98( $422,67¢ $322,70¢ $322,04:
After 1 through 5 year 266,27 262,97¢ 181,82t 178,15.
After 5 through 10 yeai 40,26¢ 40,01 16,99¢ 16,71¢
After 10 years 18,01( 17,29 18,03¢ 17,34¢

$747,52¢ $742,96. $539,56¢ $534,25:

Long-Term Debt

On April 12, 2006, Enstar, through Hillcot, enteistb a facility loan agreement for $44.4 milliorithva
London-based bank. On April 13, 2006, Hillcot dréawn $44.4 million from the facility, the proceeafswhich
were used to repay shareholder funds advancetidaadquisition of Aioi Europe. The interest ratetloa facility is
LIBOR plus 2% and the facility is repayable witliryears. The facility is secured by a first chaosger Hillcot’s
shares in Aioi Europe together with a floating geover Hillcot's assets. On May 5, 2006, Hillcepaid
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$25.2 million of the principal, plus accumulateteirest. As of December 31, 2006, $19.4 million figpal and
accumulated interest was payable to the bank.

On October 3, 2006, a subsidiary of Enstar, Vimidbldings Ltd., or Virginia, entered into a fagilloan
agreement for $24.5 million with a Londdased bank. On October 4, 2006, Virginia drew d&24.5 million fromr
the facility, the proceeds of which were used tdiglly fund the acquisition of Cavell Holdings Lited (U.K.), or
Cavell, a U.K. company. The facility is securedabfjrst charge over Virginia’'s shares in Cavellatiger with a
floating charge over Virginia’'s assets. The interate on the loan is LIBOR plus 2% and the loarefsmyable
within 4 years. As of December 31, 2006, $25.0iomilbof principal and accumulated interest was p&ytbthe
bank.

On October 4, 2006, Enstar entered into a loaneageat for $17.5 million with a subsidiary of itsuéty ownec
affiliate, B.H. Acquisition. The proceeds of thafowere used to partially fund the acquisition ofdse Italiana
(U.K.) Reinsurance Company Limited. The interes @ the loan is 6.75% per annum and the loagpayable
within 3 years. As of December 31, 2006, $17.8iomillof principal and accumulated interest was plyti
Enstar’s equity owned affiliate.

On February 22, 2007, a subsidiary of Enstar, Qeddaldings Ltd., or Oceania, entered into a faciban
agreement for $26.8 million with a London-basedkb@n February 22, 2007, Oceania drew down $26li8omi
from the facility, the proceeds of which were usegartially fund the acquisition of Inter-Oceanl#liogs Ltd., a
Bermuda based company. The interest rate on tineiddd BOR plus 2% and the loan is repayable withiyears.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations
The following table shows Enstar’s aggregate catiic obligations by time period remaining to dagedas of
December 31, 2006:
Payments due by period
Less Thar 1-3 3-5 More Than

Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Contractual Obligations

Investment commitmen $ 684 $ 15& $32¢ $18C % 1.7
Operating lease obligatiol 4.C 1.1 i1.g 0.€ 0.8
Loan repayments (including intere 62.2 0 17.¢ 44.4 0.C
Gross reserves for losses and loss expe 1,214. 154.F 301.7 200.4 557.¢

$1,349.( ¢ 171« $353.¢ $263.4 $ 560.:

The amounts included for net reserve for lossed@swadjustment expenses reflect the estimatadgiof
expected loss payments on known claims and antedfature claims. Both the amount and timing aftciows
are uncertain and do not have contractual payouniste-or a discussion of these uncertainties, se€titical
Accounting Policies — Loss and Loss Adjustment Eygas” beginning on page 54. Due to the inherengiaioty
in the process of estimating the timing of thesgnpents, there is a risk that the amounts paid ynpamiod will
differ significantly from those disclosed. Totatigsated obligations are expected to be funded listiag cash and
investments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2006, Enstar did not have afipalince sheet arrangements.

Commitments

Enstar has made a capital commitment of up to $illmin the GSC European Mezzanine Fund Il, LP, o
GSC. GSC invests in mezzanine securities of middtelarge market companies throughout Western Eurap of
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December 31, 2006, the capital contributed to tedRvas $1.6 million with the remaining commitméeetng
$8.4 million. The $10 million represents 8.5% of thtal commitments made to GSC.

Enstar has committed to invest up to $75 milliod.i@. Flowers Il, L.P. Upon completion of the mengéh
EGI, Enstar’s total capital commitment to J.C. Féosvll, L.P. increased to $100 million as a restiIEGI’s
commitment to invest up to $25 million in J.C. Flene Il, L.P. During 2006, Enstar funded a tota5.2 million
of its commitment to J.C. Flowers II, L.P. As of Mh 7, 2007, Enstar, inclusive of EGI’'s portionstianded
$20.4 million of its $100 million commitment. Ensiatends to use cash on hand to fund its remaiogmymitment.
During 2006, Enstar received $0.9 million in mamagat service fees from J.C. Flowers I, L.P. foviadry
services performed for the period June 7, 200Gibe B, 2007.

J.C. Flowers Il, L.P. is a private investment fdadwhich JCF Associates Il L.P. is the generatmparand J.C.
Flowers & Co. LLC is the investment advisor. JCésates Il L.P. and J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC aretoolied by
Mr. Flowers. No fees or other compensation wilpagable by Enstar to the Flowers Fund, JCF Assexiat..P.,
J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, or Mr. Flowers in connectiwith this investment. John J. Oros, who is Enstarecutive
Chairman and a member of its board of directora,izanaging director of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. @ros will
split his time between J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC afhastar.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE INFORMATION ABOUT MARK ET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

Enstar has calculated the effect that an immedgiatallel shift in the U.S. interest rate yield aeiwwould have
on its cash and investments at December 31, 2d@6niodeling of this effect was performed on Enstar’
investments classified as either trading or avébr-sale as a shift in the yield curve would hate an impact on
its fixed income investments classified as helthadurity as they are carried at purchase cost tdjuer
amortization of premiums and discounts. The resfilthis analysis are summarized in the table below

Interest Rate Movement Analysis on Market Value oMutual Funds

Interest Rate Shift in Basis Points

-100 -50 0 +50 +100
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Total Market Value $305,88: $304,30! $302,62( $301,12: $299,53¢
Market Value Change from Ba 1.0% 0.5€% 0.C% (0.49% (1.09%
Change in Unrealized Valt $ 326] $ 168 $ 0 $ (1,497) $ (3,089

As a holder of fixed income securities and mutualds, Enstar also has exposure to credit riskn leffort to
minimize this risk, its investment guidelines hdeen defined to ensure that the fixed income hetdaturity
portfolio is invested in high-quality securitiest Becember 31, 2006, approximately 90.3% of Enstavestment
portfolio was rated AA- or better by Standard & Pso

At December 31, 2006, reinsurance receivables 44 $2million were associated with a single reinswhich
represented 59.8% of reinsurance balances receivElbis reinsurer is rated A+ by Standard & Podrighe event
that all or any of the reinsuring companies areblsto meet their obligations under existing remasge
agreements, Enstar will be liable for such defal#tmounts.

Effects of Inflation

Enstar does not believe that inflation has had g nd effect on its consolidated results of opers. Loss
reserves are established to recognize likely letfements at the date payment is made. Thosevessiherently
recognize the anticipated effects of inflation. Hutual effects of inflation on Enstar’s resultamet be accurately
known, however, until claims are ultimately resalve
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Foreign Currency Risk

Through its subsidiaries, Enstar conducts busiimeassariety of non-U.S. currencies, the principgbosures
being in the currencies set out in the table belssgets and liabilities denominated in foreign ennies are expos
to changes in currency exchange rates. As Endtartdional currency is the U.S. Dollar, exchange fauctuations
may materially impact Enstar’s results of operatiand financial position. Enstar currently doesusa foreign
currency hedges to manage its foreign currencyang risk. Enstar manages its exposure to foreigeiecy
exchange risk by broadly matching its non-U.S. &oflenominated assets against its non-U.S. Daflaomhinated
liabilities. This matching process is done quaytérlarrears and therefore any mismatches occuimitige period
may give rise to foreign exchange gains and losgkeigh could adversely affect its operating resitisstar is,
however, required to maintain assets in non-U.8aidoto meet certain local country branch requigats which
restricts its ability to manage these exposurestin the matching of its assets and liabilitiesaddition, Enstar
retains the currency exposure in respect of itg gllion Euro denominated investment in New NIBtRars LP.

The table below summarizes Enstar’s gross andxpetseire as at December 31, 2006 to foreign curesnci
(in millions of U.S. dollars):

GBP Euro AUD CDN Other Total
Total Asset: $319.¢  $117.C $32.€ $23.z $33.4 $526.C
Total Liabilities 317.¢ 75.7 21.1 3.2 28.% 445
Net Foreign Currency Exposu $ 24 $41°: $11.5 $20.C $51 $ 80.:

Excluding any tax effects, as of December 31, 2@0B)% change in the U.S. Dollar relative to tHeeot
currencies held by Enstar would have resulted$8.8 million change in the net assets held by Ensta
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Enstar Group Limited (formerly known as Castlewdtmdings Limited)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Enstar Group Limited and subsidigties
“Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, aaddlated consolidated statements of earnings, hepsive
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and casVsffor the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002 @04
These financial statements are the responsibifithe Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. The Company is not required t@hasr were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internalti@rover financial reporting. Our audits includeshsideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a dsr designing audit procedures that are apprtgpiiethe
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compamy&rnal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, wepgess no such opinion. An audit also includes éxeng, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts antbdiges in the financial statements, assessingdbeunting
principles used and significant estimates made adgagement, as well as evaluating the overall fimhistatement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateta@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial
position of Enstar Group Limited and subsidiaris®aDecember 31, 2006 and 2005 and the resutteof
operations and their cash flows for the years edsrbmber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 in conformiti wit
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdéhStates of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche
Hamilton, Bermuda

March 16, 2007
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006 2005
(expressed in thousands of
U.S. dollars, except share

data)
ASSETS
Short-term investments, available for sale, atfalue (amortized cost: 2006 —
$279,137; 200'— $216,624) $ 279,13 $ 216,62«
Fixed maturities, held to maturity, at amortizedtodair value: 2006 — $328,183;
2005— $291,270) 332,75( 296,58«
Fixed maturities, trading securities, at fair vafamortized cost: 2006 — $93,581;
2005— $Nil) 93,22 —
Other investments, at fair vali 42,42: 26,36(
Total investment 747,52 539,56¢
Cash and cash equivalel 450,81 280,21
Restricted cash and cash equivalt 62,74¢ 65,115
Accrued interest receivab 7,30t 2,80¢
Accounts receivabl 17,75¢ 8,22
Reinsurance balances receive 408,14. 250,22¢
Investment in part-owned compan 17,99¢ 17,48(
Goodwill 21,22 21,22:
Other asset 40,73t 15,10:%
TOTAL ASSETS $1,774,25. $1,199,96:
LIABILITIES
Losses and loss adjustment expel $1,214,41¢ $ 806,55¢
Reinsurance balances paya 62,83: 30,84+
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 29,19: 35,331
Income taxes payab 1,54z 282
Loans payabli 62,14¢ —
Other liabilities 29,99: 25,491
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,400,12; 898,51
MINORITY INTEREST 55,52( 40,54«
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY
Share capite
Authorized issued and fully paid, par value $1 egilthorized 2006: 99,000,000;
2005: 99,000,00C
Ordinary shares (Issued 2006: 18,885; 2005: 18, 19 19
Ordinary nor-voting redeemable shares (Issued 2006: Nil; 202844,774 — 22,64
Additional paic-in capital 111,37: 89,09(
Deferred compensatic — (112
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 4,56¢ 1,01C
Retained earning 202,65! 148,25’
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY 318,61( 260,90t
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERSE' EQUITY $1,774,25.  $1,199,96:

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 200

2006 2005 2004
(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars,
except share and per share data)

INCOME
Consulting fee: $ 33,90¢ $ 22,006 $ 23,70:
Net investment incom 48,09¢ 28,23t 11,102
Net realized (losses) gai (98) 1,26¢ (600)
81,90¢ 51,51( 34,20¢
EXPENSES
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdilies (31,92) (96,00 (13,706
Salaries and benefi 40,12: 40,82: 26,29(
General and administrative expen 18,87¢ 10,96: 10,677
Interest expens 1,98¢ — —
Net foreign exchange (gain) lo (10,837) 4,60z (3,73))

18,22¢ (39,627  19,53(

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES, MINORITY INTEREST AND

SHARE OF NET EARNINGS OF PARTL-OWNED COMPANIES 63,68( 91,13: 14,67¢
INCOME TAXES 31¢ (919 (1,924
MINORITY INTEREST (13,209 (9,700 (3,097
SHARE OF NET EARNINGS OF PARTL-OWNED COMPANIES 51¢ 192 6,881
NET EARNINGS BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY GAIN 51,30¢ 80,71( 16,53¢
Extraordinary gain — Negative goodwill (net of miiip interest of $4,329,

$Nil and $Nil, respectively 31,03¢ — 21,75¢
NET EARNINGS $ 82,34¢ $ 80,71( $ 38,29¢
PER SHARE DATA:

Earnings per share before extraordinary «— basic $2,756.7. $4,397.8¢ $ 914.4¢
Extraordinary gain per sha— basic 1,667.6. — 1,203.4:
Earnings per sha— basic $4,424.3" $4,397.8¢ $2,117.9;
Earnings per share before extraordinary — diluted $2,720.7¢ $4,304.3( $ 906.1:
Extraordinary gain per sha— diluted 1,645.8! — 1,192.4(
Earnings per sha— diluted $4,366.6c $4,304.3( $2,098.5.
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 18,61 18,35: 18,081
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 18,85¢ 18,75: 18,24¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 200

2006 2005 2004
(expressed in thousands of
U.S. dollars)
NET EARNINGS $82,34¢ $80,71(  $38,29¢
Other comprehensive incorr
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investmerissngy during the perio (98) 1,26¢ (609)
Reclassification adjustment for net realized loggains) included in net
earnings 98 (1,26¢) 60C
Unrealized losses on investments of partly-ownedgany arising during the
year — — (340
Currency translation adjustme 3,55¢ (899) 53¢
Other comprehensive income (lo: 3,55k (899) 19C
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $85,90. $79,81. $38,48¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 200

Additional

Share Paid-in Deferred
Capital Capital Compensatior

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive Retained

Income (Loss) Earnings

Total

(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollar:

Opening balance, January 1, 2( $2753($ 8221t $ (852) $ 1,71¢ $ 37,00: $147,61¢
Redemption of Class E shai (4,61% — — — — (4,619
Amortization of deferred compensati — — 481 — — 481
Grant of Class D shart — 3,12¢ — — — 3,12¢
Dividend paid — — — — (7,750 (7,750
Net earning: — — — — 38,29: 38,29«
Other comprehensive incor — — — 19C — 19C
December 31, 200 22,91: 85,341 (371 1,90¢ 67,547 177,33t
Redemption of Class E shau (252) — — — — (252)
Redemption of Class D shai — (30 (30
Amortization of deferred compensati — — 25¢ — — 25¢
Grant of Class D shart 1 3,77¢ — — — 3,78(
Net earnings — — — — 80,71C 80,71(
Other comprehensive lo — — — (899) — (899
December 31, 200 22,66:  89,09( (112 1,01C 148,25 260,90t
Redemption of Class E shai (22,647) — — — —  (22,64)
Reclassification of deferred compensat — (112 112 — — —
Grant of Class D shart — 22,39: — — — 22,39
Dividend paid — — — — (27,949 (27,949
Net earning: — — — — 82,34t 82,34¢
Other comprehensive incor — — — 3,55¢ — 3,55¢
December 31, 200 $ 19 $111,37: $ — $ 4,565 $202,65! $318,61(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 200

2006 2005 2004
(Expressed in thousands of

U.S. dollars)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net earnings $ 82,34¢ $ 80,71( $ 38,29:
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net chshsf provided by (used in) operating activiti
Minority interest 13,20¢ 9,70(C 3,097
Negative goodwil (31,039 — (21,759
Share of net earnings of pa-owned companie (51¢) (192 (6,887)
Depreciation and amortizatic 503 492 462
Reclassification of deferred compensat — 25¢ 481
Amortization of bond premiums and discou 1,95¢ 564 304
Net realized investment losses (gai 98 (1,26¢) 60C
Change in net unrealized holding losses on traseuyrities 35& — 471
Proceeds on sale of trading securi 27,91¢ 76,69t —
Purchase of trading securiti (15,79¢) — —
Shar-based compensation expel 22,39: 3,78(C 3,12t
Other items (11,987 20,321 5,39/
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Reinsurance balances receiva (52,459 116,88° 33,34¢
Losses and loss adjustment expet (14,927) (282,71 (56,08
Reinsurance balances paya (17,9049 (31,557 91
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating\atigis 4,16¢€ (6,32]) 944
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir $ 4,69¢ $ 16,561 $104,69:
Purchase cavailablefor-salesecurities (100,644 (112,010 (76,600
Sales and maturities availablefor-salesecurities 305,38" 201,71: 199,53t
Purchase chelc-to-maturity securities (171,25() (133,49) —
Maturity of helc-to-maturity securities 143,29¢ 46,22( —
Purchase of other investmel (11,009 (26,360) —
Other investing activitie 8,81¢ (6,704 (21,45%)
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing\atiéis 179,29¢ (14,07 197,02t
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Redemption of share (22,647) (282) (4,619
Contribution to surplus of subsidiary by minoritytérest 22,91¢ — —
Distribution of capital to minority shareholde (11,76%) — —
Dividend paid (27,949 — (7,750
Dividend paid to minority intere: (13,71%) (549) —
Receipt of loan: 86,35¢ — —
Repayment of loan (46,839 — —
Net cash flows used in financing activit (13,635 (830) (12,369
TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT 77€ (539 34E
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 170,60f (21,757 185,94¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAF 280,21: 301,96¢ 116,02
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAF $450,81° $ 280,21 $301,96!
Supplement Cash Flow Information
Net income taxes recovered (pa $ 647 $ (1,739 % (1,939
Interest paic $ 1,041 % — 8 —

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Enstar Group Limited (formerly Castlewood Holdingmited) (“Enstar” or the “Company”) was formed in
August 2001 under the laws of Bermuda to acquickraanage insurance and reinsurance companies-offiuand
to provide management, consulting and other ses\tiz¢he insurance and reinsurance industry. Onaisu81,
2007, Enstar completed the merger (the “MergerT@MS Subsidiary Corp., a Georgia corporation ahdy-
owned subsidiary of Enstar, with and into The EnStoup Inc. (“EGI”), a Georgia corporation. Asesult of the
Merger, EGI, renamed Enstar USA, Inc., is now allyhmwned subsidiary of Enstar. Prior to the Merde&l|
owned approximately 32% economic and 50% votingradt in Enstar.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation— The consolidated financial statements have Ipeepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBtates of America. The preparation of finansiatements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting pipies requires management to make estimates anchpiens
that affect the reported amount of assets anditiabiand disclosure of contingent assets andliligls at the date ¢
the financial statements and the reported amodntsvenues and expenses during the reporting petictdial
results could differ from those estimates. The magtimates reflected in the Company’s financiatesnents
include, but are not limited to, the reserves émsks and loss adjustment expenses and reinsiralacees
receivable.

Basis of consolidation— The consolidated financial statements includeassets, liabilities and results of
operations of the Company as of December 31, 26686805 and for the years ended December 31, 2005, anc
2004. Results of operations for subsidiaries aeguare included from the dates of their acquisitiprihe Compan
Intercompany transactions are eliminated on codatitin.

Cash and cash equivalents- For purposes of the consolidated statementagii 8ows, the Company
considers all highly liquid debt instruments pusd with an initial maturity of three months ordes be cash and
cash equivalents.

Investments —

a) Short-Term InvestmentsShort-term investments comprise securities withadurity greater than three
months but less than one year from the date ofhase Short-term investments classified as aveildrtsale are
carried at fair value, with unrealized gains arss&s excluded from net earnings and reported @gaaiate
component of accumulated other comprehensive incAmertization expenses derive from the differehetveen
the nominal value and purchase cost and they aeadver the time to maturity of the debt seaesiti

b) Fixed Maturities: Debt securities classified as held-to-maturityestments are carried at purchase cost
adjusted for amortization of premiums and discoubebt investments classified as trading securérescarried at
fair value, with unrealized holding gains and Iessecognized in net investment income. Amortizaéepenses
derive from the difference between the nominal @alnd purchase cost and they are spread oventhddimaturit
of the debt securities.

¢) Other Investments:Other investments include investments in limpeadtnerships. The Company accounts
for its investments in limited partnerships on #ggiity basis based on the most recently availahén€ial
information. The Company has no significant infloermnd does not participate in the managemeneséth
investments. Investments in limited partnerships athher flow-through entities are carried on thaeiggbasis
whereby the investment is initially recorded attao®d adjusted to reflect the Company’s sharetef-déx earnings
or losses, other comprehensive income and lossesednced by dividends received.
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Investments classified as held to maturity andlalbé-for-sale are reviewed on a regular basisterdhine if
they have sustained an impairment of value thedtisidered to be other than temporary. There arerakfactors
that are considered in the assessment of an ineestmhich include (i) the time period during whittere has been
a significant decline below cost, (ii) the extehthe decline below cost, (iii) the Company’s irttand ability to
hold the security, (iv) the potential for the séuto recover in value, (v) an analysis of theaficial condition of th
issuer and (vi) an analysis of the collateral strtecand credit support of the security, if appgliea The
identification of potentially impaired investmeimsolves significant management judgment. Any ulized
depreciation in value considered by managemeng totler than temporary is recognized in net eaminghe
period that it is determined. Realized gains aisdds on sales of investments classified as avaifablsale and
trading securities are recognized in the consailiatatements of earnings. Investment purchasesaesl are
recorded on a trade-date basis.

Investment in partly-owned compapny Investment in partly-owned company, where thenGany has
significant influence, is carried on the equityisashereby the investment is initially recordedast and adjusted
reflect the Company’s share of after-tax earningesses, unrealized investment gains and losskseaiuced by
dividends received.

Loss and loss adjustment expensesThe liability for loss and loss adjustment exgesnincludes an amount
determined from loss reports and individual casesaan amount, based on historical loss experiendéralustry
statistics, for losses incurred but not reportdtese estimates are continually reviewed and aressadly subject t
the impact of future changes in such factors dsmcdeverity and frequency. While management bedi¢hat the
amount is adequate, the ultimate liability may to@igicantly in excess of, or less than, the ameyrbvided.
Adjustments will be reflected as part of net insee=ar reduction in loss and loss adjustment expéatsiéties in the
periods in which they become known. Premium andro@sion adjustments may be triggered by incurredde
and any amounts are reflected in net loss andaldisstment expense liabilities at the same timedtaged incurred
loss is recognized.

The Companys insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries estgilistisions for loss adjustment expenses rel
to run-off costs for the estimated duration of thie-off. These provisions are assessed at eachtirgpdate and
provisions relating to future periods adjustedeftecct any changes in estimates of the periodieafficosts or the
duration of the run-off. Provisions relating to therent period together with any adjustments tarirun-off
provisions are included in loss and loss adjustregpénses in the consolidated statements of earning

Reinsurance balances receivable Amounts receivable from reinsurers are estimatedmanner consistent
with the loss reserve associated with the undeglpiolicy.

Consulting fee income— Fixed fee income is recognized in accordanch tiié term of the agreements. Fees
based on hourly charge rates are recognized asagmare provided. Performance fees are recogmibed all of
the contractual requirements specified in the ageze are met.

Foreign currencies— At each balance sheet date, recorded balanatarthdenominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the Company areistéf to reflect the current exchange rate. Revandexpense
items are translated into U.S. dollars at averatgsrof exchange for the years. The resulting exgdhgains or
losses are included in net earnings.

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are tramsldahto U.S. dollars at the year-end rates of exghaRevenues
and expenses of subsidiaries are translated irgoddllars at the average rates of exchange foydhes. The
resultant translation adjustment for self-sustajrsnbsidiaries is classified as a separate compahether
comprehensive income, and for integrated operat®meluded in net earnings.

Earnings per share— Basic earnings per share is defined as netrggsravailable to ordinary shareholders
divided by the weighted average number of ordirsdugres outstanding for the period, giving no effedtilutive
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securities. Diluted earnings per share is defireeded earnings available to ordinary shareholdierdet by the
weighted average number of ordinary and ordinaayeskequivalents outstanding calculated using #estrry stock
method for all potentially dilutive securities. Whthe effect of dilutive securities would be antiitive, these
securities are excluded from the calculation aifteidl earnings per share.

Acquisitions — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchéase pver the fair value of the net assets
received related to the acquisition of Castlewoodited by Enstar in 2001. FAS No. 142 “Goodwill a@ther
Intangible Assets” requires that the Company perfan initial valuation of its goodwill assets andupdate this
analysis on an annual basis. If, as a result oafisessment, the Company determines the value gdadwill asset
is impaired, goodwill is written down in the periodwhich the determination is made. An annual iimmpant
valuation has concluded that there is no impairnetiie value of the Comparsygoodwill asset. Negative goodv
arises where the fair value of net assets acqeixededs the purchase price of those acquired asshtin
accordance with FAS No. 141, “Business Combinatidmass been recognized as an extraordinary gain.

Stock Based Compensatier Castlewood adopted Statement of Financial ActiogrStandards No. 123(R)
“Share Based Payments,” or FAS 123(R), in accogrftinits employee share awards effective JanuapQ6.
FAS 123(R) requires compensation costs relatetdoeshased payment transactions to be recognizbeé in
financial statements based on the grant date &irevof the award. The adoption of FAS 123(R) didhave a
material impact on the consolidated financial stegiets. On May 23, 2006, Castlewood entered intergen
agreement and a recapitalization agreement. Asudt ref the execution of these agreements, theustw
treatment for share-based awards issued under@asit’'s employee share plan changed from book \taléesr
value.

New Accounting PronouncementslrJuly 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatian K8 (FIN 48),
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income TaxFIN 48 prescribes detailed guidance for the finalhstatement
recognition, measurement and disclosure of unecetéi positions recognized in an enterprise’s foiarstatements
in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounfor Income Taxes.” Tax positions must meet aeno
likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effeetdate to be recognized upon the adoption of 488Nind in
subsequent periods. FIN 48 will be effective facél years beginning after December 15, 2006 angrthvisions ¢
FIN 48 will be applied to all tax positions uporitial adoption of the Interpretation. The cumulatieffect of
applying the provisions of this Interpretation vk reported as an adjustment to the opening balefivetained
earnings for that fiscal year. The Company is autyeevaluating the potential impact of FIN 48 émfinancial
statements when adopted.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. Fait,Value Measurementhis Statement provides guidar
for using fair value to measure assets and ligslitUnder this standard, the definition of failueafocuses on the
price that would be received to sell the assetaid to transfer the liability (an exit price), rtbe price that would k
paid to acquire the asset or received to assumi@thikty (an entry price). FAS 157 clarifies thiair value is a
market-based measurement, not an entity-specifasarement, and sets out a fair value hierarchy téthighest
priority being quoted prices in active markets #mellowest priority to unobservable data. Furtk&S 157 require
tabular disclosures of the fair value measuremptsvel within the fair value hierarchy. FAS 157effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, iatetim periods within those fiscal years. Eantipption is
permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year. Toenpany is currently evaluating the potential ictpe FAS 157
on its financial statements when adopted.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159 “Fha& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahcia
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Sta@mnNo. 115”. FAS 159 permits entities to choosmeasure
many financial instruments and certain other itet&ir value. The objective is to improve finareigporting by
providing entities with the opportunity to mitigatelatility in reported earnings caused by measuralated assets
and liabilities differently without having to apptpmplex hedge accounting provisions. This staténsesxpected
to expand the use of fair value measurement, wiBichnsistent with the FASB’s long-term measurement
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objectives for accounting for financial instrumenitke fair value option established will permit afitities to choos
to measure eligible items at fair value at a spetiélection dates. An entity shall record unrealigains and losses
on items for which the fair value option has beletted through net income in the statement of djpgrsiat each
subsequent reporting date. This statement is @éféeat of the beginning of an entity’s first fisgalar that begins
after November 15, 2007. The Company is currentlueating the potential impact of FAS 159 on itsaficial
statements when adopted.

3. ACQUISITIONS

2004 — In 2004, Enstar completed the acquisition of ddatile Indemnity Company Ltd., Harper Insurance
Limited (“Harper”), (formerly Turegum Insurance Cpany) and Longmynd Insurance Company Ltd. (formerly
Security Insurance (UK) Ltd.).

The purchase price and fair value of assets aajuieze as follows:

Purchase pric $ 3,581
Direct costs of acquisitio 874
Total purchase pric $ 4,45¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 26,21
Excess of net assets over purchase price (neggindwill) $(21,759

The negative goodwill arose primarily as a restii aegotiated discount between the cost of adiprisand
fair value of net assets acquired for an acquisitihere indemnities for aggregate adverse lossloleveent were
received by Castlewood.

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokthe assets acquired and the liabilities assumseat the
date of the acquisitions:

Cash, investments and accrued inte $ 560,56¢
Reinsurance balances receive 200,24.
Losses and loss adjustment expel (732,779
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,819
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 26,21

The seller of Harper has indemnified Enstar foreade loss development subject to certain limitén®eance
balances receivable acquired include $88,379 aticel to these indemnities.

2005 — In 2005, Enstar completed the acquisition ofdfiell Insurance Company Limited (formerly
Harleysville Insurance Company (UK) Limited).

The purchase price and fair value of assets aajuieze as follows:

Purchase pric $1,40:
Direct costs of the acquisitic 42
Total purchase pric $1,44¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $1,44¢
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The following summarizes the estimated fair valofthe assets acquired and the liabilities assushétte date
of the acquisition:

Cash and investmer $ 18,00¢
Reinsurance balances receive 25,48¢
Losses and loss adjustment expel (41,965
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (85
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 1,44

2006 — On March 30, 2006, Hillcot Holdings Ltd. (“Hill¢ Holdings”), a 50.1% owned subsidiary of Enstar,
acquired Aioi Insurance Company of Europe Limit&&idi"), a reinsurance company based in the U.Kr, tbtal
consideration of £62 million, of which £50 milliamas paid in cash and £12 million by way of vendan note.
Subsequent to the acquisition, Aioi’'s name was ghdrio Brampton Insurance Company Limited (“Bramp)o

On October 4, 2006 and November 20, 2006, Enstapkzied the acquisitions of Cavell Holdings Limited
(“Cavell”), a U.K. Company, which owns a U.K. andiegian reinsurer, for total consideration of 889, and
Unione Italiana (UK) Reinsurance Company (“Union&’yeinsurance company based in the U.K., fof tota
consideration of $17,369. The acquisitions weral&ghfrom available cash on hand and approxima#&2aR0 in
new debt.

The acquisitions have been accounted for usingtinehase method of accounting, which requiresttieat
acquirer record the assets and liabilities acquatatieir estimated fair value.

The purchase price and fair value of assets aajuieze as follows:

Purchase pric $186,61:
Direct costs of acquisitior 87€
Total purchase pric $187,49(
Net assets acquired at fair va $222,85°
Excess of net assets over purchase price (neggindwill) (35,367
Less: Minority interest share of negative good 4,32¢

$(31,039

The negative goodwill of $31,038 (net of minorityéarest) relating to the acquisitions completethanyear
arose as a result of the following: 1) Income edrog Brampton between the date of the balance simewhich the
agreed purchase price was based, December 31 a20d04he date the acquisition closed, March 30, 2806 2) a
result of the strategic desire of the vendor oféllaand Unione to achieve an exit from such operetiand therefol
to dispose of the companies at a discount to fires

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash, investments and accrued inte $ 576,25(
Reinsurance balances receive 55,43:
Accounts receivable (net) and other as 13,82:
Losses and loss adjustment exper (422,64)
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 222,85
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Other assets acquired consist of a building toiggoded of by sale and deferred tax assets.

The fair values of reinsurance assets and liadsliicquired are derived from probability weighteages of the
associated projected cash flows, based on actiygi@pared information and management’s run-otegy. Any
amendment to the fair values resulting from chanmgesich information or strategy will be recognizeigen they
occur.

In June 2006, a subsidiary of the Company entereda definitive agreement for the purchase of oniy
interest in a U.S. holding company that owns twapprty and casualty insurers based in Rhode Islzott, of
which are in run-off. Completion of the transactisrtonditioned on, among other things, governnmiemd
regulatory approvals and satisfaction of variodseotlosing conditions. As a consequence, the Cagnpannot
predict if or when this transaction will be complet

In December 2006, Enstar entered into a definaiyeement for the purchase of Inter-Ocean Holdinds
(“Inter-Ocean”) for total consideration of approxtely $57,201. Inter-Ocean owns two reinsurers,ased in
Bermuda and the other based in Ireland. The puectiased on February 23, 2007. This acquisitianrisaterial
business combination. Disclosures required by FABdre not provided as it is not practicable duga¢orecent
completion of the acquisition.

On January 31, 2007, Enstar completed the Merg€dMS Subsidiary Corp., a Georgia corporation and
wholly-owned subsidiary of Enstar, or CWMS, withdanto EGI. As a result of the Merger, EGI, renark@dstar
USA, Inc., is now a direct wholly-owned subsidiafyEnstar.

Following completion of the Merger, trading in EEEommon stock ceased and certificates for shae&bs
common stock now represent the same number of Emstmary shares. Commencing February 1, 2007, the
ordinary shares of Enstar traded on the NASDAQ &ll&elect Market under the ticker symbol ‘ESGRDtilun
March 1, 2007 and, thereafter, under the tickertey)fESGR.’

In addition, immediately prior to the closing oktMerger, Enstar completed a recapitalization pamsto
which it: (1) exchanged all of its previous outstauny shares for new ordinary shares of Enstargi¢@jgnated its
initial Board of Directors immediately following éhMerger; (3) repurchased certain of its shares bye[Trident II,
L.P. and its affiliates; (4) made payments totatig076 to certain of its executive officers anchyees, as an
incentive to remain with Enstar following the Mergand (5) purchased, through its wholly-owned glibsy,
Castlewood Limited, the shares of B.H. Acquisitidd., a Bermuda company, held by an affiliate afi&nt II, L.P.

On February 23, 2007, Enstar repurchased 7,18@Eostinary shares from T. Whit Armstrong for total
consideration of $726. This repurchase was doaedordance with the letter agreement dated Mag@35,
between T. Whit Armstong, T. Wayne Davis and Engtasuant to which Enstar agreed to repurchase from
Messrs. Armstrong and Davis, upon their requesingwa 30-day period commencing January 15, 200fhea
prevailing market prices, such number of Enstamamy shares as provides an amount sufficient fesdis.
Armstrong and Davis to pay taxes on compensatioonte resulting from the exercise of options by tleem
May 23, 2006 for 50,000 shares of EGI common stndke aggregate. Mr. Davis did not elect to slefires under
the agreement. Messrs. Armstrong and Davis aretdireof the Company.

4. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of $6AMd6565,117 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
respectively, are restricted for use as collatagalinst letters of credit, in the amount of $41,488 $47,848 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and asgtee under trust agreements. Letters of creglisaued to
ceding insurers as security for the obligationsefirance subsidiaries under reinsurance agreemghtthose
ceding insurers.
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5. INVESTMENTS
Available-for-sale -

The cost and fair value of investments in shontervestments classified as available-for-saletas a
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $279,137 and $24.éB8pectively. For the years ended December@®I5 anc
2005, $203,818 and $215,817 of the investmentsuituah funds were Goldman Sachs mutual funds, réisede
Mutual funds invest in fixed income and money madezurities denominated in U.S. dollars, with agertarget
duration of nine months. The mutual funds can bleeened on a single trading day’s notice.

Held-to-maturity -

The amortized cost and estimated fair value ofstments in debt securities classified as held-tairitg are a

follows:
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Holding Holding Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

As at December 31, 20(

U.S. Treasury and Agency securit $165,38¢ $ 14 $ (2,619 $162,78!
Non-U.S. Governmersecurities 7,59 — — 7,594
Corporate debt securiti 159,76¢ 121 (2,08¢) 157,80:

$332,75( $ 13t $ (4,702 $328,18:

As at December 31, 20(

U.S. Treasury and Agency securit $218,97° $ — $ (3,309 $215,67:
Corporate debt securiti 77,605 — (2,010 75,59
$296,58: $ — $ (5319 $291,27(

The gross unrealized losses on securities heldatiotity debt securities were split as follows:

2006 2005
Due within one yea $ 301 $ 66€
After 1 through 5 year 3,31( 3,67¢
After 5 through 10 yeai 254 28¢
After 10 years 837 691

As at December 31, 2006 and 2005, the number ofities in an unrealized loss position was 70 abd 7
respectively, with a fair value of $298,775 and &880, respectively. Of these securities, the nurobsecurities
that have been in an unrealized loss position 2ombnths or longer was 59 and 57, respectivel\h witair value o
$185,332 and $137,143, respectively. As of DecerBlbeR006 and 2005, none of these securities wersidered
to be other than temporarily impaired. Managemastthe intent and ability to hold these securitied their
maturities. The unrealized losses from these sesivere not a result of credit, collateral oustural issues.

The amortized cost and estimated fair values Beaémber 31, 2006 of debt securities classified as
held-to-maturity by contractual maturity are shdvaiow.
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Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Due within one yea $102,89° $102,59¢
After 1 through 5 year 201,81: 198,51!
After 5 through 10 yeat 15,00( 14,74¢
After 10 years 13,04: 12,32¢

$332,75(  $328,18:

Expected maturities could differ from contractualtarities because borrowers may have the righalicoc
prepay obligations with or without call or prepaympenalties.

Trading -

The estimated fair value of investments in debusges and short-term investments classified ading
securities as of December 31, 2006 was as follows:

Fair
Value
U.S. Treasury and Agency securit $24,70:
Non-U.S. Governmersecurities 30,71(
Corporate debt securiti 37,80¢
$93,22

The trading portfolio consists of those investmamwitich Enstar intends to sell in the short-ternpag of the
post-sale restructuring of the investment portfolimewly acquired companies.

The Company did not hold any investments class#igtrading securities as of December 31, 2005.

Other investments -

All of the Company’s other investments are subjegestrictions on redemptions and sales which are
determined by the governing documents and limitGbenpany’s ability to liquidate these investmentshie short
term. Due to a lag in the valuations reported leyrttanagers, some valuations are reported on artioeth lag.
Other investments held at fair value:

As at December 31 2006 2005

New NIB Partners L.P $25,33!  $24,53:
J.C. Flowers II, L.P. 15,24t —
GSC European Mezzanine Offshore Capital Il, L 1,84: 1,82¢

$42,42. $26,36(
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New NIB Partners L.P.

In 2005, the Company invested $24,532 in an Alblartéed partnership, New NIB Partners L.P. (“NevBN).
New NIB was formed for the purpose of purchasinggether with certain affiliated entities, 100% loé¢ toutstandin
share capital of NIBC Holding N.V. (formerly NIB @#al Bank N.V.) (“NIB Capital”) a Dutch bank, for
approximately $2,156,000. The Company owns 1.386f.&ew NIB.

J.C. Flowers Il, L.P.

In 2006, the Company committed to invest up to @38,in J.C. Flowers Il, L.P. (the “Flowers Fundi)private
investment fund formed by J.C. Flowers & Co, LLGaaty related to Enstar. As of December 31, 2€06 Flower:
Fund had drawn down a total of $15,245 of the $J® bmmitted to the fund. The Company intends ®aash on
hand to fund its remaining commitment.

GSC European Mezzanine Offshore Capital Il, L.P.

The Company has a capital commitment of up to ¥IMiA the GSC European Mezzanine Fund Il, LP
(“GSC"). As of December 31, 2006, the capital cimtred to GSC was $1,694 with the remaining comrmaitm
being $8,306. The $10,000 represents 8.5% of tiaédommitments made to GSC.

Major categories of net investment income are sunz@a as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Interest from cash and cash equivalents and-term investment $36,22¢ $20,68( $ 9,07¢
Interest from fixed maturitie— helc-to-maturity 12,16( 8,891 3,14(
Interest from fixed maturitie— trading securitie 1,067 30¢ —
Dividends from equity securitie — 39 —
Change in net unrealized holding loss on tradirgisges (355 — (477)
Amortization of bond premiums or discoul (1,959 (5649) (309)
Share of net earnings of other investme 2,25¢ — —
Investment expenses (Note : (1,307 (1,125 (342)

$48,09¢ $28,23¢  $11,10:

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002@04, gross realized gains on sale of
available-for-sale securities were $20, $1,768%6#] respectively, and gross realized losses endal
available-for-sale securities were $85, $Nil an@&6espectively.

6. REINSURANCE BALANCES RECEIVABLE

2006 2005
Recoverable from reinsurers ¢
Paid losse $ 65,98 $ 36,83(
Outstanding losse 81,29: 77,67¢
Losses incurred but not report 396,58t 244,01:
Fair value adjustmel (135,72) (108,28¢)

$ 408,14 $ 250,22!
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The fair value adjustment, determined on acquisitibreinsurance subsidiaries, was based on timaatstd
timing of loss and loss adjustment expense recesemd an assumed interest rate equivalent t& &ers rate for
securities with similar duration to the reinsuraneeeivables acquired plus a spread to reflectitcris#f, and is
amortized over the estimated recovery period, asstatl for accelerations on commutation settlemersisig the
constant yield method.

The Companys acquired reinsurance subsidiaries used retraregsigreements to reduce their exposure t
risk of reinsurance assumed. The Company remaibkelio the extent that retrocessionaires do net their
obligations under these agreements, and ther@f@eompany evaluates and monitors concentratianeafit risk.
Provisions are made for amounts considered potntiacollectable. The allowance for uncollectatdesurance
recoverable was $150,133 and $102,559 at Decenih@086 and 2005, respectively.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, reinsurance receivatith a carrying value of $244,147 and $164,363,
respectively were associated with a single reirswtech represented 10% or more of total reinsuearadances
receivable. In the event that all or any of th@saring companies are unable to meet their obtigatunder existing
reinsurance agreements, the Company will be littsleuch defaulted amounts.

7. INVESTMENT IN PARTLY -OWNED COMPANY

The Company holds 45% of the ordinary shares off8Huisition Ltd. (“BH”"). The ordinary shares held by 1
Company have 33% of BH’s voting rights. BH whollywms two insurance companies in run-off, Brittangurance
Company Ltd., incorporated in Bermuda, and Compaguiropéenne d’Assurances Industrielles S.A., paated
in Belgium. The balance of the investment in paotlyned company was $17,998 and $17,480 at DeceBiher
2006 and 2005, respectively. In connection withNfexger, Enstar acquired 100% of the ordinary shafBH.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, consolidatedheizearnings include $10,234 and $9,716, respagtof
undistributed earnings of BH.

8. LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

2006 2005
Outstanding $ 624,01' $433,72:
Incurred but not reporte 900,03 645,96¢
Fair value adjustmel (309,63() (273,13

$1,214,41¢  $ 806,55¢

The fair value adjustment, determined on acquisitibreinsurance subsidiaries, was based on tiraasd
timing of loss and loss adjustment expense paynmasan assumed interest rate equivalent to dreskate for
securities with similar duration to the loss anskladjustment expense provisions acquired, andastaed over th
estimated payout period, as adjusted for accetgrmtin commutation settlements, using the congtaltt method.

In establishing the liability for losses and logiguatment expenses related to asbestos and enwrdgahtlaims
management considers facts currently known anduhent state of the law and coverage litigatioabilities are
recognized for known claims (including the costadated litigation) when sufficient information hasen develope
to indicate the involvement of a specific insurapoécy, and management can reasonably estimaliabitity. In
addition, liabilities have been established to cadditional exposures on both known and unassetééahs.
Estimates of the liabilities are reviewed and updatontinually. Developed case law and adequaie ¢isstory do
not exist for such claims, especially because Bagmit uncertainty exists about the outcome of cage litigation
and whether past claim experience will be repredizat of future claim experience.
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In view of the changes in the legal and tort enwinent that affect the development of such claitms uncertainties
inherent in valuing asbestos and environmentaindaire not likely to be resolved in the near futliémate value
for such claims cannot be estimated using tradifioeserving techniques and there are significanetainties in
estimating the amount of the Companpotential losses for these claims. There carohasaurance that the resel
established by the Company will be adequate orneillbe adversely affected by the developmenttudrotatent
exposures. The Company’s liability for unpaid I@saad loss adjustment expenses as of Decembef@a ahd
2005 included $349,963 and $383,957, respectitielt,represents an estimate of its net ultimatslifg for
asbestos and environmental claims. The grossitiabir such claims as at December 31, 2006 and 2085
$666,075 and $578,079, respectively.

Activity in the liability for unpaid losses and adjustment expenses is summarized as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Balance as at Januar $ 806,55¢ $1,047,31° $ 381,53:
Less reinsurance recoverab 213,39¢ 310,65: 151,37¢

593,16( 736,66( 230,15!
Effect of exchange rate movems 24,85¢ 3,65z 4,12¢
Incurred related to prior yea (31,929 (96,007 (13,706
Paid related to prior yea (75,299 (69,007 (19,019
Acquired on purchase of subsidiar 361,46: 17,86: 535,10t
Net balance as at December 872,25¢ 593,16( 736,66(
Plus reinsurance recoverab 342,16( 213,39¢ 310,65:
Balance as at December $1,214,41¢ $ 806,55¢ $1,047,3L

The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment esgéabilities for the years ended December 31620005
and 2004 was primarily due to the following:

2006 2005 2004
Reduction (increase) in estimates of ultimate I $21,43: $73,22¢  $(1,000
Reduction in provisions for bad del 6,29¢ 20,20( —
Amortization of fair value adjustmen (20,947 (7,91%) —
Reduction in provisions for loss adjustment expsi 15,13¢ 10,50( 14,70¢
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdilies $31,92° $96,00° $13,70¢

The reduction in estimates of ultimate losses D&2&nd 2005 arose from commutations and policy lagks,
the settlement of losses in the year below cargsdrves, lower than expected incurred adversadmsgopment
and the resulting reductions in actuarial estimafdgsses incurred but not reported. As a reduthe collection of
certain reinsurance receivables, against whichdedotl provisions had been provided in earlier peyitide Compan
reduced its aggregate provisions for bad debt 062(hd 2005.

9. LOANS PAYABLE

2006
Facility loans $44,36:
Loan from BH 17,78t
Total loans payabl $62,14¢
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On April 12, 2006, Hillcot Holdings entered intdaility loan agreement for $44,356 with a Londa@séd
bank (the “Facility”). The interest rate on the #iicis LIBOR plus 2% and the Facility is repayabkithin 4 years.
The Facility is secured by a first charge over¢ditlHoldings’s shares in Aioi together with a fiogtcharge over
Hillcot Holdings's assets. The Facility containgiwas financial and business covenants, includimgtations on
dividends of restricted subsidiaries, restrictiasgo the disposition of the stock of restrictedssdiaries and
limitations on mergers and consolidations. The Ifgechay be voluntarily repaid in full or in parytHillcot
Holdings upon written notice to the bank. On May806, $25,156 of the Facility was repaid. As ot&mber 31,
2006 all of the covenants relating to the Facilisre met.

On October 4, 2006, Enstar entered into a fadiiéyy agreement for $24,500 with a London based Kidwek
“Cavell Facility”). The interest rate on the Fatsilis LIBOR plus 2% and the Facility is repayablighin 4 years.
The Cavell Facility is secured by a first chargeriZnstar’s shares in Cavell Holdings Limited. Twvell Facility
contains various financial and business covenamthjding limitations on liens on the stock of mesed
subsidiaries, restrictions as to the dispositiothefstock of restricted subsidiaries and limitagion mergers and
consolidations. As of December 31, 2006 all of¢dbeenants relating to the Cavell Facility were met.

On October 4, 2006, Enstar entered into an unsédoam agreement for $17,500 with BH. The interatd on
the loan is 6.75% and the loan is repayable wiBhyears.

During 2006, the Company incurred interest exp@msits facility and loan agreements of $1,989 (20K¥l).
Included within this amount was $285 of interegtense incurred on the loan from BH.

On February 21, 2007, Enstar entered into a tedilitfes agreement for $26,825 with a London-balsadk
(the “Inter-Ocean Facility”). On February 23, 20&nstar drew down $26,825 from the Inter-Oceanligadihe
proceeds of which were used to partially fund tbgussition of Inter-Ocean. The interest rate onltiter-Ocean
Facility is Libor plus 2% and is repayable withouf years. The Inter-Ocean Facility contains vagifinancial and
business covenants, including limitations on liemsthe stock of restricted subsidiaries, restiigias to the
disposition of the stock of restricted subsidiaaes limitations on mergers and consolidations.

The fair value of the Company’s floating rate loapgroximate their book value. The fair value @& th
Company’s fixed rate loan from BH, which was reegivn the fourth quarter, approximates its bookigal

10. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized shares of par value $1 each -

2006 2005
Class A ordinary voting shar 6,00( 6,00(
Class B ordinary voting shar 6,00( 6,00(
Class C ordinary voting shar 6,157 6,15
Class D ordinary nc¢-voting share: 941 741
Class E ordinary n-voting redeemable shar 40,501,55  40,501,55
Shares not allocated to a cl: 58,479,35  58,479,55

99,000,000  99,000,00
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Issued and fully paid shares of par value $1 each -

2006 2005
Class A ordinary voting shar $6 % 6
Class B ordinary voting shar 6 6
Class C ordinary voting shar 6 6
Class D ordinary nc-voting share: 1 1
Class E ordinary nc¢-voting redeemable shar 0 22,64:

$19 $22,66

The Class A, B and C shares of the Company areanylivoting shares.

The Class A and B shares were issued to EGI amitil L.P. and its affiliates (“Trident"yespectively, upo
the acquisition of Castlewood Limited by the Compablass E shares are non-voting and were issuteto
shareholders of Castlewood Limited (the “Principjat®gether with Class C shares, upon the acqoiisitf
Castlewood Limited by the Company.

The Company’s bye-laws provide that any distritnsito its shareholders will be in accordance with t
following proportions and priorities:

* First, until, Trident receives cumulative distrilaunts equal to its capital contributions to the Camy any
distributions would be allocated 30% to Enstarb%7to Trident and 22.5% to the Princip:

» Second, until Enstar receives cumulative distriimgiequal to their capital contributions made & th
Company, any distributions would be allocated 50%star, 50% to the Principa

 Third, until the Principals receive cumulative distitions equal to their capital contributions maad¢he
Company, any distributions would be made 100% ¢oRfincipals; an

» Fourth, distributions are made to each of the $iwders pr-rata to their shareholdin

Distributions to Enstar and Trident are made by whgividend payments on their Class A and B shares
Distributions to the Principals are made by wayeafemptions of the Class E shares at their paewafl$1.00 per
share. The Class E shares are not mandatorily mest®@e nor is their redemption an unconditional gdtiion.
Instead, the redemption of the Class E sharegpisraient on distributions from the Company. The ésaf
Class E shares are not entitled to any dividenugistributed earnings of the Company or any righitsarticipate in
any distributions of assets upon liquidation. Thiemeo mechanism within the Company’s bye-lawsror privilege
or rights which would allow the Class E sharehaderforce the Company to make a distribution.

All outstanding Class E shares were fully redeenhathg the second quarter of 2006.

11. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Accumulated other comprehensive income as of Deeeib 2006, 2005 and 2004 is comprised of cunugati
translation adjustments.

2006 2005 2004
Cumulative translation adjustmel $4,565  $1,01C  $1,90¢
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Summary

Components of salaries and benefits are summaaizéallows:

2006 2005 2004
Salaries and benefi $22,88. $21,45¢ $15,55¢
Defined contribution pension plan expel 1,50¢ 1,34: 1,12¢
Employee share awar: 22,39: 3,78( 3,12¢
Annual incentive pla 14,53 — —
Prior annual incentive ple 14,24: 6,47:
Reversal of prior annual incentive plan acci (21,199 — —
Total salaries and benef $40,12: $40,82. $26,29(

b) Defined contribution plan

The Company provides pension benefits to eligibipleyees through various plans sponsored by the
Company. All pension plans are structured as ddfeumtribution plans. Pension expense for the yeaded
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $1,506, $h3d%1,126, respectively.

c) Employee share plans

During 2002, the Company entered into an agreemightemployees that provided for stock awards. Eyeé
stock awards for 153 Class C ordinary shares aii71552 Class E ordinary shares were granted terttpoyees.
The shares vest over a period of 4 years. The Coyripas charged compensation expense of $Nil, $28%481
relating to these restricted share awards in 20085 and 2004, respectively. The Class E shares fully
redeemed in 2006.

During 2004, the Company established an employagegtian. Employee stock awards for the 2006, 20@b
2004 years are summarized as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Nonvestec— beginning of perioc 354 502 —
Granted 197 18 744
Vested (345) (149 (242
Forfeited — (A7) —
Nonvestec— end of perioc 20€ 354 502

Compensation costs of $22,393, $3,780 and $3,1abng to the issuance of the share-awards have bee
recognized in the Company’s statement of earniogthe years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and Z6@e4
determination of the share-award expenses for 2&36based on the fair-market value per common sif&6I as
of the grant date and is recognized over the vggt@riod. The determination of the share-award esge for 2005
and 2004 were based on the Company’s book valushaee at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectivilgh
approximated fair value.

As of December 31, 2006, there was remaining $208%8tal unrecognized compensation costs relatate
non-vested share awards. These costs are expediedécognized over a weighted average period8of Years
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d) Annual incentive plan

On May 23, 2006, the Company entered into a mexgezement and a recapitalization agreement. These
agreements provided for the cancellation of theesurannual incentive compensation plan and reglaagith a
new annual incentive compensation plan. As a redulie execution of these agreements, the acaaptréatment
for share-based awards under Enstar’s employee ghan changed from book value to fair value. The
compensation charge associated with this chang&¥#584 and was recorded in the three months ehdwesl 30,
2006.

On September 15, 2006, Enstar’s board of dire@ndsshareholders adopted the Enstar Group Limited
2006-2010 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (fenial Incentive Plan”) and the 2006 Equity InceatPlan
(the “Equity Incentive Plan”), which reserves 1,20 ordinary shares for future awards. Both plaifisoe
administered by the Compensation Committee appbioyeEnstar’s board of directors (the “Plan Comeat). No
awards have been granted under either the Annoahtive Plan or the Equity Incentive Plan. As ailtssf the
cancellation of the current annual incentive consdion plan, $21,193 of unpaid bonus accrual wasrsed durin
the quarter ended June 30, 2006.

The Annual Incentive Plan provides for the annuahgof bonus compensation (each, a “bonus awata”),
certain officers and employees of Enstar and itsisliaries, including Enstar’s senior executiveoeffs. Bonus
awards for each calendar year from 2006 througi® 24ll be determined based on Enstar’s consolidatgdafter-
tax profits. The Plan Committee shall determineah®unt of bonus awards in any calendar year, based
percentage of Enstar’s consolidated net after-tafitp. The percentage will be 15% unless the Rlammittee
exercises its discretion to change the percentadater than 30 days after year-end. The Plan Caotmewvill
determine, in its sole discretion, the amount afusawards payable to each participant.

Bonus awards are payable in cash, ordinary sha@sambination of both. Ordinary shares issued in
connection with a bonus award will be issued pumstmthe terms and subject to the conditions efEquity
Incentive Plan and the number of shares issuedeitietermined based on the fair market valuedihary shares
for the thirty calendar days preceding the gramdrdinary shares as a bonus award.

The accrued expense relating to the Annual IncerRian for the year ended December 31, 2006 was334
Accrued expense for the previous annual incentiae pancelled in the quarter ended June 30, 2008hé years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $14,243 atid3p6espectively.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the comparison dadiband diluted earnings per share for the yeaisen
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

2006 2005 2004

Basic earnings per she
Net earning: $ 82,34¢ $ 80,71( $ 38,29:
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 18,61: 18,35: 18,08
Basic earnings per she $4,424.3"  $4,397.8¢ $2,117.9:
Diluted earnings per sha
Net earning: $ 82,34¢ $ 80,71( $ 38,29:
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 18,61: 18,35 18,08:
Share equivalent:

Unvested share 24¢€ 39¢ 167
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 18,85¢ 18,75 18,24¢
Diluted earnings per sha $4,366.6-  $4,304.3(  $2,098.5:

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain transactidthsoompanies and partnerships that are affiliated
Messrs. J. Christopher Flowers and John J. Orossidd-lowers and Oros are members of the Comp&aged of
Directors and Mr. Flowers is one of the largestshalders of Enstar.

The transactions involving companies and partnpssivhere Mr. Flowers has an involvement are asvd|

On December 22, 2006, the Company received managdees for advisory services provided to J.C.
Flowers Il L.P. (the “Flowers Fund”), a private @stment fund, in the amount of $910. Of this am@&it6
was earned at December 31, 2C

On June 7, 2006, the commitment made by the Comipaliarch 2006 to invest an aggregate of $75,000 in
the Flowers Fund was accepted by the Flowers Flimel Company’s commitment may be drawn down by
the Flowers Fund over approximately the next sixrgeAs at December 31, 2006 the Flowers Fund had
drawn down a total of $15,245 of the Com’s $75,000 commitment to the Flowers FuL

In March 2006, Enstar and Shinsei Bank LimitedShinsei, completed the acquisition of Aioi. The
acquisition was effected through Hillcot Holdingswhich Enstar holds a 50.1% economic interest and
Shinsei holds the remaining 49.9%. Enstar and 8himade capital contributions to Hillcot to funath
acquisition in proportion to their economic inteeedVir. Flowers is a director and the largest shaider of
Shinsei.

In December 2005 JCF Re Holdings LP (“JCF Re")agrGan Limited partnership, entered into a
subscription and shareholders agreement with Hitami for the establishment of a segregated cell @aid
$1,932 to Fitzwilliam as capital and contributedpdus. During 2005, Fitzwilliam recorded managenfees
of $40 from JCF Re

In December 2005 the Company invested $24,532 im N which was formed to hold 100% of the share
capital of NIB Capital. Mr. Flowers serves on thwpearvisory board of NIB Capital. Several officerala
directors of the Company made personal investnieritew NIB.
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* In 2004, Hudson invested $9,147 in Cassandra 23t% interest. JC Flowers | LP also owned 27% iisteart
Cassandra. Mr. Flowers is the managing member BfAKSociates | LLC, which is the general partnel ©f
Flowers | LP.

« In June 2005 the Company, through its subsidiasti®aood (US) Inc., entered into a license agreeémen
with J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC (“Flowers LLC") for these of certain office space and administrativeises
for an annual payment of $50 running through 204#.Flowers is President of Flowers LL

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002@04, Enstar paid $195, $91 and $120, respectitely,
Saracens Ltd. for corporate marketing and entertaiti. Dominic Silvester, Chief Executive Officeriifstar, is a
director of Saracens Ltd.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002604, Enstar earned consulting fees of $1,250581a7c
$1,250, respectively from subsidiaries of BH.

In 2002, the Company and BH entered into an investradvisory agreement with EGI for an agreed anieg
of $400. The agreement terminated on Septembe2(08B. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002G04,
the Company incurred fees relating to this agre¢mE$273, $365 and $362.

In April 2005, Castlewood (US) Inc. entered intlease agreement for use of certain office spade avie of it
directors running through to 2008 for an annuat c6$140. For the years ended December 31, 200€6605,
Castlewood (US) Inc. incurred rent expense of $did $119, respectively.

In March 2006, Castlewood (US) Inc. purchased aoorinium in New York and the spouse of one of its
directors received a realtor commission of $74 ftbmvendor.

As at December 31, 2006 and 2005, no amounts auatof investment fees and other expenses wer@bpay
to these related parties and $Nil and $40, resgeygtiwere receivable from them.

15. LITIGATION

The Company, in common with the insurance and vearse industry in general, is subject to litigatand
arbitration in the normal course of its businessrapons. While the outcome of the litigation canbe predicted
with certainty, the Company is disputing and wilhtinue to dispute all allegations that managerbehiéves are
without merit. As of December 31, 2006, the Compamg not a party to any material litigation or &dtion.

16. TAXATION

Under current Bermuda law, the Company is not meguio pay any taxes in Bermuda on its income pitah
gains. The Company has received an undertaking finenMinister of Finance in Bermuda that, in themvof any
taxes being imposed, the Company will be exemph fraxation in Bermuda until March 2016.

The Company has operating subsidiaries and brapetations in the United Kingdom, United States and
Europe and is subject to the relevant taxes inetlrisdictions. The weighted average expectegtaxision has
been calculated using pre-tax accounting incomeaah jurisdiction multiplied by that jurisdictioapplicable
statutory tax rate.

Deferred income taxes arise from the recognitioteofporary differences between income determined fo
financial reporting purposes and income tax purpoSeach differences result from differing basedeayreciation
and amortization, run-off costs and employee corsgion for tax and book purposes.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, United Kingdosuiiance subsidiaries and branch operations hddgax
carryforwards, which do not expire, and deductiavailable for tax purposes of approximately $51&,84d
$272,254, respectively. Certain of the Companyls.lhsurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, havisax
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carryforwards that arose prior to acquisition. UndeK. tax law, these tax loss carryforwards arailable to offset
future taxable income generated by the acquiredoaomwithout time limit.

As the insurance and reinsurance subsidiariessinvent income is largely offset by expenses, thy forure
taxable revenue of such entities consists of tHaaton in net loss and loss adjustment expenbditias. As the
timing and benefit of such future reductions is nemlictable and as the quantum of the loss carndateare subje
to challenge by the taxing authorities, the Complaay determined that it is more likely than not tha carry-
forwards will not be utilized and therefore a vdioa allowance of 100% has been provided.

A valuation allowance has been provided for thebtemefit of these items as follows:

2006 2005
Benefit of loss carryforwar $ 153,31: $ 81,67¢
Valuation allowanct (153,319 (81,676
$ — 3 =

The actual income tax rate for the years ended bee31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, differed from thewamo
computed by applying the effective rate of 0% urttlerBermuda law to earnings before income taxesrasult of

the following:

2006 2005 2004
Earnings before income t: $82,02¢  $81,62¢  $40,21¢
Expected tax rat 0% 0% 0%
Foreign taxes at local expected re 1.€% 0.7% 4.8%
Other (2.0% 0.4% 0.C%
Effective tax rate (0.9% 1.1% 4.8%

17. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

The Company’s insurance and reinsurance operadignsubject to insurance laws and regulationsan th
jurisdictions in which they operate, including Bertla, Europe and the United Kingdom. Statutory eapind
surplus as reported to the relevant regulatoryaaitiés for the insurance and reinsurance subsédiaf the
Company as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 waslas/fol

Bermuda UK Europe
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Required statutory capital and
surplus $ 17,08 $ 1594 $ 37,71 $17,45¢ $ 20,23 $ 15,48
Actual statutory capital and
surplus $ 71,29: $ 117,62: $ 231,16 $123,42¢ $ 57,49. $ 44,56¢
Bermuda UK Europe
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Statutory income $ 19597 $ 59,27¢ $ (13,73) $28,89: $ 605 $ 20,00¢
Maximum available for
dividends $ 54,206 $ 101,67¢ $ 4,29¢ $26,07' $ 1,12 % —

As at December 31, 2006 and 2005, retained earnin$d,714 and $8,510 of one of BH’s subsidiaregguires
regulatory approval prior to distribution.
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18. COMMITMENTS

a) Lease Commitment— The Company leases office space under operkstasgs expiring in various years
through 2015. The leases are renewable at theroptithe lessee under certain circumstances. Teiog is a
schedule of future minimum rental payments on nmmeelable leases as of December 31, 2006:

2007 $1,09¢
2008 922
2009 564
2010 30t
2011 267
2012 through 201 801

$3,95¢

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2006,and 2004 was $1,631, $1,696 and $1,402,
respectively.

b) Loan Commitments — During 2006, Enstar entered into three sepdoate facilities. As at December 31,
20086, the total outstanding loans payable was #@22005: $Nil), which are repayable within threddur years.
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19. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The determination of reportable segments is basdtbw senior management monitors the Company’s
operations. The Company measures the results opérations under two major business categoriesuttng and
reinsurance. Consulting fees for the reinsurangesat are intercompany fees paid to the consustrgnent.
Salary and benefits for the reinsurance segmeaiteréd the discretionary bonus expense on thennetrie before

taxes of the reinsurance segment.

Consulting Reinsurance Total
2006
Consulting fee! $54,54¢ $ (20,63¢) $ 33,90¢
Net investment incom 1,22t 46,87+ 48,09¢
Net realized losse — (98) (98
55,77 26,13¢ 81,90¢
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdities — (31,929 (31,929
Salaries and benefi 28,25¢ 11,86¢ 40,12:
General and administrative expen 12,75 6,127 18,87¢
Interest expens — 1,98¢ 1,98¢
Net foreign exchange loss (ga 14€ (10,979 (10,83:)
41,15 (22,929 18,22¢
Earnings before income taxes, minority interest stmake of net earnings of
partly-owned companie 14,61¢ 49,06: 63,68(
Income taxe: 49C (172 31¢
Minority interest — (13,209 (13,209
Share of net earnings of partly owned compa — 51¢ 51§
Net earnings before extraordinary g 15,10¢ 36,19¢ 50,30¢
Extraordinary gait — 31,03¢ 31,03¢
Net earningy $ 15,10¢ $ 67,237 $82,34¢

Revenue from one client of the Company’s consulsegment was $9,300.
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Consulting Reinsurance Total
2005
Consulting fee: $ 38,04¢ $ (16,04() $ 22,00¢
Net investment incom 57€ 27,66( 28,23t
Net realized losse — 1,26¢ 1,26¢
38,62: 12,88¢ 51,51(
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdities — (96,007 (96,007
Salaries and benefi 26,86¢ 13,957 40,82:
General and administrative expen 9,24¢ 1,71¢€ 10,96:
Net foreign exchange ga 10 4,592 4,60z
36,12( (75,742 (39,627
Earnings before income taxes, minority interest stmate of net earnings c
partly-owned companie 2,50z 88,63( 91,13:
Income taxe: (883 (31 (919
Minority interest — (9,700 (9,700
Share of net earnings of partly owned compa — 192 192
Net earnings $ 161¢ $ 79,090 $80,71(
2004
Consulting fee: 32,99 (9,289 23,70:
Net investment incom 46( 10,64 11,10:
Net realized losse — (600) (600)
33,45: 752 34,20t
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdilies — (13,706) (13,706
Salaries and benefi 20,31: 5,97¢ 26,29(
General and administrative expen 6,874 3,80z 10,671
Net foreign exchange ga (89) (3,647 (3,73)
27,097 (7,567) 19,53(
Earnings before income taxes, minority interest stmake of net earnings of
partly-owned companie 6,35¢ 8,32( 14,67*
Income taxe: (1,939 15 (1,929
Minority interest — (3,099 (3,099
Share of net earnings of partly owned compa — 6,881 6,881
Net earnings before extraordinary g $ 441¢ $ 12,11¢ $16,53¢
Extraordinary gair — 21,75¢ 21,75¢
Net earning: $ 441¢ $ 33,87¢ $ 38,29/
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

20. CONDENSED UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

2006 Quarters Ended

31-Dec 30-Sep 30-Jun 31-Mar
(In $700C's)

Consulting fee! $ 1295¢ $ 9,35C $ 5251 $ 6,34¢
Net investment income and net realized g 14,56: 12,71: 11,06¢ 9,66(
27,52: 22,06: 16,31; 16,00¢

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expdaabdities (21,227 (3,920 (4,329 (2,457
Salaries and benefi 17,68t 7,99¢ 6,491 7,94¢
General and administrative expen 6,591 4,15¢ 4,99¢ 3,13¢
Interest expens 1,09¢ 362 532 —
Net foreign exchange ga (1,919 (947 (7,499 (470
2,22¢ 7,64 19¢ 8,16(

Income taxe: 557 (1,039 581 214
Minority interest (5,409 (2,619 (4,979 (212
Share of net earnings of partly owned compa 23 232 151 112
Extraordinary gair 26,69 — — 4,34
NET EARNINGS $ 47,167 $10,99¢ $11,877 $12,31(
Net earnings per share before extraordinary — Basic $1,092.8¢ $587.0: $644.0¢ $433.0¢
Extraordinary iten— Basic 1,424.8! — 236.4:
Net earnings per sha— Basic $2,5617.7¢ $587.0: $644.0¢ $669.5(
Net earnings per share before extraordinary — Diluted $1,081.00 $580.6¢ $633.17 $424.9(
Extraordinary iten— Diluted 1,409.3! — — 231.9¢
Net earnings per sha— Diluted $2,490.3¢ $580.6¢ $633.17 $656.8¢
Weighted average shares outstan— Basic 18,73: 18,73: 18,44 18,38
Weighted average shares outstan— Diluted 18,93¢ 18,93¢ 18,75¢ 18,741
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

2005 Quarters Ended

31-Dec 30-Sep 30-Jun 31-Mar
(In$°'00Cs)

Consulting fee $ 8,481 $5180 $ 3,857 $ 4,48¢
Net investment income and net realized g 8,35¢ 7,86¢€ 8,25¢ 5,02¢
16,38¢ 13,04¢ 12,11° 9,51¢
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expaabdities (89,54 (1,049 (3,879 (1,550
Salaries and benefi 22,29: 6,13 7,522 4,87¢
General and administrative expen 1,58: 3,23¢ 3,457 2,68:
Net foreign exchange ga 2,18¢ 223 1,13¢ 1,057
(63,48:) 8,552 8,24¢ 7,064
Income taxe: 69¢ (28%) (151) (1,17¢)
Minority interest (8,269 (439 (612) (380)
Share of net earnings of pa-owned companie 49 63 32 48
NET EARNINGS $ 72,79¢ $ 383 $3137 $ 944
Net income per sha— Basic $3,966.6! $209.27 $171.6: $ 51.7¢
Net income per sha— Diluted $3,882.2! $204.4: $167.3: $ 50.3¢
Weighted average shares outstan— Basic 18,35 18,31¢ 18,27¢ 18,24:
Weighted average shares outstan— Diluted 18,75 18,75 18,74¢ 18,74«
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Enstar Group Limited (formerly known as Castlewétmdings Limited)

We have audited the consolidated financial statésnefiEnstar Group Limited and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, anthfoyears ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2604,
have issued our report thereon dated March 16,,20&h consolidated financial statements and regerincluded
elsewhere in this annual report. Our audits alstuigted the financial statement schedules of the g2om listed in
the accompanying index at Item 15. These finarst@kment schedules are the responsibility of trag&ny’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopibased on our audits. In our opinion, suchrfaia statemer
schedules, when considered in relation to the lmmisolidated financial statements taken as a whodsent fairly,
in all material respects the information set fattarein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE

Hamilton, Bermuda
March 16, 2007
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SCHEDULE |

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS — OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES

As of December 31, 2006

Amount at Which
Market Shown in the
Type of Investmen Cost Value Balance Sheet

(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
Fixed Maturities:

Bonds:
United States government and government agenceéeawthorities $190,18: $187,49: $ 190,09:
Non-U.S. governmerbonds 38,52« 38,30+ 38,30¢
All other corporate bonc 197,62 195,60¢ 197,57t
Total fixed maturitie: 426,33: 421,40: 425,97
Shor-term investment 279,13 279,13° 279,13
Other investment 42,42 42,421 42,42
Total investment $747,88¢ $742,96. $ 747,52
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SCHEDULE I

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006 2005
(in thousands of U.S
dollars, except share data

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel $ 4,59 $ 3,19i
Balances due from subsidiari 63,88 56,60¢
Investments in subsidiari 313,34: 201,96:
Goodwill 21,22: 21,22:
Accounts receivable and other as: 2,97: 6
TOTAL ASSETS $406,01+ $282,99!
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit $ 16,16( 2,01¢
Balances due to subsidiari 42 ,50: 3,17z
TOTAL LIABILITIES 58,66: 5,191
MINORITY INTEREST 33,30¢ 17,90¢

SHAREHOLDERY? EQUITY
Ordinary shares, par value $1 per share, issuedatsthnding (2006: 18,885) (2005:

22,660,313 19 22,66
Additional paic-in capital 111,37( 89,09(
Deferred compensatic — (112
Retained earning 202,65! 148,25’

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY 314,04« 259,89t
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $406,01- $282,99!

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Finartei&nsents.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 200

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
INCOME
Net investment incom $ 31C $ 11z $ 178
Dividend income from subsidiari 70,254 2,051 10,50(
70,56¢ 2,16¢ 10,67
EXPENSES
Salaries and benefi 20,89: 5,851 3,60%
General and administrative expen 772 59C 345
Interest expens 1,20¢ — —
Foreign exchange (gains) los: (220) 293 (27€)

22,64¢ 6,734 3,674

EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE EQUITY IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNGS OF

CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 47,91F (4,570  6,99¢
EQUITY IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS OF CONSOLIDATED

SUBSIDIARIES 49,83: 94,980  34,39:
MINORITY INTEREST (15,400 (9,700 (3,097
NET EARNINGS $82,34¢ $80,71( $38,29¢

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Finartei&nsents.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 200

2006

2005

2004

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating\itixtis $ 46,55. $(2,98¢) $ 2,18t
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Dividends received from subsidiari 70,254 2,051 10,50(
Net cash flows provided by investing activit 70,25¢ 2,051 10,50(
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Dividends paic (27,949 — (7,750
Contribution of capita (64,819 — —
Redemption of ordinary shar (22,647 (282) (4,61¢)
Net cash flows used in financing activit (115,409 (282) (12,369
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 1,39¢ (1,217 317
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAF 3,197 4,414 4,097
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAF $ 459 $3,197 $ 4,41

See accompanying Notes to the Condensed Finaneai&n$ents.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Enstar Group Limited (“Enstar ) (formerly Castlead Holdings Limited) was incorporated under thedaf
Bermuda on August 16, 2001 and with its subsidsaf@llectively the “Company’acquires and manages insura
and reinsurance companies in roffi-and provides management, consultancy and a#wices to the insurance ¢
reinsurance industry.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation— The condensed financial statements have be@amme in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. The preparation of financial stateméntsonformity
with generally accepted accounting principles reggimanagement to make estimates and assumptadresfect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities asdakure of contingent assets and liabilitieshatdate of the
financial statements and the reported amountsveimges and expenses during the reporting periodiahoesults
could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying condensed financial statements @en prepared using the equity method to acdount
the investments in subsidiaries. Under the equityhiod, the investments in consolidated subsidianestated at
cost plus the equity in undistributed earningsafaolidated subsidiaries since the date of aciprisiThese
condensed financial statements should be readnijjuiection with the Company’s consolidated finanaitdtements.
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Reinsuranci
Consulting

Total

Reinsuranct
Consulting

Total

Reinsuranci
Consulting
Total

SCHEDULE 11l
ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
Year Ended December 31, 200
Reserves
Deferred for Loss Net Net Losses Amortization Other Net
Acquisition and Loss Unearned Premiums Investmeni and Loss of Deferred Operating Premiums
Costs Expenses  Premiums Earned Income Expenses Acquisition Costs Expenses Written
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
$ — $1,21441'$ —$ — $46,77¢ $(31,92) $ — $19,98: ¢ —
— — — —  1,22¢ — — 41,00¢ —
$ —$121441'$ —$ — $48,00: $(31,92) $ — $60,98¢ $ —
Year Ended December 31, 200
Reserves
Deferred for Loss Net Net Losses Amortization Other Net
Acquisition  and Loss Unearned Premiums Investment and Loss of Deferred Operating Premiums
Costs Expenses Premiums _Earned Income Expenses Acquisition Costs Expenses _Written
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
$ — $806,55¢$ — $ — $27,66( $(96,00) $ — $15,67° 8 —
— — — — 57€ — — 36,11 —
$ — $806,55¢$ — $ — $28,23¢ $(96,00) $ — $51,78° ¢ —
Year Ended December 31, 200
Reserves
Deferred for Loss Net Net Losses Amortization Other Net
Acquisition and Loss Unearned Premiums Investmeni and Loss of Deferred Operating Premiums
Costs Expenses  Premiums Earned Income Expenses Acquisition Costs Expenses Written
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
$ — $1,04731'$ — $ — $10,64: $(13,700 $ — $9781% —
— — — — 46C — — 27,18¢ —
$ —$1,04731$ —$ — $11,10: $(13,700$ — $36,96° % —
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SCHEDULE VI

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION CONCERNING PROPERTY/
CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS
For Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Net Losse
and Loss Net Losses
Reserves Expenses and Loss Net Paid Amortization
Deferred for Loss Net Net Incurred  Expenses Losses of Deferred Other Net
Acquisition  and Loss Unearned Premiums Investment in Current Incurred in and Loss Acquisition Operating Premiums
Costs Expenses Discount® Premiums Earned Income Year Prior Year Expense: Costs Expenses Written
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
2006 $ — $1,214,41' $ 309,63( $ —$ — $ 48,00. $ — $(31,92)) $75,29: $ — $60,98¢ $ —
2005 $ — $ 80655¢$27213'$ —$ — $2823%$ — $(96,00)$69,007 $ — $51,78:$ —
2004 $ — $1,047,31: $ 338,42 $ — % — $ 11,102 $ — $(13,70¢) $19,01¢ $ — $36,96" $ —

Note 1: The discount rate is an assumed interesequivalent to a ri-free rate for securities with similar duration be treserves for loss a
loss expenses acquired.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Enstar’s management has performed an evaluatidh,the participation of its Chief Executive Officand
Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness & disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securitieh&xge Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of Debem31,
2006. Based upon that evaluation, Enstar’s Chiefchtive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conchdithat its
disclosure controls and procedures are effectiangture that information required to be disclosgéstar in
reports that it files or submits under the Exchafgeis recorded, processed, summarized and repuithin the
time periods specified in the rules and forms ef 8EC and is accumulated and communicated to mareage
including its principal executive and principaldimcial officers, as appropriate to allow timely ideans regarding
required disclosure.

Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinancRéporting

The management of Enstar USA, Inc. (formerly thet&nGroup Inc. and the predecessor of EnstaBGir
was responsible for establishing and maintainirepadte internal control over EGI's financial repuagt(as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchang#) AEGI’s management has performed an assessmigmthe
participation of its Chief Executive Officer and iChief Financial Officer, of EGI’s internal contimver financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making thieasment, EGI's management used the criteriagbtdfy the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission in Internal Control-Integrated Fraragy
Based upon that assessment, EGI’'s and Enstar'sgearsnt believe that, as of December 31, 2006, E@ksnal
control over financial reporting is effective taopide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabiiiinancial
reporting and the preparation of EGI’s financialtsinents for external purposes in accordance \eitieiglly
accepted accounting principles.

EGI's independent registered public accounting firas issued an audit report on our assessmentli EG
internal control over financial reporting. This cgpappears on page S-1.

Because Enstar became subject to the Exchangelaiing its merger with EGI on January 31, 2007,
Enstar's management is not required to performsaessment of Enstar’s Internal Control Over FirgriReporting
until the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007aAssult, Management’s Annual Report on Internait@b Over
Financial Reporting and the report of the Indepah&egistered Accounting Firm regarding Internahtol Over
Financial Reporting relate only to the Internal €ols Over Financial Reporting for EGI.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. As a result,netimse
internal control systems determined to be effeatae provide only reasonable assurance with respéictancial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsien

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin

Enstar’s management has performed an evaluatidh the participation of Enstar’s Chief ExecutivefiCdr
and Enstar’s Chief Financial Officer, of change&istar’s internal control over financial reportitihgit occurred
during the quarter ended December 31, 2006. Base thatevaluation there were no changes in its internatrot
over financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2006 that have mateatitigted, or
reasonably likely to materially affect, Enstar'semal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANI

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from a definitive proxy statemaat will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionlater than 120 days after the close of the Figear ended
December 31, 2006 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from a definitive proxy stateméat will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionlater than 120 days after the close of the Figear ended
December 31, 2006 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from a definitive proxy statemaat will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionlater than 120 days after the close of the Figear ended
December 31, 2006 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference from a definitive proxy stateméat will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionlater than 120 days after the close of the Figear ended
December 31, 2006 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference from a definitive proxy stateméat will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionlater than 120 days after the close of the Figear ended
December 31, 2006 pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ONFORM 8-K

(a) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedulesd Exhibits.

1. Financial Statement

Included in Part Il — See Item 8 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedu

The following financial statements of Enstar USAG.I(formerly The Enstar Group, Inc.) are filedsahedules to this Annual Report.

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing S-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing S-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 200800¢ S-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years@dimcember 31, 2006, 2005 and 2 S-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomiéoyears ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and S5
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006, 20052004 S-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeailed December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2 S-7
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem S-8

3. Exhibits

The Exhibits listed below are filed as part ofjrarorporated by reference into, this report.

Exhibit
No.

21

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May @862as amended on November 21, 2006, by and a@asiiewood
Holdings Limited, CWMS Subsidiary Corp. and The &@&n$roup, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Eittitil to the proxy
statement/prospectus that forms a part of the Ragjian Statement on Form S-4 of the Company,led fiith the Securities and
Exchange Commission and declared effective Decefithe2006)

Recapitalization Agreement, dated as of May 2362@@hong Castlewood Holdings Limited, The Enstasupr Inc. and the
other parties signatory thereto (incorporated ligresce to Exhibit 2.2 to the proxy statement/peesps that forms a part of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasyiled with the Securities and Exchange Commisaitd declared
effective December 15, 200¢

Agreement relating to the Sale and Purchase dEtitiee Issued Share Capital of Inter-Ocean Holdingls dated December 29,
2006, as amended on January 29, 2007 (incorpobgtegference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Repdthe Company on

Form ¢-K of the Company, as filed with the Securities andHaxnge Commission March 1, 200

Memorandum of Association of Castlewood Holdingsitéd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1He proxy
statement/prospectus that forms a part of the Ragien Statement on Form S-4 of the Company,led fvith the Securities and
Exchange Commission and declared effective Decefifhe2006)

Second Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of EnstarpQrimited (formerly Castlewood Holdings Limitedp@orporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8R]1as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion on January 31,
2007).
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Exhibit
No.

101

10.2+

1C.3+

10.4+

1C.5+

10.6+

1C.7+

1C.8+

10.9+

1C.10+

10.11+

1C.12+

Description

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of JanB&y2007, by and among Castlewood Holdings Limitedient II, L.P.,
Marsh & McLennan Capital Professionals Fund, LMParsh & McLennan Employees’ Securities Company, LJPChristopher
Flowers, Dominic F. Silvester and other partiesdteset forth on the Schedule of Shareholderslaththereto (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form B2R, as filed with the Securities and Exchange C@sion on January 31,
2007).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrgwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and Dominic F. Silvester (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Compaimgsn 8-K12B, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onalgrd, 2007)

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y7, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrigwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and Paul J. O’Shea (incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s F&#412B, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Jandarg0®7).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280,, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrgwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and Nicholas A. Packer (incorptedhby reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Companydsni8-K12B, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onalgrd, 2007)

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y7, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrigwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and J. Christopher Flowers (inmmated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Compahprm 8-K12B as filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onalgrd, 2007)

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrgwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and John J. Oros (incorporatedddgrence to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Forid12B, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January(RII,)z

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y7, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrigwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and Nimrod T. Frazer (incorporhtsy reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’srk@&-K12B,as filed witt
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Jandarg0®7).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January2B80y7, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrigwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and Gregory L. Curl (incorporatey reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s F&iK12B, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Jandarg0®7).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrgwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and Paul J. Collins (incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s F&iK12B, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Jandarg0®7).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y7, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrigwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and T. Wayne Davis (incorporatsdreference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s F&#12B, as filed witt
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Jandarg0®7).

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January280y, by and between Enstar Group Limited (formkrgwn as Castlewood
Holdings Limited) and T. Whit Armstrong (incorpoedtby reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Companygmk8-K12B, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onalgrd, 2007)

Employment Agreement, dated January 31, 2007, byaamong Castlewood Holdings Limited, Castlewood)(W8., and John
J. Oros (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@fithe Company’s Form 8-K12B, as filed with thee@dties and Exchange
Commission on January 31, 200
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Exhibit
No.

1C.13

1C0.14

1C.15+

1C.16+

1C.174

1C.18

1C.19+

10.20+

1C.21

21.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1%
32.2*

9¢.1*

Description

Tax Indemnification Agreement, dated as of MayZ86, among Castlewood Holdings Limited, The EnGarup, Inc. and J.
Christopher Flowers (incorporated by referencexbiliit 10.3 to the proxy statement/prospectus thiahs a part of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasyiled with the Securities and Exchange Commisaitd declared
effective December 15, 200t

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, betwgastlewood Holdings Limited, T. Whit Armstrong ahdWayne Davis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to thexy statement/prospectus that forms a part oRtbgistration Statement on
Form ¢-4 of the Company, as filed with the Securities andHizxge Commission and declared effective Decenthe2dD6).
Employment Agreement, dated May 23, 2006, betwesstl&vood Holdings Limited and Paul O’Shea (incoapad by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the proxy statemeng8pectus that forms a part of the RegistrationeBtaht on Form S-4 of the
Company, as filed with the Securities and Excha@geamission and declared effective December 15, P!

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datgd?8a2006, between Castlewood Holdings Limited Bodinic F.
Silvester (incorporated by reference to Exhibit71d. the proxy statement/prospectus that formstagbdhe Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of the Company, as filed thiéhSecurities and Exchange Commission and delcédfective
December 15, 2006

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datgd28a2006, between Castlewood Holdings Limited Hicholas
Packer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the proxy statement/prospectus that forms agahie Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of the Company, as filed thighSecurities and Exchange Commission and delctdfective
December 15, 2006

License Agreement, dated October 27, 2005, betwW@astiewood (US) Inc. and J.C. Flowers & Co. LLGGrporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the proxy statemen#pectus that forms a part of the RegistratioteBtant on Form S-4 of the
Company, as filed with the Securities and Excha@gemission and declared effective December 15, P!

Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006 Equity IncentiarP(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11h® proxy
statement/prospectus that forms a part of the Ragjin Statement on Form S-4 of the Company,led fiith the Securities and
Exchange Commission and declared effective Decefifhe2006)

Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006-2010 Annual IndemiCompensation Plan (incorporated by referendextubit 10.12 to the
proxy statement/prospectus that forms a part oRibgistration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasy¥iled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and declaredtafé December 15, 200¢

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, amdmgHnstar Group, Inc. and its Directors (incorpaddiy reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the proxy statement/prospectus fibiahs a part of the Registration Statement on F8#thof the Company, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiod @eclared effective December 15, 20(

List of Subsidiaries

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14f)the Securities and Exchange Act of 1!
as adopted under Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securitied Exchange Act of 1934
as adopted under Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Description of Share Capite

* filed herewith
** furnished herewitl
+ denotes management contract or compensatory armesmg
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its bdhathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized onca6, 2007.

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

By: /s/ DowmiNIC F. SILVESTER

Dominic F. Silvester
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg@ Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpithe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities indicated on March 16, 2007.

Signature Title

/s/ DomiNic F. SLVESTER Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dominic F. Silveste

/s/ RcHARD J. HARRIS Chief Financial Officer (signing in his capacity lasth principal
Richard J. Harri: financial officer and principal accounting officer)

/s/ BRwL J. O'SHEA Executive Vice President and Director

Paul J. ¢ Shes

/sl DHN J. QrROS Executive Chairman and Director

John J. Oro

/s NcHoLAs A. PACKER Executive Vice President and Director

Nicholas A. Packe

/s/ NMRoD T. FRAZER Director
Nimrod T. Fraze

/sl J. GIRISTOPHERFLOWERS Director
J. Christopher Flowel

/sl T.\WHIT ARMSTRONG Director
T. Whit Armstrong

/sl T.WAYNE DAvis Director
T. Wayne Davis

/sl RwuL J. GLLINS Director
Paul J. Collins

/s] &REGORYL. CurL Director

Gregory L. Curl
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholder of ENd®A, Inc. (formerly The Enstar Group, Inc.):

We have audited management’s assessment, inclonded accompanying Management Report on Internatr@loover Financial
Reporting, that Enstar USA, Inc. and Subsidiarike {Company”) maintained effective internal cohtsger financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria establishbdeémal Control — Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camijsamanagement is responsible for maintainingotiffe internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifrecéiveness of internal control over financial oefing. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinitimeceffectiveness of the Company’s internal adraver financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahgaéug the design and operating effectivenessitefrnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthenstances. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected by tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide realasturance regarding the reliability of financ&dorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princigdesompany’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies andcgdures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscihat, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and disposgiofithe assets of the company; (2) provide redsersssurance that transactions are recordec
as necessary to permit preparation of financiakstants in accordance with generally accepted atcmuprinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tteméial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the posgsti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventatktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that thep@oy maintained effective internal control ovaaficial reporting as of
December 31, 20086, is fairly stated, in all mategapects, based on the criteria establishédt@rnal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission. Also in our opinidre Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control diesincial reporting as of December 31, 2006, basethe criteria established internal
Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheet of the Company as cdieer 31, 2006 and the related consolidated statsmé&income, comprehensive
income, shareholdersquity, and cash flows for the year then ended,camdeport dated March 16, 2007 expressed an Uifigdapinion on
those financial statements.

DELOITTE & TOUCHELLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 16, 200°
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholder of ENJ®A, Inc. (formerly The Enstar Group, Inc.):

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Enstar USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries“@oenpany”)as of December 3
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statsmé&income, comprehensive income, sharehol@epsity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, Zltse financial statements are the responsibifithieo Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on therfitial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, based on our audits such consaiifihancial statements present fairly, in all mateespects, the financial position of
Enstar USA, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of Decembgp@d6 and 2005, and the results of their operatéord their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20@®nformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of
America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdirancial reporting as of December 31, 2006, dasethe criteria establishedlimernal
Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission, and our report dated
March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified opiniomanagement’s assessment of the effectiveness &fdimpany’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion te effectiveness of the Company'’s internal cordx@r financial reporting.

DELOITTE & TOUCHELLP
Birmingham, Alabama

March 16, 2007
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(FORMERLY THE ENSTAR GROUP, INC.)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 66,82« $ 54,03:
Certificates of depos 20,59¢ 19,68¢
Other current asse 21 12¢
Total current asse 87,44 73,84
Partially owned equity affiliate 115,69: 107,32¢
Other investment 8,59z 3,54z
Other asset 51€ 502
Total asset $212,24; $ 185,22(
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit $ 61€ $ 59t
Income taxes payab 132 5,467
Total current liabilities T4¢E 6,062
Deferred income tax liabilitie 16,67¢ 10,40:
Accrued taxe! 2,42¢ 2,32¢
Deferred compensatic 1,03: 853
Other liabilities 60C 45€
Total liabilities 21,48¢ 20,09"
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Shareholder equity:
Common stock ($.01 par value; 55,000,000 sharéoegmed, 6,185,260 and 5,960,260 shares issued at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectiv 62 60
Additional paic¢-in capital 198,29¢ 190,00¢
Deferred compensation of partially owned equityliate (40
Accumulated other comprehensive income from pdyt@ined equity affiliates, ne 913 21C
Accumulated defici (2,436 (29,305
Treasury stock, at cost (445,876 and 442,351 slefescember 31, 2006 and 2005, respecti\ (6,080) (5,810
Total shareholde’ equity 190,75¢ 165,12:
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $212,24. $ 185,22(

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005

2004

(Dollars in thousands, except per share dat¢

Interest incom: $ 4,25t $ 2,33 $ 98¢
Other investment incorr 517 1,824 —
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat 17,391 26,51 8,34¢
Gain on sale of partially owned equity affilial — 6,911
Other income (includes related party income of $#72006 and $400 for 2005 and 20\ 53€ 40z 49¢
General and administrative expen (5,376 (3,110 (2,98))
Income before income taxes, minority interest axtea@rdinary gair 17,32¢ 27,96: 13,75¢
Income taxe: (6,609 (8,919 (4,809
Income before minority interest and extraordinaain 10,72( 19,04 8,95(
Minority interest — (2,979
Income before extraordinary ge 10,72( 19,04 5,97
Extraordinary gain, net of income taxes of $3,84d 2,741 6,14¢ 4,41
Net income $ 16,86¢ $ 19,04¢ $ 10,39:
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 5,651,04 5,517,90! 5,496,81!
Weighted average shares outstan— assuming dilutiot 5,955,38 5,856,14 5,800,99:
Income per common share before extraordinary — basic $ 1.9C $ 3.4t $ 1.0¢
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta>— basic 1.0¢ — .80
Net income per common she— basic $ 2.9¢ $ 3.4 $ 1.8¢
Income per common share before extraordinary — assuming dilutior $ 1.8C $ 3.2¢ $ 1.0z
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta>— assuming dilutior 1.0z — 76
Net income per common shé— assuming dilutior $ 2.8¢ $ 3.2¢E $ 1.7¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
Net income $16,86¢ $19,04¢ $10,39:
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net obime tax (benefit) expense of $(12), $761 ar
$0 (19 1,22¢ —
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains)udet in net income, net of income tax benefit
(expense) of $12, $(761) and $(1! 19 (1,22¢) (321
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge, net of incamebenefit of $4: — — (66)
Currency translation adjustment, net of incomeetgpense (benefit) of $437, $(112) and ! 703 (1817) 10¢
Other comprehensive income (lo: 703 (1817) (27§)
Comprehensive incon $17,57: $18,86¢ $10,11¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at January 1, 20
Net income
Amortization of deferred compensati
Reclassification adjustment for gains includedéhincome
Unrealized loss on hedge ass
Currency translation adjustme
Exercise of stock optior
Issuance of shares from deferred compensation

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options andasme of share

from deferred compensation pl
Issuance of office’ stock option:
Balance at December 31, 20
Net income
Amortization of deferred compensati
Unrealized holding gains on investme
Reclassification adjustment for gains includedehincome
Currency translation adjustme
Balance at December 31, 20
Net income
Amortization of deferred compensati
Unrealized holding gains on investme
Reclassification adjustment for losses includedahincome
Exercise of stock optior
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Currency translation adjustme

Balance at December 31, 20

Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Deferred Income

Compensatior (Loss) of

Additional of Partially Partially

Common Paid-In Owned Equity Owned Equity Accumulated Treasury
Stock Capital Affiliates Affiliates Deficit Stock Total
(Dollars in thousands)

$ 59 $188,59: $ 2849 % 66¢ $ (48,747 $(5,81() $134,48:
,39: 10,39:
15¢ 15¢
(321) (32))
(66) (66)
10¢ 10¢
1 554 55¢E
224 224
60€ 60€
33 33
60 190,00¢ (225) 391 (38,35( (5,810 146,17
19,04¢ 19,04
85 85
1,22¢ 1,22¢
(1,22¢) (2,22¢)
(187) (187)
60 190,00¢ (40) 21C (29,30Y) (5,810 165,12:
16,86¢ 16,86¢
40 40
(19 19
19 19
2 2,38¢ (270) 2,11¢
5,69¢ 5,694
213 213
70¢ 703
$ 62 $198,29¢ $ 0 $ 912 $ (2,539 $ (6,080 $190,75¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net income $ 16,86¢ $ 19,04¢ $ 10,39:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigea by operating activitie:
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat (17,397 (26,519 (8,34%)
Dividends and distributions received from partiaiyned equity affiliate 20,18( 11 10,21¢
Minority interest in earnings of JCF CF — — 2,97:
Gain on sale of marketable securit — (1,76¢) —
Gain on sale of partially owned equity affilia — — (6,91))
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta» (6,149 — (4,415
Noncash compensation expel 213 — 33
Deferred income taxe 2,122 2,482 5,39
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options andasme of shares from deferred compensation (5,699 — 60¢€
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts payable and accrued expel 21 (120 32¢
Income taxes payab 35¢ 4,82¢ (1,929
Other, ne: 51E 23 27C
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activ 11,03¢ (2,012 8,61
Cash flows from investing activitie
Investment in J.C. Flowers Il L (5,106 — —
Purchase of marketable securit — (9,460 —
Proceeds from sale of marketable secur — 11,22¢ —
Proceeds from sale of partially owned equity affés — — 32,83
Capital contribution to Affirmative Investment LL — (8,40¢) —
Investment in NIB Partnel — (3,542 —
Return of capital from NIB Partne 56 — —
Purchase of certificates of depc (137,90)) (22,09)) (8,120
Maturities of certificates of depos 136,89: 6,64¢ 8,14¢
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (6,057 (25,63)) 32,85¢
Cash flows from financing activitie
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic 5,69¢ — —
Distributions to minority interes — — (16,120
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 2,11¢€ — 55E
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 7,81(C 0 (15,565
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivi 12,79: (27,649 25,90¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofehe 54,03: 81,67¢ 55,761
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the $ 66,82« $ 54,03: $ 81,67¢
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatimeome taxes pai $ 3,62% $ 1,60¢ $ 731

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Nature of Business

At December 31, 2006, Enstar USA, Inc. (formerlpkm as The Enstar Group, Inc.) and Subsidiarigs, {€ompany” or “EGI"), was a
publicly-traded company engaged in the operatioseotral equity affiliates in the financial sengéedustry. On January 31, 2007, Enstar
Group Limited (formerly known as Castlewood Holdirigmited) (“Enstar”) completed the merger (the ‘iger”) of CWMS Subsidiary
Corp. (“CWMS"), a Georgia corporation and wholly-4o@d subsidiary of Enstar, with and into EGI. Asuit of the Merger, EGI is now a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Enstar. Prior to the ier, EGI owned an approximately 32% economic ar®d 86ting interest in Enstar.
(Note 13).

Prior to the completion of the Merger, the Compahyough the operations of its partially owned égaifiliates, Enstar and B.H.
Acquisition Limited (“B.H. Acquisition”), and theisubsidiaries, acquired and managed insuranceeémglirance companies in run-off. The
management of these businesses includes claimsiessthaiion, adjustment and settlement together thighcollection of reinsurance
recoveries. Enstar, a Bermuda-based company, eds@ps management, consulting and other servicdsetinsurance and reinsurance
industry for both fixed and success-based fee gaments. In general, reinsurance is an arrangeimevritich the reinsurer agrees to
indemnify an insurance or reinsurance company agalhor a portion of the risks underwritten bylsunsurance or reinsurance company
under one or more insurance or reinsurance costract

The Company consolidates JCF CFN LLC and relatéitiesn(collectively, the “JCF CFN Entities”). THRECF CFN Entities were formed
to serve as members of Green Tree Investment HEdibC (formerly known as CFN Investment Holdindsd) and related entities
(collectively, “Green Tree”), which, in turn, wefermed to effect the acquisition of a portfolioradme equity and manufactured housing loan
securities and the associated servicing businéssasConseco Finance Corp. (“Conseco Finance"July 2004, the JCF CFN Entities
completed the sale of their entire interest in @réeee and since that time have been inactive.

Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation— The consolidated financial statements includeatcounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Enstar Financial Services, Inc. amgtd Group Operations, Inc., both of which areenity inactive. In addition, the Company
consolidates the JCF CFN Entities as a variabrést entity, recording a minority interest infiteincial statements for Enstard0% interes
The JCF CFN Entities have been inactive sincedled their entire interests in Green Tree in RA094. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminatezhsotidation.

(b) Use of Estimates— The preparation of financial statements in comity with accounting principles generally accepiethe United
States of America requires management to make &®&mand assumptions that affect the reported aimofiassets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the redaimounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could diffesrh those estimates. The estimates susceptiblgridisant change are those related to the
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ansldosl loss adjustment expenses included in earnirgrtially owned equity affiliates.

(c) Cash Equivalents— Cash equivalents consist of short term, higlgyitl investments with original purchased matusitié three
months or less.

(d) Partially Owned Equity Affiliates— Partially owned equity affiliates are accountedunder the equity method of accounting. Eq
method investments are recorded at cost and awmetadjperiodically to recognize the Company’s propoate share of the affiliate’s income
or loss, additional contributions made and divideadd capital distributions received. In the examnt of the partially owned equity affiliates
were to incur a loss and the Company’s cumulatrepg@rtionate share of the loss exceeded the carafimount of the equity method
investment, application of the equity method wdwmtdsuspended and the Company’s proportionate shéuegther losses would not be
recognized until the Company committed to provigietfer financial support to the affiliate.
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The Company would resume application of the equiéghod once the affiliate becomes profitable aedGbmpany’s proportionate share of
the affiliate’s earnings equals the Company’s cuativg proportionate share of losses that wereewmignized during the period the
application of the equity method was suspended.

(e) Property and Equipment— Property and equipment, which consists of lealseimprovements and furniture and fixtures, idedaat
cost less accumulated depreciation and is depeekieding the straight line method over the estithageful lives of the related assets,
principally 3 to 7 years. Property and equipmerimétuded in other assets in the Company’s conatdidl balance sheets. Property and
equipment was immaterial as of December 31, 20062805.

(f) Financial Instruments— The Company holds certificates of deposit (“CDdfered by commercial banks. These CDs had a wei
average maturity of approximately two months atédeber 31, 2006. The estimated fair value of CO3estember 31, 2006 and 2005, based
on interest rates available on CDs of comparableusnts, maturities, and credit quality, was appratety equal to their carrying values.

(9) Income Taxes— The Company computes deferred tax assets dnidties based on the differences between the firstatement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities using eddek rates in effect for the years in which thfetbnces are expected to reverse. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reldfieged tax assets to the amounts that are riketg than not to be realized.

(h) Comprehensive Income- The Company reports comprehensive income inrdecee with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 130, “Reporting Compreheadincome” which defines comprehensive income asicechanges in equity from
non-owner sources. The Company recorded other aimepsive income from its partially owned equityliafies. This other comprehensive
income arose from unrealized holding gains ancel$®m debt and equity securities that are clieskis available-for-sale and are carried at
fair value, unrealized gains on investments andeaey translation adjustments resulting from tlamstations of financial information of
subsidiaries into U.S. dollars.

The components of accumulated other comprehensogerie are as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005

Currency translation adjustment, net of incomeetgense of $567 and $1 $912 $21C

(i) Deferred Compensation of Partially Owned Equityiliafes — The Company records its proportionate shareetdrded
compensation reported by Enstar, one of its partiained equity affiliates. The deferred compersatirises from stock based compensation
awards entered into with certain senior employdéé&mnetar.

() Recent Accounting Pronouncementsin July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standa@dsard (“FASB”) issued Interpretation
No. 48 “FIN 48"), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Kas,” which prescribes a comprehensive model far a@ompany should
recognize, measure, present and disclose in @sdial statements uncertain tax positions thanapemy has taken or expects to take on a tax
return. The accounting provisions of FIN 48 areetfifze for fiscal years beginning after December2l®6. The Company is in the proces
determining the effect the adoption of FIN 48 waitlve on its financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1540r Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157"), which defifieis value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expandslasoes about fair value measurements. SFAS 1&ffastive for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007, and the provisions of SEBBwill be applied prospectively as of that ddtee Company is currently evaluating
the provisions of SFAS 157.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff AccouBingetin No. 108 (“SAB 108”), which provides guideon the consideration of the
effects of prior year misstatements in quantifytogrent year misstatements for the purpose of amadity assessment. SAB No. 108 is
effective for fiscal years ending after Novembey 2806. The
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

adoption of SAB No. 108 by the Company in the fouqtiarter of 2006 did not have an impact on itssotidated financial statements.

(k) Revenue Recognition- Revenue includes interest income earned from, Gash equivalents and certificates of depost, th
Company’s proportionate share of earnings fromigdgrtowned equity affiliates, gains on sales ofrkediable securities and other income.
Interest income is recorded when earned. The Coypanoportionate share of earnings from partiallyned equity affiliates is recorded as
such earnings are recognized by the partially ovawpdty affiliate.

(I) Stock-Based Compensatier The Company utilizes various stock-based comga@ns plans for the benefit of non-employee
directors and certain officers. In 1997, the Conypaatopted the Deferred Compensation and StockfBfadon-Employee Directors and a
long-term incentive program made up of three station/incentive plans. Additionally, in 2001, tBempany adopted the 2001 Outside
Directors’ Stock Option Plan.

The options granted under the plans are exercishbiag the period commencing from the date thest vatil their expiration in
accordance with the terms of the grant. Option®ly expire no later than ten years from the gdate. Options under the various plans
original vesting schedules that ranged from orfeto years. Any shares issued from the exercisgtibns would be from newly issued
shares. There are a total of 817,500 shares amtitbuinder the Company’s various stock option plaBg00 of which were available to be
granted at December 31, 2006. Prior to 2006, ngpemsation expense was recognized in net earninggdats under stock option/incentive
plans that had an exercise price equal to the rmadtee of the Company’s underlying common stocktmndate of grant. In connection with
options granted in November 2001, the market vafitbe Company’s common stock on the date of geaneeded the exercise price,
resulting in a charge to earnings for that yeaaddition, compensation expense was recognizedtbeeresting life of these options through
June 2004.

As of January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFASLR® (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFASRL). This Statement
requires companies to recognize an expense infthaicial statements for stock options based eriféir value method.” The fair value
method requires that a fair value be assignedstock option on its grant date and that this vlee@mortized over the grantees’ service
period. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company aweolfor stock options in accordance with SFAS N28, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accagritr Stock-Based Compensation — Transition.” En8gatements permitted
companies to choose between two methods of regptinexpense for stock options in their finanstatements; either the fair value mett
or the “intrinsic value method,” in accordance witbcounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 2B¢counting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB 25”") and related interpretatiobsider the intrinsic value method, compensation egpdor the Company’s option grants
was only recognized if the exercise price of th@kyee stock option was less than the market mficke underlying stock on the date of
grant. If a company elected to use the intrinsioeanethod, pro forma disclosures of earnings andiegs per share were required as if the
fair value method of accounting had been applidd Company previously elected to account for @sksbptions under the intrinsic value
method and therefore computed and disclosed theresbpro forma disclosures.

SFAS 123R provides for two alternative methodsdufaion: the “modified retrospective” method and tmodified prospective”
method. While the modified retrospective methochpts restatement of prior periods for comparahilihe Company has elected to apply the
modified prospective method. The modified prospectnethod calls for unvested options as of JanLaPp06 and options granted after
January 1, 2006 to be expensed in accordance W53 23R after that date. Compensation expenser tineléair value method for prior
periods is not reflected in the financial stateraaritthose periods but was disclosed on a pro fdrasés. The table below
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ENSTAR USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

presents the Company'’s pro forma earnings infoanads if stock options issued prior to January0D62 were expensed in prior periods.

2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands,
except per share data)

Net income, as reporte $19,04¢ $10,39:
Add: Stocl-based employee compensation expense includedadnteenet income, net of income ta: 11¢€ 13¢
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatioaresgpdetermined under fair value based methodlfor a

awards, net of income tax (365) (555
Pro forma net incom $18,79¢ $ 9,97¢

Income per common shai

Basic— as reportel $ 3.4t $ 1.8¢
Basic— pro forma $ 3.41 $ 1.81
Assuming dilutior— as reportet $ 3.2t $ 1.7¢
Assuming dilutior— pro forma $ 3.21 $ 1.7¢

The pro forma stock-based employee compensatitectetl above is based on the application of Emgrigisues Task Force
No. 0(-23, “Issues Related to the Accounting for Stocknpensation Under APB 25 and FASB Interpretation N to the straight-line
vesting of such awards over the full vesting period

The fair values for options granted under the Camgjsastock option plans were calculated at the datgrant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. Based on the following werghtaverage assumptions, the estimated weightedge/éair value at the date of grant for
options vesting during the years ended Decembe2@16, 2005 and 2004 were $9.48, $9.50 and $5%$pectively.

2006 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rat 3.11% 3.0:% 3.0&%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(% 0.00%
Expected volatility 21.7%  21.7%  20.4t%
Expected life, in year 4.1z 4.37 2.12

SFAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax dedaostin excess of recognized compensation cost tegmted as a financing cash flow,
rather than as an operating cash flow as previaesjyired. This requirement reduced net operatirsp flows by approximately $5.7 million
and increased net financing cash flows by approtém&5.7 million in the Company’s Consolidatedt8taent of Cash Flows for the year
ended December 31, 2006.
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The effect of the adoption of SFAS 123R on seletiteditems is as follows for the year ended Decengi, 2006:

Increase

(Decrease)
General and administrative expen $ 213
Income before income taxes and extraordinary (213
Income taxe: (81)
Net income (132
Net income per common shé— basic (.02
Net income per common shée— assuming dilutiot (.02

(m) Other Income— Other income includes investment advisory fdegged to Enstar and BH Acquisition, partially odregjuity
affiliates of the Company, in the amount of $300,6@ the year ended December 31, 2006 and $400¢0@&ch of the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004. In addition, in 20@8&mincome included $172,000 in management feeadaisory services related to J.C.
Flowers Il LP (“J.C. Flowers Fund”).

(n) Currency Translation Adjustmenrt- The Company records foreign currency translasidjustments as its portion of other
comprehensive income from its partially owned egaiffiliates. Through their subsidiaries, Enstad &H. Acquisition conduct business in a
variety of foreign (non-U.S.) currencies, the pijrat exposures being Euros and British pounds.aghébalance sheet date, recorded balance:
that are denominated in a currency other thanuhetional currency are adjusted to reflect theanirexchange rate. Revenue and expense
items are translated into U.S. dollars at averatgsrof exchange for the year. The resulting exgphamains or losses are included in net
income.

Note 3: Marketable Securities

In June 2005, the Company purchased certain shasssnmon stock in a publicly-traded U.S. corpamatfor approximately
$9.5 million. The Company sold these securitie®d@5 for total proceeds of approximately $11.2 ol resulting in a realized gain of
approximately $1.8 million. This gain is includedather investment income in the Company’s conatdid statements of income.

Note 4: Partially Owned Equity Affiliates

(&) B.H. Acquisition— In July 2000, the Company, through B.H. Acqiisit a joint venture with Castlewood Limited (“Clastood”)
and an entity controlled by Trident I, L.P. (“Tedt”), acquired as an operating business two reém&e companies, Brittany Insurance
Company Ltd. (“Brittany”) and Compagnie Europeedi®ssurances Industrielles S.A. (“CEAI"). Brittamynd CEAI are principally engaged
in the active management of books of reinsuransinksas from international markets. Through 2006 Gbmpany owned 50% of the voting
stock and a 33% economic interest in B.H. AcquisitiCastlewood owns 33% of the voting stock an8% 4conomic interest in B.H.
Acquisition. The Company’s ownership in B.H. Acqtia is accounted for using the equity method afaunting.

(b) Enstar Group Limited (formerly Castlewood Holdingmited) — In November 2001, the Company, together with ceradfiliates o
Trident and the shareholders and senior managesh€astlewood (the “Castlewood Principals”), contgdethe formation of a new venture,
Enstar, to acquire and manage insurance and raimseicompanies, including companies in offninsurance and reinsurance companies
have ceased the underwriting of new policies),tanatovide management, consulting and other sestiz¢he insurance and reinsurance
industry (the “Castlewood Transaction”). Througt®@0the Company owned 50% of the voting stock aft&nand each of the Castlewood
Principals and Trident and its affiliates owned 26fknstar’s voting stock. The Company owned a 3zh@conomic interest in Enstar at
December 31, 2006. Enstar is a private Bermuda-
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based firm, experienced in managing and acquigigsurance operations. The Company’s ownershimside is accounted for using the
equity method of accounting.

As a result of this transaction, the Company’s 388éct economic interest in B.H. Acquisition incsed by an additional indirect
economic interest through Enstar. At December 8062the Company'’s beneficial ownership in B.H. Aisifion was 47.41%. The
Company’s combined voting interest in B.H. Acqudsitis limited to 50%.

In conjunction with the closing of the Castlewoa@isaction, a wholly owned subsidiary of Enstar pleted the acquisition of two
reinsurance companies in run-off, River Thamesrbrste Company Limited (“River Thames”), based imdlon, England, and Overseas
Reinsurance Corporation Limited (“Overseas Reinsad, based in Bermuda (collectively, the “Rivdrames Transaction”). The total
purchase price of River Thames and Overseas Reimseiwas approximately $15.2 million.

In August 2002, Enstar purchased Hudson Reinsur@nogpany Limited (“Hudson”), a Bermuda-based conypéor approximately
$4.1 million. Hudson reinsured risks relating togerty, casualty and workers’ compensation, on ddwmade basis, and is now administering
the run-off of its claims.

Also in 2002, Enstar capitalized Fitzwilliam (SADsurance Limited (“Fitzwilliam”), a wholly ownedubsidiary. Fitzwilliam, based in
Bermuda, offers specialized reinsurance protectiomslated companies, clients of Enstar and dthies-party companies.

In March 2003, Enstar and Shinsei Bank, Limitedh{fSei”) completed the acquisition of all of thetstanding capital stock of The Toa-
Re Insurance Company (UK) Limited (“Toa-UK"), a Ladon-based subsidiary of The Toa Reinsurance Compamyted, for approximately
$46 million. ToaUK underwrote reinsurance business throughout thrdvbetween 1980 and 1994, when it stopped writiegyy business ar
is currently operating in run-off. The acquisitimas effected through Hillcot Holdings Ltd. (“Hill€d, a newly formed Bermuda company, in
which Enstar has a 50.1% economic interest and@\&fling interest. Upon completion of the transattiToa-UK’s name was changed to
Hillcot Re Limited. Hillcot is included in Enstartonsolidated financial statements, with the reingid9.9% economic interest reflected as
minority interest. Prior to the Merger, J. Chridtep Flowers (“Mr. Flowers”), was a member of then@@any’s board of directors and the
Company'’s largest shareholder. Mr. Flowers is alslirector and the largest shareholder of Shinsei.

In August 2004, Enstar implemented an employeedbased compensation plan. The plan allowed foatherd of Enstar’s Class D
non-voting shares to certain senior employees @pn@aximum of 7.5% of the total issued share chpitBnstar. As a result of awards made
in 2005 and 2004, the Company’s economic intereEnistar of 33?% has been diluted by 1.30% to 32.88 of December 31, 2006.

During 2004, Enstar, through one of its subsidgrievested a total of approximately $9.1 millionGassandra Equity LLC and
Cassandra Equity (Cayman) LP, (collectively, “Caslsa”), for a 27% interest in each. Cassandra wasdd to invest in equity shares of a
publicly traded international reinsurance compah§. Flowers | LP also owned a 27% interest in &adia. J.C. Flowers | LP is a private
investment fund, the general partner of which i #Ssociates | LLC. Mr. Flowers is the managing rbenof JCF Associates | LLC. In
March 2005, Cassandra sold all of its holdingsdtel proceeds of approximately $40.0 million. EBm'st proportionate share of the proceeds
was approximately $10.8 million.

Also during 2004, Enstar, through one of its sulasies, completed the acquisition of Mercantilednthity Company Ltd., Harper
Insurance Limited and Longmynd Insurance Compauly idr a total purchase price of approximately $#ilion. Enstar recorded an
extraordinary gain of approximately $21.8 milligating to the excess of the fair value of theassiets acquired over the cost of these
acquisitions.

In May 2005, Enstar, through one of its subsidarpirchased Fieldmill Insurance Company Limitedr(ferly known as Harleysville
Insurance Company (UK) Limited) for approximately.4 million.
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In December 2005, Enstar, through two of its wholyned subsidiaries, invested approximately $24lkomin New NIB Partners LP
(“NIB Partners”), a newly formed Province of Albattmited partnership, in exchange for an approxatyal.4% interest. NIB Partners was
formed for the purpose of purchasing, together witttain affiliated entities, 100% of the outstamgdshare capital of NIBC Holding N.V.
(formerly, NIB Capital N.V.) and its affiliates (‘IBC"). NIBC is a merchant bank focusing on the mid+ket segment in northwest Europe
with a global distribution network. NIB Partnersdazertain related entities are indirectly controlley New NIB Limited, an Irish corporatio
Mr. Flowers is a director of New NIB Limited andas the supervisory board of NIBC. Certain afféisitof J.C. Flowers | LP also participa
in the acquisition of NIBC.

In March 2006, Enstar and Shinsei completed theiaitgpn of Aioi Insurance Company of Europe Lintit€'Aioi Europe”), a London-
based subsidiary of Aioi Insurance Company, Limifed £62 million (approximately $108 million), vat£50 million in cash upon the closii
of the transaction and £12 million in the form gframissory note, payable twelve months from the dathe closing. Aioi Europe
underwrote general insurance and reinsurance kassindzurope for its own account until 2002 whegeiterally ceased underwriting, and
placed into run-off, its general insurance ands@iance business. The acquisition was effectedigifrdlilicot. The acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method of acamyirinstar recorded an extraordinary gain of apprately $4.3 million (net of minority
interest of $4.3 million) relating to the excesgtwd fair value of the assets acquired over thast.dJpon completion of the transaction, Aioi
Europe’s hame was changed to Brampton Insurancep@uayrLimited (“Brampton”). In April 2006, Hillcotrgered into a facility loan
agreement with an international bank (the “Facfignd drew down approximately $44.4 million frohetFacility to repay shareholder funds
advanced for the acquisition of Brampton. The Radilas an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2%, is regddg within four years, and is secured by
a first charge over Hillcot's shares in Bramptogdther with a floating charge over Hillcot's assétsMay 2006, Brampton completed the
repurchase of £40 million of its shares ($73.8iomil. The proceeds of the share repurchase wetktasepay the £12.1 million promissory
note and accumulated interest, reduce the Fabyitgpproximately $25.2 million, and return approately $23.2 million to Hillcot’s
shareholders.

Also in March 2006, Enstar approved a commitmentmfo $75.0 million in the J.C. Flowers Fund, avate investment fund formed by
J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. In June 2006, the commitineas accepted by the J.C. Flowers Fund. Ersstarmmitments may be drawn down
the J.C. Flowers Fund over approximately the nieetyears. Enstar intends to use cash on handctbifs commitment. As of December 31,
2006, approximately $15.2 million of the commitméat been funded. J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC is cofferbby Mr. Flowers. No fees will be
payable by Enstar to the J.C. Flowers Fund, J@véis & Co. LLC, or Mr. Flowers in connection wiimstar’s investment in the J.C.
Flowers Fund.

In April 2006, Enstar paid a dividend of approxielgt$27.9 million to its shareholders and redeemgatoximately $22.6 million of
Class E non-voting redeemable shares. EGI's podidhis dividend was approximately $20.1 million.

In June 2006, a subsidiary of Enstar, in an uredltansaction, entered into a definitive agreemaétiitt Dukes Place Holdings, L.P. for
the purchase of a minority interest in a U.S. hidiompany that owns two property and casualtyrarsibased in the U.S., both of which
in run-off. Completion of the transaction is comatied on, among other things, governmental andlaégy approvals and satisfaction of
various other closing conditions. Consequently t&nsan not predict if or when this transaction wéd completed.

In October and November of 2006, Enstar, througwvholly owned subsidiary, Virginia Holdings Ltdgmpleted the acquisitions of
Cavell Holding Limited, a U.K. company (“Cavell’hd Unione Italiana (UK) Reinsurance Company (“Usinrespectively, for
approximately $78.3 million. Enstar recorded armraxtdinary gain of approximately $26.7 million g to the excess of the fair value of
net assets acquired over the cost of these adqoisit
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In December 2006, Oceania Holdings Ltd, a whollyred subsidiary of Enstar, entered into a definiigeeement for the purchase of
Inter-Ocean Holdings Ltd. (“Inter-Ocean”) for totansideration of approximately $57.2 million. In@cean owns two reinsurers, one based
in Bermuda and one based in Ireland. The purchiaseain February 2007.

(c) Green Tree— During 2003, the Company funded approximatel§.$nillion to the JCF CFN Entities in exchange dd80%
interest in such entities. In addition, Enstar feshépproximately $10.2 million to the JCF CFN Easitin exchange for a 40% interest.

The JCF CFN Entities invested in Green Tree togetlith affiliates of J.C. Flowers | LP, affiliates Fortress Investment Group LLC ¢
affiliates of Cerberus Capital Management, L.PJune 2003, the JCF CFN Entities invested approxity&25.1 million in exchange for a
3.995% interest in Green Tree. Green Tree comptéegurchase of certain assets of Conseco Firffanepproximately $630 million in ca
plus certain assumed liabilities. The assets ctatsigrimarily of a portfolio of home equity and nuéactured housing loan securities as well
as the associated servicing businesses. J.C. Hdwé¥is a private investment fund, the generainga of which is JCF Associates | LLC.
The managing member of JCF Associates | LLC isfywers, a member of the Company’s board of dimscamd the Company’s largest
shareholder. The JCF CFN Entities accounted foimestment in Green Tree under the equity metii@toounting. Because the JCF CFN
Entities are consolidated, Green Tree was treaedpartially owned equity affiliate of the Company

In July 2004, the JCF CFN Entities, along with aeriaffiliates of J.C. Flowers | LP, completed tade of their entire interests in Green
Tree to FIT CFN Holdings LLC, an affiliate of Fas Investment Group LLC, and Cerberus Green Trnasstments, LLC and Cerberus JCF
Coinvest, LLC, each an affiliate of Cerberus Cdpitanagement L.P. In exchange for their entireredé the JCF CFN Entities received
aggregate sales proceeds of approximately $40omilti cash. Of this amount, Enstar received agdgeesales proceeds of approximately
$16 million. The proceeds received by the JCF CRtitiEs at completion of the sale were reducedriyrgash distributions of
approximately $7.2 million made by Green Tree dy2004. The Company recorded a pre-tax realized gfaapproximately $6.9 million on
the sale.

(d) Affirmative Investment LLG— In June 2005, the Company committed to contelug to $10 million for a 14%, non-voting interest
in Affirmative Investment LLC (“Affirmative Investent”), a newly formed Delaware limited liability egpany. J.C. Flowers | LP committed
the capital necessary for the remaining 86% inténeaffirmative Investment. Both J.C. Flowers | lad Affirmative Associates LLC, the
managing member of Affirmative Investment, are oolféd by Mr. Flowers, a member of the Company’arioof directors and the
Company’s largest shareholder. In July 2005, thea@my funded its initial capital contribution offapximately $2.6 million. Since that
time, the Company has funded additional capitatrdtmutions of approximately $5.7 million. At Deceeti31, 2006, the Company'’s total
investment in Affirmative Investment was approxieiat$9.0 million, including equity in earnings adtributions received from July 1,
2005 to December 31, 2006. The Company’s owneiishigfirmative Investment is accounted for using thquity method of accounting.

Also in June 2005, Affirmative Investment acquifed83,000 shares of common stock of Affirmativeuhasice Holdings, Inc.
(“Affirmative Insurance”), through open market pboases. In August, Affirmative Investment acquir@d®of the membership interests of
New Affirmative LLC (‘NAL"), a newly formed Delaware limited liability@ampany, for approximately $40.7 million in cash dhe
1,183,000 shares of Affirmative Insurance. The rieing 50% of the membership interests of NAL wetqudred by Delaware Street Capital
Master Fund, LP or its affiliates (“DSC") for appimately $37.5 million in cash and 1,459,699 shafeaffirmative Insurance common
stock. In turn, NAL, pursuant to a Stock Purchageegment with Vesta Insurance Group, Inc. (“VIGiga/esta Fire Insurance Corporation,
a subsidiary of VIG (together with VIG, “Vesta”;guired from Vesta an aggregate of 5,218,228 stadrAffirmative Insurance common
stock for a purchase price of $15.00 per sharenUpe closing of the transaction with Vesta andtthesfer of the shares of Affirmative
Insurance from Affirmative Investment and DSC, NAldwnership percentage in Affirmative Insurance agsroximately 52.9%. Due to t|
issuance of new shares by Affirmative Insurancel dAwnership percentage
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was reduced to approximately 52% at December 316 .28ffirmative Investment’s ownership in NAL is@munted for using the equity
method of accounting. Affirmative Investment acasuior its investment in NAL three months in arsear

In August 2006, Affirmative Investment purchaseldoADSC’s membership interests in NAL for approxit@ly $62.9 million. Upon
consummation of the transaction, Affirmative Inveent’s interest in NAL increased from 50% to 100%e Company did not fund
additional capital contributions to Affirmative lestment, effectively reducing its ownership peragatto 7%.

(f) Summarized Financial Informatior— In accordance with APB No. 18, “The Equity Methaf Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock”, the Company prepared summarizeddiaainformation for B.H. Acquisition and Enstes ef December 31, 2006 and 2005
and for each of the three years ended Decemb@0B86, Summarized financial information for Affirmag Investment is presented as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the year endedrbber 31, 2006 and for the period from June @05 Zdate of formation) through
December 31, 2005. Summarized financial informattrGreen Tree for 2004 is presented for the gkfiom January 1 to July 15 (Green
Tree was sold in July 2004). The summarized fir@rnnformation presented below for B.H. Acquisitiand Enstar is derived from their
audited financial statements. The summarized fihimformation presented below for Affirmative kestment is derived from its 2006 and
2005 unaudited financial statements. The summafinadcial information presented below for Greerd'ts derived from its 2004 quarterly
financial statements.

December 31, 200!

B.H. Affirmative
Acquisition Enstar Investment
(Dollars in thousands)
Total asset $ 104,60: $ 1,774,25; $ 128,10«
Total liabilities 64,60¢ 1,400,12: —
Minority interest 55,52( —
Total equity 39,99¢ 318,61( 128,10
December 31, 2005
B.H. Affirmative
Acquisition Enstar Investment
(Dollars in thousands)
Total asset $ 105,57¢ $ 1,199,96: $ 60,19¢
Total liabilities 66,73: 898,51: —
Minority interest 40,54+ —
Total equity 38,84¢ 260,90t 60,19¢
Year Ended December 31, 200
B.H. Affirmative
Acquisition Enstar Investment
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenue — $33,90¢ —
Operating incom: $ 1,151 63,68( $ 5417
Net income 1,151 82,34t 5,417
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Year Ended December 31, 2005

B.H. Affirmative
Acquisition Enstar Investment
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenue — $22,00¢ —
Operating incomi $ 17¢ 91,13: $  2,24¢
Net income 17¢ 80,71( 85€
Year Ended December 31, 200
B.H.
Acquisition Enstar Green Tree
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenue — $23,70: $ 262,32
Operating incom: $ 35¢ 14,67¢ 123,84.
Net income 35¢ 38,29 99,11+

The Company'’s consolidated accumulated deficitiides undistributed earnings of its partially oweedity affiliates of approximately
$59.8 million and approximately $52.6 million atd@enber 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 5: Other Investments

In December 2005, the Company invested approxim&®b million in New NIB Partners LP (“NIB Partrgg), a newly formed Provinc
of Alberta limited partnership, in exchange forapproximately .2% limited partnership interest. NRBrtners was formed for the purpose of
purchasing, together with certain affiliated eesti100% of the outstanding share capital of NIBithg N.V. (formerly, NIB Capital N.V.)
and its affiliates (“NIBC"). NIBC is a merchant bafocusing on the mid-market segment in northwesbpe with a global distribution
network. The Company’s investment in NIB Partneradcounted for at cost. During 2006, the Compangived $517,000 in dividend
income and a $56,000 return of capital from NIBtRexs.

New NIB Partners and certain related entities ad@réctly controlled by New NIB Limited, an Iristoiporation. Mr. Flowers is a director
of New NIB Limited and is on the supervisory boafdNIBC. Certain affiliates of J.C. Flowers | LPsalparticipated in the acquisition of
NIBC.

From August through December 2006, the Companyddrapproximately $5.1 million of its original contment of up to $25.0 million
in the J.C. Flowers Fund, a private investment fiomched by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. The Compasninivestment in the J.C. Flowers Fun
accounted for at cost. (Note 6).

Note 6: Commitments and Contingencies

In December 2004, the Company signed a one yese leeginning January 1, 2005 on an office buildinhg01 Madison Avenue,
Montgomery, Alabama which serves as EGI’'s corpanegdquarters. The lease also provides renewalnsptdr three periods of one year
each. In December 2005, the Company signed a aregreewal option beginning January 1, 2006. Addéilly, pursuant to an oral
agreement, the Company leases space in a wareabd88 Howe Street, Montgomery, Alabama on a méoimonth basis. The Company
leases the office building and warehouse space traaffiliated third parties for $3,000 and $350 pemth, respectively. The Company
believes the rental amounts are competitive withketarates and that the cancellation or terminatibeither of these leases would not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s resultspefations. In September 2005, the Company entetedn agreement with J.C.

Flowers & Co. LLC continuing through October 204 the use of certain office space and adminiseatervices from J.C. Flowers & Co.
LLC for monthly payments of $4,146. Either partyymat its option with or without cause, terminaiestagreement upon thirty (30) days
prior written notice to the other party. J.C. Flosv& Co. LLC is managed by Mr. Flowers, who was a
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member of the Company’s board of directors anddbmpany’s largest shareholder prior to the Merglae Company does not own any real
property. Including payments made to J.C. FloweS& LLC, the Company incurred rent expense ireimeunt of $65,000, $77,000 and
$80,000 for the three years ended December 31, 2006 and 2004, respectively.

In February 2006, the Company approved a commitmiemp to $25.0 million in the J.C. Flowers Fundyravate investment fund forme
by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. In June 2006, the conmmeitit was accepted by the J.C. Flowers Fund. Thep@oys commitments may be
drawn down by the J.C. Flowers Fund over approxégahe next five years. The Company intends toaasé on hand to fund its
commitment. As of December 31, 2006, approxima®&yl million of the commitment has been funded fé&s will be payable by the
Company to the J.C. Flowers Fund, J.C. Flowers &LC&, or Mr. Flowers in connection with the Companinvestment in the J.C. Flowers
Fund. In addition to his current position with E®I;. John J. Oros is also a managing director ©f Blowers & Co. LLC.

Note 7: Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg components:

2006 2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
Current tax expense (bene $3,98¢ $6,13¢ $ (586)
Deferred taxe 2,624 2,78:% 5,39¢

$6,60¢ $8,917 $4,80¢

The reconciliation of income taxes computed ausbay rates to the actual tax provision is as fwfo

2006 2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands)
Federal income taxes at statutory | $5,892 $9,507 $ 4,67¢
State income taxes, net of federal ber 80¢€ (86) 50z
Minority interest — — (2,017
Change in valuation allowan: (802) (189) 64C
Other 7ilE (315) —

$6,60¢ $8,917 $ 4,80¢
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying amaofiassets and liabilities for financ

reporting purposes and the amounts reported faniectax purposes. The following items compriseGbepany’s deferred taxes at
December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Deferred income tax asse

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwar $ 154 $ 631
Losses of partially owned equity affiliat 10,94¢ 6,172
Other 2,14 1,262
Deferred tax asse 13,247 8,06¢
Valuation allowanct (4,827) (5,629
8,42¢F 2,441

Deferred income tax liabilitie:
Undistributed earnings of partially owned equitfiliztes (23,59) (22,717
Other (1,512 (130)
(25,109 (12,84%)
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ 16,67¢ $ 10,40:

The Company provides U.S. taxes for the anticipadpdtriation of certain earnings of foreign sulzsids. Losses incurred by those
foreign subsidiaries result in deferred tax asséts. ultimate realization of the deferred tax assleppends on the ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in the future in the appropriatésqlictions. A valuation allowance is recorded witda more likely than not that some port
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be msadi The Company has provided a valuation allowémteperating losses of partially owned
foreign subsidiaries for the years 2006 and 208&pectively. During 2006 and 2005, the Company gbdithe valuation allowance by
$(802,000) and $(189,000), respectively to apprataty $4.8 million and $5.6 million, respectivelyhe decreases in the valuation allowa
were due to changes in the expected utilizatioopefating losses of partially owned foreign sulzsiés.

The Company has established reserves for tax-telateertainties based on its best estimates ofhehetnd the extent to which,
additional taxes and interest will be due. Thesemess are adjusted in light of changing facts@rmimstances. At December 31, 2006, the
accrual of $2.4 million for tax contingencies ifleeted in accrued taxes on the balance sheet.

Note 8: Shareholders Equity

(a) Share Purchase Rights Plan- In January 1997, the Board of Directors of tlerpany adopted a Share Purchase Rights Plan (the
“Rights Plan”). The Rights Plan entitles sharehdde purchase one share of common stock for eaisttamding share of common stock of
the Company (a “Right”). The Rights Plan was amdrgtethat the execution of the agreements relatéuetMerger would not constitute a
triggering event. All Rights were cancelled upoe #ffectiveness of the Merger on January 31, 2007.

(b) Treasury Stock— In April 1998, the Company announced a stock repase program under which the Company could repeechg
to $5.0 million of its common stock in the open kedrat prices per share deemed favorable from tiimiene by the Company. The Company
repurchased 54,525 shares of its common stockpfamoaimately $815,000 as part of this plan. Throtigh plan and a similar plan comple
in the first quarter of 1998, the Company has relpased a total of 442,351 shares for approxim&®Ig million. In May 2006, the Company
received 3,525 shares of its common stock in caimewith the exercise of certain stock options. At
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December 31, 2006 the Company had 445,876 shatesasfiry stock with a total cost of approximatkbyl million. All treasury stock was
cancelled on January 31, 2007, the effective ditieeoMerger.

(c) Deferred Compensation of Partially Owned Equityiliates — The Company recorded its proportionate shadetdrred
compensation reported by Enstar, one of its partiained equity affiliates. The deferred compersatirose from stock based compensation
awards entered into during 2002 with certain seaioployees of Enstar.

Note 9: Stock Compensatior

(a) Deferred Compensation and Stock Plan for Non-Engaldyirectors— In September 1997, the Company adopted a Defferre
Compensation and Stock Plan for Non-Employee DirsciThe purposes of this plan are to enable threpg@ay to attract and retain qualified
persons to serve as non-employee directors, tdifjolhe common interests of its non-employee doecand shareholders by enhancing the
equity interest of non-employee directors in thenpany, and to encourage the highest level of nopl@yae director performance by
providing such non-employee directors with a prefary interest in the Company’s performance andness by permitting non-employee
directors to receive all or a portion of their reta and meeting fees in common stock and to agdfer a portion of their retainer and meeting
fees in stock units. Approximately $959,000 and3860 in stock compensation were deferred undemtlain as of December 31, 2006, and
2005, respectively. In May 2004 Jeffrey S. Halisigaed from the Company’s board of directors. Upmresignation, Mr. Halis was issued
12,156 shares of the Company’s common stock inecion with this plan, representing approximate22%$,000 in deferred compensation.
Upon completion of the Merger, each stock unit e@asverted from a right to receive a share of EGtlsinto a right to receive a share of
Enstar stock. No additional amounts will be defémeder the plan.

(b) Long-Term Incentive Program— In January 1997, the Company adopted a long-tecentive program made up of three stock
option/incentive plans. Under the program, the Canypestablished the 1997 Amended CEO Stock Opfeam fhe “CEO Plan”), the 1997
Amended Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (th®97 Directors’ Plan”), and the 1997 Amended Omsilmcentive Plan (the “Incentive
Plan™). In May 2001, the Company adopted the 200&dfors’ Plan and amended certain provisions efititentive Plan.

Under the CEO Plan, Nimrod T. Frazer, the Compa@yief Executive Officer and Chairman, was grardptions for 150,000 shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $10.50 8719 he options granted under the CEO Plan vestéalr equal installments of 37,500
options through January 1, 2000, and had an eigirdate in January 2007. In May 2006, Mr. Frazereised options for 150,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock at a total exercisee@fapproximately $1.6 million in connection witkis plan.

Under the 1997 Directors’ Plan, each of the Com{safour non-employee directors was granted optfon25,000 shares of common
stock in 1997. The options have an exercise pfi&i0.8125 and vested in five equal installment§,0600 options through January 1, 2001.
The options granted under the 1997 Directors’ Rkxhan expiration date in January 2007. In May 2004 Halis exercised options for
25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock abahdrercise price of approximately $270,000 inragtion with this plan. In May 2006,
Messrs. Flowers, T. Wayne Davis, and T. Whit Armisty exercised options for 25,000 shares each a@@impany’s common stock. Upon
exercise of the options, the Company received $®0land 3,525 shares of the Company’s common stigqekyment of the options.

The Incentive Plan was established for the benékey employees and directors and provides gelgdtalstock appreciation awards,
incentive stock options and nonqualified stock@pgi In March 2000, John J. Oros, the Company'siéat and Chief Operating Officer,
was granted options for 100,000 shares of comnmawk stith an exercise price of $12.75. These optigsted in three installments: 50,000
on March 2, 2001 and 25,000 each on March 2, 2602803. These options expire in February 2010.
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In connection with the consummation of the Riveaifles Transaction in November 2001, Messrs. FramkOaos were granted options
under the Incentive Plan to purchase a total ofG@Dshares (50,000 per individual) at $18.00 pares These options vested on various
dates through July 2004 and will expire in Junel2@lince the market price per share of the Compargnmon stock on the date of grant
exceeded the exercise price, the Company recogaizbdrge to earnings in 2004 and 2003 of $19,60085,000, respectively.

In connection with the consummation of the Castlesdvdransaction in November 2001, Messrs. FrazeiCGmod were granted options
under the Incentive Plan to purchase a total ofd@®shares (50,000 per individual) at $19.25 pares These options vested on various
dates through July 2004 and will expire in Septen@®4.1. Since the market price per share of the iamy's common stock on the date of
grant exceeded the exercise price, the Compangnéed a charge to earnings in 2004 and 2003 o0®D4and $71,000, respectively.

Under the 2001 Directors’ Plan, the Company’s thement outside (non-employee) directors were gaahted options in June 2001 for
15,000 shares of common stock with an exercise @fi&18.90 per share. Options granted to eacheothiree outside directors under the plan
vested in three equal installments of 5,000 shiareach of January 2002, January 2003 and Jan0G&4. Zhe options granted under this plan
must be exercised no later than January 2011. w2084, Mr. Halis exercised options for 15,000 skasf the Company’s common stock at
a total exercise price of approximately $284,000dnnection with this plan.

In May 2003, the Company’s shareholders approvemiceamendments to the Company’s Incentive Plaie. dmendments increased the
total number of shares of common stock availableetgranted under the plan from 322,500 to 522,808 ,increased the aggregate numb
shares of common stock that may be granted toratiyidual participant from 200,000 to 300,000.

In August 2003, under the Incentive Plan, the Camgpganted 60,000 options to Mr. Frazer, 100,00ap to Mr. Oros, and 5,000
options to Gregory L. Curl, a member of the Compabpard of directors. The options granted to MesBrazer and Oros vest in four equal
annual installments starting January 1, 2005. Tgi®os granted to Mr. Curl vested on August 19,2081 options have an exercise price of
$40.00, the closing market price on the date afifg@nd expire in August 2013.

In April 2005, under the Incentive Plan, the Compgranted 5,000 options to Paul J. Collins, a membéhe Company’s board of
directors. The options granted to Mr. Collins veste April 4, 2006, have an exercise price of $57tBe closing market price on the date of
grant, and expire in April 2015.

Each outstanding option to purchase shares of B@hwon stock has been assumed by Enstar and cathweidean option to purchase
Enstar ordinary shares.
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Transactions under the Company’s stock option/iticemplans as of and for the three years endedbbee31, 2006 are as follows:

Under option, January

Granted

Exercisec

Under option, December
Exercisable, December :

Vested or expected to vest, Decembe
Available to be granted, December

Weighted average exercise prices per st
Under option, January
Granted
Exercisec
Under option, December
Exercisable, December :
Vested or expected to vest, Decembe

No options expired or were forfeited during 200802 or 2004.

2006 2005 2004
725,00( 720,00( 760,00(
— 5,00( —

(225,001 — (40,000

500,00( 725,00( 720,00(
420,00( 600,00( 560,00(
500,00 725,00( 720,00(
52,50( 52,50( 57,50(
$ 204 $ 20.21 $ 19.8¢
— 57.81 —
10.6( — 13.8¢
24.91] 20.47 20.21]
22.0¢ 16.2¢ 14.5¢
24.91 20.4% 20.21

The aggregate intrinsic value of shares under n@tdecember 31, 2006 was as follows:

Outstanding
Exercisable
Vested or expected to ve

(In thousands)
$ 35,49«
31,02:
35,49

The aggregate intrinsic value, in thousands, oboptexercised during 2006 and 2004 was $14,79%ar256, respectively.

Stock options outstanding and exercisable undeetptans as of December 31, 2006 were:

Outstanding

Exercisable

Ranges ol Weighted Average
Exercise Number of Weighted Average Remaining Number of Weighted Average
Prices Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Options Exercise Price
$ 10— 20 330,00( $ 16.87 4.1 year 330,00( $ 16.87
40— 60 170,00( 40.52 6.7 year 90,00( $ 40.9¢

No stock option expense was capitalized duringyfee ended December 31, 2006.

Information about the Company’s unrecognized stog&ed compensation at December 31, 2006 is asvfollo

Unrecognized compensati
Weighted average period of expected recognitiolyéars)

$88,00(
.62
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Note 10: Income per Share

The table below illustrates the reconciliation bedw net income per common share — basic and ranhe@er common share —
assuming dilution for 2006, 2005 and 2004. Net ineger common share — basic is computed by dividetgncome by the weighted
average shares outstanding. Net income per comhaye s— assuming dilution is computed by dividingineome by the sum of the
weighted average shares outstanding and commoe shaivalents. Common share equivalents consibok units deferred under the
Deferred Compensation and Stock Plan for Non-Eng#dyirectors and stock options granted under threpgany’s stock option/incentive
plans (Note 9).

2006 2005 2004
(Dollars in thousands, except per share dat¢
Income before extraordinary ge $ 10,72( $ 19,04t $ 5,971
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta» 6,14¢ 4,41F
Net income $ 16,86¢ $ 19,04 $ 10,39:
Income per common share before extraordinary — basic $ 1.9C $ 3.4F $ 1.0¢
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta>— basic 1.0¢ — .80
Net income per common she— basic $ 2.9¢ $ 3.4 $ 1.8¢
Income per common share before extraordinary — assuming dilutiot $ 1.8C $ 3.2¢8 $ 1.0
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta>— assuming dilutior 1.0 — 76
Net income per common she— assuming dilutior $ 2.82 $ 3.2F $ 1.7¢
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 5,651,04 5,517,90! 5,496,81!
Common share equivaler 304,33¢ 338,23! 304,17
Weighted average shares outstan— assuming dilutiot 5,955,38 5,856,14 5,800,99:

There were no antidilutive common stock equivaléotshe three years ended December 31, 2006.

Note 11: Segment Information

The Company separately evaluates the performanBe-bfAcquisition and Enstar based on the diffesmvices provided by each of the
entities, and such evaluation is based on 100%eoéhtities’ results of operations. Because the fizom separately evaluates the financial
results of each of its partially owned equity ddfiés on a gross basis, the amounts presentecdh iepeesent the gross results of each entity.
The amounts in excess of the Comparmywnership percentage are eliminated as pareafetonciliation from the gross amounts present:
the measure of profit or loss included in the cdidated financial statements. Prior to the salthefCompanys interests in Green Tree in J
2004, the Company separately evaluated the perfarenaf the JCF CFN Entities. The Company also vevigeparate financial results for
Affirmative Investment and EGI’s corporate activity

B.H. Acquisition, through its wholly owned subsidés, Brittany and CEAI, is principally engagediire active management of books of
reinsurance business from international marketstéracquires and manages insurance and reinsuramgnies, including companies in
run-off, and provides management, consulting and atberices to the insurance and reinsurance industfiymative Investment was forme
to facilitate the participation of its members e fpurchase, sale and ownership of membershipestteof NAL and common stock of
Affirmative Insurance. The JCF CFN Entities werenied to serve as a member of Green Tree which, in
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turn, was formed to effect the acquisition of atfudio of home equity and manufactured housing lsaaurities and associated servicing
businesses from Conseco Finance.

The consolidated financial information for B.H. Agsjtion and Enstar is reported for all years pnésg. Summarized financial
information for Affirmative Investment is presentasl of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for thegreded December 31, 2006 and the
period from June 30, 2005 (date of formation) ta&maber 31, 2005. Summarized financial informatimn}CF CFN for 2004 is presented
the period from January 1 to July 15 (Green Treg s¢dd in July 2004). A reconciliation of the colidated financial information by segment
to the Company’s consolidated financial statemaatsf December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for eachedhtiee years ended December 31,
2006 is as follows:

December 31, 2006
B.H. Affirmative
Corporate Acquisition Enstar Investment Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Total reportable segment asst

Partially owned equity affiliate $ 13,28¢ $93,397 $ 9,01C $115,69:
Corporate asse $ 96,54¢ 96,54¢
Total $ 96,54¢ $ 13,28¢ $93,39: $ 9,01( $212,24.
December 31, 200!
B.H. Affirmative
Corporate Acquisition Enstar Investment Total

(Dollars in thousands)
Total reportable segment asst

Partially owned equity affiliate $ 12,90¢ $85,90¢ $ 8,551f $107,32¢
Corporate asse $ 77,89 77,89:
Total $ 77,89: $  12,90¢ $85,90¢ $ 8,51¢ $185,22(
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Year Ended December 31, 2006

B.H. Affirmative
Corporate Acquisition Enstar Investment Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue $ 33,90¢
Net investment incom $ 517 $ 4,40 48,00
Interest incom: 4,25k
Net (increase) reduction in loss and loss adjust@epense

liabilities (78¢€) 31,927
General and administrative expen (5,376) (2,22)) (58,999
Interest expens (1,989
Increase in ru-off provision (2,200
Other income 53¢ 75¢
Foreign exchange ga 98 10,83:
Share of net income of par-owned companie 51€ $ 541
Income (loss) before income tax (68) 1,151 64,19¢ 5,41
Income taxe! (10,42¢) 31¢
Minority interest (13,209
Income (loss) before extraordinary g (10,499 1,151 51,30¢ 5,417
Extraordinary gait 31,03¢
Net income (loss $(10499 $ 1,151 $ 82,34¢ $ 5417
Compan's economic ownership 33% 32.12% 9.9:1%

26,44*

Compan's portion of pr-tax extraordinary gai (9,966
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat $ 38C $ 16,47¢ $ 53¢ $17,39:

The income tax amount of approximately $10.4 millincluded in the corporate segment includes apprately $3.8 million which is
netted against the Company’s proportionate shaas @xtraordinary gain in the Company’s consolidatatement of income. The
Company’s economic ownership percentage in Enstaredsed from 32.63% to 32.03% during the secoadenof 2006. The Company’s
economic ownership percentage in Enstar used iatibge table represents a weighted average foretlie In addition, the Company’s
economic ownership percentage in Affirmative Inwestit decreased from 14% to 7% during the thirdtguaf 2006. The Company’s
economic ownership percentage in Affirmative Inwestit used in the above table represents a weighve@dge for the year. (Note 4).
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Year Ended December 31, 2005

B.H. Affirmative
Corporate Acquisition Enstar Investment Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue $ 22,00¢
Net investment incom $ 1,824 $  2,40¢ 29,50¢ $ (1,390
Interest incom 2,33¢ 1
Net (increase) reduction in loss and loss adjust@epense

liabilities (552) 96,00
General and administrative expen (3,110 (2,27%) (51,789
Amortization of rur-off provision 667
Other income 402
Foreign exchange lo: (67) (4,602
Share of net income of par-owned companie 192 2,24k
Income before income tax 1,44¢ 17¢ 91,32 85¢€
Income taxe: (8,917) (919
Minority interest (9,700
Net income (loss $ (7,468 3 17¢ $ 80,71( $ 85€
Compan’s economic ownership ' 33% 32.6% 14%
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat $ 59 $ 26,33¢ $ 12C $26,51¢

The Company’s economic ownership percentage inaeuisicreased from 32.89% to 32.63% during the skqoarter of 2005. The
Company’s economic ownership percentage used ialibee table represents a weighted average foreidue(Note 4).
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Year Ended December 31, 2004

B.H.
Corporate Acquisition Enstar JCF CFN Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue $ 23,70
Net investment incom $ 1,48¢ 10,50:
Interest incom: $ 98¢
Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expdaabdities 42¢ 13,70¢
General and administrative expen (2,98)) (2,839 (36,967
Amortization of rur-off provision 1,33¢
Gain on sale of Green Tri 6,911
Other income 49¢ a0
Foreign exchange gain (los (142) 3,731
Share of net income of par-owned companie 6,881 $ 4,25¢
Income before income tax 5,411 35¢ 21,55¢ 4,25¢
Income taxe: (7,550 (1,929
Minority interest (2,977%) (3,097
Income (loss) before extraordinary g (5,112 35¢ 16,53¢ 4,25k
Extraordinary gait 21,75¢
Net income (loss $ (511 $  35¢ $ 38,29« $ 4,25¢
Compan's economic ownership 33% 32.95%

12,61¢
Compan’s portion of earnings from JCF CF (1,487
Compan’s portion of pr-tax extraordinary gai (7,156
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat $ 11¢ $ 3,97¢ $ 4,25¢ $8,34¢

The income tax amount of approximately $7.6 milliocluded in the corporate segment includes apprately $2.7 million which is
netted against the Company’s proportionate shaas @xtraordinary gain in the Company’s consolidatatement of income. The
Company’s economic ownership percentage in Ensteredsed from 33?7% to 32.89% during the three nsamted September 30, 2004.
The Company’s economic ownership percentage ustgtiabove table represents a weighted averadbdagrear (Note 4).
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Note 12: Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

A summary of the Company’s unaudited quarterly ltesaf operations for the years ended Decembe2@16 and 2005 is as follows:

Quarter
First Second Third Fourth
(Dollars in thousands, except per share date
(Unaudited)

Year ended December 31, 2006:

Interest incom: $ 782 $ 1,067 $ 1,237 $ 1,16¢
Other investment incorr 19¢ 31¢
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat 2,63( 4,12¢ 3,89( 6,752
Other income 10z 10€ 121 20¢€
General and administrative expen (567) (2,939 (745) (1,130
Income before income taxes and extraordinary 3,141 2,36t 4,50z 7,31¢
Income taxe: (1,319 (1,239 (2,260 (1,797
Income before extraordinary ge 1,82¢ 1,13 2,24: 5,517
Extraordinary gain, net of income tay 87¢ 5,274
Net income $ 2,702 $ 1,132 $ 2,242 $10,79:
Income per common share before extraordinary — basic $ 0.3¢ $ 0.2C $ 0.3¢ $ 0.9¢
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta>— basic 0.1€ 0.9
Net income per common she— basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.2C $ 0.3¢ $ 191
Income per common share before extraordinary — assuming dilutior $ 0.31 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.37 $ 0.9c
Extraordinary gain, net of income ta>— assuming dilutior 0.1 0.8¢
Net income per common shée— assuming dilutior $ 0.4¢€ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.37 $ 1.81
Year ended December 31, 200!

Interest incom $ 482 $ 561 $ 60¢ $ 682
Other investment incorr 604 487 732
Earnings of partially owned equity affiliat 26E 1,04¢ 1,18¢€ 24,01¢
Other income 10C 101 10C 101
General and administrative expen (780) (861) (617) (852)
Income before income tax 67 1,451 1,76¢ 24,68(
Income taxe! (28) (655) (799) (7,440
Net income $ 39 $ 79€ $ 97C $17,24(
Net income per common she— basic $ 0.01 $ 0.14 $ 0.1¢ $ 3.2
Net income per common she— assuming dilutior $ 0.01 $ 0.14 $ 0.17 $ 2.92

In the first and fourth quarters of 2006, the Compeecorded extraordinary gains of $875,000 andapmately $5.3 million, net of
income taxes, respectively. These gains reprefiemSompany’s proportionate share of the exce#iseofair value of net assets acquired by
Enstar over the cost to Enstar in the acquisitioBrampton in March 2006, Cavell in October 200@ amione in November 2006.
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The Company recorded other investment income ifiitsieand fourth quarters of 2006 and the sectimd] and fourth quarters of 2005.
Other investment income was comprised of dividerdine in 2006 and gains on sales of marketableaiteswand dividend income in 2005.

The substantial increase in earnings from part@iyed equity affiliates in the fourth quarter2606 and 2005 were primarily
attributable to a reduction in loss and loss adjesit expenses by Enstar. This was attributablegogduction in estimates of ultimate losses
that arose from commutations, policy buy-backs settlement of losses in the year below carriedrveseand the resulting reductions in
actuarial estimates of losses incurred but notrtedo

Note 13: Merger

At the Companys annual meeting of shareholders held on Januarg(87, its shareholders voted to approve the mageement, dat:
as of May 23, 2006, among Enstar, CWMS and EGl,thaedransactions contemplated thereby, includiegnerger of CWMS with and into
EGI, with EGI becoming a wholly-owned subsidiarytofstar.

Effective as of the close of trading on JanuaryZB0)7, trading in EGI's common stock ceased antificates for shares of EGI common
stock now represent the same number of ordinamesta Enstar. Commencing February 1, 2007, thimard shares of Enstar were traded
on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the tickgmbol “ESGRD.” Beginning March 2, 2007, Enstagée trading under the ticker
symbol “ESGR".

In connection with the approval of the Merger lsyshareholders, EGI paid a dividend on Januarg@®17, of $3.00 per share to each
shareholder of record on January 16, 2007, totapmyoximately $17.2 million.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
AS OF MARCH 16, 2007

The following table lists each subsidiary efsEar Group Limited indented under the name dfritsediate parent, the percentage of each
subsidiary’s voting securities beneficially ownadits immediate parent and the jurisdiction undher laws of which each subsidiary was
organized.

% OF VOTING
NAME SECURITIES JURISDICTION

Enstar Group Limitet

A. Castlewood Limitec 10C(% Bermuds
1) Castlewood (EU) Holdings Lt 10C% England
a) Castlewood (EU) Ltc 10C(% England
b) Cranmore Adjusters Limite 10C% England
2) Castlewood Brokers Limite 10(% Bermuds
3) Cranmore (Bermuda) Lt 10C% Bermuds
4) Bantry Holdings Ltd 50% Bermuds
a) Blackrock Holdings Ltc 30% Bermuds
i) Kinsale Brokers Limitec 10C% England
B. Kenmare Holdings Limite 10C% Bermuds
1) Fitzwilliam (SAC) Insurance Limite 10(% Bermuds
2) Revir Limited 10C(% Bermuds
a) River Thames Insurance Comp: 10C(% England
b) Overseas Reinsurance Corporation Lim 10C% Bermuds
¢) Regis Agencies Limite 10C(% England
3) Hudson Reinsurance Company Limi 10C(% Bermudas
a) Denman Holdings Limite 10(% Barbados
4) Harper Holding Sal 10C(% Luxembourg
a) Harper Insurance Limite 10(% Switzerlanc
b) Harper Financing Limite 10C(% England
¢) Castlewood Holdings (US) In 10(% Delaware
i) Castlewood (US) Inc 10C% Delaware
if) Cranmore (US) Inc 10C(% Delaware
iii) Castlewood Investments, In 10C% Delaware
5) Mercantile Indemnity Company Lt 10(% England
6) Longmynd Insurance Company L 10C% England
7) Fieldmill Insurance Company Lt 10(% England
8) Virginia Holdings Ltd.
a) Unione ltaliana (UK) Reinsurance Compi 10C(% England
b) Cavell Holdings Limited (U.K. 10C% England
i) Cavell Insurance Company Limite 10(% England

A) Cirrus Re Company A/ 10C(% Norway




% OF VOTING

NAME SECURITIES JURISDICTION

9) Oceania Holdings Ltc 10C% Bermuds

1) Inte-Ocean Holdings Limite: 10C% Bermuds

a) Inte-Ocean Services Lt 10C% Bermuds

b) Inte-Ocean Credit Products Lt 10C% Bermuds

¢) Inte-Ocean Reinsurance Company L 10C% Bermuds
i) Inter-Ocean Reinsurance (Ireland) L 95.(% 2 Ireland

C. Hillcot Holdings Limited 50.1% Bermuds
1) Hillcot Reinsurance Limite 10C% England

a) Hillcot Underwriting Managemel 10C% England

2) Brampton Insurance Company Limit 10C% England

D. Enstar USA, Inc 10C% Georgia
1) Enstar Financial Services, Ir 10C% Florida

2) Enstar Group Operations, It 10C% Georgia

B.H. Acquisition Ltd.(1) 10C% Bermuds

A. Brittany Insurance Company Lt 10C% Bermuds
B. Paget Holdings Gmb 10C% Austria
1) Compagnie Europeen’Assurances Industrielles £ 99.9%1 Belgium

(1) The remaining 0.1% of the comp¢ s voting securities is owned directly by Brittamglirance Company Lt
(2) The remaining 5.0% of the comp¢ s voting securities is owned directly by I-Ocean Holdings Limite:






Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dominic F. Silvester, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form-K of Enstar Group Limitec

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does niotado any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)), for the registrant and hav

a. designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b. designed such internal control over finahn@porting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusion about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfe, or is reasonably likely to materially affetie registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; an




5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and materialkeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting, which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regie’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimanhcial information; an

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, thabimes management or other employees who have Hiségn role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 16, 2007 /s/ Dominic F. Silvester
Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard J. Harris, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form-K of Enstar Group Limitec

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does niotado any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)), for the registrant and hav

a. designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b. designed such internal control over finahn@porting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusion about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfe, or is reasonably likely to materially affetie registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; an




5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and materialkeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting, which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regie’s ability to record, process, summarize and refimanhcial information; ani

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, thabimes management or other employees who have Hiségn role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 16, 2007 /s/ Richard J. Harris
Chief Financial Officer







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Enstaoup Limited (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for tfiscal year ended December 31,
2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, DoimiR. Silvester, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to se@fi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that toltbst of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaraialdition and results of operations of the
Company

Date: March 16, 2007 /s/ Dominic F. Silvester
Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Enstaoup Limited (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for tfiscal year ended December 31,
2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rithd. Harris, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to se@fi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that toltbst of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaraialdition and results of operations of the
Company

Date: March 16, 2007 /s/ Richard J. Harris
Chief Financial Officer







EXHIBIT 99.1

DESCRIPTION OF ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED SHARE CAPITAL

Overview

The authorized share capital of Enstar Grompted (“we”, “us”, or the “Company”) consists 000,000,000 ordinary shares, par value
$1.00 per share, of which 11,779,335 shares anedsand outstanding as of March 1, 2007, 6,0000@@0voting convertible ordinary shares,
par value $1.00 per share, of which 2,972,892smeeid and outstanding as of March 1, 2007, and8®00 preference shares, par value
$1.00 per share, none of which were issued as ofiMb, 2007. All issued and outstanding sharedudisepaid and nonassessable.
Authorized but unissued shares may, subject taighys attaching to existing shares, be issuedatiane and at the discretion of our board
of directors without the approval of our sharehaoddevith such rights, preferences and limitatiosste board may determine.

The following description of the Company’s shaapital and the provisions of its memorandurassiociation and second amended and
restated bye-laws are only summaries of their rreterms and the provisions relating to our stwagital and are qualified by reference to
the complete text of the memorandum of associaiahbye-laws, copies of which are filed with thetgat States Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Ordinary Shares

Holders of our ordinary shares have no presmptedemption, conversion or sinking fund rigl8sbject to the limitation on voting rights
described below, holders of our ordinary shareeati#ed to one vote per share on all matters sitibdnto a vote of shareholders. Most
matters to be approved by our shareholders regppeoval by a simple majority vote. Under the Conigsi Act of 1981, or the Companies
Act, the holders of at least 75% of our ordinargirels voting in person or by proxy at a meeting glyemust approve an amalgamation with
another company. In addition, the Companies Actigies that a resolution to remove our auditor betbe expiration of its term of office
must be approved by at least two-thirds of the wvotest at a meeting of our shareholders. The quésuany meeting of our shareholders is
two or more persons present in person througheutribeting and representing in person or by proxaxoess of 50% of our total issued
voting shares.

Our board of directors has the power to appthe company’s discontinuation from Bermuda tatlagojurisdiction. In accordance with
the Companies Act, the rights attached to any dasbares (unless otherwise provided by the terfhssue of the shares of that class) may,
whether or not we are being wound-up, be varietl wie consent in writing of the holders of 75%twe tssued shares of that class or with the
sanction of a resolution passed by a majority efitbtes cast at a separate general meeting obttlerk of the shares of the class at which
meeting the necessary quorum




shall be two persons at least holding or represgrity proxy one-third of the issued shares of thesc

In the event of our liquidation, dissolutionwinding-up, the holders of our ordinary sharesemtitled to share equally and ratably on a
pari passibasis with the non-voting convertible ordinary &sain the surplus of our assets, if any, remaiafitgy the payment of all its debts
and liabilities and the liquidation preference ny @utstanding preference shares. Holders of alinary shares are entitled to such dividends
as our board of directors may from time to timelaexon gpari passubasis with the non-voting convertible ordinary &sar

Non-Voting Convertible Ordinary Shares

Holders of our non-voting convertible ordinatyares have no pre-emptive, redemption or sinfking rights and are generally entitled to
enjoy all of the rights attaching to ordinary slsateut are not entitled to vote (see “— Ordinargi®k” above). Each non-voting convertible
ordinary share shall be automatically converted arte ordinary share, subject to any necessargtaggnts for any share splits, dividends,
recapitalizations, consolidations or similar trasiims occurring in respect of our ordinary shamesur non-voting convertible ordinary
shares after the date of the adoption of our byes;lammediately prior to any transfer by the regjistl holder of such non-voting convertible
ordinary share, whether or not for value, exceptriansfers to a nominee or an affiliate of suctdéoin a transfer that will not result in a
change of beneficial ownership (as determined uRdée 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act 8418s amended) or to a person or
entity that already holds non-voting convertibldinary shares.

Preference Shares

Pursuant to our bye-laws and Bermuda lawboard of directors by resolution may establish enmore series of preference shares
having such number of shares, designations, relatiting rights, dividend rates, redemption or repase rights, conversion rights,
liquidation and other rights, preferences, powans] limitations as may be fixed by our board oédiors without any further shareholder
approval, which if any such preference sharessmged, will include restrictions on voting and sf@n intended to avoid having us constitute
a “controlled foreign corporation” for United Statkederal income tax purposes. Such rights, pref@® powers and limitations as may be
established could have the effect of discouragmgteempt to obtain control of the Company. Theasge of preference shares could also
adversely affect the voting power of the holderswf ordinary shares, deny our shareholders tre@peof a premium on their ordinary shares
or non-voting convertible ordinary shares at thé eha tender or other offer for such shares ané laadepressive effect on the market price
of such shares.




Change of Control and Related Provisions of Our Memrandum of Association and Bye-Laws

A number of provisions in our memorandum cfaasation and bye-laws and under Bermuda law maseritanore difficult to acquire
control of the company. These provisions may hhaeeeffect of delaying, deferring, discouraging verging or rendering more difficult a
future takeover attempt which is not approved bylmard of directors but which individual sharetesklmay deem to be in their best
interests or in which our shareholders may recaisabstantial premium for their shares over thereotimarket prices. As a result, those of
our shareholders who might desire to participatsuich a transaction may not have an opportunitiotso. In addition, these provisions may
adversely affect the prevailing market price of otdinary shares and our non-voting convertiblera shares. These provisions are
intended to:

. enhance the likelihood of continuity and stabilitythe composition of our board of directa
. discourage some types of transactions that mayhie\an actual or threatened change in control @fcimpany
. discourage certain tactics that may be used inypfights;

. ensure that our board of directors will haveisight time to act in what the board believes tarb#he best interests of the company
and our shareholders; a

. encourage persons seeking to acquire contrdleo€dmpany to consult first with our board to négetthe terms of any proposed
business combination or offe

Limitation on Voting Power of Shares

Holders of our noreting convertible ordinary shares are not entittesiote. Except as provided below, each ordinhares has one vote
connection with matters presented to our sharehalttowever, pursuant to a mechanism specifiediirbge-laws, the voting rights
exercisable by a shareholder may be limited. Insaiwation in which the “controlled shares” (asidedl below) of a U.S. Person or the
ordinary shares held by a Direct Foreign Sharemdbteup (as defined below) would constitute 9.5%nore of the votes conferred by the
issued ordinary shares, the voting rights exertishy a shareholder with respect to such shardklshamited so that no U.S. Person or
Direct Foreign Shareholder Group is deemed to Bdéo or more of the voting power conferred by owlirary shares. The votes that could
be cast by a shareholder but for these restrictidthde effectively allocated to our other sharltess pro rata based on the voting power held
by such shareholders, provided that no allocatfeang such voting rights may cause a U.S. Persdirect Foreign Shareholder Group to
exceed the 9.5% limitation as a result of suchcalion. In addition, our board of directors mayitimshareholder’s voting rights where it
deems it necessary to do so to avwdi-de minimisidverse tax, legal or regulatory consequences.tf@ited shares” includes, among other
things, all ordinary shares that a U.S. Person adinegtly, indirectly or




constructively (within the meaning of Section 938t Code). A “Direct Foreign Shareholder Groupéludes a shareholder or group of
commonly controlled shareholders that are not Be3sons.

We also have the authority under our bye-lengquest information from any shareholder forghepose of determining whether a
shareholder’s voting rights are to be reallocatedyant to our bye-laws. If a shareholder failssgpond to a request from he company for
information or submits incomplete or inaccurateinfation in response to a request by the compaaymay, in our sole discretion, eliminate
such shareholder’s voting rights.

Under these provisions, certain shareholdexg Imave the right to exercise their voting riglsited to less than one vote per share, while
other shareholders may have the right to exerbisie voting rights effectively increased to morarntone vote per share. Moreover, these
provisions could have the effect of reducing théngppower of certain shareholders who would nbeowise be subject to the limitation by
virtue of their direct share ownership.

Currently, the limitations on voting rightssteibed above apply only to J. Christopher Flowamirector of the company.

Restrictions on Transfer

Our board of directors may decline to registémransfer of any of our ordinary shares undetagecircumstances, including if it has reason
to believe that anpon-de minimisdverse tax, regulatory or legal consequencest@€tmpany, any of its subsidiaries or any of its
shareholders may occur as a result of such trart&iether, our bye-laws provide the company with diption to repurchase, or to assign to a
third party the right to purchase, the minimum neméif ordinary shares necessary to eliminate aolyson-de minimisdverse tax,
regulatory or legal consequence. In addition, aart of directors may decline to approve or regiate#ansfer of shares unless all applicable
consents, authorizations, permissions or apprafasly governmental body or agency in Bermudaldhiged States, or any other applicable
jurisdiction required to be obtained prior to stic@nsfer shall have been obtain

Conyers Dill & Pearman, our Bermuda counsa$ advised us that while the precise form of tistrictions on transfer contained in our
bye-laws is untested, as a matter of general micrestrictions on transfers are enforceable uBéemuda law and are not uncommon. The
proposed transferor of those ordinary shares willbemed to own those ordinary shares for divideotihg and reporting purposes until a
transfer of such ordinary shares has been register®ur shareholders register.

The restrictions on transfer and voting restins described above may have the effect of dajayeferring, or preventing a change in
control of the company.




Unissued Shares
Ordinary Shares and Non-Voting Convertible OrdinaShares

As of March 1, 2007, we have issued approxahgat1,779,335 million ordinary shares and 2,972 ,88llion non-voting convertible
ordinary shares. The remaining authorized and uaterdinary shares and non-voting convertiblenandi shares will be available for future
issuance without additional shareholder approvdiilé\the additional shares are not designed ta detprevent a change of control, under
some circumstances we could use the additionaésharcreate voting impediments or to frustratsqes seeking to effect a takeover or
otherwise gain control by, for example, issuingsthshares in private placements to purchasers gttt side with our board of directors in
opposing a hostile takeover bid.

Preference Shares

Our memorandum of association and bye-lawstgrar board of directors the authority, withouy darther vote or action by our
shareholders, to issue preference shares in omem@ series, and to establish from time to timentl@ber of shares to be included in each
such series, and to fix the designation, poweefepences and rights of the shares of each suigs serd the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions of the shares constituting any sefig. existence of authorized but unissued prefershares could reduce our attractiveness
target for an unsolicited takeover bid since weldoior example, issue preference shares to paktiesmight oppose such a takeover bid or
shares that contain terms the potential acquirgrfimd unattractive. This may have the effect ofagieng or preventing a change in control,
may discourage bids for our ordinary shares atajm over the market price of our ordinary shaaes, may adversely affect the market
price of, and the voting and other rights of th&dbos of, our ordinary shares.

Classified Board of Directors, Vacancies and Removaf Directors

Our bye-laws provide that our board of direstwill be divided into three classes of even nuntsenearly even number, with each class
elected for staggered thrgear terms expiring in successive years. Any effiodbtain control of our board of directors by siag the electio
of a majority of the board of directors may requirere time than would be required without a stagd@lection structure. Our shareholders
may remove directors only for cause and the natf@emeeting of the shareholders convened for tinpgse of removing a director are
required to contain a statement of the intentiodd®o and be served on such director not lessfthatteen days before the meeting and at
such meeting the director is entitled to be hearthe motion for such director’s removal. Vacangiesluding a vacancy created by
increasing the size of the board) in our boardifators may be filled by the shareholders at tleeting at which a director is removed or, in
the absence of such election or appointment, bgjanity of our directors. Any director elected tib & vacancy will hold office for the
remainder of the full term of the class of direstor which the vacancy occurred (including a vagasreated by increasing the size of the
board) and until such director’s successor shaleha




been duly elected and qualified. No decrease imtimber of directors will shorten the term of angumbent director. Our bye-laws provide
that the number of directors will be fixed and eamsed or decreased from time to time by resolatidhe board of directors, but the board of
directors will at no time consist of fewer thandfigirectors and not more than such maximum numibeirectors, not exceeding fifteen
directors, as the board may from time to time dniee. A majority of the board is required to cohsisdirectors who are not residents of the
United Kingdom or Switzerland. These provisions rhaye the effect of slowing or impeding a thirdtpdrom initiating a proxy contest,
making a tender offer or otherwise attempting angleain the membership of our board of directors wwuld effect a change of control.

Other Bye-Law Provisions
The following provisions are a summary of sarhéhe other important provisions of our bye-laws.

Our bye-laws provide certain aspects concgroarporate governance, including the establishroksglhare rights, modification of those
rights, issuance of share certificates, impositiba lien over shares in respect of unpaid amoomnthose shares, calls on shares that are not
fully paid, forfeiture of shares, the transfer bhees, alterations of capital, the calling and cmt@df general meetings, proxies, the
appointment and removal of directors, conduct anelgy of directors, the payment of dividends, thpaaptment of an auditor and its
winding-up.

Our board of directors consists of three Clatisectors having a one year initial term, th€ass Il directors having a two year initial te
and four Class Il directors having a three yeantéAfter the initial respective terms of theseediors, the term of each class of directors !
be three years.

Our bye-laws may only be amended by both eluésn of our board of directors and a resolutidrour shareholders.

Our bye-laws also provide that if our boardiiwéctors in its absolute discretion determines g#hare ownership by any shareholder may
result in anon-de minimigdverse tax, regulatory or legal consequencest@€tdmpany, any of its subsidiaries or any otheredi@der, then
the Company will have the option, but not the ddiign, to repurchase, or to assign to a third piayright to purchase, all or part of the
shares held by such shareholder to the extenbthaioard of directors determines it is necessagvbid such adverse or potential adverse
consequences. The price to be paid for such shaltdse the fair market value of such shares.

Our bye-laws provide that if any matters relyag the appointment, removal or remuneration oéators of our subsidiaries are required to
be submitted to a vote of such subsidiaries’ shadehs, those matters to be voted upon are reqalsadto be submitted to our shareholders,
and the shareholders of such subsidiaries arersshjta vote the subsidiaries’ shares in accordariiteand in proportion to the vote of our
shareholders.



